
 

AGENDA FOR 
 

CABINET  

 
 

Contact: Philippa Braithwaite 
Direct Line: 0161 253 5398 
E-mail: p.braithwaite@bury.gov.uk 

Web Site:  www.bury.gov.uk 
 

 
To: All Members of Cabinet 
 

Councillors : E O'Brien (Leader and Cabinet Member, 

Strategic Growth and Skills) (Chair), C Cummins (Cabinet 

Member, Housing Services), R Gold (Cabinet Member, 
Finance and Communities), C Morris (Cabinet Member, 
Culture and the Economy), A Quinn (Cabinet Member, 

Environment, Climate Change and Operations), T Rafiq 
(Cabinet Member, Corporate Affairs and HR), L Smith 

(Cabinet Member Children and Young People) and T Tariq 
(Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member, Health and 
Wellbeing) 

 
 

Dear Member/Colleague 
 
Cabinet 

 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet which will be held as 

follows:- 
 

Date: Wednesday, 15 February 2023 

Place:  Bury Town Hall 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Briefing 

Facilities: 

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 
briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 

appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the related 
report should be contacted. 

Notes:  



AGENDA 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
Members of Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have an interest in any of 
the matters of the Agenda and, if so, to formally declare that interest. 

 

3   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   
 
Questions are invited from members of the public about the work of the Cabinet.  
 
Notice of any question must be given to Democratic Services by midday on Monday, 
13 February 2023. Approximately 30 minutes will be set aside for Public Question 
Time, if required. 

 

4   MEMBER QUESTION TIME   

 
Questions are invited from Elected Members about items on the Cabinet agenda. 15 
minutes will be set aside for Member Question Time, if required. 
 
Notice of any Member question must be given to the Monitoring Officer by midday 
Friday, 10 February 2023. 

 

5   MINUTES  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
Minutes from the meeting held on 11 January 2023 are attached.  

 

6   THE COUNCIL’S FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022  

(Pages 9 - 36) 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Communities is attached. 

 

7   ANNUAL HRA BUDGET 2023/24 & RENT SETTING  (Pages 37 - 54) 

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Communities is attached. 

 

8   2023 / 24 BUDGET PAPERS  (Pages 55 - 166) 

 
Budget reports from the Cabinet Member for Finance and Communities are 
attached: 

 The Council’s Budget 2023/24 and the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2023/24 - 2026/27 (Appendix 4B attached separately below) 

 The Dedicated Schools Grant and setting the Schools Budget 2023- 24 

 Capital Strategy and Capital programme 2023/24 

 Flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2023/24 

 Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators 2023/24 
 

a   APPENDICES TO BUDGET REPORT  (Pages 167 - 316) 
 
Appendices attached. 



 

9   BURY CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE AND DELIVERY REPORT 

QUARTER THREE 2022-23  (Pages 317 - 338) 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Affairs and HR is attached. 

 

10   CHANGES TO ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS FOR SECONDARY 
SCHOOLS  (Pages 339 - 360) 

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People is attached. 

 

11   RELOCATION OF PENNINE CARE INTO 3 KNOWSLEY PLACE - PART A  

(Pages 361 - 366) 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Strategic Growth and Skills is attached. 
 

12   FUTURE OF BURY TOWN HALL AND OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE 
BUILDINGS OCCUPIED BY THE COUNCIL - PART A  (Pages 367 - 378) 

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Strategic Growth and Skills is attached. 

 

13   PURCHASE OF MICROSOFT LICENCES  (Pages 379 - 386) 

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Affairs and HR is attached. 

 

14   APPLICATION RATIONALISATION / CONSOLIDATION - PART A  (Pages 

387 - 390) 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Affairs and HR is attached. 
 

15   LOCALITY BOARD FORMALISATION  (Pages 391 - 458) 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Adult Care, Health, and Wellbeing is attached. 
 

16   SEND TRANSPORT/TRAVEL ASSISTANCE - POST-19 PROVISION FOR 
YOUNG PEOPLE WITH AN EDUCATION HEALTH AND CARE PLAN  

(Pages 459 - 464) 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People is attached. 

 

17   MINUTES OF ASSOCIATION OF GREATER MANCHESTER 
AUTHORITIES / GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY  

(Pages 465 - 492) 
 
To consider the minutes of meetings of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
held on 16 December 2022 and 27 January 2023. 

 

18   URGENT BUSINESS   

 
Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair agrees may 
be considered as a matter of urgency. 

 



19   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 
To consider passing the appropriate resolution under Section 100 (A)(4), Schedule 
12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the press and public be excluded from 
the meeting for the reason that the following business involves the disclosure of 
exempt information as detailed against the item. 

 

20   RELOCATION OF PENNINE CARE INTO 3 KNOWSLEY PLACE - PART B  

(Pages 493 - 500) 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Strategic Growth and Skills is attached. 

 

21   TOWN HALL WORKING GROUP FINAL REPORT - PART B  (Pages 501 - 

524) 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Strategic Growth and Skills is attached. 

 

22   APPLICATION RATIONALISATION / CONSOLIDATION - PART B  (Pages 

525 - 530) 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Affairs and HR is attached. 

 



 

 

1 

 
 Minutes of: CABINET 

 
 Date of Meeting: 11 January 2023 

 
 Present: Councillor E O'Brien (in the Chair) 

Councillors C Cummins, R Gold, C Morris, A Quinn, T Rafiq, L Smith 
and T Tariq 
 

 Also in attendance: Councillors R Bernstein and M Smith 
 

 Public Attendance: 
 

One member of the public was present at the meeting. 

 

CA.108  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
There were no apologies received.  
 

CA.109  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

CA.110  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

 
There were no public questions.  
 

CA.111  MEMBER QUESTION TIME  

 
There were no Member questions.  
 

CA.112  MINUTES  

 
In response to a query on minute CA.105, Jacqui Dennis, Director of Law and Democratic 
Services, advised that costs from Counsel were still awaited but would be shared once 
available.  
 
It was agreed: 

 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2022 be approved as a correct record 
and signed by the Chair. 
 

CA.113  APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY MAYOR  

 
Councillor Eamonn O’Brien, the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Strategic 
Growth and Skills, confirmed that Councillor Sandra Walmsley was currently Deputy Mayor 
and therefore Mayor elect for the forthcoming year, and he proposed that Councillor Khalid 
Hussain be appointed as Deputy Mayor. Members praised Cllr Hussain’s work as a long 
serving Councillor, his active participation in the business of the Council, and his engagement 
with the local community. 
 
Decision: 

 
That Council be recommended to appoint Councillor Khalid Hussain as Deputy Mayor for the 
Civic year 2023/24. 
 
 
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 5



Cabinet, 11 January 2023  

 
 

 

2 

CA.114  DEVELOPMENT OF AN ONSIDE YOUTH ZONE  
 

Councillor Eamonn O’Brien advised that this report had been withdrawn from the agenda. 
 

CA.115  PROPOSED DISPOSAL OF TOWNFIELD'S CLOSE FOR THE DELIVERY OF OLDER 
PERSONS AFFORDABLE HOUSING SCHEME- PYRAMID PARK PHASE 1  

 
Councillor Claire Cummins, Cabinet Member for Housing Services, presented the report which 
proposed the use of a brownfield land site for development of 100% affordable housing for 
older people (c.35 properties). Members discussed the report and it was noted that this was 
part of the wider regeneration and the 100% affordable housing was secured through the 
Registered Provider framework proposed rather than open market.  
 
In response to Members questions it was noted that funding would de-risk the site, so if 
funding were not secured the development would go ahead but with a reduced capital receipt 
to the Council. Members also noted that discussions with the chosen Registered Provider 
would secure the best deal in terms of housing standard, and conversations regarding nesting 
bricks were underway.  
 
Decision: 

Cabinet: 
1. Approved the proposals for the disposal and redevelopment of Townfield’s Close as 

set out within the report, to expedite delivery of the priorities within the Housing 
Strategy, Adult Social Care vision for housing and Town Centre Masterplan; and  

2. Delegated the finalised terms of this disposal to the Council's Section 151 Officer, 
Director of Law & Democratic Services and Executive Director of Place in consultation 
with the Director of Housing and Cabinet Member for Housing Services. 

 
Reasons for the decision: 

 To facilitate the Councils ‘brownfield first’ approach to housing delivery and reduce 
revenue costs for holding, maintaining and securing long-term disused sites. 

 To facilitate delivery of the Housing Strategy 2021, ‘Let’s Do It’ strategy and Bury’s 
housing vision for ASC, which puts the spotlight on making every decision about care, 
a decision about housing. 

 To deliver much needed, low carbon affordable homes for older people to relieve 
pressures on housing waiting lists and address shortages of accommodation in the 
town centre for this demographic group. 

 To prioritise residents of existing sheltered housing schemes as the first beneficiaries 
(following consultation) and offered the opportunity of improved housing at Townfield’s 
Close. 

 To unlock nearby underutilised sites for wider integration within master planning activity 
within the Market St area for further redevelopment. 

 To support a Phase 1 of a wider Pyramid Park multi-generational living development. 

 To promote innovation and ensure that the Council meets the obligations of the best 
value requirements of s123 of the Local Government Act 1972. Members noted a red 
book valuation would be obtained. 

 Create wider social, environmental and financial benefits including additional council 
tax revenue. 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 

 Do nothing: Bury has high levels of need for affordable housing in general and older 
people specifically and supply is required in the marketplace immediately. This is a 
brownfield site suitable for housing in an area of high demand, to do nothing would not 
be an option. 

Page 6



 Cabinet, 11 January 2023 
 
 

 
3 

 Market the site on the open market: This option has been discounted. Given its location 
and future use of Pyramid Park, the site has been identified as an appropriate location 
as an affordable housing scheme for older people, and this model would not be 
delivered by a private developer in the current housebuilding marketplace. 

 Direct development of the site in partnership with a Registered Provider (RP). This 
scenario would require the site to continue to be owned by the Council and managed 
by the RP. This option would require capital funding from the HRA and would generate 
revenue income back to the HRA from rents and service charges. This option has been 
rejected on the basis that it would require the council to contribute capital, take on 
ongoing maintenance liabilities for the site and provide development management 
resources. 

 Develop the site as part of the wider Pyramid Park development. This option was 
discounted, as the wider site is subject to TfGM interchange and tram/train proposal 
due to come forward in 2026/27. Whilst Townfield’s Close and Pyramid Park can be 
jointly remediated (in the interim), the housing scheme on Townfields section can be 
brought forward sooner as the site is unaffected by the interchange and tram/train 
proposal. 

 

CA.116  PROGRAMME PLAN FOR FUTURE SPECIALIST RESOURCED PROVISION - UPDATE 
ON PROGRESS  

 
Councillor Lucy Smith, Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, presented the report 
updating on the progress made in relation to the delivery of the specialist place sufficiency 
plan contained within Project Safety Valve, which set out plans to increase specialist 
resourced provision in mainstream schools, alongside the development of new Free Special 
Schools. In response to Members’ questions, Councillor Smith advised that the project was 
moving at pace and the target opening date of Autumn 2023 was realistic. With regards to Our 
Lady of Lourdes RC Primary, the first phase was complete but the second phase was 
dependent on the Diocese. With regards to Summerseat Methodist Primary, this had been 
experiencing falling roles so as it was not full there were opportunities.  
 
Decision: 
Cabinet: 

1. Noted the progress made to date in relation to the development of specialist resourced 
provision in mainstream schools. 

2. Approved in principle the indicative capital commitments required to deliver the 
individual projects. 

 
Reasons for the decision: 

 Development of additional resourced provision in mainstream settings – as set out in 
the Project Safety Valve agreement between the Council and the Department for 
Education, is a key element of the specialist place sufficiency strategy. Taken together, 
the Agreement and strategy set out the business case for the development of new 
provision to meet increasing demand for specialist provision and reduce the reliance on 
placements in Independent and Non Maintained Special Schools (INMSS). 

 The PSV agreement between the Council and Department for Education (DfE) sets out 
the requirement for new specialist educational provision, including new Resourced 
Provision and new Free Special Schools. This includes a schedule of those 
mainstream schools where it is intended to establish new RP, the funding allocated to 
support delivery, and indicative timescales for delivery. 

 The agreement has been subject to consideration by Cabinet and the Children & 
Young People’s Scrutiny Committee and is subject to governance provided by the PSV 
Delivery Board and Schools Capital Board. 

 The development of new specialist provision seeks to ensure access to a high quality 
continuum of provision, enabling the majority of children and young people with 

Page 7



Cabinet, 11 January 2023  

 
 

 

4 

additional needs to access local provision, with appropriate capacity and resources to 
meet need. 

 Long-term value for money will be achieved by pupils having their needs met within 
appropriate mainstream provision with specialist support rather than in special school 
provision. This will free up special school places for pupils with the highest level of 
needs and provide the opportunity to place high need pupils within the borough, rather 
than in out of borough provision. Increased capacity for outreach will deliver support for 
pupils in mainstream settings, leading to fewer pupils being transferred to specialist 
provisions and improving inclusion opportunities in mainstream schools. 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 

The projects support the Council’s programme of SEND transformation, in expanding in 
borough specialist provision, targeted at the right areas of need. 
 

CA.117  BURY BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (BURY BID) - COUNCIL REPRESENTATION 
ON THE BURY BID BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 
Councillor Eamonn O’Brien, Leader and Cabinet Member for Strategic Growth and Skills, 
presented the report which sought approval for Bury Council to be represented on the BID 
Board by the Assistant Director Regeneration Delivery (Economy & Business). In response to 
Members’ questions it was noted that businesses in Bury had not resisted the levy but were 
concerned generally about rising costs.  
 
Decision: 

Cabinet appointed the Assistant Director Regeneration Delivery (Economy & Business) to 
represent the Council on the Bury BID Board of Directors. 
 
Reasons for the decision: 

The position of Bury BID Board Director fits the remit of the Assistant Director of Regeneration 
Delivery (Economy & Business) which includes the regeneration of Bury Town Centre as a key 
work area. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 

That the current nominee the Executive Director of Place remains on the Board as the Council 
nominee; this was rejected as the Assistant Director is the strategic lead for the regeneration 
of Bury Town Centre.  
 

CA.118  MINUTES OF ASSOCIATION OF GREATER MANCHESTER AUTHORITIES / GREATER 
MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY  

 
It was agreed: 
 

That the minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority meeting held on 25 
November 2022 be noted. 
 
 
 
 
COUNCILLOR E O'BRIEN 
Chair  

 
(Note:  The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 6.24 pm) 

 
 

Page 8



 

 

 

  

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 9th February 2023 

 

Cabinet  - 15th February 2023 

 

 

Subject: Quarter Three monitoring report 

 

Report of Cabinet Member for Finance and Communities 

 

 

1. Summary 

This report outlines the forecast financial position of the Council at the end of 2022/23 based on the 
information known at the end of the third quarter, 31st December 2022. The report sets out the 

position for both revenue and capital and provides an analysis of the variances, both under and 
overspending. 

 

2. Recommendations 

1) To note the forecast overspend of £3.959m within the revenue budgets at Quarter 

Three and the need for Directorates to continue to work with their finance managers to 

maintain tight budgetary control and to ensure services work within their budgets; 

2) To note the position on the Dedicated Schools Grant, Collection Fund and the Housing 

Revenue Account; 

3) To note the transfer of £1.5m from the Utilities reserve which has been allocated to 
Non Service Specific and therefore already reflected in the position. This will be 

allocated across the services as part of month 10.  

4) To approve the roll forward of the previously identified reserve of £567k for free school 

meals during school holidays which was not required in 2021/22 or 2022/23 as a 

consequence of the Council receiving the Household Support fund monies which 

provided for free school meals during school holidays; 

5) To approve the additions of £0.600m and reductions of £0.475m to the capital 

programme; 

6) To note the capital budget underspend and approve this as rephasing into future 
financial years. The exact figure to be updated at Outturn. 

 

3. Reasons for recommendations: 

To ensure the Council’s budgetary targets are achieved. 

This report is in accordance with the Council’s financial procedure regulations. 
 

4. Alternative options considered and rejected 

None 

Classification: 
Open 

Decision Type: 
Non-Key 

 

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



 

 

5. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

This report outlines the forecast financial position of the Council at the end of 2022/23 based on the 
information known at the end of the third quarter, 31st December 2022. The report sets out the 

position for both revenue and capital and provides an analysis of the variances. 
 

6. BACKGROUND 

These are unprecedented times for LA budgets with huge volatility and uncertainty affecting all LAs. 

We expect to have on going resource gaps caused by inflation on all costs, additional services, 

additional demand on existing services and reductions in income. 

There are a number of overspends identified within this report at quarter three and finance 

colleagues are working with Directorates to identify mitigating actions. 

 
7.      FINANCIAL OVERVIEW – REVENUE 

 

The forecast out turn position is set out in Table 1 below and shows a forecast overspend at quarter 
3 of £3.959m. Where budgets are overspending work is taking place to identify mitigating actions to 
bring budgets back into line. 

Table 1 
 

Directorate 
Approved 

Budget 
Forecast 

(Under)/ OverSpend 

 £m £
m 

£m 

Business, Growth, and Infrastructure 3.269 3.347 0.078 

Children and Young People 45.910 52.361 6.452 

Corporate Core 14.872 14.281 (0.591) 

Corporate Core – Finance 5.169 5.481 0.312 

Housing General Fund 1.288 1.288 0 

Non-Service Specific 6.349 (0.815) (7.164) 

One Commissioning Organisation 80.781 82.215 1.434 

Department Of Operations 19.846 23.283 3.437 

 

TOTAL 

 

177.484 

 

181.442 

 

3.959 

 

Within the Children and Young People financial forecast we have utilized £1.5m of the reserve that 

was created at the end of 2021/22 with the balance of £2m being retained to fund the family 
safeguarding model in 2023/24 and 2024/25. 
 

The 2023/24 Budget report also on this agenda and going forward to Council on the 22nd February 
for approval proposes that the return of the waste disposal reserve of circa £2m in 2023/24 is set 

Page 10



 

 

aside to create a reserve to fund the first two years of the family safeguarding model.  If this is 

approved this will allow for the release of the remaining £2m from the current children’s reserve to 
reduce the 2022/23 forecast overspend.  This will be reported in future reports. 

 

7A - Directorate -Business Growth and Infrastructure 

 
Table 1 

 

2022/23 Forecast Revenue Position – as at 31st December 2022  

Directorate  

  

     Revised  
Budget  

   Forecast  (Under) / 
Over  

Spend  

Business, Growth & Infrastructure  £m  £m          £m  

 

Business Growth Management Team  
  

 
1.391 

 
1.687 

 
0.296 

Planning & Development Control  1.619 1.568 (0.051) 

Property Management  (0.895) (0.945) (0.050) 

Housing Service  1.154 1.037 (0.117) 

TOTAL  3.269 3.347 0.078 

 

Financial Position  
 

Overall, the projected outturn for the Department of Business Growth and Infrastructure is a £0.078m 

overspend, an increase of £0.306m from the M6 forecast of (£0.228m).  This reflects the pay award 
now being incurred which was higher than budgeted and an in depth review of all budgets which has 

identified circa £0.2m of property holding costs which are not recovered through property rental 
income.  Significant work has been undertaken in year to charge staff costs where appropriate against 
externally funded capital projects and capital receipts.  This is part of the savings strategy going 

forward for BGI and a number of Council services. 
 

New emerging issues : 

  
Accommodation / Homelessness  

 

Increased demand for the number of supported housing units that is not fully covered by Housing       

Benefit income. This has added £0.15m of net cost to a service that was expected to be fully funded. 
This pressure is likely to continue into 2023/4 unless compensating additional income is identified.  
Potential increasing demand on Homelessness and other Housing support services brought about by 

the cost-of-living crisis.    
  

Mitigations 

 
Further periods of vacancies due to the difficulty in recruiting and retaining staff, are creating greater 

employee costs savings than forecast which can offset some of the emerging in-year issues but will not 
be a long-term solution.   

Page 11



 

 

Increase in charge out rates to certain funding streams to include an element of overhead recovery to 

create a contingency for other issues.   
Review of amounts held in current BGI reserves and potential uses.  

Potential overachievement of income budgets in some property areas to offset costs.  
Ensure a robust process is in place to bill and collect income across all commercial properties as 
efficiently as possible.      

Review of grant funding received in year and held in reserves against current and future demand and 
required outputs.  

 
7B - One Commissioning Organisation  

Table 2 

 

2022/23 Forecast Revenue Position – as at 31st December 2022 

Directorate 

  
Revised Budget Forecast (Under)/Overspend 

One Commissioning 

Organisation 
£m £m £m 

Adult Social Care 

Operations 

7.798 7.172 (0.626) 

Care in the 
Community 

43.305 44.932 1.627 

Commissioning & 
Procurement 

14.954 16.225 1.271 

Departmental 
Support Services 

3.789 3.140 (0.649) 

Workforce 
Modernisation 

0.078 0.078 0 

Public Health 10.857 10.668 (0.189) 

TOTAL 80.781 82.215 1.434 

 
Financial Position 

 
The OCO budget is forecast to overspend by £1.434m which is a £0.486m improvement on the position 
reported at Quarter 2. 

 
Adult Social Care Operations – £0.626m underspend  

 
The Adult Social Care Operations budget is forecasting a £0.626m underspend which is in line with the 

position reported at Quarter 2. The underspend is due to staffing vacancies across a range of Operational 
services.  

 
Recruitment and retention remains a challenge nationally but the workforce retention strategy continues 
to recruit Social Workers and previous vacancies in operational teams thereby strengthening focus on 

delivery of care package savings. However, vacancies for care support workers in the Intermediate care 
services remain a challenge which is affecting the ability to deliver services to their full capacity.  

  
Care in the Community – £1.627m overspend  

 

The Care in the Community budget is forecast to overspend by £1.627m this is a £0.926m improvement 
on the position reported at Quarter 2. The improvement is due to staff deploying a continuous strength-

Page 12



 

 

based approach with regards to commissioning care packages and an improving savings position 

regarding care package reviews 
 

The £1.627m overspend is driven by a combination of challenges in delivering savings specific to the 
review of client care packages and the pressure of facing new ‘in year’ demand for care.  
 

The pressure from supporting hospital discharges is significant, the use of care home and home care 
placements to facilitate hospital discharge is now twice the level prior to the pandemic. The increase in 

care home and home care activity is causing a recurrent pressure in the care budget and consequently 
£2.572m of additional one-off resource has been built into the care budget to support prompt discharge 
from hospital, the funding is analysed below 

  

Funding Source (£m) 

NHS Greater Manchester ICB - Bury Locality 1.225 

ASC Discharge Fund 
(£500m National 

Allocation) 

NHS Greater Manchester ICB - 

Bury Locality 0.667 

Local Authority Direct Grant 0.680 

Total 2.572 

  

The Care in the Community forecast also includes a £3.471m saving achieved to date regarding Care 
Package budgets (albeit partially offset by £1.436m of new demand pressures as a result of care 

package reviews) and a £0.912m commitment regarding savings anticipated for the remainder of the 
financial year (i.e., savings from care package reviews not yet achieved but are expected to be achieved 
by March 31, 2023).    

     
Commissioning & Procurement - £1.271m overspend 

 
The Commissioning and Procurement Budget is forecast to overspend by £1.271m which is a £0.568m 

worsening of the position reported at Quarter 2. The increase in overspend since Quarter 2 is due to the 
impact of the 2022/23 Persona Pay Award. 

 
The main drivers of the £1.271m overspend is a shortfall regarding the 2022/23 Persona contract savings 
target and the unfunded pressure regarding the Persona 2022/23 pay award   

 
To enable Persona to deliver the savings shortfall, a series of transformation programmes and 

restructures have been agreed which are in line with Persona’s strategic intent and a reprofiled savings 
plan has been agreed between the OCO directorate & Persona Executive teams.  

   
Departmental Support Services - £0.649m underspend 

 
The Departmental Support Services budget is forecasting a £0.649m underspend which is in line with 
the position reported at Quarter 2. The underspend is the result of the decision to deploy the 5.66% uplift 

to the 22/23 Better Care Fund budget allocation to mitigate in year OCO budgetary pressures.  This 
budget has been put forward as a saving for 2023/24. 

   
Public Health/Substance Misuse – £0.189m underspend 

 
The Public Health/Substance Misuse Budget is forecasting a £0.189m underspend which is a c.£0.1m 

improvement on the position reported at Quarter 2 and is due to contract savings (recurrent) identified 
within Substance Misuse. 
 

Page 13



 

 

The £0.189m is due to a salary underspend following the delayed implementation of the Public Health 

team restructuring and the substance misuse contract savings. 
 

Use of OCO Reserves  

 
The forecast use of reserves is £2.729m of which £1.911m has been deployed to date.  The deployment 

of Adult Social Care reserves is supporting legacy demand costs as a result of clients who were rapidly 
discharged from hospital during the Pandemic who continue to receive a package of care. Public Health 

reserves are being targeted at several schemes, including; home safety equipment, promoting good 
mental health and tackling congenital heart disease inequalities. The forecast use of reserves and 
current deployment is analysed below. 

  

Area 

Forecast Use 

of Reserves 
(£m) 

Actual use of 

Reserves to 
date(£m) 

Adult Social Care 2.339  1.787  

Public Health 0.391  0.124  
Total 2.729  1.911 

 
Mitigations 

 
The OCO Directorate is undertaking several actions to mitigate and reduce the £1.599m savings shortfall 

and the overall OCO Directorate overspend position reported at Quarter 3: 
  

 Continuous dialogue with Persona to ensure the reprofiled contract savings are delivered  

 Ongoing reviews of existing care packages  

 Continue the roll out of the new workforce retention strategy which will strengthen the focus on delivery 
of care package savings    

 Robustly applying the strength-based ethos with regards to commissioning care packages.  

 Continuous data quality review of the Adult Social Care Finance module (Controcc) used to derive 
the Care in the Community outturn forecast.   

 
7C - Children and Young People  

Table 3 

 
2021/22 Forecast Revenue Position – as at 31st December 2022 

 Revised 
Budget 

Forecast (Under)/Over 
Spend 

 £m £m £m 

Children’s Commissioning 0.798 0.740 (0.058) 

Early Help & School 
Readiness 

2.558 2.230 (0.328) 

Education & Inclusion 17.203 19.256 2.118 

Social Care & Safeguarding 25.351 30.135 4.784 

TOTAL 45.910 52.362 6.451 

Page 14



 

 

Children and Young People are forecast to over-spend by £6.451m, after utilising £1.5m of the reserve 

created at the end of the last financial year. (£1m in Interim managed social worker packages, £0.5m on 
Curriculum Language Access Service) This leaves £2m of reserves to fund the Family Safeguarding 

Model implementation in 2023/24 and 2024/25. 

 
The 2023/24 Budget report also on this agenda and going forward to Council on the 22nd February for 

approval proposes that the return of the waste disposal reserve of circa £2m in 2023/24 is set aside to 
create a reserve to fund the first two years of the family safeguarding model.  If this is approved this will 

allow for the release of the remaining £2m from the current children’s reserve to reduce the 2022/23 
forecast overspend.  This will be reported in future reports. 

 
There is further defined action within the service to remove the remaining overspend.  This will continue 

into 2023/24 including: 

- Ongoing permanent recruitment to reduce reliance on agency workers. A cohort of c20 
international recruits will reduce the agency pay bill by c£1m by Q1; further recruitment will 

continue to be actively pursued 
- Removal of the temporary managed teams in by the end of March 2023 as new structures are 

populated  
- Pursuit of a “Grow your own” strategy of workforce development by upskilling Advanced 

Practitioners in order that they can coach and develop apprentice recruits and newly qualified 
social workers  

 
Financial Position 
 

 Education & Inclusion - £2.117m forecast overspend 
 

The main reasons for this forecast overspend are: 
 

 SEN Transport is forecast to over-spend by £1.521m in total which is split £1.153m pre-16 and 

£0.368m post 16. For school-aged children, using the average cost of a taxi per year per child, 
the budget is sufficient to transport circa 250 children. The actual number of Bury children 

eligible for home to school transport is circa 500 and rising. Similarly, for post-16 young people, 
the budget assumes a much smaller number of young people who are transported to college. 
The department is trying to mitigate this by promoting personal budgets and travel training. Along 

with other relevant Council departments, there is also ongoing work to understand i f there are 
opportunities with using the Council’s existing fleet rather than hiring minibuses and taxis. 

 Short Breaks are forecast to overspend by £0.300m. This is the result of a saving to the 
Dedicated Schools Grant agreed by the PSV Programme Board which has removed the 

£0.300m DSG contribution to this service. 

 School Improvement is forecast to overspend by £0.135m. This is due to a reduction in grants 
which was not reflected in the budget at the start of the year. This is a new permanent pressure. 

 This forecast overspend has increased by just over £1m since the quarter 2 report. This is due to 
the school improvement (£0.135m) and short breaks (£0.300m) forecasts being newly-reported 

in this report. Transport costs of (£0.600m) were also mapping incorrectly to the DSG and this 
has now been corrected. 

 

 Social Care & Safeguarding - £4.784m forecast overspend 

 
Corporate Parenting is forecast to be £2.922m overspent, due to increased costs of placements for young 

people and high dependency on Agency Staff. A more detailed breakdown is as follows: 
 
The residential budget is forecast to be overspent by £1.723m, due to the complexity of cases and 

Page 15



 

 

additional staffing required for young people in homes. High care costs are due to increased fees 

charged by providers. Challenging market conditions mean councils are finding it difficult to find 
appropriate places for children as they are increasingly provided by the private sector and children's 

needs have become more complex. Although we are caring for less children than last year 
residential costs on average have increased by 39%. The Placement Panel meets each week to 
discuss the various cases to ensure the best placement for the child and to consider stepping down 

to other accommodation such as independent living placements. 
  

 £0.218m on Independent Fostering Agencies, this is due to the increased number of children 
being cared for in this area of 10% and higher costs of approximately 4%. A business case is 
currently being prepared to encourage recruitment and retention of in-house foster 
carers, which should mitigate this overspending in future years. 

 Fostering services have forecast a £0.436m overspend, these additional costs include 
agency staff £0.137m and additional spending on Special Guardianship of £0.393m. 

 Care & Support services are also estimated to overspend by £0.260m due to high 
dependency on agency staff. 

 Through care costs have increased by £0.320m due to additional housing costs, this is in 
part due to stepping down from residential placements so increased costs here but 
considerably less than residential placement. 

 

 Safeguarding is forecasting a £1.993M overspent 
 

Due to heavy reliance on agency workers (interim Safeguarding and Initial Response teams) and 
additional hours needed to meet demand pressures. The forecast in quarter 2 showed an anticipated 

overspend of £2.7m offset by the use of £2.6m of reserves, however the use of reserves has been 
reduced to £1m.  This aligns with the recommendation of the July Cabinet paper which identified £2m 
of the reserve to fund the first two years of the family safeguarding model.  

 
7D - Operations Directorate   

 
Table 4 

 

2022/23 Forecast Revenue Position – as at 31st December 2022 

Department of 

Operations 

Approved 

Budget 
Forecast  Forecast (Under)/Overspend 

  £m £m £m 

Wellness Operations 3.041 3.781 0.739 

Engineers (including Car 
Parking) (0.321) (0.037) 0.290 

Street Scene 5.084 6.094 1.014 

Commercial Services (0.631) 0.448 0.960 

Waste, Transport and 
Stores 6.280 6.467 0.127 

Operations Senior 

Management  4.556 4.794 0.238 

Health & Environmental 

Protection 1.597 1.553 (0.049) 

Corporate Landlord 0.239 0.355 0.116 

TOTAL 19.846 23.455 3.437 

Page 16



 

 

 

Directorate are forecasting an overspend of £3.437m, a significant cause of this overspend is fuel and 
energy inflation, which represents £1.788m of the total overspend.  There will be income from the Utilities 

Reserve to partially offset this overspend and an exercise will be undertaken as part of month 10 monitoring 
to allocate this out from non service specific to departments on a proportionate basis. 

 

 Wellness Operations - £0.739m forecast overspend 

 
There are an additional £0.600m of energy costs in leisure centres and libraries, £0.500m and £0.100m 

respectively. Within leisure centres, income is also projected to be £0.205m lower than budgeted but 
leisure centres are looking to improve usage by implementing new booking systems and marketing the 
services. 

 

 Street Scene - £1.014m forecast overspend 

 
The overspend comprises of additional electricity costs of £0.750m on street lighting. Also £0.195m 

additional costs are projected on grounds maintenance, due to fuel, sickness which requires agency 
cover and energy. 

 

 Commercial Services - £0.960m forecast overspend 
 

The overspend includes £0.252m overspend on catering in relation to reduced income reflecting a lower 
take up for the service and the impact of the pay award over and above that included in the SLA. Fee 

income from the hiring out of civic halls is also £0.188m lower than budgeted which is offset by £0.065m 
use of reserves. Market income is projected to under-recover due to reduced occupancy within Market 
Parade and Market Hall £0.250m. Escalating energy costs within the Market have resulted in additional 

costs of £0.250m. 
 

 Waste, Transport and Stores - £0.127m forecast overspend 
 
The cost of fuel inflation is leading to an overspend of £0.140m and staffing overspends of £0.200m across 

both Waste and Transport. The service had hired an additional three refuse collection vehicles, costing 
£0.084m whilst it awaits new vehicles. The hired vehicles have now all been returned. Offsetting this, 

there are underspends of £0.130m in Supply Chain Services (Stores) due to increased income 
achievement, and use of reserves of £0.078m 

 
7E - Corporate Core and Finance Directorate  
 

Table 5  
 

 

 

2022/23 Forecast Revenue Position – as at 31 December 2022 

Directorate 
Approved 

Budget 
Forecast 

(Under)/Over 
Spend 

Corporate Core £m £m £m 

Corporate Core 14.872 14.281 (0.591) 

Corporate Core Finance 5.169 5.481 0.312 

TOTAL 20.040 19.762 (0.278) 

Page 17



 

 

The Corporate Core budget (including Finance) is forecast to underspend by £0.278m. 

 

 Corporate Core Services – (£0.591m) forecast underspend 

 
There is a forecast underspend of (£0.714m) largely due to the holding of vacancies within ICT following 
the additional investments as part of this year’s budget setting whilst the review is undertaken as to the 

future target operating model. This is offset by a number of smaller overspends. 
 

 Corporate Core Finance - £0.312m forecast overspend 
 
There is a forecast overspend due to interim staff usage whilst implementation of the approved 

restructure is undertaken, unachieved income and non-staffing costs. It is anticipated that 
implementation will be complete by the end of 2022/23.  The overspend is offset by an underspend within 

the Non-Service Specific department corporate capacity budget.  A further review will be undertaken of 
the new burdens funding as part of month 10 to see if further costs can be charged against this grant. 
 
7F - Housing General Fund – Nil variance 
 

The Housing General Fund is on budget overall as the budget was realigned as part of the 2022/23 
budget setting. Whilst the economic pressures may well cause an increase in housing benefit claimants, 
this would be offset by an increased subsidy payment. There may be a need to increase the expected 

credit loss that is provided for as claimants with overpayments may not be in a position to repay at the 
same rate. This would create an overspend as an increased contribution to the provision would be 

required, this will be reviewed as part of the year end processes. 
 
7G - Non Service Specific 

 
Table 6 
 

 
2022/23 Forecast Revenue Position – as at 31 December 2022 

 
Non-Service Specific 

Approved 

Budget 
 

Forecast 
(Under) / Over 

spend 

 £
m 

£m £m 

Accumulated Absences 1.362 1.362 0.000 

CAR Lease Salary Sacrifice (0.025) (0.025) 0.000 

Chief Executive 0.264 0.210 (0.054) 

Corporate Management 1.610 1.262 (0.348) 

Cost of Borrowing 6.238 0.595 (5.643) 

Disaster Expenses 0.011 0.011 0.000 

Environment Agency 0.100 0.108 0.008 

Pension Service Costs (20.843) (20.843) 0.000 

GMWDA levy 12.831 12.621 (0.210) 

Page 18



 

 

Passenger Transport Levy 13.650 12.887 (0.763) 

Town of Culture 0.090 0.090 0.000 

Townside Fields (0.058) (0.058) 0.000 

Provisions / Reserves (8.881) (9.035) (0.154) 

TOTAL 6.349 (0.815) (7.164) 

 
The department of Non-Service Specific expenditure is projected to underspend by £7.164m. 
 

 Corporate Management – (£0.348m) forecast underspend 
 
The Corporate Management underspend has reduced from (£0.495m) in Quarter 2 due to increased 

subscription costs incurred. An element of this budget has been given up recurrently as part of the future 

years savings. 
 

 Cost of Borrowing – (£5.643m) forecast underspend 
 
The Cost of Borrowing budget underspend is broadly in line with the quarter 2 position (£5.685m) and is 

as a consequence of the rephasing of the capital programme and funding of the capital programme via 

a combination of external grants and borrowing. 
 

 Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Levy (GMWDA) - (£0.210m) forecast underspend 
 

The GMWDA Levy is now showing an underspend from a nil variance at Quarter 2 resulting from 
additional rebate income from the Waste Authority in the 3rd quarter. 

 

 Passenger Transport Levy – (£0.763m) forecast underspend 

 
We have been informed by GMCA that the recurrent increase for 2023/24 will be 3% with a further 1% 
non recurrent increase due to the current inflationary pressures. The uplift and any recurrent underspend 

on this budget has been reviewed as part of the budget setting process. 
 

 Provisions/Reserves - (£0.154m) forecast underspend 

 

The Provisions/Reserves position from Quarter 2 has changed from a forecast underspend of (£0.209m).  

This is due to the budget movement at Month 9 from Non-Service Specific to all services for the effect 

of the 2022/23 pay award with the net overspend of £1.6m now showing in Non-Service Specific rather 

than departments. A transfer from the Utilities Reserve has also been recorded here of £1.5m which in 

part offsets the overspend on the pay award. Work has been undertaken to identify where it is needed 

most and will be allocated to services.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 19



 

 

8. Delivery of the Savings Plan 

 
Planned savings of £15.733m were approved by Council in February 2022 for the 2022/23 financial year. 

In addition, there were £0.384m of 2021/22 savings which were undelivered and therefore carried over 
to the current financial year. The total savings requirement for the current financial year therefore being 
£16.117m, split across Council departments as shown in the tables below. 

 
Table 7 

 

2022/23 Savings Delivery 
Savings 

£m 
Forecast 

£m 
Variance 

£m 

Transformation 3.037 2.022 (1.015) 

Council Wide 1.565 1.565 0 

Corporate Core 0.110 0.110 0 

Children & Young People 0.611 0.291 (0.320) 

One Commissioning Organisation 9.019 7.420 (1.599) 

Operations Department 1.391 0.950 (0.441) 

TOTAL 15.733 12.357 (3.331) 

 

 
2021/22 Savings Delivery (carried 
forward 

Savings 
£m 

Forecast 
£m 

Variance 
£m 

Council wide (Transformation) * 0.184 0.184 0 

Business, Growth & Infrastructure 0.200 0.200 0 

TOTAL 0.384 0.384 0 

 

* 2021/22 transformation savings reprofiled through a Cabinet report in December 2021 from 
£1.500m to £0.184m 

 

 Transformation 
 

The table below shows the breakdown of transformation savings across the 3 programme areas. An 
update report on the transformation programme was presented at December Cabinet providing further 

detail at project level. 
 
As at month 9 we can identify £2.022m of forecast delivery a nd  work is ongoing to fully identify further 

mitigations.  
 

2022/23  
Target Forecast Variance 

£m £m £m 

Once 0.780 0.532 0.248 

Well 1.865 1.450 0.415 

Flexibly 0.392 0.040 0.352 

TOTAL 3.037 2.022 1.015 

 
The largest area of non-delivery is in relation to procurement.  December Cabinet approved the removal 

of the procurement savings from the transformation programme as it was recognized that departments 
had already secured contract savings within their own programmes and that to include again here was a 
double count.  This leaves a shortfall in the savings for this financial year of £0.500m but is corrected 

Page 20



 

 

through budget setting going forward. Admin buildings rationalisation is another significant area of 

slippage. 
 

 One Commissioning Organisation 

 

The £9.019m 2022/23 OCO savings programme is forecast to deliver £7.420m (82%) of savings which 
is a saving shortfall of £1.599m. To date £6.567m of savings have been delivered, which is 73% of the 

full year saving target.  
 
In addition to delivering an expected 82% of the 2022/23 OCO savings programme a further £0.182m of 

additional savings are expected to be achieved as part of the OCO directorates in year additional savings 
initiatives and consequently takes the total savings forecast to be delivered by the OCO directorate to 

£7.601m.   
  

 Operations 
 

The £1.391m 2022/23 Operations Department savings programme is forecast to deliver £0.950m (68%) 
of savings which is a saving shortfall of £0.441m. Work is ongoing to try and mitigate this variance. 

 
 Core 

 
The security and call out services savings target of £0.200m has now been split between Corporate Core 

£0.060m, Operations £0.100m and OCO £0.040m and these will be monitored separately within each 
directorate. 
 

The Corporate Core security savings is forecast to underachieve in 2022/23 by £0.038m due to delays in 
implementation but will be delivered in full in 2023/24.  This has been mitigated in year by increased 

income achievement in the service and overall reductions in costs. 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Page 21



 

 

Table 8 

 

   2022/23 MTFS SAVINGS AS AGREED BY COUNCIL        

Year Dept Proposal Description Saving Forecast Variance 

Approved     £m £m £m 

Feb 2022 ALL Vacancy Factor 1.200  1.200  0.000  

Feb 2022 ALL 
Unpaid leave - budget 
realignment 

0.100  0.100  0.000  

Feb 2021 ALL 
Supplier Review of 

Contracts 
0.265  0.265  0.000  

Feb 2021 ALL Transformation Agenda 3.037  2.021 (1.016) 

  ALL Sub-Total 3.586  3.648  (1.016) 

Feb 2022 CORE Adult Learning 0.050  0.050  0.000  

Feb 2022 CORE 
Corporate Security & Call 

Out Services 
0.060  0.060  0.000 

     Sub-Total 0.110 0.110 0.000 

Feb 2022 CYP 
Children’s Personal 
Budgets 

0.150  0.150  0.000  

Feb 2022 CYP Children’s Short Breaks 0.150  0.150  0.000  

Feb 2022 CYP 
Children’s External 
Placements 

0.200  0.000  (0.200)  

Feb 2022 CYP 
Further Education early 
retirements/pensions 

0.100  0.100  0.000  

Feb 2022 CYP Children’s Early Help 0.100  0.100  0.000  

Feb 2021 CYP 

Removal of budget for 

vacant posts and reduced 
travel and expense costs 

-0.309 -0.309  0.000  

Feb 2021 CYP 
Contract Reviews for 
services provided by 
external agencies 

0.100  0.100  0.000  

Feb 2021 CYP 
Reduced transport costs as 
a result of fewer out of 

borough placements 

0.120  0.000  (0.120)  

  CYP Sub-Total 0.611  0.291  (0.320) 

Feb 2021 OCO Review of Care Packages 2.055  1.820 (0.235)  

Feb 2021 OCO 
Innovative Commissioning 
(Persona & Transitions 

Planning) 

1.600  1.085 (0.515)  

Feb 2021 OCO 

Adult Social Care 

Personalisation and 
Transformation 

1.000  1.000  0.000  

Feb 2021 OCO 
Development of Assistive 

Technology 
0.500  0.250 (0.250)  

Feb 2021 OCO 
Improved Housing Options 

for People with Disabilities 
0.050  0.050  0.000  

Feb 2021 OCO 
Effective and Efficient 
Commissioning 

1.950  1.421 (0.529)  

Feb 2022 OCO 
Release half demographic 
growth 

0.500  0.500  0.000  

Feb 2022 OCO CCG recurrent pick up of 1.224  1.224  0.000  

Page 22



 

 

IMC and rapid response  

2022/23 (In 

year) 
OCO 

Recommissioning of an LD 

Service 
0.100 0.030 (0.070) 

Feb 2022 OCO 

OCO element of Corporate 

Security & Call Out 
Services 

0.040  0.040 0.000 

  OCO Sub-Total 9.019  7.420 (1.599) 

   2022/23 MTFS SAVINGS AS AGREED BY COUNCIL        

Year Dept Proposal Description Saving Forecast Variance 

Approved     £m £m £m 

Feb 2022 OPS Trade Waste Income 0.020  0.014  (0.006)  

Feb 2022 OPS 
Pest control increased 

income and efficiencies 
0.017  0.005  (0.012)  

Feb 2022 OPS 

Public protection - Income 

Generation and Budget 
Rationalisation 

0.020  0.020  0.000  

Feb 2022 OPS 
Traded Services Review – 

Caretaking and Cleaning   
0.084  0.000  (0.084)  

Feb 2022 OPS 
Traded Services Review – 

Schools Catering  
0.100  0.000  (0.100) 

Feb 2022 OPS 
Change provision of waste 
caddy liners 

0.050  0.050  0.000  

Feb 2022 OPS 
Leisure & Wellness 
Programmes - increased 

efficiency 

0.212  0.140 
(0.072) 

 

Feb 2022 OPS 
Increase Recycling and 
Minimise Waste 

0.050  0.055  0.005  

Feb 2022 OPS 
Review of Persona 
Transport Services 

0.100  0.100  0.000  

Feb 2022 OPS 
Removal of Vacancies, job 

redesign 
0.143  0.139  (0.004)  

Feb 2022 OPS Modernise Utility Billing 0.050  0.017 (0.033) 

Feb 2022 OPS Merge Equipment Stores 0.040  0.030  (0.010)  

Feb 2021 OPS Review of Highway Fees 0.070  0.070  0.000  

Feb 2021 OPS 

Remove vehicle and 

equipment leasing costs to 
reflect approved borrowing 
through the capital 

programme 

0.300  0.300  0.000 

Feb 2021 OPS 
Review of Waste Services 

and Fleet Rationalisation 
0.025  0.000  (0.025)  

Feb 2021 OPS Street Light Dimming 0.010  0.010  0.000  

Feb 2022 OPS 
OPS element of Corporate 
Security & Call Out 

Services 

0.100 0.000 (0.100) 

  OPS Sub-Total 1.391  0.950  (0.441) 

    

TOTAL DELIVERY 

AGAINST 2022/23 MTFS 
SAVINGS 

15.733  12.357 (3.376) 

      

Page 23



 

 

      

  PREVIOUS YEARS MTFS SAVINGS CARRIED 

FORWARD AS NOT DELIVERED IN 2021/22 
      

Prior Yr Dept Proposal Description Saving Forecast Variance 

Saving     £m £m £m 

Prev Year ALL Transformation 0.184 0.184  0.000  

Prev Year BGI 
Restructure Stretch 

Savings Target 
0.200 0.200  0.000 

Total 0.384 0.384 0.00 
 

Page 24



 

 

9. Reserves 

 
At the end of 2021/22 the council’s total usable reserves, excluding Schools, were £124.745m (a 

reduction of £1.369m from those previously reported due to an audit adjustment regarding a bad debt 
write off). It should be noted that a significant proportion of these are earmarked. 
 

At Quarter 3 a number of transfers to and from reserves are expected to take place during the financial 
year, some of which were approved through the budget setting process and others which were always 

anticipated throughout the year. 
 
Approved transfers to reserves at budget setting totaled £6.197m: 

• £1.129m to General Fund 

• £2.997m smoothing reserve 

• £0.683m social care reform 

• £1.388m business rates risk 

• Additional transfers to reserves during 2022/23 totaled £0.587m, giving a total proposed transfer 

to reserves of £6.784m. 
 

Forecast transfers from reserves during 2022/23 total £40.564m, the larger of the values are noted 
below: 

• £14.355m supporting the 2022/23 revenue budget which was approved as part of 

budget setting 

• £1.5m relating to the Children’s reserve supporting Ofsted related improvements as 

described earlier in this report, £2m is expected to be carried forward to fund the  first 

year and the 2nd year of the family safeguarding model 

• £1.450m expected use of the Transformation Reserve 

• £4.691m full utilisation of and repayment of unused business related Covid 19 

related grants which have previously been reported 

• £2m realignment from the health and OCO pooled fund 

• £1.5m utilities reserve to support in year pressures 

• £1.4m contribution to the pay award which is significantly above the 2% originally 

budgeted.  The costs of this were as expected at £3m which has resulted in a 

pressure of £1.6m over and above the budget and the net overspend resulting from 

this is showing in Non-Service Specific at Quarter 3. 

• £8.7m transfer for business rates grants 

 

Forecast of Council Reserves at 31 March 2023 

 31/03/22 In Out 31/03/23 

General Reserves 23.816 1.129 (8.605) 16.341 

Directorate Risk Reserves 9.257 0.040 (6.737) 2.560 

Volatility and Fiscal Risk 37.675 4.384 (6.328) 35.730 

Total Management of Risk Reserves 70.748 5.553 (21.670) 54.631 

COVID-19 Related Grants 4.691  (4.691) 0 

Corporate Priorities 11.375 0.683 (2.229) 9.829 

Transformation & Capacity Reserve* 6.424  (1.450) 4.974 

Page 25



 

 

External Funding/Grants 19.427 0.148 (10.483) 9.091 

Other Earmarked Reserves 12.080 0.400 (0.041) 12.439 

Total Earmarked Reserves 53.996 1.231 (18.826) 36.334 

Page 26



 

 

Total Council Reserves 
(excluding Schools) 124.745 6.784 (40.564) 90.965 

 Adjusted to ref lect the writing of f  of  historic debt  
 

As part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy a full review of all reserves has been undertaken to 
determine which historic reserves are no longer needed and can be consolidated to be utilized and used 
as part of smoothing the delivery of the savings programme. 
 

10. OTHER BUDGETS 
 

 Schools 

 
The Council’s expenditure on schools is funded primarily by the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The 

DSG is ringfenced and can only be spent on schools related activity as set out in the Schools and Early 
Years Finance (England) Regulations 2020. The Schools Budget includes funding for a range of 

educational and support services provided on an authority wide basis as well as Individual Schools 
Budgets (ISB ). The Schools’ Forum recommends the allocation of funding to schools and academies 
through the application of the funding formula. 

 
The DSG has 4 main blocks: 
 

Block 
2022/23 

Budget £m 

Schools 143.041 

High Needs 39.427 

Early Years 13.486 

Central Support Services 0.991 

TOTAL 196.945 

 

In addition to the DSG, schools and academies also receive external funding from grants including: 
 

Estimated External Funding 2022/23 £m 

DSG Additional Supplementary Grant 5.683 

Pupil Premium Grant 9.327 

Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant 2.206 

Primary PE and Sport 1.045 

Covid-19 Recovery, Workforce, Vaccination 2.149 

Devolved Formula Capital 0.805 

High Needs Capital 3.781 

TOTAL 24.996 

Page 27



 

 

Given the scale of Bury’s DSG deficit, which accumulated to over £27m by the end of 2020/21, the 

Council has entered into a formal agreement ‘Safety Valve’ with the DfE. 

 

In the latest report to DfE during June to September 2022 there has been increased demand resulting 

in an increase in the cost of Out of Borough spend from £9.996m to £13.442m. Independent and Non-

Maintained Special School (I/NMSS) placements comprise the majority of the increase, with an 

additional 29 placements on roll between December 2021 and September 2022. 

 

The major issue with increased demand is the lack of capacity within Bury, forcing the borough to place 

a significant number of individuals in the I/NMSS sector. In addition, fee levels are rising as these schools 

look to pass on cost increases. There has also been an increase in Alternative Provision (AP) spend 

due to the increase in severity, particularly the number of children and young people not able to attend 

mainstream schools as a result of anxiety. 

 

The delivery of £2.9m of savings achieved to date has been offset by this significant and unanticipated 

increased demand which has put pressure on the budget. A revised plan to deliver £1.394m of additional 

savings has been agreed with the DFE. These savings will be very challenging to deliver but the Council 

recognise they are necessary to ensure Bury stays within the planned budget. 

 

The service will continue to monitor, with the support and help of DFE, all budgets, the contributions to 

the deficit reduction are significantly reduced and at present the Council are forecasting a remaining 

deficit of £20.6m at the end of this financial year. 

 
11. COLLECTION FUND 

 

The increasing prominence of council tax and business rates in helping fund council services means that 
the collection fund is monitored on an ongoing basis. The current forecast position is an in-year surplus 

of £1.873m with a residual deficit brought forward from 2021/22 of £2.324m. (This is the difference 
between the statutory estimated deficit as at 15th January 22 and the outturn position) This brings the 

overall forecast net deficit to £0.450m. The council’s share of the deficit is £0.818m and the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority’s share is a surplus of £0.367m (for police and fire and rescue services). 
 

The proportionate shares for Business Rates and Council Tax mean that Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority have a 1% share of the Business Rates deficit and a 16% share of the Council Tax surplus 

resulting in a net surplus, whereas the Council have a 99% share of the Business Rates deficit and a 
84% share of the Council Tax surplus resulting in a net deficit. 
 

Due to the impact on the Council’s ability to collect both Council Tax and Business Rates, an 

important change to Collection Fund accounting was introduced for 2020/21, which (with the 

exception of the £24.899m Government grant funded Business Rate reliefs) gave the ability to 

smooth the impact of COVID related deficits over three financial years, thus reducing the impact 

on the revenue budget.  

The Council’s 2021/22 and 2022/23 budgets were prepared using this new facility and the year 3 
impact is included within the deficit brough forward figure in the table below. 

Page 28



 

 

The current economic volatility may have an impact on the ability to collect both Council Tax and Business 

Rates liabilities and this will continue to be closely monitored. 
 

Table 12 

 

2022/23 Collection Fund Forecast Position as at 31 December 22 

  Council Tax 
Business 
Rates 

Total 

  £m £m £m 

Balance Brought Forward surplus (+) / deficit (-) 
4.902  (14.348) (9.446) 

Prior Year estimated surplus (+) / deficit (-) 
repaid in year 

(5.364) 12.486  7.123  

Estimated Surplus (+) /Deficit (-) for the year 2.943  (1.070) 1.873  

Balance Carried Forward surplus (+) / 
deficit (-) 

2.481  (2.931) (0.450) 

        

Distributed:       

Bury Council 2.085  (2.902) (0.818) 

GMCA – Police and Crime Commissioner 0.273  0.000  0.273  

GMCA – Mayoral / Fire and Rescue Service 0.123  (0.029) 0.094  

Total 2022/23  2.481  (2.931) (0.450) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

 

12. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is forecasting an operating deficit of £ 0.217m; further information 

is set out in the table below. 

Table 13 

 

2022/23 Forecast Revenue Out Turn Position - as at 31st December 2022 

 

Housing Revenue Account 
Approved 
Budget 

 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
(Under)/Over 

Spend 
 £m £m £m 

Income    

Dwelling Rents (31.568) (31.568) 0 

Non-Dwelling Rents (0.203) (0.203) 0 

Other Charges (1.048) (1.048) 0 

Total Income (32.819) (32.819) 0 

    

Expenditure    

Repairs and Maintenance 6.902 6.868 (0.034) 

General Management 7.38 7.38 0 

Special Services 1.401 1.401 0 

Rents, Rates and Other 
Charges 

0.036 0.036 0 

Increase in Bad Debts 
Provision 

0.51 0.51 0 

Capital Charge 4.713 4.713 0 

Depreciation 7.472 7.472 0 

Debt Management Expenses 0.045 0.045 0 

Contribution to/(from) 
reserves 

(3.749) (3.749) 0 

Total Expenditure 24.71 24.676 (0.034) 

    

Net Cost of Services (8.109) (8.143) (0.034) 

Interest receivable (0.018) (0.018) 0 

Principal Repayments 0 0 0 

Revenue Contributions to 
Capital 

7.91 7.944 0.034 

Sub Total 7.892 7.926 0.034 

Operating (Surplus)/Deficit (0.217) (0.217) 0 

Page 30



 

 

 

 

In reviewing the in-year financial position, it is useful to consider some of the other aspects of 

performance regarding the Housing Revenue Account. These are still to some degree being 

affected by the financial impacts resulting from the pandemic; this makes forecasting with any 

certainty very difficult. 

 

The total draw on HRA reserves is forecast to be £3.749m, against an opening balance of £9.842m. 

This means that forecast HRA reserves as at 31 March 2023 are £6.093m. 

 

The draw on HRA reserves, is in the context of a £3.098m saving in the reserve requirement in the 

previous financial year (see report Financial Outturn Position 2021- 22). 

Page 31



 

 

13. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 

Capital Programme 2022/23 

Approved 
Budget 

2022/23 

Approved 
Budget at 
Quarter 2 
2022/23 

Proposed 
amendments 
at Quarter 3 

2022/23 

Final 
proposed 
Budget 

2022/23 

£m £m £m £m 

Capital Programme 2022/23 150.506 60.924 20.224 81.148 

Funded By:         

External Funding and Contributions 72.424 24.671 3.029 27.700 

Use of Capital Receipts 0.405 0.074  0.269 0.343 

Prudential Borrowing 58.729 21.099 15.669 36.768 

General Fund and Reserves 1.456 0.049 1.257 1.306 

Housing Revenue Account 9.295 6.835   6.835 

Major Repairs Reserve 8.196 8.196   8.196 

TOTAL 150.505 60.924 20.224 81.148 

 

The latest approved capital budget presented to Cabinet at Quarter2 for 2022/23 totaled £60.924m. 
 

 Proposed amendments to budget at Quarter 3  

 
A total of £0.125m increase in the budget from additional resources is proposed in quarter 3. External 

grants and reserve contributions of £0.600m have been secured in the past three months and these 
have increased the value of schemes in the programme; Cabinet are requested to approve the additions 
for the year, detailed in the table below. 
 

Grants secured: £m 

KRN (City Region Sustainable Transport) 0.100 

Waste and Transport  0.500 

Total additional grant funding 0.600 

 

 The Key Route Network (KRN) element of the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement 
(CRSTS) from the Department of Transport for Bury was finalized by Greater Manchester 

Combined Authority (GMCA) at £1m, an additional £0.100m to the initial announcement. 

 Cabinet approved last financial year a revenue contribution from the Waste Levy reserve 
to support the acquisition of specialist refuse and street cleaning vehicles of £0.500m 
which have been delivered this financial year. 

 
Since the Quarter2 report a further reduction to this year's programme was identified, for two schemes 
that were principally supported by the Council’s discretionary resources and not proceeding as originally 

approved. The proposed reductions to the programme are detailed as: 
 

Reduction to programme: Financed by £m 

Tackling Fly-Tipping Orig.Alloc.2020-21 borrowing 0.100 

7 Whittaker Street demolition borrowing 0.375 

Total programme reduction   0.475 

Page 32



 

 

 
 The budget approved for the Tackling Fly-tipping will be spent in revenue due to the nature of 

the spend involved, resulting in a reduction in the capital budget.  
 The estimate built in the Original approved budget for the Demolition of 7 Whittaker Street was 

in excess of the actual costs, resulting in a reduction to the capital budget and the call on 
borrowing. 

 In addition to this there is a further £20.099m that should have been included in the Quarter 2 
report in relation to the Prudential Borrowing and Loan to the Bury Bruntwood Joint Venture for 

the acquisition of the Millgate Estate. 
 

14. EXPENDITURE AND FORECAST 2022/23 
 

Capital Theme 

Proposed 
Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Expenditure 

to 
December 

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 

£m £m £m 

Regeneration 33.507 32.621 27.780 

Place Shaping / Growth 2.028 1.943 0.388 

Sport and Leisure 2.998 2.667 1.682 

Operational Fleet 3.524 3.051 1.480 

ICT 1.756 2.198 2.073 

Highways 11.753 10.517 6.325 

Children and Young People 5.76 3.278 1.202 

Estate Management - Investment Estate: 0.095 0.095 0.005 

Estate Management - Corporate 
Landlord: 

1.924 1.073 0.833 

One Commissioning Organisation 1.608 1.106 0.650 

Housing 14.867 14.704 4.653 

Climate Change 1.828 1.783 1.528 

Total Capital Programme 81.148 75.037 48.599 

 

At Month 9 of the year, capital expenditure totaled £48.6m. Although expenditure appears to be low for 

this stage in the delivery and given the size of the programme, budget managers have reported they are 

confident the final expenditure to be as forecasted. The delivery of the capital programme continues to 

be affected by reduced capacity in services, although significant progress has been made to reduce the 

impact of staff turnover for the year. At the time of this report, £75.037m is forecast to be spent by the 

end of the financial year against a total budget of £81.148m. The revised budget was arrived at after the 

proposed amendments and the earlier re-phasing of the programme into future years at quarter 2 and 

contains a variance of £6.111m underspend. Services have indicated that most of this underspend will 

be required to continue schemes into the next financial year and a formal request to carry forward 

balances will be made to Cabinet at Outturn. During quarter 4 further work will be undertaken with 

departments to develop more accurate forecasting models for future years' programmes.  

 
 

 
 

 

Page 33



 

 

15. FINANCING 

 

The total current capital programme is fully financed as per resources approved at the Council 
February Budget meeting and subsequent Cabinet meetings. 
 

Funding the (proposed) Revised Capital Programme 
2022/23 

  £m 

Capital Programme 2022/23 81.148 

Funded By:   

External Funding and Contributions 27.700 

Use of Capital Receipts 0.343 

Prudential Borrowing 36.768 

General Fund and Reserves 1.306 

Housing Revenue Account 6.835 

Major Repairs Reserve 8.196 

TOTAL 81.148 

 

Grants from external resources are monitored during the year against original approval notifications 
to ensure they are received for the schemes allocated to this type of funding. 

 

Capital Receipts from disposals of Council’s surplus assets can only be reinvested as they are 
realised. Separate reports to Cabinet contain information on available planned, and proposed 

receipts to fund future capital spend. 
 

Financing of borrowing costs for the programme supported by Prudential borrowing has been built 
into the Council’s revenue budget. 

 
General Fund and reserves represent amounts set aside that are restricted to finance expenditure 

of a capital nature. 
Funding from the Housing Revenue Account, in part made up by the depreciation figure applied in 

year to the Council’s Housing Stock, is also restricted to finance expenditure that will maintain and 

improve the social housing stock. 
 

16.  NEXT STEPS AND CONCLUSION 

 
The financial position requires ongoing scrutiny and careful monitoring in order for the Council to 
recover its financial position and achieve its medium-term financial strategy. 

 

Report Author and Contact Details: 

Name: Sam Evans 

Position: Executive Director Finance 
Department: Finance 
E-mail: sam.evans@bury.gov.uk 

 
 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

A strong financially sustainable Council is essential to the delivery of the Let’s do it 

Strategy. 

Page 34

mailto:sam.evans@bury.gov.uk


 

 

 

 
Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 
 

Risk / opportunity Mitigation 

The council has insufficient funds to support its 
expenditure. 

Regular reporting and tight budgetary 
control by budget holders supports the 

Council in managing the overall 
financial risks and financial planning for 
the Council. 

 

 

Legal Implications: 

 
There are no legal implications however it is good governance to receive regular updating reports 

this is in line with our financial framework as set out in the Council constitution. 

 

Financial Implications: 

 
The financial implications are set out in this report 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

Report to: 

Overview & Scrutiny – 9th February 
2023 
Cabinet – 15th February 

 
 

Date: 15 February 2023 

Subject: Annual HRA Budget 2023/24 & Rent Setting  

Report of Cabinet Member for Finance and Communities 

 

1. Summary 

This report forms part of a suite of documents relating to the Council’s budget setting  

process for 2023/24. 

It establishes the Housing Revenue Account budget for 2023/24. 

It proposes the rent levels for Council Housing for Dwelling and Garage rents, 

Sheltered Support, Management, Service and Heating charges and Furnished 

Tenancy charges. 

The report establishes the Management Fee paid to Six Town Housing for 2023/24 

 

2. Recommendation(s) 

Cabinet is asked to approve and commend the following to Council -  

 

HRA Budget 

2.1      Approve the 2023/24 budget for the Housing Revenue Account. 
 

2.2    Approve a 3% reduction for the Management Fee to Six Town Housing for 
2023/24.   

 

Rent Setting  

 

2.3      For 2023/24 individual social and affordable rents be set at the Governments 
rent cap of 7% with effect from 3rd April 2023.    

 

2.4    For 2023/24 shared ownership rents be voluntarily limited to an increase of 7% 
with effect from 3rd April 2023. 

 
2.5      Approve an increase in Garage rents by (Consumer Price Inflation as at   

September 2022) CPI 10.1%  

 
2.6      Approve an increase in Sheltered Management and Support Charges by CPI 

10.1% 
 
2.7      Approve an increase in Service and Amenity Charges by CPI 10.1%  

 
2.8      Approve an increase in Support and Heating charges by CPI 10.1% 

 
2.9      Approve an increase in Furnished Tenancy charges by CPI 10.1% 

Classification: 

Open 

Decision Type: 

Key 

Page 37 Agenda Item 7



 

2.10    Note that where a social rent property is re-let to a new or transferring tenant 

the 
rent level be increased to the target rent for that property. 

 
2.11    Note that for 2023/24 and onwards, where an affordable rent property is re-let 

to a new or transferring tenant the rent level be set by reference to 80% of the 

market rent (including service charges where applicable) for a similar property 
at the time of letting or the formula rent for the property, whichever is the 

greater. 
 
 

 
3.0      Reasons for recommendation(s)  

 

3.1   The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is the ‘landlord account’ recording the    

revenue expenditure and income relating to the authority’s own housing stock. 

The HRA is a ring-fenced account i.e., the authority does not have any general 

discretion to transfer sums out of the HRA, or to support the HRA with 

contributions from the General Fund, (there are certain circumstances where 

transfers are permitted or prescribed but these are exceptions). 

 

3.2   From April 2012 the government introduced a self-financing funding system 

whereby the HRA now retains its rental income locally and uses this to provide for 

management, maintenance, and major works to the housing stock. In April 2005 

Six Town Housing was established as an Arm’s Length Management 

Organisation (ALMO) to manage and maintain the authority’s housing stock and 

related assets. The 2020 Management Agreement between Six Town Housing and 

Bury Council on 1st April 2020, details the responsibilities that are delegated to 

the ALMO. 

 

3.3  In April 2022, following Cabinet approval, Springs became a Self-Financing 

Tenant Management Organisation, the first in the North West. Owing to loss of 

stock through Right to Buy sales, Springs TMO are currently managing 286 

properties (previously 290 properties). Springs Tenant Management 

Organisation was formed to manage council homes on a self-financing 

arrangement. This means that the TMO retain the rents from the homes and use 

this to pay for the management and maintenance of their properties under local 

arrangements. 

 
3.4  The Council agrees the level of Management Fee payable from the Housing 

Revenue  Account to Six Town Housing for the provision of the delegated 

responsibilities; the fee paid for 2022/23 is £13,058,600. It is proposed that, due 

to pressures on the HRA which are identified later in this report, this fee is reduced 

by 3% for 2023/24, creating a saving of £391,758 and resulting in a management 

fee for 2023/24 of £12,666,842. 

 

3.5 For 2023/24 the current level of activity on Right to Buy (RTB) the HRA estimates 

have been prepared on is 70 right to buy (RTB) sales in 2022/23 and 60 in 

2023/24. The number of sales during 2022/23 for the first three quarters of the 

year were 48. The increase in interest rates for mortgages is likely to be a factor 

which is slowing the sales of properties. If the level of sales is above or below 

these figures this will result in less or more rental income to the HRA than has 

Page 38



been assumed. It will also affect the level of RTB capital receipts that will be 

received which are used to partly fund the Capital Programme. 

 

3.6 For 2023/24 the HRA is expected to have an average stock of 81 affordable rent  

dwellings plus 5 shared ownership dwellings. (Note that there were 7 shared 

ownership homes at the start of 2022/23 but 2 have fully stair-cased out during 

the year). Stair-casing means that a shared owner will pay the Council to allow 

them to own a larger share of their home and thus pay a smaller rent for the 

share they don’t own. In these specific cases, the shared owners of the two 

properties have decided to buy the Council’s full share of the value of their 

property and own the freehold of the property in their own right  The HRA has 

received a capital receipt in respect of the shared owners increasing their share  

to full ownership, but the rent is lost. 

 
3.7 This report is written based on the Council’s existing housing stock. As a result 

of the HRA being a ring-fenced account, any surplus or deficit on the HRA   is 
carried forward into the next financial year and is known as the working balance. 

Section  8 of this report contains an assessment of the minimum level of balances 
to be held. 

 

3.8  Whilst this report concerns itself with approving the annual budget for the HRA, 

a 30-year Housing Revenue Account Business Plan is in development to ensure 

a robust and balanced plan which addresses income, expenditure, and capital 

investment in the housing stock. The HRA Business Plan will be produced for 

adoption by the Council in Q1 of the 2023/24 financial year. The strategy will 

provide a comprehensive overview of the Council’s housing stock, demand, 

levels of RTB sales, stock investment requirements including carbon reduction 

measures. It will plot costs and options for ensuring the Council’s legal 

responsibilities as a landlord   are met together with investment in future ambitions 

whilst ensuring that the HRA  remains in credit over the life of the business plan. 

Report Authors and Contact Details: 

Name: Sam Evans       Liz Cook 
Position: Executive Director of Finance    Director of Housing 
Department: Finance     

E-mail: sam.evans@bury.gov.uk   liz.cook@bury.gov.uk 
 

________________________________________________________________ 
 

4.0     Rent Levels 2023/24 

 

4.1    The Government’s National Social Rent Policy, which came into effect from 1st April 

2020, set out that social and affordable rents may increase annually by up to a maximum 
of CPI plus 1%, until 1 April 2024. The Council, as a Registered Provider of Housing is 

regulated and must adhere to the Rent Standard, which includes the same stipulation on 
social rent increases. 

4.2  The basis for annual rent increases is the September Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) 

which in 2022 was 10.1% meaning the maximum rent increase projected for April 2022 

should be 11.1% . The Government conducted a consultation on rent increases with all 

Registered Providers, which closed on 12th October 2022. This asked for comment on the 

effects on social housing business plans of either a 3%, 5% or 7% ceiling on rent 

increases for 2023/24 in the event that September CPI was above the rate of increase on 

average earnings. On 17th November 2022, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced 

Page 39

mailto:sam.evans@bury.gov.uk
mailto:liz.cook@bury.gov.uk


in the Autumn Statement that the increases in actual social housing rents – including 

social and affordable based rents would have a ceiling of a 7% rise for 2023/24. It was 

also announced that benefits to claimants would rise by the amount of inflation in April 

2023 and that the Local Housing Allowance would be frozen for a further year. 

4.3  Documents provided by the Government to accompany the Autumn Statement confirm 

that the 7% restriction is a change to the National Social Rent Policy for one year only 

and that increases for the following year will be a maximum of CPI + 1%. The document 

also provides an exemption from the ceiling for supported housing providers, including 

local authorities, to allow rents for supported housing to rise by up to 11.1%. 

4.4  There is no official Direction on rents published at the time of writing, but the draft 

Direction issued as part of the consultation in October, provided for: 

 the formula for social rents to rise by CPI + 1% for 2023/24 (not to be limited by the 
ceiling); 

 social rents can be re-let on change of tenancy at the new formula rent (or target 

rent if flexibility applies); 

 affordable rents to be tested against the constraint of 80% of market rent on re-let 

 rents for new development to be set at formula rent or up to 80% of market rent. 

The rent ceiling policy is designed to protect existing social housing users rather than 

future ones. 

It is assumed that the draft Direction provisions will apply. 

The Government has also written to all providers asking them to consider voluntarily 

limiting increases for shared ownership rents to 7%. These rents are not within the Rent 

Standard and are usually contractually agreed on purchase of the share, so a change 

cannot apply without agreement of the landlord. 

Bury’s rents are currently collected on a 50-week basis with 2 non-collection 

weeks in   December. 
 

4.5  The table below sets out the 2022/23 average rent per tenure and property type based on 

stock at 1 April 2022, together with the indicative 2023/24 rent based on the increases 

proposed. This excludes the Springs TMO stock. Please note that sales of stock via Right 

to Buy and rents moving to formula rent on re-let during the year can change the 

averages slightly in year. 

(Maximum Increase Rate Allowed 2023/24) 

Tenure Type Property Type No/ of 
Units @ 
1/4/22 

Average 50 
wk rent 
2022/23 

Increase 
rate 

allowed 

Average 50 
wk rent 
2023/24 

Social General Needs 6,997 £81.50 7% £87.21 

Social Sheltered 448 £73.42 11.1% £81.57 

Affordable (inc 

service 
charges) 

General Needs 21 £107.22 7% £114.72 

Affordable (inc 
service 
charges) 

Sheltered 60 £195.67 11.1% £217.39 

Shared 
Ownership 

N/A 7 £34.42 7% (vol) £36.83 

Page 40



 

The following table shows the difference between the current and proposed rents 

based on an increase of 7% applied to the rents of all current HRA Social Rent 

Formula dwellings.  

  
(Recommended Increase Rate 2023/24) 

Tenure Type Property Type No/ of 
Units @ 
1/4/22 

Average 50 
wk rent 
2022/23 

Increase 
rate 

allowed 

Average 50 
wk rent 
2023/24 

Social General Needs 6,997 £81.50 7% £87.21 

Social Sheltered 448 £73.42 7% £78.56 

Affordable (inc 
service charges) 

General Needs 21 £107.22 7% £114.73 

Affordable (inc 

service charges) 

Sheltered 60 £195.67 7% £209.37 

Shared 
Ownership 

N/A 7 £34.42 7% (vol) £36.83 

*The rents shown in the tables are all on a 50-week basis. 

 

4.6  It should be noted that the formula rents for social rented properties will all automatically 

be increased by 11.1% for 2023/24, setting a gap between the actual rent and the 

formula rent once again for all social rent properties. The Council currently has a policy to 
re-let properties at formula rent as they become vacant. Affordable rent properties must 
be re-let at no more than 80% of the market rent including service charges at the date of 

re-let. Without this policy, the loss in rent will be permanent and cumulative over time. It 
remains to be seen whether the Government will introduce a phased route to 

convergence to the formula rent in future years to compensate for this reduction in 
income. 

In 2022/23, the Council took the decision to set rent increases from 1 April 2022 at 4.1%, 

which was the maximum allowed for that year and kept rents in line with the increase in 
the formula rent. This decision has protected the rental income for the HRA against an 

even greater loss. 

As the rent increase (even with a ceiling) is significantly higher than the previous year this 
briefing paper has been produced to advise the Council of the options and implications 

for rent rises. 

Based on the figures above, a comparison of rent increases shows that almost £100,000 

per annum would be lost by setting all rents to increase by 7% rather than allowing the 
sheltered stock to increase as allowed at 11.1%. 

 

4.7  The table below sets out the scenarios and the impact of setting a cap on sheltered 
housing at 7% rather than the allowable 11.1%: 

 

Based on 1 April 2022 Stock (excluding Springs TMO) 
 

Page 41



 
The rent cap imposed on Council’s during 2023/24 has had a detrimental impact across all 
tenures of approximately £1.260m over the 50-week period. 

 

5.0    Other charges 

 

5.1  There are currently 252 HRA owned garages (of which 131 are currently let). 

Garages are charged for at the rate of £7.78 per week (50 weeks). The last 

increase was in April 2022. It is proposed that the charge is increased by 10.1% 

from April in line with September CPI; this results in a weekly increase of 

£0.79 giving a rate of £8.57 per week (over 50 weeks).  

 

 
6.0    Sheltered and Other Tenancy Charges 

 
   Sheltered Management and Support Charges 

 

6.1  The management and provision of Sheltered support services are provided by 

Adult Care Services for which they receive payment from the Housing Revenue 

Account. The service is currently subject to a review and will be changed to 

resemble that ordinarily found in other sheltered housing schemes across 

Greater Manchester. This will reduce the cost of the service and deliver a 

saving. 

A service provided by Six Town Housing will continue to operate within 

sheltered housing and no changes are planned to the sheltered housing 

management charges. 

 

6.2  Sheltered Management charges are set to ensure that the costs of the services 

provided are recovered from those receiving them. It is proposed that the weekly 

charges per unit (on a 50-week basis) are increased for 2023/24 by 10.1% and 

the current and proposed charges are detai led below. 

 

 Current 

Charge 

 

£ 

Proposed 

Charge 

2023/24 

£ 

Sheltered schemes (other than Extra Care) 12.49 13.75 

Extra Care schemes (Falcon House/Griffin House) 23.98 26.40 

 

 

Type Units

22-23 50 

wk rent

23-24 

rent at 

max

23-24 

rent at 

7%

Total rent per 

annum 22-23

Total rent per 

annum 23-24 

(max)

Total rent per 

annum 23-24 

(7%)

Social  GN 6997 81.50    87.21   87.21   28,512,775.00  30,510,418.50  30,510,418.50  

Social Sheltered 448 73.42    81.57   78.56   1,644,608.00    1,827,168.00    1,759,744.00    

Affordable GN 21 107.22  114.72 114.73 112,581.00       120,456.00       120,466.50       

Affordable Sheltered 60 195.67  217.39 209.37 587,010.00       652,170.00       628,110.00       

Shared  Ownership 7 34.42    36.83   36.83   12,047.00         12,890.50         12,890.50         

30,869,021.00 33,123,103.00 33,031,629.50 

Annual Increase from 22-23 2,254,082.00   2,162,608.50   

Annual Decrease from maximum 23-24 rent 91,473.50-         

Page 42



6.3 These charges will be eligible for Housing Benefit and Universal Credit purposes, 

and it is expected that benefits will be payable to accepted claimants.  

 

6.4  Following the review of the charging structure and the introduction of the 

Sheltered Management charge the standard weekly Support Charge per unit 

was reduced to £8.33 (on a 50-week basis) for 2012/13 and has remained 

at this level since then. Charges for support costs are not eligible for Housing 

Benefit but instead a subsidy is    paid for eligible tenants from a locally 

administered Supporting People ‘fund’; which is essentially ASC base budget 

that also funds other supported accommodation in the Borough. 

 

6.5  It is proposed that this charge remains unchanged for 2023/24. This charge 

applies at all Sheltered schemes other than the Extra Care schemes at Falcon 

House and Griffin House. 

 

6.6 The Extra Care Sheltered Scheme, covering the Falcon House and Griffin House 

schemes, has different support charges which reflect different levels of support 

offered dependant on the assessed needs of the individual tenants; this support 

is provided by the One Commissioning Organisation, and they will be reviewing 

the charges for 2023/24. 

 

           Service and Amenity Charge 

 

6.7  The Service and Amenity Charges were increased by 4.1% for 2022/23. It is 

proposed that the current charges are increased by 10.1% in line with CPI from 
the first rent week in April 2023. The true costs of delivering services should be 
passed onto tenants, therefore service charges should be increased to ensure 

services break even.   
 

 
6.8  The current and proposed charges per unit per week (over 50 weeks) are shown 

in the table below: 

 
 

 Current 
Charge 

 

£ 

Proposed 

Charge  

2023/24 

£ 

 
 Clarkshill 

 
19.38 

 
21.34 

 Elms Close 2.27 2.50 

 Falcon House 11.32 12.46 

 Griffin House 10.98 12.09 

 Harwood House 22.89 25.20 

 Moorfield 25.16 27.70 

 Mosses House 19.96 21.98 

 Stanhope Court 10.13 11.15 

 Taylor House 22.45 24.72 

 Top O’th Fields 1 21.65 23.84 

 Waverley Place 23.80  26.20 

 Wellington House 32.19 35.44 

   

  

Page 43



6.9    Amenity charges are eligible for Housing Benefit and Universal Credit purposes, 

and it is expected that benefits will be payable to accepted claimants. 
 

          Net impact of changes in Sheltered Charges and rent reductions 

6.10 Appendix 2 details the total Sheltered Management, Support and Amenity 

Charges for each scheme; this shows weekly increases ranging between £1.26 

and £4.51.  
 

 

         Support Heating Charges 

 
6.11  Heating charges are only levied at Sheltered schemes where there is a 

communal heating system with no separate metering of individual consumption; 

the aim of the charges is to recover the actual energy costs incurred at each 

scheme. 

 
6.12  At the Council meeting in February 2022, charges were not increased so 

remained at the 2021/22 levels for 2022/23. The charges are based on expected 

contract prices and estimated levels of consumption. New boiler systems have 

been installed at both Clarks Hill and Harwood House. Due to the urgency of 

the work, heat metering systems have not been installed yet therefore a weekly 

heating charge will still be required. 

 
The current and proposed charges per unit per week, (exclusive of VAT), are: 
 

 
Heating 

Charges 

are not 

eligible for 

Housing 

Benefit 

however 

many Sheltered Tenants will be eligible for Winter Fuel Payments; for winter 2022/23, 

the rates for these were £250 per household for those born on or before 26 

September 1956, rising to £600 per household to help pay heating bills (payments 

may be different depending on the household circumstances). 

 

         Furnished Tenancies Charges 

 

6.13  A Furnished Tenancy Scheme was introduced during 2005/06. The scheme 
provides furniture packages for which an additional weekly charge is payable. 

 

6.14  We currently have 216 live furnished tenancies and 5 voids. Of the live 

tenancies we have 142 1 bed, 59 2 bed, and 15 3 bed properties. We have a 
limited number of 235 furnished tenancies so there is currently capacity for a 

further 14. 
 
6.15  Six Town Housing, who manage the furnished tenancies, will be reviewing the 

packages offered and tenancies available under the scheme to determine 

whether a wider range of options may have a positive impact on tenancy 

sustainment; any proposed changes to the current scheme will be subject to 

appropriate consultation and approval. 

 Present 

Charge 

Proposed 

Charge 

Proposed 

Increase 

£ £ % 

Taylor House 11.88 13.08 10.1 

Clarks Hill 8.34 9.18 10.1 

Harwood House 9.72 10.70 10.1 

Page 44



 

6.16  Furnished Tenancy charges are eligible for Housing Benefit purposes and 

therefore benefits should be payable to accepted claimants. The introduction of 

Universal Credit and direct payments means that there is an increased risk of 

non-payment of these charges. 

 
6.17  Increases in charges to cover inflation in the costs of the scheme e.g., costs of 

replacement furniture and fittings are normally implemented from the first rent 

week in April of each year. 

 

6.18  The current and proposed charges per unit per week are: 
 

     

     Fernhill Caravan 

Site Pitch Fees 

 

6.19 

 Management of the Fernhill Caravan Site passed over to Six Town 

Housing in 2014/15 for which they receive a separately determined 

Management Fee. Whilst income from residents and payment of the 

Management Fee are accounted for in the General Fund not the Housing 

Revenue Account it is felt appropriate to consider increases in the charges 

under these agreements alongside those of HRA rents and charges. 

 
6.20  Residents at the site are currently charged a weekly pitch fee and a weekly 

charge for water; these charges are payable on a 52-week basis i.e., there aren’t 
any non- collection weeks. At the Council meeting in February 2022 charges 

were increased by 4.1% (September 2021 CPI plus 1%); the current charges 

are: 
 

 

6.21  The site has been empty since 

July 2022 due to redevelopment, 

practical completion is being given as 

31st July 2023.  Residents are currently 

placed at another site during this 

redevelopment. When they return to 

site, they are going back on the same 

terms of rent but in the new Agreement 
this allows for revision in April 2024. 
                              

7.0      Housing Revenue Account 

Performance 

 

           Voids 

 

7.1   The rent lost on empty properties is projected to be 1.07% over the course of 
2022/23; this will mean a reduction in rent income of approximately £22k as the 
original budget allowed for a void level of 1%. 

 Present 

Charge 

Proposed 

Charge 

Proposed 

Increase 

£ £ % 

1 Bed Property        14.55 16.02 10.1 

2 Bed Property    17.13 18.86 10.1 

3 Bed Property  19.72 21.71 10.1 

  

Current 

Charge (To 

be reviewed 

in April 
2024) 

£ 

Single Plot – pitch fee 64.86 

Double Plot – pitch fee 88.39 

Single Plot – water charge 7.31 

Double Plot – water charge 10.15 

Page 45



 

7.2  During the financial year 2022/23 when the nation was recovering from the after 
effects of Covid, it was noted that properties were returned in a state worse than 

normal, and in need of more than wear and tear repairs. STH adopted the 

sector-wide Housing Ombudsman best practice, during periods of void to make 
homes right including installation of hard wire electrical points, carbon monoxide 

detectors, fire detectors etc. The level of void loss for 2023/24 has been 

assumed at 1%; recent performance will need to be maintained if this target is 

to be met. If the target is not achieved, then there would be a reduction in rental 
income to the HRA. 

 
7.3   If the target was to be bettered, then this would result in an increase in rental 

income to the HRA which could either be carried forward into 2024/25 or 

targeted during the coming financial year for service developments. 

 

           Rent Arrears 

 

7.4  The opening arrears and current levels for 2022/23 are shown in the following 
table. The figures reflect the fact that £109,939 of Former Tenant Arrears have 

been written off during 2022/23; it is anticipated that a further £30,000 could be 

written off before the end of March. All write offs are in accordance with the 

Corporate Debt Write Off Policy as approved by the then Executive. 
 

Arrears Position – As at December 2022 

 Opening 
Balance 

2022/23 

Current 
Balance 

December 2022 

Increase/ 
(Reduction) 

 £m £m £m 

Current Arrears 1.456 1.441 (0.015) 

Former Tenant Arrears 0.596 0.613  0.017 

Write Offs (Nov 2022) -  (0.110) (0.110) 

Total 2.052 1.944 (0.108) 

 

 

7.5   Authorities are required to make suitable provision, in accordance with proper 

accounting practices, to cover the write-off of rent and service charge arrears. 

 

7.6 The Bad Debt Provision for rent arrears, which is held on the Authority’s Balance 

Sheet, stood at £1,774,257 at the beginning of this financial year. The 

requirement for the year is calculated with reference to the type of arrears and 

the amount outstanding on each individual case. 

 
7.7 The original budget for 2022/23 allowed for additional contributions to the 

provision totalling £510,200; £191,400 for uncollectable debts and £318,800 for 

the impact of benefit reforms. Reviewing the arrears position at this time, it is 

now estimated that the additional provision required in 2022/23 may be 

£305,772. However, rent arrears are volatile and with increasing numbers of 

Universal Credit cases it can be difficult to determine what the position at the 

end of the financial year will be. Based upon current information this suggests 

that the Provision will stand at £1,899,800 at the end of 2022/23 against arrears 
of £2,077,300. 

 

 

Page 46



7.8    The 2023/24 estimates allow for additional contributions to the provision, totalling 

£651,341 which is 2% of the gross rent. It should be noted that a bad debt provision is 

simply the assumption that a proportion of the rent may not eventually be collected. The 

debt will remain collectable and not written off until every avenue to collect has been 

exhausted.  

 

7.9    If the arrears position is not as severely impacted upon as has been estimated 
then a lower contribution may be required which would release additional 

resources in the HRA; conversely if the arrears position should deteriorate more 

significantly then additional contributions to the Bad Debt Provision could be 
required and these would need to be found from the HRA balances. The position 

is kept under regular review. 

 

           Rechargeable Repairs 

 
7.10  The amount due from tenants for rechargeable repairs currently stands at 

£222,000 of which £198,000 is debt over 1 year old. Of the debt over 1 year 

old £187,500, appears to be static debt i.e., there have been no payments 

received at all. No accounts have been written to date in the current year 

however £12,000 of accounts have been identified as potential write offs. 

 

7.11  The Bad Debt Provision for rechargeable repairs, which is held on the 
Authority’s Balance Sheet, currently stands at £150,000. Taking into account 

the expected write offs, at the end of 2022/23 the provision will stand at 

£138,000 and cover around 62% of the expected outstanding debt. The 
pandemic and resulting operating restrictions has impacted on the level of 

rechargeable repairs being carried out as well as the billing and recovery of 

these works; it is very difficult at present to estimate what the position will be 

at the year end or for the coming financial year however the HRA has sufficient 
resources to provide additional contributions to the Bad Debt Provision should 

this prove necessary. 

 
7.12  Accounts raised are subject to established recovery procedures with 

reminders/final notices being routinely issued and accounts passed to 

collection agencies (for debts under £750) where payment is not received, or 

instalment arrangements agreed. Billing and recovery arrangements will be 

continually reviewed to ensure effective recovery. 

 

 
8.0      2023/24 Housing Revenue Account (HRA), HRA Capital Resources and the HRA  

Working Balance 

 

           2023/24 Housing Revenue Account 

 

8.1    The Housing Revenue Account Estimates are set out in Appendix 1. 

 

8.2   One of the most significant impacts on the HRA for the coming year and in future 

years will be the cost-of-living crisis, energy bill inflationary pressures and the 

impacts that the Covid 19 pandemic has had on the country. This along with 

other key factors, are factored into the determination of the HRA working 

balance. 

 

8.3    Other areas worthy of note that have not been covered in other sections of this 

Page 47



report are: 

 
 The Housing Revenue Account pays a Management Fee to Six 

Town Housing to provide the services delegated under the ALMO 

Management Agreement. The level of this Management Fee for 

2023/24 is subject to negotiation under the Management 

Agreement. In light of the identified pressures on the HRA it is 

recommended that for the financial year 2023/24, the Management 

Fee is reduced by 3% creating a saving of £391,758 and resulting 

in a management fee for 2023/24 of £12,666,842. 

 

 Springs Tenant Management Cooperative (TMO) has established 
itself as a self- financing, tenant management Organisation from 

April 2022. The impact of the 7% rent cap will result in £47,783 loss 

of income to Springs TMO in rental income and efficiency savings 

will be required.  

   No adjustments have been made to the HRA estimates for 2023/24 

in this regard.  

 
8.4  The detailed Housing Revenue Account shown in Appendix 1 assumes that the 

proposals within this report for increases/decreases to rents and other charges 

are approved. 

 
 

HRA Capital Resources 

 

8.5   Self-financing within the HRA means that major works to the housing stock are 

now funded primarily from rental income, capital grants and/or borrowing. The 

identification and timing of future major works are key factors in the 

development of the 30 Year HRA Business Plan. 

 

8.6  Investment needs to be undertaken on a sustainable basis and in line with the 
Council’s overarching   Housing Strategy. 

 

8.7   For the years 2018/19 to 2020/21 an annual investment of £9.830m was 

approved, in line with the Asset Management Strategy for the Public Housing 
stock 2018-21. This level of resources was maintained in 2022/23 whilst longer 

term investment strategies were being assessed. 

 

8.8    A piece of work is required to fully understand the stock condition and develop 
a 5-year Capital Programme profiled on stock condition which is affordable 

within existing resources to cover. 

 Compliance 

 Elemental Repairs 

 Planned and Programmed Work 

 Refurbishment / renewal of existing stock 

 Environmental Improvements 

 New Homes 
 

8.9  On this basis the investment programme for 2023/24 is assumed to be £16.782m, 

(the HRA estimates also allow for slippage of schemes (and resources) from 

2022/23 to 2023/24): 

 

The Major Works resources will provide for specific capital schemes and 

Page 48



general capital expenditure such as essential renewals (arising when properties 

become vacant) and structural works. 
  

              The HRA Working Balance 

 
8.10  The HRA needs to maintain a certain level of balances in order to finance 

occurrences that cannot be predicted and to mitigate against material 

inaccuracies in the assumptions underlying the budget. 

 
8.11  There is no statutory definition of the minimum level however as part of a longer-

term approach to HRA finances the Council established a Golden Rule 

regarding the minimum level of HRA balances and it was agreed that the HRA 

balances should not be allowed to fall below £100 per property, recognising 
that  the actual minimum level of balances to be retained still needs to be 

reviewed each year based on a risk assessment of the major issues that could 

affect the financial position of the HRA. 
 

8.12    The level of recommended minimum balances for the HRA at 31st March 2022, 

was £1.3m. There are a number of benchmarks that Housing Authorities use 
to determine the correct level. For Bury’s HRA the calculations would be: 

 

 

 £m 

£200 per property (Housing Finance Act 1989 recommended £150 
based on 7,431 properties) 

1.486 

 

5% of dwelling rental income 1.613 

5% of gross expenditure (excl. transfers to MRR) 1.240 

Average of the 3 options 1.446 

 

8.13   As the results of the three options are wide ranging, it would be prudent to keep 

the minimum working balance under review each year. For 2023/24, it is 

recommended that the council increases the minimum working balance to 

£1.5m being just above the average of the options. 

8.14 In line with 2022/23 there is a proposed contribution from the business 
headroom reserve.  The balance on this reserve as at 31st March 2022 was 

£9.8m.  Therefore, this reserve is not going to be sustainable if contributions 

of this magnitude continue. 

 

             Housing Management Fee 

 
8.15    The current Management Agreement between Six Town Housing (STH) and 

the Council was approved in April 2020 and allows for an annual negotiation 

of the Management Fee which is payable from the HRA to STH in respect of 

its management and repairs responsibility. In light of the identified pressures 

on the HRA it is recommended that for the financial year 2023/24, the 

Management Fee is reduced by 3% creating a saving of £391,758 and 

resulting in a management fee for 2023/24 of £12,666,842.  STH have agreed 

to absorb inflationary rises and other costs pending a further strategic review 

of the fee levels during 2023/24.  There was no reduction in the management 

Page 49



fee in 2022/23 or following the transfer of properties to Springs Tenant 

Management Cooperative. 

 

8.16   In addition to the Management Fee, a further £16.782m capital will be made 

available to STH in respect of the agreed planned maintenance and 
improvement programme. 

 

 

_________________________________________________________ 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

Provision of social housing is a core function and a key corporate priority to support the 

provision of affordable housing for residents in the Borough.  

_________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 

A full Equality Impact assessment is underway, and the assessment will be taken in to account 

before applying any increased charges to Tenants. 

 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

 

The Council is working towards becoming a carbon neutral organisation by 2038.  Six 
Town Housing are working on a number of decarbonisation programmes across the 
housing estate to reduce the carbon footprint. This is an on going project. 

 

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

The capped rents do not recover the costs if 

they rise at a higher level of inflation which 
will put pressure on the Housing Revenue 

Account. 
 
Increased risk of non-payment of rents, 

escalating bad debts. 
 

 

The budgets will be monitored closely 

throughout the year, action may be 
required to reduce costs and limit 

expenditure. 
 
Close monitoring of outstanding debt, 

ensure tenancy and welfare support 
offered to Tenants at the appropriate 

time. 
_________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

 

Housing Revenue Account and Rents  

The Local Government & Housing Act 1989 Part VI sets a statutory regime for 
housing finance.   The Council must formulate proposals in respect of HRA income 

and expenditure for the financial year which on the best assumptions and estimates 
that the Council is able to make at the time to ensure that the HRA does not show a 

debit balance. 

Page 50



The Council is required to keep the HRA in accordance with proper practice.  The 

Council has a general duty to review the rents of its houses from time to time and 
in fixing rents the Council must have regard, in particular, to the principle that the 

rents of dwellings of any class or description should bear broadly the same 
proportion to private sector market rents as the rents of dwellings of any other class 

or description. 

The review of the rents is a Cabinet function and is undertaken with regard to the 

provisions of Part VI of the 1989 Act which governs housing finance and housing 

subsidy. Rents for council houses are a credit to the HRA and outgoings a debit. The 

HRA continues to be a ring-fenced account, this means that it must, in general, 

balance on a year-to-year basis, so that the costs of running the Housing Service, 

which include debt charges, administration costs and maintenance expenditure must 

be met from HRA income. The Council has the responsibility to determine a strategy 
that is designed to ensure that the HRA is balanced.   

 

Financial Implications: 

The financial implications are included within the report 

 

Appendices: 

Please list any appended documents. 

 

Background papers: 

Please list any background documents to this report and include a hyperlink where possible. 

 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this report.  

  

Term Meaning 

HRA Housing Revenue Account 

 
 

STH   Six Town Housing  
 

TMO 
 

Tenants Management Organisation 

RTB 
 

Right to buy 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 
 Housing Revenue Account 

2022/23 2023/24 

£m £m 

Page 51



INCOME   

Dwelling rents 31.568 32.251 

Non-dwelling rents 0.203 0.224 

Heating charges 0.037 0.041 

Other charges for services and facilities 0.971 1.063 

Contributions towards expenditure 0.040 0.040 

Total Income 32.819 33.619 

 
EXPENDITURE 

  

Repairs and Maintenance 6.902 6.865 

General Management 7.380 7.164 

Special Services 1.401 1.496 

Rents, rates, taxes and other charges 0.036 0.038 

Increase in provision for bad debts 0.510 0.651 

Cost of Capital Charge 4.713 4.713 

Depreciation of fixed assets - council dwellings 7.442 8.500 

Depreciation of fixed assets - other assets 0.030 0.030 

Debt Management Expenses 0.045 0.045 

Contribution to/(from) Business Plan Headroom Reserve -3.749 -2.917 

Total Expenditure 24.710 26.585 

 
Net cost of services 

 
-8.109 

 
 

-7.034 

Amortised premia / discounts 0.000 
 

0.000 

Interest receivable - on balances -0.018 -0.018 

Interest receivable - on loans (mortgages) 0.000 0.000 

Net operat ing expenditure -8.127 -7.052 

 
Appropriations 

  

Appropriation relevant to depreciation and MRA 0.000 
 

0.000 

Housing set aside (Principal repayments on new developments) 0.000 0.000 

Revenue contributions to capital 7.910 7.052 

(Surplus ) / Deficit -0.217 0.000 
   

Working balance brought forward -1.083 -1.300 
   

Working balance carried forward -1.300 -1.500 
 

Page 52



Sheltered Support and Amenity Charges APPENDIX 2 

Current charges 2022/23 and proposed charges 2023/24 

 
 
 

 
 

Scheme 

    Proposed Proposed Proposed Total Increase 

Management Support Amenity Total Management Support   Amenity Proposed over 

Charge Charge Charge Charges Charge Charge Charge Charges current 

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 charges 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

 4.10% 0% 4.10%  10.1% 0% 10.1%   

Beech Close 12.49 8.33   20.82 13.75 8.33  22.08 1.26 

Chelsea Avenue 12.49 8.33   20.82 13.75 8.33  22.08 1.26 

Clarkshill 12.49 8.33 19.38 40.2 13.75 8.33 21.34 43.42 3.22 

Elms Close 12.49 8.33 2.27 23.09 13.75 8.33 2.50 24.58 1.49 

Falcon House 23.98 0 11.32 35.3 26.40 0 12.46 38.86 3.56 

Griffin Close 12.49 8.33   20.82 13.75 8.33  22.08 1.26 

Griffin House 23.98 0 10.98 34.96 26.40 0 12.09 38.49 3.53 

Hampson Fold 12.49 8.33   20.82 13.75 8.33  22.08 1.26 

Harwood House 12.49 8.33 21.99 42.81 13.75 8.33 25.20 47.28 4.47 

Limegrove 12.49 8.33   20.82 13.75 8.33  22.08 1.26 

Maple Grove 12.49 8.33   20.82 13.75 8.33  22.08 1.26 

Moorfield 12.49 8.33 25.16 45.98 13.75 8.33 27.70 49.78 3.80 

Mosses House 12.49 8.33 19.96 40.78 13.75 8.33 21.98 44.06 3.28 

Stanhope Court 12.49 8.33 10.13 30.95 13.75 8.33 11.15 33.23 2.28 

Taylor House 12.49 8.33 22.45 43.27 13.75 8.33 24.72 46.80 3.53 

Top O'th Fields 1 12.49 8.33 21.65 42.47 13.75 8.33 23.84 45.92 3.45 

T O'th F 2 (Welcomb Walk) 12.49 8.33   20.82 13.75 8.33  22.08 1.26 

Waverley Place 12.49 8.33 23.8 44.62 13.75 8.33 26.20 48.28 3.66 

Wellington House 12.49 8.33 32.19 53.01 13.75 8.33 35.44 57.52 4.51 

P
age 53



 

APPENDIX 3 

 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT - RISK ASSESSMENT 

 

 
 
 

Risk Event Impact Risk Likelihood Max. Min. 

Level Impact Provision 

 £m £m 

Increased stock loss - 
level exceeds the 
provision made in the 
estimates 

The loss of a property costs 
the HRA approx. £4,100 in 
lost rental income in a full 
year. A loss of 60 properties 
throughout the year would 
cost around £246k. 

M    
50% 

Budget 2023/24 assumes 60 
sales. Provisions are made for 60 
and due to the housing market 
conditions i.e., interest rates on 
mortgages and cost of living there 
is expected to be a downturn in 
applications for RTB. 

0.246  0.246 

Higher level of void 
(empty) properties - 
increase loss of rental 
income 

A 1.0% increase in void 
loss costs the HRA  
c£300k in a full year. 

M    
50% 

Budget 2022/23 assumes 1% 
void rental loss. The expectation 
with the slowdown of the 
housing market is void rates will 
remain steady. The current rate 
of void at the time of writing is 
1.07% (Dec 2022) 

0.300  0.300 

Increase in arrears levels Rental income is 
accounted for in the 
HRA on a rents 
receivable basis rather 
than actual rent 
received. However an 
increase in arrears 
could impact on the 
level of contribution 
required to the Bad 
Debt Provision. 

H   
80% 

Budget 2023/2024 This allows 
for contributions of £651k to the 
Bad Debt Provision. This is 
based on 2% of the gross rent; 
the level of arrears has been 
affected by current economic 
conditions and the cost-of-living 
crisis.   

0.651  0.651  

    
1.197 1.197 

 

Page 54



  
 

Report to:  
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 

Cabinet 
 

Date:  

 

9 February 2023 
 

15 February 2023 

Subject: 

 

The Council’s Budget 2023/24 and the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2024/25 - 2025/26 
 

Report of Cabinet Member for Finance and Communities 

 
Summary 

 

1. This report sets out the key elements of the 2023/24 budget proposals and 
the framework for the longer-term Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

2023/2026. It makes available the latest financial information that will underpin 
the 2023/24 budget and the MTFS. The report also sets out the process that 

will lead to the agreement of the budget and the setting of the 2023/24 
Council Tax at Full Council on the 22 February 2023. 
 

2. This report reflects the Government’s Annual Settlement for Local 
Government as delivered in December 2022 and the associated two-year 
policy statement. It has also been produced at a time of continued 

unsettlement within financial forecasting due to international and national 
pressures. As such the financial tables within the report focus on the 2023/24 

budget position, with a less in-depth forecast for the two years beyond. 
 
3. The Housing Revenue Account is a separate report on this agenda, this report 

is part of the suite of financial reports including: 
 

 Capital strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 

 Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2023/24 

 Treasury Management Strategy 2023 –24 

 The Dedicated Schools Grant and the schools budget 2023 –24  

 
Role of Overview and Scrutiny Committee in budget process 

 

4. Under the Council’s Constitution, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
required to advise and consider the Cabinet’s budget and Council Tax 

proposals and report to Cabinet on the outcome of its deliberations before the 
matter is referred to Council. 

 

Classification: 

Open 

Decision Type: 

Non-Key 

Page 55 Agenda Item 8



 
5. In considering the budget proposals, the Committee can challenge how the 

budget has been constructed. It may wish to probe the assumptions that lie 
behind the budget strategy, what are the main savings proposals, how will any 

growth be funded, and has an appropriate level of reserves been set. 
 

6. The Committee will also need to maintain a ‘big picture’ view of the financial 

pressures affecting the Council and understand how these might impact on 
existing budgets and budget setting in subsequent years. These issues are 

set out in the Financial Context and Background section below.  
 

Recommendation(s)  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to: 

 Note the report. 

 Consider whether they wish to make any recommendations to Cabinet on 
the content of this report. 

 

The Cabinet is asked to:  
 

1. Approve the Medium-Term Financial Strategy and the assumptions 
regarding resources and spending requirements.  

2. Note the Council Tax base is the equivalent of 56,708 Band D 
dwellings, this is the basis on which the Council Tax funding has been 
calculated. 

3. Approve the net revenue budget of £210.813m for 2023/24. 
4. Approve an increase in Council Tax of 2.99% in terms of General 

Council Tax and a further 2% for the Adult Social Care Precept in each 
of the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial years. 

5. Approve, subject to statutory regulations and legislation with regard to 

any guidance issued by the Secretary of State, to implement a 100% 
Council Tax premium on 2nd homes and to amend the timing of the 

premium on empty and unoccupied properties with effect from April 
2024. 

6. Approve the recurrent changes to expenditure of £16.852m in 2023/24. 

7. Approve the non-recurrent changes to expenditure of £3.618m in 
2023/24. 

8. Approve the proposed savings and additional income of £22.545m for 
the 2023/24 financial year.  

9. Approve the use of reserves of £4.802m in 2023/24.  

10. Approve the transfer of £1.912m into reserves with regards to the 
funding of social care reforms.  

11. Note the forecast position on reserves.  
12. Approve the flexible use of Capital receipts strategy 2023/24 as set out 

in Appendix 2. 

13. Approve the Treasury Management Strategy as set out in Appendix 2 
14. Approve the recommendations to Council as set out relating to the 

Dedicated Schools Grant and setting the schools budget. 
15. Note the Departmental cash limits as set out at Appendix 5. 

Page 56



16. Approve the commencement of consultation in respect of options set 
out in paragraph 101 of this report. 

17. Recommend that Council approve and adopt the budget for 2023/24.  
  
 
1. FINANCIAL CONTEXT AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 This budget is brought forward in an extremely difficult context. Since  
 2019 the Council has been managing through a pandemic, with the 

 associated resource challenges across increased costs, additional demand 
 and reduced income. A strategic decision was made to apply reserves to 

 manage the short-term impacts caused by Covid, including the use of one-off 
monies provided by central government to mitigate the impact of the pandemic. 
Although this provision concludes this year, the challenges of the national economic 

context have increased and as such this budget has to respond to the significant 
worsening of the Council’s financial position. Specific pressures include: 
 

 Sharp increases in energy costs as a result of the war in Ukraine, and the 
impact on operating council services in particular the Leisure Centres. 

 Inflation in the UK at a 40 year high which is feeding into additional 
pressures on contract values, staff pay and utility costs for the Council. The 

Bank of England has, however, issued an improved forecast with a 
prediction that inflation will decrease below 10% after March 2023, by the 
end of 2023 be between 5-6% and then below 2% in the first half of 2024. 

 Ongoing increases in demand for many services, particularly in children and 
adults social care and more widely across urgent, elective and primary care. 

As an integrated system this places more demand on council services. 

 A need for investment in children’s services to support the social care 

improvement journey, to address the Dedicated Schools Grant deficit and 
to “pump prime” longer term efficiencies. 

 National shortages of labour are also increasing workforce costs, 

particularly within services for children. 

 UK interest rates are now at their highest level for 14 years which will feed 

into higher costs for Council borrowing. 

 Increases in costs caused by the disruption of supply chains during Covid. 

 
1.2 On the 19th October 2022, the Council’s Cabinet received a financial 

 planning document, the Medium-Term Financial Strategy Refresh, within 

which the 2023/24 financial assumptions were updated in this context. Since 

then, the Local Government Finance Settlement has been announced for one 

year only, although with planning indications for up to two years. In light of this, 

the Council can only set a one-year budget. The settlement, winter funding and 

additional step-down funding announcements all make increased provision for 

adult social care, but again these are short term provisions. 

 

1.3 The scale of immediate macroeconomic challenges faced by the Council and 

uncertainty of the national position require a long-term approach to resources. 

Page 57



However, forward financial planning remains difficult in the  context of a one-

year settlement and short-term funding announcements.  This budget has 

therefore been developed as a one-year position, but in the context of the 

Borough’s strategy, LET’S Do It!, to 2030 which, from a financial perspective, 

aims to drive growth to widen and deepen the tax base and tackle deprivation 

to reduce the demand on council services (particularly social care). 

 
1.4 The LET’S Do It! strategy directs the Council’s Corporate Plan comprises: 

 

 A focus on “Local” services delivered by joined-up public services which 

manage demand through integration and the appropriate engagement of 
the voluntary and community sector. 

 Pursuing income and reducing costs through the “Enterprise” of economic 

development and internal transformation, particularly digital technologies. 

 Delivering change “Together” with local people, through consultation and 

co-design.  

 Taking a “Strengths-based” approach to service provision which draws on 

the resources of residents to manage their lives independently as far as 
possible and allows the Council to prevent, reduce and delay the costs of 
its interventions. 

 
2. FORECAST OUTTURN POSITION FOR 2022/23 

 
2.1 It is important that the current year’s budget position is taken into 

consideration and that any trends and information available are reflected on. 

Monitoring at the end of the third quarter, December 2022, shows that the 

Council is forecasting a deficit of £3.959m. The pressures in children’s 

services and those caused by rising utilities costs have been regularly 

reported to Cabinet. The table below provides a summary of the forecast 

position based on information available at the end of December 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



Directorate Approved 
Budget 

Forecast (Under)/ 
OverSpend 

 £m £m £m 

Business, Growth, and 
Infrastructure 

3.269 3.347 0.078 

Children and Young People 45.910 52.361 6.451 

Corporate Core 14.872 14.281 (0.591) 

Corporate Core – Finance 5.169 5.481 0.312 

Housing General Fund 1.288 1.288 0 

Non-Service Specific 6.349 (0.815) (7.164) 

One Commissioning 
Organisation 

80.781 82.215 1.434 

Operations 19.846 23.283 3.437 

TOTAL 177.484 181.441 3.958 

 
2.2 The budget remains under regular review by the Executive Team and is 

reported on a quarterly basis to Cabinet. The potential for the position to 

change because of the increasing pressures in children’s and adults’ services 

remains a risk and will continue to be managed and monitored carefully for 

the remainder of the year. A separate report on the Council’s financial position 

at the end of December 2022 is on this agenda. 

 

3. REVENUE RESOURCE REQUIREMENT AND THE LOCAL   
GOVERNMENT FINANCE SETTLEMENT 

 

3.1 The Council continues to work with a one year only Local Government Finance 

Settlement, although this year the Government announced a two-year policy 

statement which did give an indication on which grants will continue for 

2024/25, and the deferral of the business rates reset until at least the 2025/26 

financial year.  

 

 

 
3.2 The Council’s forecast revenue resource prior to the provisional Local 

Government Settlement was £176.078m for 2023/24, as reported to Cabinet on 

19 October 2022 within the Medium-Term Financial Strategy Refresh. 

 
3.3 The 2023/24 Local Government Finance Settlement was announced on 19 

December 2022. The settlement confirmed the following amounts: 

Page 59



 

 Continuation of the additional Social Care grant, which can be used to 

support both Adults and Children’s social care. The value of which has 
increased from the 2022/23 value of £3.071m to a value of £4.793m. This 

will continue into 2024/25 but there is no confirmation of any funding beyond 
this and therefore has been treated as non-recurrent for these two years. 

 

 £0.288m of the above Social Care Grant relates to funding for independent 
living fund packages that we previously received separate funding for but 

has now been consolidated into the above. This funding will need to be 
allocated to the respective budget. 

 

 Continuation of the Improved Better Care Fund Grant at a value of £7.628m 
and the original Social Care Grant at a value of £7.841m. Both of which 

were already built into the MTFS. 
 

 Social Care market sustainability continues at an increased value from the 
£0.551m received for 2022/23 to £1.912m for 2023/24. It is being given as 
additional monies to make tangible improvements to adult social care, and, 

in particular, to address discharge delays, social care waiting times, low fee 
rates, workforce pressures and to promote technological innovation in the 

sector therefore it is proposed to hold as a ringfenced reserve which will 
require a business case to justify how the expenditure meets these criteria. 

 

 There is also a further non recurrent Adult Social Care grant of £1.069m 
which is specifically to address delayed transfers of care from hospitals. 

This must form part of the Better Care Fund and therefore will have 
matching expenditure. There are conditions and criteria in respect of 

outcomes attached to this grant. 
 

 The Lower Tier Services grant which was £0.266m, in 2022/23 has ceased, 

along with the Local Council Tax Support Admin Grant of £0.250m. At the 
present time the Council has not received confirmation of the Housing 

Benefit Admin Grant (previously £0.512m) therefore this has not been 
included in the current projections resulting in a reduction of £1.055m for 
these three grants. 

 

 The non-recurrent services grant which was £2.482m in 2022/23 has been 

confirmed again but this is reduced to £1.399m the removal of the 
allowance for the employers increases in national insurance, the value of 
which was circa £0.500m per annum. There was a further reduction 

because of redistributing funds between this and the Supporting Families 
programme. 

 

 A further year of the New Homes Bonus Grant which is subject to 

achievement of certain targets of £0.053m. 
 
3.4 The increase in Spending Power within this short-term budget includes income 

from locally raised Council Tax, which following the Autumn Statement can be 

Page 60



raised by up to 3% without a local referendum, and the Adult Social Care Levy 

of up to 2%, both of which are subject to local decision making and have been 

included within these figures.  

 

3.5 The Council’s forecast revenue resource after the Local Government 

Settlement announcement is £192.186m, an increase of £16.108m. This 

includes increases in Council tax, business rates and Government grants. 

However, £3.269m of the increase in grants is related to Social Care funding 

which is needed to match already committed expenditure, in the case of 

discharge funding and independent living fund or is recommended for transfer 

to reserves until the criteria and outcomes for spend is known. The only grant 

assumed to be continuing into 2024/25 from above is the Social Care grant 

which after the impact of the loss of the three grants identified above gives a 

one-year benefit of £3.450m in 2024/25.  The ASC market sustainability grant 

may also continue but is subject to confirmation and therefore has not been 

included in the assumptions for 2024/25. 

 
3.6 The Council must ensure it has a robust financial strategy and is also holding 

sufficient reserves to mitigate against planned or unplanned expenditure and 

other risks. The impact of the pandemic meant that reserves were needed to 

support some of the anticipated short term financial impacts on the Council in 

the last two financial years This was in line with the Council’s financial strategy. 

This budget has been produced on the basis that savings and efficiencies have 

been identified to close the full gap recurrently, but this may take up to four 

years in some cases for the schemes to deliver in full and therefore the use of 

reserves and the non-recurrent grants identified above will be needed to 

smooth the position. 

 

3.7 The Council’s financial strategy for 2023/24 through to 2024/25 assumes 

 that: 

 

 There will be a 2.99% annual increase in Council tax for each financial 

year. 

 The Council will also further increase Council tax by the 2% Adult Social 

Care Precept for each of these two financial years. 

 The Better Care Fund, the main element of the Improved Better Care 

Fund and other longstanding Government grants continue to be received 
at their current levels over the medium term. 

 The new Social Care grant is assumed for two years. The market 

sustainability, discharge and the Services grant are assumed as non-
recurrent one-year only grants for 2023/24. 

 
3.8 The table below sets out the base revenue funding forecasts for 2023/24 

 both pre and post settlement. The pre settlement figure is as per the  

 October Cabinet report. The setting of the Council Tax precept is a  

Page 61



 decision for Council after taking advice from officers and information  

 available at that time. 

 
Revenue Resource Forecast 2023/24 

  Pre-

settlement 
estimate 

Post-

settlement 
update 

  £m £m 

Resource funding streams     

Improved Better Care Fund 7.628 7.628 

Social Care Grant 7.841 7.841 

Additional Social Care grant 0.0 4.793 

New Homes Bonus 0.0 0.053 

Independent Living Fund now part of Social 
Care Grant 

0.0 0.0 

LCTS Admin Grant 0.250 0.0 

Housing Benefit Admin Grant 0.512 0.0 

Lower Tier Services Grant 0.293 0.0 

Services Grant assumed non recurrent 0.0 1.399 

Market Sustainability assumed non recurrent 0.0 1.912 

ASC Discharge 0.0 1.069 

Sub Total 16.524 24.695 

      

Council Tax 100.158 103.680 

Business Rates 59.396 63.811 

Sub Total 159.554 167.491 

Total Revenue Resource forecast 176.078 192.186 

Additional revenue resource funding post 
settlement 

 16.108 

   

Adjustments 
  

Social Care market sustainability funding 
recommended to be transferred to reserves  

  (1.912) 

Revised additional revenue resource funding 

post settlement 

  14.196 

 
 

 
 
3.9  Council Tax and Business Rates 

 
3.10  The proposal is to increase Council tax rates to the maximum rate of 2.99% now 

permitted by Government. This increase is incorporated in the resource forecasts. 

Not only does this approach ensure the Council’s financial sustainability over the 

Page 62



medium term, it is also assumed in the Government’s estimates of the funding 

available to Local Authorities. 

 

3.11 The calculation of the Council Tax base for 2023/24 is set out in Appendix 1. 

 

3.12  The 2022/23 Local Government Finance Settlement announcement in 

December 2021 confirmed that the 100% Business Rates Retention pilot will 

continue in 2022/23 for the original five regions which includes the Greater 

Manchester area. Therefore, existing arrangements will continue with no 

change to these arrangements taking place for 2023/24. The Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) has produced a budget for the 

utilisation of the GMCA element from districts which for 2023/24 is proposed to 

continue at 25%. 

 

3.13 The business rate income comes in through several sources: 

  
2023/24 

£m 

Business Rates: Local Share (41.745) 

Business Rates: Top Up (5.695) 

Business Rates: Section 31 Grants (17.255) 

Business Rates: GMCA no detriment contribution 0.884 

Total (63.811) 

 
3.14 The Mayoral precept increase being proposed to the February Combined 

Authority budget setting meeting is £5 for the fire precept and no increase for 

Mayoral non-fire precept resulting in a £5 increase for a Band D property. The 

police and crime precept is a proposed increase of £15. 

 
3.15  The Government is currently bringing forward the Levelling-up and 

Regeneration Bill which will give Billing Authorities further flexibility to charge a 

council tax premium of 100% on 2nd homes and to bring forward the time period 

under which a premium can be charged on long-term empty properties from 2 

years to 1 year. This may affect approximately 660 properties in Bury. The 

proposed bill confirms that these amendments have effect for financial years 

beginning on or after 1 April 2024 and it is further stated within the Bill that it 

does not matter if this period begins before the proposed section comes into 

force.   

 

3.16  To bring these changes into effect for the financial year beginning on 1 April 

2024 a Council Resolution must be made prior to 1st April 2023 with notice of 

that resolution published in at least one local paper before the end of the period 

of 21 days beginning with the date of that resolution. 

Page 63



 
3.17  Adult Social Care Levy 

 
  In addition to an increase of 2.99% in Council Tax income, the Council has a 

further option of implementing a 2% adult social care levy. This report 

recommends that the adult social care levy will be applied to Council Tax rates. 

The raising of 2% adult social care precept delivers £1.978m of increased income, 

which not only benefits the 2023/24 financial year, but then forms part of the 

recurrent tax base. This is assumed in both the 2023/24 financial year and the 

2024/25 financial year within these figures in order to support the setting of a 

balanced budget. 

 
4. DEVELOPING THE MEDIUM-TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND THE 

 2023/24 BUDGET 

 
4.1  Permanent Spending Need 

 
The October Cabinet paper identified several cost pressures and spend 

 requirements totalling £14.936m, £14.376m of these were increased 

costs and £0.560m was reduced revenue resources. These have been further 

updated following Cabinet decisions since October which have committed 

further spend. This has resulted in the gap increasing by £1.916m. The cost 

pressures totalling £16.852m are summarised in the table below. These are 

proposed as additional permanent allocations and are set out in detail at 

Appendix 2. 

 
4.2 Pay Inflation £6.857m 

 

The Council has historically budgeted for pay inflation at 2%. The national pay 

settlements for 2022/23 agreed a flat increase of £1,925 across all pay points  

for staff on NJC and JNC Chief Officer terms and Conditions. This equated to 

a 7.1% increase in the Council’s pay budget. (The uplift percentage was 

differential across all pay points). For 2023/24 the same approach has been 

taken as part of budget setting. The £6.857m is the recurrent impact of the 

2022/23 pay award over and above the previously budgeted 2% and the impact 

of a 2023/24 pay award at a similar level. 

 
4.3  Utilities Inflation £1m 

 

Utilities budgets have significantly overspent in 2022/23 due to the rising costs 

of gas and electricity. The overspend in 2023/24 is expected to be circa 

£1.500m after the utilisation of the £1.500m reserve. However, the Council has 

undertaken actions which will start to reduce spend on utilities over time. These 

include the rationalisation of administrative buildings which will continue during 

2023/24, decarbonisation works in our most energy inefficient buildings and an 

Page 64



education campaign amongst staff on how they can reduce energy 

consumption within Council buildings and at home. 

   

This, however, remains an area of significant volatility and risk. Both the 

financial position here and progress of work to reduce costs will be closely 

monitored and updates provided to Cabinet as necessary.  

 
4.4  Children & Young People’s Investment £3.327m 

 
Investment of over £6.3m has been made in Children’s Services this year, in 

the context of the social care improvement journey and following an LGA 

finance review. 

 

Two restructures have been supported to significantly increase capacity 

across children’s social care and education, with associated investment of 

£3.327m. One-off resources of £3m and additional repurposing of existing 

reserves was approved by Council as part of the 2022/23 budget, to support 

improvement which will also ultimately reduce costs. 

 
Despite this, the department is forecasting a significant overspend as 

described in the latest budget monitoring report. The overspend largely 

relates to temporary and additional staffing costs because of the restructure 

and agreement to increase capacity, due to a heavy reliance on agency 

staffing and temporary externally managed teams. The additional pressures 

should reduce as permanent recruitment and wider improvement activity 

progresses, however there is a major dependency on the timely 

implementation of the education restructure and correct alignment of DSG 

funding. 

 
The budget is therefore developed on the basis that Children’s Services can 

deliver within its budget and, further, to make a longer-term contribution to 

reduced costs through investment in new delivery models which will reduce 

demand. To increase in-borough fostering; reductions in expensive residential 

placements and preventing children moving into care through the family 

safeguarding model. To allow time for the benefits of the improvement work to 

be achieved, most associated savings have been deferred to 2024/25 

onwards. 

 
4.5  Increased Levies £1.12m 

 

Within the October Cabinet report a value of £1.12m was included as the 

information that was available at the time for the 2023/24 recurrent uplifts in the 

waste disposal and transport levies which are administered by the Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority. These figures have been maintained within 

Page 65



this report for consistency. However, following review of these budgets by the 

GMCA and the ten GM Authorities both proposed recurrent increases have 

been reduced for 2023/24. This reduces this pressure by £0.52m and is 

included within the strategic finance proposals. There is however, a non-

recurrent increase in the transport levy of 1% which for Bury is £129k which will 

be offset by Bury’s share of a return from a waste disposal reserve held by the 

GMCA of £0.162m. 

 
4.6  Unachieved Procurement Savings £1m 

 

The transformation report presented to December Cabinet identified that £1m 

of procurement savings which were to be delivered £0.50m in 2022/23 and a 

further £0.50m in 2023/24 were a duplicate of savings that were already being 

delivered within Departmental savings through contract negotiations and 

commissioning reviews. They were therefore deemed unachievable over and 

above what was already being delivered. Work is ongoing to review all contracts 

when they come up for renewal and as part of the review of the contracts 

register where there are multiple suppliers for similar supplies and services to 

determine if further savings can be achieved.   

 
4.7  Other Sundry Changes (£0.244m) 

 
This is the net impact of funding the increase in members allowances approved 

after the 2022/23 budget was set and those that were  presented to January 

2023 Council, offset by the saving from the removal of the NI levy. 

 
4.8 Impact of Real Living Wage £3.504m 
 

The Council has committed to pay not only its directly employed staff the Real 

Living Wage, but to ensure commissioned provider staff working for Bury are 

also paid at this rate by April 2023. The real living wage hourly rate increased 

to £10.90 per hour in September 2022, with accredited organisations having 

until May 2023 to pay staff at this rate. This is higher than previously estimated. 

Consequently, the cost of social care commissioned services have increased 

significantly. This £3.504m investment is in addition to the initial costs of 

£5.487m commitment by the Council to paying the Real Living Wage over the 

first five years of agreed by Cabinet in September 2021. These costs are 

significant, particularly in the wider financial context. However, the benefits of 

the Council’s investment here is critical to our overall LET’S Do It! ambition and 

commitment to leading by example in the provision of Good Work. Analysis in 

December 2022 demonstrated the Council’s Real Living Wage commitment 

has directly increased the wages of around 5,000 Bury workers with, beyond 

this, 16 local employers now also achieving Real Living Wage accredited status  

following the Council’s example. 

  

Page 66



5. SUMMARY SPENDING POSITION  

 
5.1 Non-Recurrent Spending Requirements 

 

The table below outlines the non-recurrent spending requirements which  are 

either one off for 2023/24 or are required for 2023/24 and 2024/25  but no longer. 

 
Summary Forecast Spending Requirement 2023/24 2024/25 

  £m £m 

1% Non-Recurrent transport levy 0.129 0.00 

Children’s Safeguarding Model 1.000 1.000 

Utilities Contingency 1.000 0.00 

Flexi Hall market office decant and loss of market car park 

income                                                

0.420 0.420 

ASC discharge matched expenditure 1.069 0.00 

TOTAL NON-RECURRENT CHANGES TO EXPENDITURE 3.618 1.420 

 
5.2 Recurrent Spending Requirements 

 
Bringing together the recurrent and non-recurrent spending requirements 

indicates that the Council has a net revenue budget requirement of 

£210.813m in 2023/24. 

 
Summary Forecast Spending Requirement 2023/24 

  £m 

SPENDING REQUIREMENT BROUGHT FORWARD 190.343 

Recurrent Spending Requirements  

Pay Inflation 6.857 

Utilities Inflation 1.000 

Children’s and Young Peoples Investment 3.327 

Increased Levies 1.120 

Unachieved Procurement Savings 1.000 

Other Sundry Changes (net impact) (0.244) 

Impact of Real Living Wage 3.504 

Independent Living Fund previously separately funded now inc. ASC 
grant 

0.288 

RECURRENT CHANGES TO EXPENDITURE 16.852 

TOTAL FORECAST ONGOING SPENDING REQUIREMENT 207.195 

NON-RECURRENT CHANGES TO EXPENDITURE 3.618 

TOTAL NET REVENUE BUDGET REQUIRED 210.813 

 

  

Page 67



6. PROPOSALS FOR BALANCING THE BUDGET 
 

6.1 Forecast spending requirement 

 

As can be seen in the tables above, there is an initial forecast spending 

 requirement of £210.813m in 2023/24. 

 
6.2 Forecast funding resource and resulting budget shortfall  

 
It should be noted that due to the funding settlement being a one-year 

settlement and the receipt of non-recurrent grants the revenue resource for the 

2023/24 and 2024/25 financial years is higher than in future years. 

 

The recurrent position i.e., the on-going position without the non-recurrent 

grants is a recurrent gap of £31.395m, hence why savings programmes, 

efficiencies and additional income has been identified to close the full recurrent 

gap. 

 
6.3 Savings proposals and updated budget shortfall  

 
6.3.1 Savings proposals totalling £24.261m and additional Council Tax and 

 business Rates income of £7.134m have been brought forward to 

balance the budget. As far as possible, proposals have been developed around 

and to align with the LET’S framework of demand management;  

 transformation; collaborative delivery and pursuit of income and growth. 

These options total around 66% of the total reductions and involve: 

 Efficiencies from strategic financial management including appropriate 

use of cost capitalisation and external grants. 

 
 Increases to fees, charges and recharges, aligned to inflation values. 

This includes uplifts to Council Tax and Business Rates and, following 
consultation feedback, a commercialisation model for Bury Art Museum. 

 

 A strategy to reduce the cost of high-cost social care placements in 

children’s services; for working-age adults and an all-age disability 

strategy. Proposals are also made to invest in the Shared Lives service 
for adults and a strategy will also come forward to increase the number of 
in-borough foster placements for children. 

 
 Transformation and innovation within services, to prevent demand and 

reduce costs through transformation, including the increased use of 
assistive technology. These proposals include implementation of the 

Hertfordshire family safeguarding model and progressing the edge of care 
service, which were reported within the July Cabinet reports on children’s 
services. A community wellness offer is proposed and ongoing 

development of models of care within adult social care. 

Page 68



 
 Investment will be made in supported and specialist housing to 

reduce the costs of residential provision over the next three years. The 
Care Act will also be implemented fully to remove the cost of the Support 

at Home service. 
 
6.3.2  In addition, workforce costs will be reduced by £0.700m over the next two 

years through a reduction of workforce related costs, including an increase in 

voluntary unpaid leave uptake for all staff and a saving in Chief Officer costs. 

 
6.3.3 Despite this work, the scale of budget reductions required mean that not all 

savings can be achieved through strategic alignment. In parallel, it has been 

necessary to review all non-statutory services and to make some risk-based 

reductions in provision. This includes over £1m of reductions within functions 

in corporate core services, finance, the Public Health function and the 

Operations department. A reduction in grants to the voluntary and community 

sector was proposed but has been withdrawn in this budget period, pending a 

fuller review of Council investment in the sector 

 
A template with the detail of each option is appended to this report. The schedule of 

proposals is below. 

 

6.3.4 As stated elsewhere in this report not all of these savings will be deliverable 

from 1 April, given the scale of reductions required and extent of some of the 

service and delivery changes required. These proposals therefore close the 

recurrent 2023/24 budget gap but will require the utilisation of reserves to 

smooth the position until all savings and revenue delivers in full. 

 
6.3.5 The table below identifies the schemes by department including the phasing 

of delivery. It is recognised that utilisation of reserves will be required each 

year to close the gap. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



  
Total      

  £m 23/4 24/5 25/6 26/7 

Strategic Financial 

Management 

6.404 6.304 6.304 6.304 6.404 

One Commissioning 
Organisation 

5.045 3.054 4.645 4.825 5.045 

Public Health 0.192 0.159 0.192 0.192 0.192 

Business, Growth and 
Infrastructure 

0.650 0.500 0.650 0.650 0.650 

Housing 2.533 0.964 1.689 2.533 2.533 

Operational Services 1.336 1.336 1.336 1.336 1.336 

Children and Young People 4.759 0.390 2.362 4.171 4.759 

Finance 1.313 1.000 1.157 1.313 1.313 

Corporate Core 2.029 0.901 1.641 2.029 2.029 

Total 24.261 14.608 19.976 23.353 24.261 

Additional Revenue from 

Council Tax and Business 
Rates 

7.134 7.937 9.313 6.734 7.134 

Sub Total 31.395 22.545 29.289 30.087 31.395 

 
6.4 Non Recurrent Resources in Year 

 

In common with a number of non-recurrent expenditure items in year there are also 

some non-recurrent items of revenue resource in year in addition to the government 

grants which were issued as part of the spending review. The Greater Manchester 

Combined Authority will be further distributing to the ten GM authorities a refund from 

the waste disposal reserves of £0.129m which will be used to offset the 1% non-

recurrent increase in the transport levy and £2m which it is proposed is used to fund 

the investment in the children’s family safeguarding model that was approved at 

Cabinet in July 2022, £1m will be required in 2023/24 with the further £1m being 

required in 2024/25. 

 
6.5 Additional funding resource post settlement and resulting budget 
position 

 
The table below identifies the proposed 2023/24 budget position which is balanced in 

year using reserves. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 70



 
 2023/24 

Spending Requirement 210.813 

Funded By   

Council Tax 103.680  

Business Rates 63.811  

Government Grants 24.695  

ASC market sustainability funded transferred to reserves (1.912) 

Revenue Resource Forecast 190.274 

Savings Identified to be delivered in 2023/24  14.608 

Waste Reserves return from GMCA 1.129 

Use of reserves to smooth the in-year savings delivery 4.802 

Total Sources of Funding 210.813 

 
6.6 Workforce Implications  

 
6.6.1 The Council employs circa. 1,936 Full Time Equivalent staff (excluding those 

directly employed within schools) and spends in the region of £85m a year on 

its employees, which represents around a third of the organisational 

expenditure.  

 

6.6.2 The Council’s workforce is central to the delivery of our LET’S Do It! vision for 

Bury, driving forward work to reduce deprivation and drive economic growth. 

In support of this, a significant programme of work to strengthen workforce 

engagement, capability and capacity is underway, aligned to the LET’S Do It! 

principles.  

 
6.6.3 The October Medium Term Financial Strategy refresh highlighted three 

potential areas of direct workforce impact from the Council’s emerging budget 

proposals at the time of writing:  

 

 A proposal to maximise savings through the voluntary purchase of unpaid 
annual leave, with a target of £0.600m in savings. 

 

 A £0.100m reduction in the Council’s costs associated with Chief Officers. 
 

 The potential for around 75 redundancies across departments as a direct 
result of the delivery of the budget reductions required. 

 
6.6.4 Between October and January, the Council formally consulted staff for a 

period of 90 days on both the overarching budget proposals and, where 

relevant, on those specific changes under consideration. This process 

included all-staff broadcast communications and online briefings and 

Departmental and Service specific engagement opportunities in those areas 

of most significant likely impact. This process saw a very limited level of 

Page 71



response from staff. Where responses did emerge, they related largely either 

to specific proposals (such as the proposals around Bury Art Museum) or 

wider efficiency suggestions (such as around potential procurement savings 

options or energy efficiency measures). These suggestions have been shared 

with relevant service leads for consideration.  

 
6.6.5 Whilst the final budget proposals included in this report include the same 

three areas of direct staffing impact, the detail here has evolved over the last 

three months as proposals have developed.  

 

 Work to maximise savings through the voluntary purchase of unpaid 
annual leave has generated circa. £0.150m of savings for 2023/24. The 

Council will seek to further savings, to £0.300m, by adopting an ‘opt out’ 
approach for all staff. (The detail of this proposal is included within the 

budget template appended). To meet the remaining £0.300m savings 
target for the 2024/25 financial year further workforce efficiencies will 
need to be identified. 

 

 There remains a commitment to deliver £0.100m reduction in the 

Council’s costs associated with Chief Officers, with this target included in 
proposals for 2024/25. 

 

 The potential number of redundancies across departments as a direct 
result of the delivery of the budget reductions has reduced from 75 to 36 

as a result of the detailed design work on budget proposals and strict 
vacancy management over the last three months. The Council remains 

committed to further reducing this number and avoiding compulsory 
redundancies wherever possible.  

 

6.6.6 Throughout the budget delivery process there will be a continued focus on 

staff engagement and support to wellbeing, recognising both the impact of 

these changes on individuals and the anxiety this may cause as well as the 

workforce’s continued work and commitment in support of Bury people.  

 
6.7 Fees and Charges and Other Income  

 
A full review of fees and charges has been undertaken by all heads of 

 service in conjunction with finance. Fees and charges have been 

increased by differential percentage points and identified within the savings 

above is an additional £1.000m of income. The increase in fees and charges 

across all services is more than £1.000m in total but in some areas this 

results in the achievement of income budgets that had been impacted by the 

pandemic and where yet to fully recover. 

 
 

 

Page 72



6.8 Cash Limits 

 

The proposed cash limits for each department are set out in Appendix 5. 

 
7. RESERVES 
 

7.1  The October paper referenced that when the Council set its budget for 

2019/20 it agreed to end a reliance on reserves and to move to a position of 

contributing to reserves in future years. This was achieved in 2020/21 when 

the Council added £10.000m to general reserves and created a further 

£5.800m Transformation Reserve from a review of the Collection Fund. 

 

7.2 However, the 2021/22 budget had to respond to the extreme financial 

challenges of the Covid 19 pandemic and planned use of reserves formed 

part of the MTFS in both 2020/21 and a further £14.355m in 2022/23. It is 

recognised that due to the size of the financial gap in 2023/24 not all the 

savings will be delivered in the first year and that reserves will be required to 

smooth the financial position until delivery of the full recurrent value is 

achieved in 2026/27. 

 
7.3 Reserves are also an appropriate source of funding for one off non- recurrent 

items of spend which cannot be funded from departmental budgets. 

 

7.4 The table above identifies a requirement to use £4.802m of reserves in 

2023/24 to close the in-year budget gap. Without further non recurrent grants 

there is a further requirement of £4.285m in 2024/25 and £0.908m in 2025/26 

 
8. ROBUSTNESS OF THE BUDGET AND THE ADEQUACY OF RESERVES 

 
8.1 Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires that, in considering 

budget proposals, Members must have regard to the advice of the Council’s 
Executive Director of Finance, on the robustness of the estimates and the 
adequacy of the Council’s reserves. 

 
8.2 The basis on which the budget has been prepared, as in previous years, 

relies on the forecast of activity and the impact of changes in policy previously 

agreed by the Council. These forecasts are kept under review as part of the 

budget monitoring process and actions identified to address financial risks 

arising from the changes in the forecast as they occur. 

 
8.3 The Council holds reserves for several reasons: 

 

Page 73



 To enable the Council to manage variations in the demand for services 
which cause in year budget pressures. 

 To fund specific projects or identified demands in the budget. 

 To enable the Council to deal with unexpected events such as flooding 

or destruction of a major asset. 
 

8.4 Setting an appropriate level of reserves is a matter of judgement  

 considering: 

 

 The level of risk evident within the budget as set out above. 

 A judgement on the effectiveness of budgetary control within the 
organisation. 

 The degree to which funds have already been set aside for specific 
purposes which will reduce the need for general reserves. 

 The robustness and resilience of reserves is key and will be monitored 
on an ongoing basis. 

 
8.5 As part of the budget setting process, the Executive Director of Finance who 

is also the Council’s Section 151 statutory officer is required to assess the 

adequacy of the Council’s reserves given risks both known and unknown at 

that time. If it is the Executive Director of Finance’s opinion that reserves are 

not adequate and are below an adequate level to reflect the risks, and 

therefore the setting of a balanced budget was at risk, then further statutory 

responsibilities under Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act exist. 

A formal report to Council would have to be issued. 

 

8.6 Based upon the current position, the position on reserves is sufficient but very 

tight. The CIPFA financial resilience good practice says that general reserves 

of between 5 and 10% of annual revenue budgets should be held as a buffer. 

Based upon a spending need of circa £210m for 2023/24 this would suggest a 

buffer of between £10.5m and £21m should be held.  

 
8.7 The sufficiency of the current reserves is reliant upon stringent budgetary 

control and the continuous monitoring of all budgets and awareness of risks 

which may impact upon the Councils financial position. Both the Executive 

Team and the Cabinet receive regular reports throughout the year. Should the 

position change which means there is a requirement to consider a S114 

notice, a report will be issued to the Cabinet and the Council. 

 
8.8 A forecast of reserves has been carried out and is set out in the table 

 below. Whilst the total reserves balance is in excess of the CIPFA 

recommended value for resilience there are only the general reserves that are 

not earmarked or ringfenced for specific purposes. 

 

 

Page 74



Forecast of Council 
Reserves at 31 March 

31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24 

General Reserves 23.816 16.341 11.629 

Directorate Risk Reserves 9.257 2.560 2.560 

Volatility and Fiscal Risk 37.675 35.730 35.730 

Total Management of Risk 

Reserves 

70.748 54.631 49.919 

COVID-19 Related Grants 4.691 0 0 

Corporate Priorities 11.375 7.829 6.500 

Transformation & Capacity 
Reserve* 

6.424 4.974 2.000 

External Funding/Grants 19.427 9.091 4.000 

Other Earmarked Reserves 12.080 12.439 10.000 

Total Earmarked Reserves 53.996 34.334 22.500 

Total Council 
Reserves (excluding 

Schools) 

124.745 88.965 72.419 

 
 

Dedicated Schools Grant 

Reserves  

Closing 

31/03/22  

Closing 

31/03/23  

Closing 

31/03/24  

DSG Reserve - School 
Balances  

8.358   2.000 0.000 

DSG Reserve - High Needs  (21.214)  (20.607) (18.553) 

Total DSG Reserves  (12.856)  (18.607) (18.553) 

 

8.9 The closing balance at 31/03/2023 includes the recommendation that; as part 

of this report Cabinet and Council approve the establishment of a £2.000m 

Children and Young People's reserve to support the Family Safeguarding 

Model, which will result in the balance of the existing reserve being released 

during 2022/23 to partially offset the spend incurred on the managed teams 

and agency staff that is contributing to the significant overspend. The balance 

at 31/03/2024 assumes there will still be £1.000m of the newly created 

reserve for the Family Safeguarding Model to carry forward for use into 

2024/25. 

 
8.10 With regards to the Dedicated Schools Grant there are two elements: 

 

 Schools' balances which consist of the year end balances held by 
individual schools. 

 

Page 75



 High Needs, this relates to the forecast deficit on the High Needs 
element of the DSG and Bury Council are working as part of Project 

Safety Valve to remove the deficit. The original agreement was by the 
end of the 2025/26 financial year, but this timeframe has now slipped 

and the current forecast estimates there will still be a remaining deficit 
at this time of £6.483m. The forecast figures included in the above 
table relate to the latest Department for Education return in January 

2023. There is a risk that the DfE will not accept this revised forecast, 
 

8.11 The overall forecast position shows that the Council will have sufficient 

financial resilience in the short term, subject to the delivery of the proposals 

above. There are however several key risks that should they crystallise in any 

of the financial years would likely create further pressure on the reserves 

position. The table below sets out the scale of a small variance in the 

assumptions made, showing the potential of both a positive and negative 

movement of 1% across the main areas within the MTFS. 

 
Financial Risk in the MTFS 

 Potential Full Year Impact 

£m 

  

Pay (1%) 1.132 

Price inflation (1%) 1.878 

Council Tax Collection Rate 1.041 

Business Rates Collection Rate 0.402 

 
9 Risks and Opportunities 

 
9.1 The pressures on utilities budgets still remains a risk. The budget has been 

increased by £1.000m recurrently and a further £1.000m is held as a 

contingency. However, as reported within this report the overspend in 2023/24 

is expected to be circa £1.500m after the utilisation of the £1.500m reserve 

and costs remain volatile. Therefore, it is imperative that all actions are taken 

to mitigate this but costs within our leisure services remains a concern. 

 
9.2 During 2023/24 £6.6m has been spent on high cost managed teams and 

premium agency staff costs, £2.3m of this has been mitigated due to 

vacancies but permanent staff in post would not be as expensive as the 

premium rates charged by agencies. The restructure was approved by 

Cabinet in July 2022 and is fully funded within this budget. However, 

recruitment and the filling of the permanent establishment remains an ongoing 

challenge. Children’s services both social care and SEND are on an 

improvement journey and budgets both within the general fund and DSG are 

under pressure. 

 
 

Page 76



10. NHS System Funding 
 

10.1 The new NHS system architecture came into place from 1st July 2022. This 

has impacted upon the budgets that are within the direct control of the locality. 

The NHS continues to be under increasing pressure both operationally and 

financially and the GM Health and Care system continues to work 

collaboratively to address these issues which impact upon our residents. 

However, these are challenging times for the whole of the public sector and 

increased waiting times and the deteriorating health of residents both in the 

community and upon discharge from hospitals is impacting upon social care 

demand. Work continues to explore every opportunity to jointly invest and 

benefit from system wide health and care transformation. 

 

10.2 Due to the challenges identified within this report, additional budgetary control 

processes to monitor the delivery of savings and in-year expenditure will be 

put in place. Effectiveness of budgetary control is a combination of systems 

and processes, as well as the risk environment within which the Council is 

operating. It therefore remains an essential requirement that the Council 

continues to ensure that processes are effective in maintaining a grip on in 

year expenditure and that there is a clear focus on delivering a balanced and 

sustainable budget, without the unplanned use of reserves. 

 
11. Capital Strategy 

 

11.1 The Capital Strategy is prepared in accordance with the latest Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential and Treasury 

Management Codes of Practice. The strategy provides a framework within 

which the Council’s capital investment plans will be delivered. These plans 

are driven by the Council’s objectives and are linked to the delivery of the 

Bury LET’S Do It! strategy. 

 
11.2 The proposed Capital Strategy and programme 2023/24 – 2024/25 also takes 

the essential elements of previous year’s strategies and programmes and 

moves them forward to the forthcoming year. Capital spending is a key 

determinant of future revenue commitments, and the capital programme and 

revenue budget are interlinked and have been developed as integrated 

strategies. 

 

11.3 The ability for the Council to deliver its ambitions relating to capital will to 

 some extent be affected by the Council’s ability to afford the borrowing costs 

associated with this. Further alignment of the revenue and capital budget is 

currently being developed and it is anticipated that the financial strategy in 

future years will be a fully integrated one that includes revenue, capital and 

growth and investment strategies. The co-dependency and inter dependencies 

of the strategies is becoming more evident as the Council sets out its longer-

Page 77



term plan and ambitions in both the Bury LET’S Do It! strategy and the 

Corporate Plan.  

 

11.4 In 2015, the then Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government, issued guidance with regards to the financial years beginning 1st 

April 2016 to 1st April 2021 that allowed Local Authorities dispensation to use 

capital receipts to support revenue transformation projects and expenditure 

that would deliver long term and future savings. This guidance was then 

extended for a further 3 years and is now available for financial years of 1st 

April 2022, 2023 and 2024. 

 

11.5 The guidance sets out examples of qualifying expenditure which includes 

“funding the cost of service reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation 

(staff or non-staff), where this leads to ongoing efficiency savings or service 

transformation” and it is for this purpose that the Council is proposing to use 

Capital Receipts in 2023/24. 

 
11.6 However, to utilise this dispensation, the authority must approve in advance of 

the financial year a strategy stating that it intends to do so and what those 

capital receipts will be used for. To that end a report titled “The Flexible use of 

Capital Receipts Strategy 2023/24” is also on this agenda. 

 

12. Treasury Management Strategy  

 
The Treasury Management Strategy is prepared in accordance with the 

CIPFA Prudential and Treasury Management Codes of Practice. The strategy 

sets out the Council’s approach to managing investments, cash flows, money 

market and capital market transactions. The strategy provides a framework for 

the effective control of risks associated with these activities.  

 

The Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 reflects the Council’s capital 

expenditure plans as set out in the capital strategy. The strategy also sets out 

the position in relation to the prudential indicators arising from the Council’s 

capital expenditure plans. As well as borrowing and investment strategies, the 

Treasury Management strategy also covers the current treasury position, 

economic outlook and interest rates forecasts, risk, and creditworthiness. 

Finally, the strategy also includes the Council’s policy on borrowing in 

advance of need and the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy 

statement. No changes to the MRP policy or the treasury management 

strategy are proposed. 

 
 

 
 

Page 78



13. Housing Revenue Account  

 

A separate Housing Revenue Account report has been prepared for 

presentation to Cabinet and is set out as a separate report on this agenda. 

This report sets out the recommended dwelling and non-dwelling rents and 

service charge increases to be applied from April 2023. The report is a key 

element of the Council’s overall Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 
14. Dedicated Schools Grant  

 

A separate report on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is set out elsewhere 

on this agenda. This report sets the schools budget for 2023/24 and the 

hourly rates for the early years education. The report also sets out the position 

on the DSG deficit relating to high needs and information on the recovery plan 

and the Department for Education’s Safety Valve Project, which the Council is 

currently part of. 

 
15. Local Taxation and Benefits Discretionary Policies  

 
Annually the Council reviews and updates policies covering discretionary 

Council Tax discounts, discretionary Business Rates Relief, local welfare 

provision and discretionary housing payments. These policies provide support 

to local businesses and some of the poorest and most vulnerable residents 

within the Borough. These policies operate within a legislative framework 

determined by various Local Government Acts of Parliament.  

 
16. Counter Fraud and Corruption  

 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 state that the Council must have 

measures in place ‘to enable the prevention and detection of inaccuracies and 

fraud’. In this context fraud also refers to cases of bribery and corruption. The 

budget proposals contained in this report rely on effective processes for 

mitigating the risk of financial loss from fraud, bribery and corruption. 

 
17. CIPFA Financial Management Code  

 

CIPFA’s Financial Management Code was published in October 2019 with an 

effective date of 1 April 2021. The objectives of the code are ‘to support good 

practice in financial management and to assist Local Authorities in 

demonstrating their financial sustainability’. The code is based upon a series 

of principles which will be supported by specific standards of practice which 

CIPFA consider necessary for a strong foundation. The foundation being the 

ability to:  

 

Page 79



 Financially manage the short, medium and long-term finances of a 
Local Authority. 

 Manage financial resilience to meet foreseen demands on services.  

 Financially manage unexpected shocks in their financial circumstances. 
 
18. CONSULTATION 

 
18.1  The Council commenced a budget conversation with residents in August 2022. 

Over 300 residents were engaged in qualitative research to understand their 

perceptions about the Council budget and priority services to protect. From 

this analysis, an indicative ranking of the perception of the most to least 

valued priority services was produced: 

 
1.1. Protecting vulnerable people 

1.2. Roads 
1.3. Housing 

1.4. Clean & green 
1.5. Education 
1.6. Support to businesses and the voluntary sector 

1.7. Climate & environmental health 
1.8. Culture 

 
18.2  Between October and December 2022, a further and more detailed 

consultation with the public was undertaken around the specific proposals 

being made by the Council to reduce budgets. Consultation involved a 

communications campaign to raise awareness of the proposals, how funding 

is spent, how the Council is funded, pressures and reasons for the shortfall. 

Digital, social media, flyers and PR channels were used to promote the 

consultation. In total, 124 responses were received via the One Community 

portal. 

 

18.3 Of those who responded, approximately two thirds agreed that Council Tax 

should be raised to contribute to balancing the budget. There was also a high 

degree of understanding that inflation and the cost of living has added to an 

already difficult situation. 

 
18.4 In response to the proposed savings as described under the five headings of 

Strategic Finance, high-cost social care reductions, Maximising income, 

Service reviews and Transformation models, the majority of responses 

indicated that the options were “about right” or did not go far enough. This 

suggests that the plans were seen as acceptable and in the right areas based 

on the previous feedback from the public. 

 

18.5 In terms of the LET’S principles, over half of those replying to this consultation 

felt that they were clear on their role in helping to reduce demand which is 

important with regards to the sustainability of provision. Of more concern 

Page 80



regarding working Together, nearly two thirds of respondents felt unable to 

influence the way the Council spends its money and less than half felt they 

could agree with the statement “I believe the Council is doing its best under 

difficult circumstances”. 

 
18.6 A larger number of separate replies were provided specifically in response to 

the option to reduce Bury Art Museum by £0.250m. A summary of the replies 

is appended with the template (No 37), the majority of which signalled the 

public value of the facility and strong support for a more commercial model to 

underwrite its costs, including through applications for national funding, public 

donations and a programme of ticketed, commercial events. In response to 

this feedback, it is proposed that a commercialisation strategy for the museum 

is developed and that the savings from new arrangements are deferred to 

year two, to allow time for such a fundraising model to be established.  

 
18.7 As described in “workforce implications” further consultation with the Trade 

Unions on the detail of options that have a potential impact on staffing will be 

followed in accordance with Council procedures. 

 

18.8 Further consultation will be required on the specific savings proposals set out 
in the attached templates. Specific proposals relating to changes to the 

warden service and aligning medication reminders to our Care Act duties as 
set out in templates 9 and 19 will be carried out in accordance with statutory 
requirements, this will include consultation with service users and staff 

providing these services. The results of this consultation will be evaluated and 
proposals will be reviewed in light of these outcomes. 

 
_________________________________________________________ 
Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

 
1. The strategic imperatives of the LET’S Do It! Strategy, to prevent demand and 

deliver early intervention to reduce the costs, will be essential to the Council’s 
ability to maintain a balanced budget.  

 

2. This budget provides the resources to maintain the Council’s strategic 
leadership of the LET’S Do It! Strategy, including the specific delivery 

priorities for 2023/24 which are described in the Corporate Plan.  
 
_________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 
 

1. In considering the budget for 2023/24 the Council must also consider its 
ongoing duties under the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity between all 

irrespective of whether they fall into a protected category such as race, 
gender, religion, etc. Having due regard to these duties does not mean that 

the Council has an absolute obligation to eliminate discrimination but that it 

Page 81



must consider how its decisions will contribute towards meeting the duties in 
the light of all other relevant circumstances such as economic and practical 

considerations.  
 

2. Beyond the Council’s legal obligations, the Authority has made a strategic 
commitment to inclusion as a key priority through both the LET’S Do It! 
Strategy and local Inclusion Strategy and defined Equality Objectives.  The 

Council’s commitment to inclusion extends beyond the nine legally protected 
characteristics and encompasses carers, Looked After Children and care 

leavers, military veterans and reservists and the socio-economically 
disadvantaged.  
 

3. An initial overarching Equality Impact Assessment of the Council’s Budget for 
2023/24 and the Medium Term Financial Strategy has been undertaken and is 

appended below. This assessment has taken account of base data on the 
Bury population (including the latest data from the 2021 Census), the results 
of both the public and workforce consultation exercises on the budget and the 

detailed budget templates developed over recent weeks and months. This 
assessment confirms the Council’s overarching commitment to mitigate any 

differential impact of the budget on protected groups insofar as is possible 
and in accordance with its statutory obligations and local strategic 
commitments.  

 
4. In many cases there will be a need to ensure more detailed consideration of 

equality as proposals move to implementation, and the need for individual 
Equality Impact Assessments in relation to 22 of the 38 budget proposals has 
been identified. Initial analysis suggests there are a small number of these 

proposals where there is a particular risk of differential impact in relation to 
protected characteristics and these will need to be fully considered on a case-

by-case basis. 
 

5. The Council’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Manager and Director of 

People and Inclusion will work closely with the Executive Team and Cabinet 
Member for HR and Corporate Affairs to ensure individual EIAs are developed 

as appropriate and mitigating actions to address potential disproportionate 
implications are taken as necessary.    

 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

1. The Council is working towards becoming a carbon neutral organisation by 

2038.  A number of these budget proposals will reduce the organisations 
carbon footprint.  

 

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

 

1. The risks identified within this report and set out within the relevant sections 

above. 
 
 

 
_________________________________________________________ 

Page 82



Legal Implications: 
 

1. The Council must set the budget in accordance with the provisions of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992. S30 of the Act states that it is an 

obligation to set Council tax for categories of dwellings, s31A sets out that the 
Council has a statutory responsibility to set a balanced budget. The budget 
must be fixed by 11 March 2023.  

 
2. The Council is required by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to make 

specific estimates of gross revenue expenditure and anticipated income 
leading to the calculation of the Council tax requirement and it must be 
sufficient to meet the Council’s legal and financial commitments to ensure the 

proper discharge of its statutory duties and lead to a balanced budget. In 
setting the budget the Council has a duty to ensure that it continues to meet 

its statutory duties. 
 

3. The provisions of Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 require that, 

when the Council is making the calculation of its budget requirement, it must 
have regard to the report of the Executive Director of Finance (S.151 officer) 

as to the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the 
calculations and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. The 
Council has a statutory duty to have regard to the Executive Director of 

Finance’s report when making decisions about the calculations.  
 

4. Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a duty on the Council 
to monitor the financial position must be closely monitored and, members 
must satisfy themselves that sufficient mechanisms are in place to ensure the 

delivery of savings as well as to ensure that any new expenditure is contained 
within the available resources. Under s144 of the Local Government Finance 

Act 2003 where it appears to the Executive Director that expenditure will 
exceed the resources available to it the Officer has a duty to report this to the 
Council.   

 
5. Further legal advice will be sought for specific proposals during the 

implementation phase which may need a specific consultation process. The 
consultation process, including the Council’s consideration of the responses, 
is required to comply with the following overarching obligations (unless 

detailed statutory rules supplant these):   
 

 Consultation must be at a time when proposals are at a formative stage.   

 The proposer must give sufficient reasons for its proposals to allow 
consultees to understand them and respond to them properly.   

 Consulters must give sufficient time for responses to be made and 
considered. 

 Responses must be conscientiously taken into account in finalising the 
decision. Members must have adequate evidence on which to base their 

decisions on the level of quality at which services should be provided.   
 

6. Where a service is provided pursuant to a statutory duty, it would not be lawful 

to fail to discharge it properly or abandon it, and where there is discretion as 

Page 83



to how it is to be discharged, that discretion should be exercised reasonably. 
The report sets out the relevant considerations for Members to consider 

during their deliberations and Members are reminded of the need to ignore 
irrelevant considerations. Members have a duty to seek to ensure that the 

Council acts lawfully. Members must not come to a decision which no 
reasonable authority could come to; balancing the nature, quality and level of 
services which they consider should be provided, against the costs of 

providing such services. 
 

7. There is a particular requirement to take into consideration the Council’s 
fiduciary duty and the public sector equality duty in coming to its decision. The 
public sector equality duty is that a public authority must, in the exercise of its 

functions, have due regard to the need to:  
 

8. Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010,   

9. Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it,   
10. Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it.  
 

11. Any decision made in the exercise of any function is potentially open to 

challenge if the duty has been disregarded.   
 

12. The duty applies both to Council when setting the budget and to Cabinet 
when considering particular decisions.  
 

13. The Local Government Act 2003 establishes a system to regulate the capital 
expenditure and borrowing of the Council. The heart of the prudential 

borrowing system is the duty imposed upon authorities to determine and keep 
under review how much money they can afford to borrow. The Local 
Authorities (Capital Financing and Accounting) Regulations 2003 (as 

amended) specify the prudential code for capital finance to which the Council 
must have regard in setting and reviewing their affordable borrowing limits 

(sections 3 and 5 of the 2003 Act). 
 

14. The Localism Act 2011 provides for a Council tax referendum to be held if an 

authority increases its relevant basic amount of Council tax in excess of 
principles determined by the Secretary of State. The Local Government 

Finance Settlement for 2023/24 published in December 2022, announced that 
Council tax could rise by 3% before the need to hold a referendum and 
Councils could apply a Adult Social care levy of up to 2%. 

 
15. The Local Government & Housing Act 1989 Part VI sets a statutory regime for 

housing finance. The Council has a general duty to review the rents of its 
houses from time to time and in fixing rents the Council must have regard to 
the principle that the rents of dwellings of any class or description should bear 

broadly the same proportion to private sector market rents as the rents of 
dwellings of any other class or description. 

 

Page 84



16. The review of the rents is a Cabinet function and is undertaken with due 
regard to the provisions of Part VI of the 1989 Act which governs housing 

finance and housing subsidy. Rents for Council houses are a credit to the 
housing revenue account and outgoings a debit. The Council is under a duty 

to prevent a debit balance on the housing revenue account which is ring-
fenced. There are restrictions in the way in which the account can be 
operated. Members are referred to the separate Housing Revenue Account 

report, this report must comply with these accounting requirements. All 
proposal should comply with its duty to prevent a debit balance arising on the 

Housing Revenue Account.  
 

17. Each proposal to make or increase charges must comply with the statutory 

framework (including primary and secondary legislation and any statutory 
guidance issued) relating to the activity in respect of which charges are being 

levied, including any limitations on levels of charges.  
 

18. Where reliance is placed on the power to charge for discretionary services 

(Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003), any charges must be set so 
that when the charges are taken as a whole no surpluses are made (i.e. the 

power is limited to cost recovery).  
 

19. In relation to certain activities which are subject to authorisation by the 

Council (e.g. licences), the Provision of Services Regulations 2009 prevent 
the recovery of charges in excess of the cost of the procedures and 

formalities under the scheme of authorisation, (i.e. the Council is permitted to 
recover costs only), and such costs must also be reasonable and 
proportionate. 

 
20. Where activities are being undertaken for which charges are being made with 

the intention of producing surplus income, it is necessary to consider whether 
that activity is material and would amount to “commercial trading”. For 
commercial trading, the Council must develop a business case and establish 

an arms’ length company to undertake that activity (in accordance with the 
general trading power under Section 95 Local Government Act 2003) or 

identify another statutory power for a particular trading activity.  
 

21. In accordance with s 33(2) of the Localism Act 2011 the Monitoring Officer 

intends to grant dispensations to all members to allow members to participate 
in and vote on the setting of the Council Tax or a precept (and matters directly 

related to such decisions including the budget calculations).   
 

22. Members should be aware of the provisions of Section 106 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992, which applies to members where: 
 

23. (a) they are present at a meeting of the Council, the Executive or a Committee 
and at the time of the meeting an amount of council tax is payable by them 
and has remained unpaid for at least two months, and   

24. (b) any budget or council tax calculation, or recommendation or decision 
which might affect the making of any such calculation, is the subject of 

consideration at the meeting.   

Page 85



 
25. In these circumstances, any such members shall at the meeting and as soon 

as practicable after its commencement disclose the fact that Section 106 
applies to them and shall not vote on any question concerning the matter. It 

should be noted that such members are not debarred from speaking on these 
matters. Failure to comply with these requirements constitutes a criminal 
offence, unless any such members can prove they did not know that Section 

106 applied to them at the time of the meeting or that the matter in question 
was the subject of consideration at the meeting.   

 
 

Financial Implications: 
 

2. The financial implications are included within the Report. 
 

Background papers: 
 

 Cabinet report – MTFS October 2022 

 
List of Appendices  

 
Appendix 1 – Calculation of the Council Tax Base  
Appendix 2 – Spending allocations  

Appendix 3 - Existing savings previously agreed  
Appendix 4 A – Savings proposals for 2023/24  

Appendix 4B – Templates for Savings proposals 
Appendix 5 – Departmental Cash Limits 
Appendix 6 – Equality Impact Assessment  

Appendix 7 - Formal Council Tax Resolution 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Report Author and Contact Details: 
 

Name:   Sam Evans 
Position:  Executive Director of Finance (S151 Officer) 

Department:   Finance 
E-mail:   sam.evans@bury.gov.uk  
________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

  

Page 86

mailto:sam.evans@bury.gov.uk


Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this 
report.  

  

Term  Meaning  

CIPFA  Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy  

DfE  Department for Education  

DLUHC  Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities  

DSG  Dedicated Schools Grant  

EDI  Electronic Data Interchange  

HRA  Housing Revenue Account  

ICES  Integrated Community Equipment Services  

ICT  Information Communication Technology  

IFA  Independent Fostering Agency  

GM  Greater Manchester  

LCTS  Local Council Tax Support  

MBC  Metropolitan Borough Council  

MTFS  Medium Term Financial Strategy  

NHS  National Health Service  

OCO  One Commissioning Organisation  

OFSTED  Office for Standards in Education  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 87



Appendix 1 
 

Calculation of Council Tax Base 2023/24 (Based on all properties) 

Bands 

A 

A B C D E F G H TOTAL 
Reduced 

Total Number of Dwellings on the 
valuation list 

0.00 30,508.00 18,616.00 17,401.00 9,262.00 5,604.00 1,883.00 1,300.00 184.00 84,758.00 

Total Number of Exempt and 

Disabled Relief dwellings on the 
Valuation List 

60.00 17.00 27.00 -33.00 -18.00 -34.00 11.00 -12.00 -18.00 0.00 

Less: estimated discounts, 

exemptions and disabled relief 
63.50 4,004.25 1,768.25 1,223.25 548.25 217.50 95.25 44.25 -20.50 7,944.00 

Total Equivalent number of 
dwellings after discounts, 

exemptions and disabled relief 

-3.50 26,520.75 16,874.75 16,144.75 8,695.75 5,352.50 1,798.75 1,243.75 186.50 76,814.00 

Factor stipulated in regulations 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 0.00 

Band D equivalent -1.94 17,680.50 13,124.81 14,350.89 8,695.75 6,541.94 2,598.19 2,072.92 373.00 65,436.06 

Net effect of Local Council Tax 

Support Scheme (LCTSS) and 
other adjustments 

8.77 3,799.06 1,172.76 623.36 211.46 104.71 36.04 18.26 1.60 5,976.02 

Additional Net Dwellings in 

2023/24 based on known 
regeneration with the Borough  

                  174.000 

Total after LCTSS and Other 

Adjustments 
-10.71 13,881.44 11,952.04 13,727.53 8,484.29 6,437.23 2,562.16 2,054.66 371.40 59,634.04 

Multiplied by estimated collection 
rate 

0.951 0.951 0.951 0.951 0.951 0.951 0.951 0.951 0.951 0.951 

BAND D EQUIVALENTS -10.19 13,200.41 11,365.68 13,054.06 8,068.05 6,121.42 2,436.46 1,953.85 353.18 56,708.39 

          2.99% 

     Band D Equivalent assuming 2.99% increase   £1,793.48 

     Total Tax Yield £'000    £101,705 

           

          2% 

     Band D Equivalent assuming 2% Adult Social Care Precept £1,828.31 

     Tax Yield including ASC Precept £'000  £103,680 

 
 

Note A Reduced are band A properties that have disabled adaptations. 

P
age 88



 
 
Appendix 2 – Spending Allocations   

Previously Agreed Permanent Spending Allocations to Budget 2023/24 

Directorate Description 2023/24 

    £m 

Pay Inflation     

All Pay Inflation 1.945 

All National Insurance Increase (Health & Social Care levy) 0.011 

TOTAL   1.956 

Contractual Inflation     

Corporate Core  Utilities 0.083 

Corporate Core  Rent/Rates 0.042 

Corporate Core  ICT Contracts 0.026 

Children and Young People Residential Care 0.276 

Children and Young People Living Wage 0.454 

Children and Young People External Fostering Placements 0.214 

Children and Young People Fostering, Adoption and Leaving Care Allowances 0.270 

Children and Young People Leaving Care inflation 0.085 

Children and Young People Support Packages and Direct Payments 0.105 

Children and Young People Premature Retirement Costs 0.012 

Children and Young People Provider National Insurance Increase (Health & Social Care levy) 0.002 

Operations Living Wage 0.052 

One Commissioning Organisation Community Care and Other Contracts 1.167 

One Commissioning Organisation Persona Contract 0.229 

One Commissioning Organisation Other contractual inflation 0.275 

One Commissioning Organisation Living Wage 2.899 

One Commissioning Organisation Provider National Insurance Increase (Health & Social Care levy) 0.014 

Housing Housing Contracts 0.050 

Non Service Specific GM Waste Levy charge 0.023 

Non Service Specific GM Passenger Transport Levy 0.198 

TOTAL   
6.476 

 

P
age 89



  

P
age 90



 

Previously Agreed Permanent Spending Allocations to Budget 2023/24 

Directorate Description 2023/24 

    £m 

Demand     

Corporate Core  Debt Collection Costs 0.050 

Corporate Core  ICT Capital/Reserves Fall out -0.060 

Corporate Core  Municipal Election 2022 costs -0.235 

One Commissioning Organisation Adults Demographics 1.000 

One Commissioning Organisation Transition from Children’s Services 0.398 

TOTAL   1.153 

Reprofiled Savings     

Non Service Specific Transformation Savings reprofiling per Dec 21 Cabinet report -1.900 

TOTAL   -1.900 

 

Previously Agreed Permanent Spending Allocations to Budget 2023/24 

Directorate Description 2023/24 

    £m 

      

Income Losses     

Operations Income Loss - partial reinstatement of income budget -0.538 

TOTAL   -0.538 

GRAND TOTAL   7.147 

 
  

P
age 91



Proposed Permanent Spending Allocations to Budget 2023/24 

Directorate Description 2023/24 

    £m 

Pay Inflation     

All Pay Inflation 6.857 

All National Insurance Increase (Health & Social Care levy) -0.540 

TOTAL   6.317 

Contractual Inflation   

Non Service Specific Utilities Inflation  1.000 

Non Service Specific Utilities non recurrent contingency 1.000 

Corporate Core Members Expenses 0.296 

One Commissioning Organisation Living Wage 3.504 

Non Service Specific GM Passenger Transport & Waste Levy 1.120 

Non Service Specific GM Passenger Transport Levy 0.129 

TOTAL   7.049 

Demand     

Children and Young People Investment in structure 3.327 

Children and Young People Children’s Safeguarding Model - non recurrent 1.000 

One Commissioning Organisation ASC discharge matched expenditure - non recurrent 1.069 

Operations Flexi Hall market office decant  0.120 

TOTAL   5.516 

Reprofiled Savings     

Non Service Specific Procurement removal of savings 1.000 

TOTAL   1.000 

Budget Re-Alignment     

One Commissioning Organisation Independent Living Fund previously separately funded now incl in ASC grant 0.288 

TOTAL   0.288 

Income Losses     

Operations Flexi Hall loss of market car park 0.300 

TOTAL   0.300 

GRAND TOTAL   20.470 

 

P
age 92



Appendix 3 – Existing Savings Previously Agreed 
 

Directorate Proposal Description 
 2023/24 

  

    £m 

Business, Growth and Infrastructure 
Assumed growth in the Council Tax base as a result of the investment in 
regeneration and housing 

(0.500) 

One Commissioning Organisation Innovative Commissioning (0.200) 

One Commissioning Organisation  Personalisation and Transformation (1.000) 

One Commissioning Organisation Improved Housing Options (0.050) 

One Commissioning Organisation  Effective and Efficient Commissioning (0.100) 

One Commissioning Organisation Review of Care Packages (0.611) 

TOTAL OF PREVIOUSLY AGREED 
SAVINGS 

  (2.461) 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  

P
age 93



Appendix 4A -  Savings Proposals for 2023/24 
 

Directorate Proposal Description 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

    £m £m £m £m 

All 
Technical review of individual non-allocated 
budget lines  

           
0.688             0.688  

           
0.688  

           
0.688  

All Increase in vacancy factor  

           

0.414             0.414  

           

0.414  

           

0.414  

All Reduced Employers Pension contribution 

           

0.300             0.300  

           

0.300  

           

0.300  

All Review of fees & charges  
           

1.000             1.000  
           

1.000  
           

1.000  

All Workforce costs  

           

0.310            0.700  

           

0.700  

           

0.700  

Children & Young People Early Help  
           

0.066             0.066  
           

0.066  
           

0.066  

Children & Young People Multi-disciplinary early help  

           

0.124             0.124  

           

0.124  

           

0.124  

Children & Young People Children’s short breaks & personal budgets  

           

0.200             0.300  

           

0.300  

           

0.300  

Children & Young People 
Step down of very high-cost placements 
across children’s                -               1.200  

           
1.200  

           
1.200  

Children & Young People Progressing the edge of care service review                   -               0.506  

           

1.200  

           

1.200  

Children & Young People 
Implementation of the Hertfordshire family 
safeguarding model                  -                   -    

           
0.587  

           
1.175  

Children & Young People 

Accelerating work on children’s fostering 

capacity invest to save                -               0.121  

           

0.604  

           

0.604  

Children & Young People Post 16 SEND transport                -               0.045  

           

0.090  

           

0.090  

Children & Young People 

Reduction in Children’s budgetary provision 

for early retirement costs, in accordance with 

demographic changes  

           

0.100             0.100  

           

0.100  

           

0.200  

Children & Young People Outcome of CYP restructure 
           

0.217             0.217  
           

0.217  
           

0.217  

One Commissioning Organisation Invest to save - Housing complex care  

           

0.281             0.281  

           

0.281  

           

0.281  

P
age 94



One Commissioning Organisation Invest to save - Shared lives  

           

0.011             0.011  

           

0.011  

           

0.011  

One Commissioning Organisation Invest to save - Assistive technology  
           

0.342             0.342  
           

0.342  
           

0.342  

One Commissioning Organisation 

Review of working age adults' costs against a 

robust national toolkit.  

           

1.000             1.700  

           

1.700  

           

1.700  

One Commissioning Organisation 
Development of wider learning disabilities 
strategy for age 14-25 cohort   

           
0.120             0.300  

           
0.480  

           
0.700  

One Commissioning Organisation 

Residents transitioning to alternative 

packages  

           

0.375             0.750  

           

0.750  

           

0.750  

One Commissioning Organisation Staying Well Service 

           

0.375             0.375  

           

0.375  

           

0.375  

One Commissioning Organisation Enforce S22 of Care Act 
           

0.300             0.636  
           

0.636  
           

0.636  

One Commissioning Organisation Review utilisation of Disabled Facilities Grant  

           

0.250             0.250  

           

0.250  

           

0.250  

One Commissioning Organisation Remove non allocated ASC budget  
           

0.100             0.100  
           

0.100  
           

0.100  

One Commissioning Organisation Remove ASC demographic growth  

           

1.000             1.000  

           

1.000  

           

1.000  

One Commissioning Organisation Better Care Fund 2022/23 inflation   

           

0.631             0.631  

           

0.631  

           

0.631  

One Commissioning Organisation Better Care Fund 2023/24 inflation   
           

0.742             0.742  
           

0.742  
           

0.742  

One Commissioning Organisation 

Reduction in contract value for homeless 

prevention service for people with complex 
needs  

           
0.074             0.074  

           
0.074  

           
0.074  

Public Health Reduce public health staffing  

           

0.159             0.192  

           

0.192 

           

0.192 

Operations Wellness Service business case 

           

0.577             0.577  

           

0.577  

           

0.577  

Operations 
Capitalisation of staff salaries in Operational 
Services - Engineers  

           
0.189             0.189  

           
0.189  

           
0.189  

Operations Equipment Store changes in Ops and OCO 

           

0.070             0.070  

           

0.070  

           

0.070  

Operations 
Continuation of LED street lighting 
implementation  

           
0.300             0.300  

           
0.300  

           
0.300  

P
age 95



Operations 

Growth in vehicle maintenance provision to 

additional customers  

           

0.100             0.100  

           

0.100  

           

0.100  

Operations Operational services process re-engineering 
           

0.100             0.100  
           

0.100  
           

0.100  

Business Growth and Infrastructure Capitalisation of BGI spend on Regeneration   

           

0.200             0.200  

           

0.200  

           

0.200  

Business Growth and Infrastructure 
Capitalisation of salaries through capital 
receipts  

           
0.050             0.200  

           
0.200  

           
0.200  

Business Growth and Infrastructure Commercial Asset Management  

           

0.250             0.250  

           

0.250  

           

0.250  

Business Growth and Infrastructure Millgate Coupon  

           

0.250             0.250  

           

0.250  

           

0.250  

Housing Homeless Prevention Grant  
           

0.464             0.464  
           

0.464  
           

0.464  

Housing Additional savings from Health and Housing                 -               0.225  

           

0.569  

           

0.569  

Housing 
Efficiency savings and removal of duplication 
in the provision of housing services 

           
0.500             1.000  

           
1.500  

           
1.500  

Corporate Core Finance 

Removal of 50% of apprentice posts from the 

finance structure   

           

0.150             0.150  

           

0.150  

           

0.150  

Corporate Core Finance Remove finance innovation and project team                  -               0.157  

           

0.313  

           

0.313  

Corporate Core Service reviews within the Corporate Core  
           

0.591             0.691  
           

1.079  
           

1.079  

Corporate Core 

Commercialisation strategy for Bury Art 

Museum                   -               0.250  

           

0.250  

           

0.250  

Non-Service Specific 
Technical review by finance of all revenue 
costs of capital, and other technical 

accounting entries   

           

1.118             1.118  

           

1.118  

           

1.118  

Non-Service Specific 
Reduction in proposed waste levy uplift 

           

0.172             0.172  

           

0.172  

           

0.172  

Non-Service Specific 
Reduction in proposed transport levy uplift 

           
0.348             0.348  

           
0.348  

           
0.348  

TOTAL OF SAVINGS Proposals for 

2023/24 
  14.608 19.976 23.353 24.261 

 
  

P
age 96



Appendix 5 – Departmental Cash Limits 
 

 
 

Directorate Cash Limits 2023/24 (reconciliation of 2022/23 Budget and starting point for 2023/24) 

  

Children 

and 
Young 

People 

One 
Commissioning 

Organisation 

Corporate 
Core 

Business 
Growth & 

Infrastructure 
Operations 

Non 
Service 
Specific 

HGF Total 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

2022/23 Approved Budget 41.306 79.561 15.790 2.936 16.064 20.538 1.288 177.483 

Internal re-allocations including 
IAS 19/CAR / TOV 

5.083 1.066 1.329 0.347 2.986 (10.811) 0.000 (0.000) 

2022/23 Original Budget after 
internal adjustments 

46.390 80.627 17.119 3.283 19.050 9.727 1.288 177.483 

2022/23 in year internal re-

allocations 
(0.479) 0.154 2.921 (0.014) 0.796 (3.378) 0.000 0.000 

2022/23 Revised Budget  45.910 80.781 20.040 3.269 19.846 6.349 1.288 177.483 

Directorate Cash Limits 2023/24 

  

Children 
and 

Young 
People 

One 
Commissioning 

Organisation 

Corporate 

Core 

Business 
Growth & 

Infrastructure 

Operations 
Non 

Service 

Specific 

HGF Total 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Add back 2022/23 Feb 22 

Labour amendment 
0.000 0.000 (0.331) 0.250 (0.315) 0.396 0.000 0.000 

Previously Agreed Costs (Feb 

22) 
                

Pay Inflation 0.020 0.113 0.058 0.011 0.050 1.690 0.000 1.942 

National Insurance increase / 
Health & Social Care Levy 1.25% 
removal 

0.002 0.002 0.003 0.001 0.003 0.000 0.000 0.011 

Contractual Inflation 1.437 4.584 0.151 0.000 0.052 0.271 0.000 6.495 

Demand 0.000 1.398 (0.245) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.153 

P
age 97



Reprofiled Savings  0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (1.900) 0.000 (1.900) 

Income losses 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.538) 0.000 0.000 (0.538) 

Previously Agreed Savings 
(Feb 22) 

         

Innovative Commissioning 0.000 (0.200) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.200) 

Personalisation and 

Transformation 
0.000 (1.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (1.000) 

Improved Housing Options 0.000 (0.050) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.050) 

Effective and Efficient 

Commissioning 
0.000 (0.100) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.100) 

Review of Care Packages 0.000 (0.611) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.611) 

Assumed growth in the Council 

Tax base as a result of the 
investment in regeneration and 

housing 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.500) 0.000 (0.500) 

Reverse use of reserves from 
Feb 22 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 8.159 0.000 8.159 

                  

Previously Agreed budget 
changes:- 

1.460 4.136 (0.034) 0.012 (0.433) 7.720 0.000 12.860 

Additional Budget 

Requirement:- 
                

Pay Inflation 0.442 0.644 0.867 0.187 0.860 3.857 0.000 6.857 

National Insurance increase / 

Health & Social Care Levy 1.25% 
removal 

(0.112) (0.112) (0.128) (0.030) (0.153) (0.005) 0.000 (0.540) 

Contractual Inflation 0.000 3.504 0.296 0.000 0.000 3.249 0.000 7.049 

Demand 4.327 1.069 0.000 0.000 0.120 0.000 0.000 5.516 

Reprofiled Savings  0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.000 0.000 1.000 

Budget Re-alignment 0.000 0.288 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.288 

Income losses 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.300 0.000 0.000 0.300 

         

P
age 98



Additional Budget 

Requirement:- 
4.657 5.393 1.035 0.157 1.127 8.101 0.000 20.470 

Total Additional Budget 

Requirement:- 
6.117 9.529 1.001 0.169 0.694 15.821 0.000 33.330 

Directorate Cash Limits 2023/24 

  

Children 

& 
Young 
People 

One 

Commissioning 
Organisation 

Corporate      
Core 

Business 

Growth & 
Infrastructure 

Operations 

Non-

Service 
Specific 

HGF Total 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Savings Proposals for 

Departments 
(0.707) (6.377) (0.741) (1.714) (0.719) 0.000 0.000 (10.258) 

Technical review by finance of 

all revenue costs of capital, 
including depreciation, interest 

etc and other technical 
accounting entries   

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (1.118) 0.000 (1.118) 

Vacancy Factor (0.113) (0.070) (0.106) (0.018) (0.106) (0.001) 0.000 (0.414) 

Technical review of individual 
non-allocated budget lines 
identified by finance in 

conjunction with budget holders   

(0.023) 0.000 (0.331) (0.022) (0.007) (0.305) 0.000 (0.688) 

Reduced Employers Pension 
contribution 

(0.063) (0.061) (0.076) (0.017) (0.083) 0.000 0.000 (0.300) 

Review of fees & charges  0.000 0.000 (0.309) (0.080) (0.611) 0.000 0.000 (1.000) 

Changes to staff terms and 
Conditions  

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.310) 0.000 (0.310) 

Reduction in proposed waste 
and transport levy uplift 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.520) 0.000 (0.520) 

Savings Proposals  (0.906) (6.508) (1.563) (1.851) (1.526) (2.255) 0.000 (14.608) 

Planned Use of Reserves for 
2023/24 in February 23 report 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (4.802) 0.000 (4.802) 

Waste Reserves return from 
GMCA 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (1.129) 0.000 (1.129) 

P
age 99



Net use of reserves:- 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (5.931) 0.000 (5.931) 

2023/24 Budget 51.121 83.802 19.478 1.587 19.013 13.985 1.288 190.274 

Funded By                 

Council Tax               (103.680) 

Business Rates               (63.811) 

Government Grants               (24.695) 

ASC market sustainability 
funded transferred to reserves 

              1.912 

Total funding 2023/24               (190.274) 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

P
age 100



Appendix 6 – Equality Impact Assessment 
 

EQUALITY ANALYSIS  

This Equality Analysis considers the effect of Bury Council activity on different groups protected from discrimination under the Equality Act 2010 

as well as those additional groups reflected in Bury Council’s Equality Strategy 2020-2024. This is to consider if there are any unintended 
consequences for some groups from key changes made by a public body and their contractor partners organisations and to consider if the 
activity will be fully effective for all protected groups. It involves using equality information and the results of engagement with protected groups 

and others, to manage risk and to understand the actual or potential effect of activity, including any adverse impacts on those affected by the 
change under consideration. 

SECTION 1 – RESPONSIBILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY  

1.1 Name of policy/ project/ decision The Council’s Budget 2023/24 and the Medium-Term Financial Strategy  2024/25 - 2025/26 

1. 2 Lead for policy/ project/ decision  Sam McVaigh 

1.3 Committee/Board signing off policy/ 

project/ decision 
Full Council   

1.4 Author of Equality Analysis 

 
Name: Sam McVaigh 
Role: Director of People & Inclusion   

Contact details: s.mcvaigh@bury.gov.uk   

1.5 Date EA completed 19/01/23 

1.6 Quality Assurance 

 

Name: Adiba Charlesworth 

Role: Equality Diversity and Inclusion Manager 
Contact details: a.charlesworth@bury.gov.uk  

1.7 Date QA completed 23/01/23 

1.8 Departmental recording 

 
Reference: Corporate001: 23/24budget  
Date: 23/01/23 

1.9 Next review date 30/03/23 

 
 

 
 

SECTION 2 – AIMS AND OUTCOMES OF POLICY / PROJECT 

P
age 101

mailto:s.mcvaigh@bury.gov.uk
mailto:a.charlesworth@bury.gov.uk


2.1 Detail of 

policy/ decision 
being sought 

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is the Council’s multi-year financial plan and control framework to align 
resources to the spending priorities set out in the corporate plan and Borough vision: LET’S Do It! - As part of this the 
Council is seeking to set a budget for the 2023/24 financial year in an unprecedented period of economic uncertainty.  

In order to set a balanced budget, savings proposals totaling £24.261m and additional Council Tax and Business 
Rates income of £7.134m have been brought forward for consideration.   

The LET’S Do It! Strategy for 2030 provides the strategic framework for the Council’s use of resources through the 
vision to:  

 Build on the strengths that already exist in our communities, breaking down barriers for people and between 

agencies and services to give people the ability to be independent. 

 Deliver in partnership, locally whenever possible and through a digitally inclusive approach  

 Drive economic growth to improve outcomes for local people; reduce the demand on public services and increase 
income to the Council.  

From a budget planning perspective, the application of the LET’S Do It! strategy is an opportunity to:   

 Empower local people and organisations to seek self-help and community-based support rather than immediately 

engaging with statutory services. - Over the last two years the Council has made available over £750,000 in 
funding to establish and support the development of local community groups. The scale of community potential is 
now evident through the anti-poverty response, for example, with over 80 organisations active in providing cost of 

living support and the emergence of the Bury Community Support Network  

 Tackle health inequalities through a comprehensive local Wellness offer.   

 Take a stronger focus on prevention and harnessing community capacity, which has been at the heart of the adult 
social care transformation, through which £20m of savings have been achieved since 2019/20  

 Drive innovation such as through the internal transformation strategy which is now enabling digital-first, more 
efficient processes, user self service   

 Deliver inclusive growth through regeneration in order to reduce deprivation and therefore demand on expensive 

reactive Council and other public services. Growth also creates the potential for increased income from council tax 
and business rates receipts, through delivery of a pipeline of brownfield-first housing and new locations for 

business.   
As far as possible budget savings options have been developed which are consistent with the LET’S principles. 
However, given the sheer scale of savings required this is not universally the case and, in some instances, proposals 

simply relate to reduced controllable spend through a reduction in non-statutory service provision.     
However, in the delivery of all budget proposals the Council will be cognisant of its statutory obligations in relation to 

inclusion, as per the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty, and its local commitment as set out in the LET’S 
Do It! Strategy and Bury Council Inclusion Strategy and Equality Objectives 2020-24.  
This overarching EIA sets out the Council’s approach to considering and addressing any potential equality implications 

of the budget and defines where more detailed proposal-specific EIAs will be undertaken.  

P
age 102



2.2 What are the 

intended 
outcomes of this? 

The outcomes intended are to ensure that, through the Council’s Budget for 2023/24 and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2024/25 - 2025/26 the Authority: 
1) Pays due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity between all  

2) Insofar as is possible, supports delivery of its stated Equality Objectives, Inclusion Strategy and the overarching 
commitment to inclusive growth as set out within the LET’S Do It! Strategy  

 

 
SECTION 4 – EQUALITIES DATA 

Protected characteristic Outcome 
sought 

Base data  Data gaps (to 
include in 

Section 8 log) 

4.1 Age To avoid 
negative 

EIAs in relation 
to individual 4.2 Disability 

SECTION 3 – ESTABLISHING RELEVANCE TO EQUALITY & HUMAN RIGHTS              

Please outline the relevance of the activity/ policy to the Public Sector Equality Duty  

General Public Sector 
Equality Duties 

Relevance 
(Yes/No) 

Rationale behind relevance decision 

3.1 To eliminate unlawful 

discrimination, harassment 

and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by 

Equality Act 2010  

Yes We are seeking to create budget proposals which do not discriminate against people 
protected by the Equality Act 2010 and Bury Council Inclusion Strategy 2020-2024. Where 

potential disproportionate impacts exist we are seeking to mitigate these  

3.2 To advance equality of 

opportunity between people 
who share a protected 

characteristic and those who 
do not.  

Yes We are seeking to create budget proposals which do not detract from the Council’s 
overarching commitment to advance equality of opportunity for people protected by the 
Equality Act 2010 and Bury Council Inclusion Strategy 2020-2024. Where this is the case we 

are seeking to mitigate these  

3.3 To foster good relations 

between people who share 
a protected characteristic 
and those who do not 

Yes We are seeking to create a budget proposal that does not hinder the relationships people who 

share protected characteristics and those who do not.  Where this is the case we are seeking 
to mitigate this 

3.4  Please outline the considerations taken, including any mitigations, to ensure activity is not detrimental to the Human Rights  of any 

individual affected by the decision being sought. 

Consideration will be given to the FREDA principles of Human Rights as part pf individual EIAs. Initial analysis does not identify any major 
areas for concern, subject to the implementation of individual proposals in a way which accords with the relevant specific statutory duties 

and obligations.  

P
age 103



4.3 Gender differential 
impact in 
relation to any 

of the below 13 
protected 

characteristics 
as a result of 
the delivery of 

the Council’s 
2023/24 budget  

 

The 2021 Census provides the most up-to-date baseline position in 
terms of equality data in relation to the borough across the 
characteristics of:  

 Age 

 Disability 

 Sex 

 Race (The 2021 census measures “Ethnicity”) 

 Religion and Belief 

 Sexual Orientation 

 Marriage and Civil Partnership (The 2021 census measures 
“Legal partnership status”) 

 Gender Reassignment (The 2021 census measures “gender 
identity”) 

 Armed Forces Personnel 

 Unpaid carers 

 Socio-economically vulnerable (The 2021 census measures 

“Households by deprivation dimensions”)  
 

To supplement this, the Council’s own data provides information on 
Looked After Children and Care Leavers.  We currently have 370 
Looked After Children in our system and support 148 Care Leavers. 

– Demographic data in relation to this cohort is available to support 
individual EIAs as required.  

 
Key census headlines in terms of inclusion include:  

 Bury's population increased by around 8,800 between the last 

two censuses (about 5%), to just under 195,000 in 2021. 

 The number of people aged 50 to 64 years rose by just under 

3,600 (an increase of 10.3%). 

 In the latest census, around 166,500 Bury residents said they 

were born in England. This represented 86% compared to 89% in 
2011. 

 Pakistan was the next most represented for just under 6,000 Bury 
residents (3% compared to 2% in 2011).  

budget 
proposals will 
examine 

specific data as 
required.  

4.4 Pregnancy or Maternity 

4.5 Race 

4.6 Religion and belief 

4.7 Sexual Orientation 

4.8 Marriage or Civil 

Partnership 
4.9 Gender Reassignment 

4.10 Carers 

4.11 Looked After Children and 

Care Leavers 
4.12 Armed Forces personnel 

including veterans 

4.13 Socio-economically 

vulnerable 

P
age 104

https://census.gov.uk/census-2021-results


 In 2021, 11% of Bury residents identified their ethnic group within 
the "Asian, Asian British or Asian Welsh" category, up from 7% in 

2011, higher than the rate for the NW (8%) and England (10%). 

 The percentage of people who identified their ethnic group within 
the "Other" category increased from 1% in 2011 to 2% in 2021. 

 94% of people in Bury speak English as their main language 
(compared to 82% in Manchester). 

 5% of households in the borough have multiple main languages 
spoken at home. 

 Based on responses 3% of the boroughs populations are armed 
forces veterans, circa 5,000 people (highest areas had over 
10%). 

 91% of people in Bury described themselves as straight or 
heterosexual, compared to 89% nationally. 

 4,362 people in Bury identified as a sexual orientation other than 
heterosexual, 3% of respondents. 

 In 2021, 29% of Bury residents reported having "No religion", up 
from 19% in 2011, while 10% described themselves as Muslim 
(up from 6.% the decade before). Jewish numbers stayed the 

same at 6% of the borough’s population overall. 

 52.5% of households in Bury fall under the “Household 

Deprivation” category in the census. 

 

SECTION 5 – STAKEHOLDERS AND ENGAGEMENT 

 Internal Stakeholders External Stakeholders 
5.1 Identify stakeholders Staff, Members and Trade Unions Bury residents and key partners  

5.2 Engagement undertaken A period of 90 days consultation on the 
overarching budget strategy has been 
undertaken, closing on 22nd January, 

including direct engagement in individual 
service areas affected.   

 
 

A questionnaire was developed and hosted on-line on 
‘One Community’, the council’s engagement and 
consultation portal (hard copies were available on 

request)   
Consultation commenced on 20th October 2022 and 

closed eight weeks later on 15th December 2022.The 
consultation was publicised via the press and social 
media.  

P
age 105



 
SECTION 6 – CONCLUSION OF IMPACT 

Please outline whether the activity/ policy has a positive or negative effect on any groups of people with protected inclusio n characteristics  
Protected 

Characteristic 

Positive/ Neutral Negative/  Impact (include reference to data/ engagement) 

6.1 Age A total of 38 individual proposals form the Council’s Budget 2023/24 and the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 - 
2025/26. A number of these (16) do not change Council policy or practice and are not relevant in terms of equality 

analysis. However, for the remaining 22 there are potential equality considerations which must be assessed on an 
individual basis through proposal-specific Equality Impact Assessments. - Appendix A sets out a schedule of these 
proposals including lead officers, a broad timeline for action and an indicative high-level summary of potential impacts.  

Given the complexity and scale of the budget changes required it is challenging to provide an overall analysis of 
potential impact. As outlined above, inclusion is a central theme of the Council’s LET’S Do It! strategy and, in providing 

a budget which, to a significant extent, aligns with this vision. Officers have sought to mi tigate the impact on protected 
groups in the borough.  
A number of budget proposals have potentially positive implications in relation to inclusion, for example: 

 Implementation of the Hertfordshire family safeguarding model should provide an improved model of support to 
both Children and Adults with a number of protected characteristics, including disability and socio-economic 

disadvantage 

6.2 Disability 

6.3 Gender 

6.4 Pregnancy or 

Maternity 
6.5 Race 

6.6 Religion and 

belief 

6.7 Sexual 

Orientation 

124 responses were received via One Community. A 
much larger response than a similar budget consultation 
undertaken in 2020 which only received 18 responses. 

Specific consultation was undertaken around a number of 
individual proposals, including those related to Bury Art 

Museum.  
5.3 Outcomes of engagement  Limited direct feedback has been 

received through the internal consultation 

channels. – A number of staff contributed 
directly to the public consultation.  

The full details of the consultation are included in the main 
budget report.   

Demographic information collected by the consultation 
shows a range of different characteristics were 
represented across the respondents. However, that the 

profile of respondents was not fully representative of the 
profile of the borough.  

We will endeavor to strengthen the diversity of 
respondents in future consultation activities.  

5.4 Outstanding actions following 

engagement  

(include in Section 8 log) 

Where individual changes require specific 
consultation, this will be progressed in 

line with the Council’s HR Policies 

Where individual changes require specific consultation, 
this will be progressed.  

P
age 106



6.8 Marriage or 

Civil Partnership 
 Investment in Assistive Technology should also see positive implications through providing a better range of 

support options to enable independence for disabled residents. 

 The development of a wellness service business case, providing a service which is more tailored to the wellbeing 
needs of Bury’s diverse communities.  

 

There are also a range of proposals which relate to changes in the delivery model for care packages to Adults and 
Children. These changes should not represent a reduction in service level and it will be important that proper 

consideration is given to the equality aspects of these changes to mitigate any di fferential implications insofar as is 
possible in the way they are implemented. This will include changes such as: 
 

 The review of working age adults' costs against a robust national toolkit.   

 Residents transitioning to alternative packages of care in the OCO  

 Children’s External placements / Step down of very high-cost placements across children’s 
 

Initial high-level analysis suggests 5 proposals where there are potential disproportionate negative impacts on 
protected groups which need particular thought: 
 

• Enforce S22 of Care Act, only provide assistance with medication when part of a care package - Changes need to 
be managed to address potential differential impact in relation to disability and age  

• Better utilization of the Housing Revenue Account  - Changes to the sheltered housing service need to be managed 
to address potential differential impact in relation to disability and age   

• Continuation of LED street Lighting implementation – Officers will need to ensure approach to continued 

implementation takes account of any impact on disabled residents    
• Post 16 SEND transport – There is a potential differential impact in relation to disability which needs consideration  

• Review of fees and charges. – There is a potential differential impact in relation to socio-economic disadvantage 
which needs consideration  

 

Whilst there is the potential for disproportionate negative impacts on protected groups in the above areas, the proposal 
specific EIAs will need to explore these in more detail and, wherever possible, seek to mitigate this in accordance with 

the Council’s obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty.  
 
Overall the scale of budget reductions required across the Council represents a significant risk of negative impact on 

protected groups which will need to be closely managed and monitored throughout the implementation process.  
 

6.9 Gender 

Reassignment 
6.10 Carers 

6.11 Looked After 

Children and 
Care Leavers 

6.12 Armed 

Forces personnel 
including 

veterans 
6.13 Socio-

economically 

vulnerable 
6.14 Overall 
impact - What 

will the likely 

overall effect of 
your activity be 

on equality, 
including 
consideration  

on 
intersectionality? 

 
SECTION 7 – ACTION LOG  

P
age 107



Action Identified Lead Due Date Comments and Sign off 
(when complete) 

7.1 Actions to address gaps identified in section 4 

Through the state of the borough report we will continue to monitor 

outcomes of those in the borough, including in relation to Protected 
Characteristics.  

Helen Smith  April 2023  

7.2 Actions to address gaps identified in section 5 

Individual consultations will be conducted as and when required 
linked to specific budget EIAs.  Consultations will be share widely to 

ensure meaningful engagement,  

Individual leads/ EDI 
Manager to oversee 

April 2024  

7.3 Mitigations to address negative impacts identified in section 6 

Managed in individual EIAs. Delivery of which will be overseen by 
the EDI manager and reported on to the Council’s Executive Team 

and Cabinet Member for HR and Corporate Affairs  

Individual leads / 
EDI Manager to 

oversee 

April 2024  

7.4 Opportunities to further inclusion (equality, diversity and human rights) including to advance opportunities and engagements across 

protected characteristics  

Managed in individual EIAs. Delivery of which will be overseen by 

the EDI manager and reported on to the Council’s Executive Team 
and Cabinet Member for HR and Corporate Affairs  

Individual leads / 

EDI Manager to 
oversee 

April 2024  

 
SECTION 8 - REVIEW  

Review Milestone Lead Due Date Comments (and sign off when complete) 

Delivery of all 22-proposal specific EIAs  EDI Manager  April 2023  

Quarterly review of progress to Executive Team and 

Cabined Member for HR & Corporate Affairs  

EDI Manager July 2023 

October 2023 
January 2024 

April 2024 

 

 
Please make sure that every section of the Equality Analysis has been fully completed. The author of the EA should then seek Quality 
Assurance sign off and departmental recording.  

SECTION 9 – QUALITY ASSURANCE   

Consideration Yes/ 
No 

Rationale and details 
of further actions 

required 

Have all section been completed fully? Y  

P
age 108



Has the duty to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimization and other conducted prohibited 
by the PSED and Equalities Act been considered and acted upon? 

Y  

Has the duty to advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who do not been considered and acted upon 

Y  

Has the duty to foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not, been consider and acted upon 

Y  

Has the action log fully detailed any required activity to address gaps in data, insight and/or engagement in 
relation to inclusion impact? 

Y  

Have clear and robust reviewing arrangements been set out? Y  

Are there any further comments to be made in relation to this EA N  

 
APPENDIX – Budget EIA Schedule  

Ref 

No. 
Scheme Description High-Level Impact Summary  

EIA Deadline  

2 

Invest to save - Housing 
complex care  

Ongoing programme to reduce the 
cost of supporting people in 

supported living by offering them 
different types of accommodation. 

Change in service provision with a focus on disability. – 
EIA to provide assurance that new offer, though 

different, does not pose a differential and negative 
impact.  

April 2023 

3 

Invest to save - Shared 

lives  

Growing a service that does, in 

effect, "adult fostering".  

Change in service provision with a focus on disability. – 

EIA to provide assurance that new offer, though 

different, does not pose a differential and negative 
impact.  

April 2023 

4 

Invest to save - Assistive 

technology (TEC) 

A new service offer which will 

enable people to access 

technologies (e.g. monitoring 
devices and aids) in order to 

reduce reliance on traditional care 

and support.  

Change in service provision with a focus on disability. – 

EIA to provide assurance that new offer, though 

different, does not pose a differential and negative 
impact. Potential for a positive impact here.   

April 2023 

5 

Review of working age 

adults' costs against a 
robust national toolkit.  

Review of care packages for a 

defined cohort of Adult Social Care 
customers.  

Change in service provision with a focus on disability 

and age. – EIA to provide assurance that new offer, 
though different, does not pose a differential and 

negative impact.  

April 2023 

 

6 

Development of wider 

learning disabilities 
transition service for age 

14-25 cohort   

Change the way we support older 

children/younger adults, improve 
the transition experience between 

services  

Change in service provision with a focus on disability 

and age. – EIA to provide assurance that new offer, 
though different, does not pose a differential and 

negative impact.  

April 2023 

 

P
age 109



7 

Enforce S22 of Care Act, 
only provide assistance 

with medication when 

part of a care package 

The council has no legal duty to 
provide care and support 

assistance solely for medication 

and therefore we will be reviewing 
packages of care and where care is 

provided for this purpose solely, it 
will no longer be provided by the 

Council.  

Change in service provision with a focus on disability. – 
Potential for negative impact here which will need to be 

considered in detail through the proposal-specific EIA    

April 2023 
Requires 

public 

consultation 

8 

Wellness Service 

business case 

Leisure centres cost (NHS and 

Sport England) suggest 

reconfiguration of leisure centres to 
smaller and separately set up 

community wellness initiatives. Our 

Wellness team is in operations and 
is commissioned by Public Health. 

The plan is to grow and reshape 
the Wellness team.  

Potential impact on all protected characteristics. - 

Potential for a positive impact here.   

EIA to be 

developed 

iteratively as 
part of 

development 

beginning in 
April 2023  

9 

Review with BGI of all 
Peppercorn/Free lease 

arrangements including 
utilities provided  

Review on whether increasing rent 
on council owned properties is 

possible.  

Potential impact on VCSE groups supporting people 
with protected characteristics which will need 

consideration through the EIA   

April 2023 

11 

Better utilization of the 

Housing Revenue 
Account   

As part of this proposal, withdrawal 

of the Support at Home Wardens 
Service may have equality 

implications.   

Change in service provision with a focus on disability 

and the socio-economically vulnerable. – Potential for 
negative impact here which will need to be considered 

in detail through the proposal-specific EIA    

April 2023 

12 

Additional savings from 
Health and Housing 

beyond the £431k 

already built into the 
MTFS   

Increase in specialist housing for 
working aged adults - 

Impact on socio-economically vulnerable people, people 
with disabilities and older people. - Potential for a 

positive impact here.   

April 2023 – 
Shared EIA 

with proposal 

2.  

13 
Continuation of LED 
street Lighting 

implementation  

Energy and financial savings by 
continuing the transition to LED 

Street Lighting.  

Potential impact on people with disabilities – Potential 
for negative impact here which will need to be 

considered in detail through the proposal-specific EIA    

April 2023 

14 

Post 16 SEND transport Cutting payments for transport for 

young SEND people over 16 

Impact on young people and people with disabilities 

and, potentially, on socio-economically vulnerable 

people – Potential for negative impact here which will 

April 2024 

P
age 110



need to be considered in detail through the proposal-
specific EIA    

15 

Children’s External 
placements / Step down 

of very high-cost 
placements across 

children’s (24 high cost 

placements non DSG 
funded)  

Reduce the volume of children 
supported in residential care.  

Change in service provision for young people - EIA to 
provide assurance that new offer, though different, does 

not pose a differential and negative impact 

April 2024 

16 

Children’s short breaks & 
personal budgets  

Change In service model and 
policy in this area.  

Change in service provision for young people - EIA to 
provide assurance that new offer, though different, does 

not pose a differential and negative impact 

April 2023 

17 

Progressing the edge of 

care service review    

Avoid Children going into care - 

working with children different.  It'll 

be putting extra support in  

Change in service provision for young people - EIA to 

provide assurance that new offer, though different, does 

not pose a differential and negative impact 

April 2024 

18 

Implementation of the 

Hertfordshire family 
safeguarding model   

Aim; Fewer families ultimately 

require social care intervention - 
change in how we deliver the 

service.  

Change in service provision for young people - EIA to 

provide assurance that new offer, though different, does 
not pose a differential and negative impact - Potential 

for a positive impact here.   

EIA to be 

delivered as 
part of 

development. 

Due April 
2024 

19 

Accelerating work on 

children’s fostering 

capacity invest to save 

Increase in Bury based foster carer 

provision.  

Change in service provision for young people - EIA to 

provide assurance that new offer, though different, does 

not pose a differential and negative impact - Potential 
for a positive impact here.   

April 2024 

20 

Review of fees & charges  Council-wide review of all 
commercial fees and charges.   

Potential impact on socio-economically vulnerable 
people – Potential for negative impact here which will 

need to be considered in detail through the proposal-

specific EIA    

April 2023 

21 

Changes to staff terms 
and Conditions  

Combination of restructure of chief 
officers (100k), voluntary purchase 

of additional annual leave (£300k) 

and other reductions to staffing 
costs  

Impact on staff – EIA will need to ensure changes are 
delivered in an equitable way across the different 

demographics within the workforce.  

April 2023 

22 
Options appraisal of Bury 
Art Museum    

Restructure and commercialisation.  Change in service model – potential socioeconomic 
impact.  

April 2023 

 

P
age 111



Appendix 7 

Formal Council Tax Resolution 

 

The Council is asked to resolve as follows: 

 

It is noted that the Council calculated the Council Tax Based for the whole Council area as 56,951 (Item T in 

the formula Section 31B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended (the ‘Act’). 

 

It is recommended: 

 

 That the Council approve the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes (excluding 

precepts) for 2023/24 as £103.680m; 

 

 That the Council agrees the calculation of the aggregate amounts for the year 2023/24 in accordance 

with sections 31 to 36 of the Act: 

 

2023/24 Revenue Budget 

  £m 

2022/23 Budget 177.483 

Previously Agreed changes 12.860 

Additional Spending Needs  20.470 

Less Savings Options -14.608 

Less Planned Use of Reserves -5.931 

2021/2 Spending Requirement 190.274 

    

Funded By:   

Government Grants 22.783 

Business Rates* 63.811 

Council Tax 103.680 

TOTAL 190.274 

*breakdown of Business Rates income is provided below 

 

 

 In relation to Council Tax, Council is asked to: 

o Raise the Bury element of the Council tax by 4.99% of which 2.99% relates to the general 

precept and 2.00% relates to the adult social care levy. 

o Approve the council tax requirement for the council's own purposes (excluding precepts) as 

£103.680m 

o That the following amounts be calculated by the council for the year 2023/24 in accordance 

with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992: 

 
a) £465,410,800 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council 

estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act;  (This is the 
gross expenditure budget) 

b) £361,730,800 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A 3 of the Act (The external 
income budgets including business rates and government grants) 

c) £103,680,000 being the amount by which the aggregate at a) above 

exceeds the aggregate at b) above, calculated by the council in 

accordance with Section 31A (4) of the Act as its Council Tax requirement 
for the year. (Item R in the formula in Section 31B of the Ac). (Net Council 
Tax Requirement for the budget) 

d) £1,828.31 being the amount at c) above, (above item R) divided by Item T 

Page 112



calculated by the Council, in accordance with section 31B of the Act, as the 
relevant basic amount of its Council Tax for the year, and: 

 
Bury Council 

 

2023/24 Council Tax By Band – Bury Council Element 

A B C D E F G H 

£1,218.87 £1,422.02 £1,625.16 £1,828.31 £2,234.60 £2,640.89 £3,047.18 £3,656.61 

 

o Being the  amounts given by multiplying the amount set out at d) above  by the number which, 

in the proportion set out in Section 5 (1) of the  Act is applicable for dwellings listed in a 

particular valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion is applicable to 

dwellings listed in valuation Band D, calculated by the Council in accordance with Section 

36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories 

of dwellings listed in different valuation bands. 

 
o Note that the Police and Crime Commissioner component of the Greater Manchester Mayoral 

budget and the Mayoral general budget have issued precepts to the council in accordance 

with section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act That the following precepts be calculated 

for 2023/24 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act; 

 

Police and Crime Commissioner 

 

 

2023/24 Council Tax By Band – Bury Council Element 

A B C D E F G H 

£162.20 £189.23 £216.26 £243.30 £297.36 £351.43 £405.50 £486.60 

 

 
General Mayoral - Fire and Rescue Service 

2023/24 Council Tax By Band – Bury Council Element 

A B C D E F G H 

£71.96 £83.96 £95.95 £107.95 £131.93 £155.92 £179.91 £215.90 

• That the council, in accordance with sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the tables below as the 
amounts of Council Tax for 2023/24 for each part of its area and for each of the 
categories of dwellings. 

 
 

Aggregate of Council Tax Requirements 

 

2023/24 Council Tax By Band – Aggregate for all precepting authorities 

A B C D E F G H 

£1,453.03 £1,695.21 £1,937.37 £2,179.56 £2,663.89 £3,148.24 £3,632.59 £4,359.11 

 

 
• To determine whether the council's relevant basic amount of council tax for 2023/24 is 

excessive in accordance with the principles approved under the Localism Act 2011. 
 

Page 113



  2022/23 2023/24 % 

Council Tax Base 55,611 56,951   

Council Tax Requirement (£) 96,851,995 104,122,968 4.99% 

Relevant Amount of Council Tax (£) 1,741.41 1,828.31   

 
 

The total increase of 4.99% is not excessive as it is within the 4.99% referendum limit. 
 

The Authority is therefore not subject to a referendum 
 

Other funding 

 
Included within the budget are a number of government grants that are received for 
specific purposes.  Any variations to the level of funding will be matched by an 
equivalent adjustment in the budget for the respective service. 

 

Business rates funding totaling £63.811m to support the council's overall budget is 
itemised below. In the event the business rates funding is above or below this level, 
the variation will be managed by an adjustment to specific reserves.  

  
2023/24 

£m 

Business Rates: Local Share (41.745) 

Business Rates: Top Up (5.695) 

Business Rates: Section 31 Grants (17.255) 

Business Rates: GMCA no detriment contribution 0.884 

Total (63.811) 

 

Page 114



 

 

Meeting: Overview and Scrutiny  
9thFebruary 2023 

Cabinet 

15th February 2023 

 

Title of report: The Dedicated Schools Grant and setting the Schools Budget 
2023-24 

 

Report by:  Cabinet Member for Finance and Communities 

Decision Type: Key Decision 

Ward(s) to 
which report 
relates 

All 

1. Executive Summary: 
 

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is the ring-fenced grant from Government that 

provides each local authority with an allocation of funding for schools and services for 

pupils. 

The DSG contains four blocks determined by a separate national funding formula 

which calculates the total funding due to Local Authorities. In considering how the 

DSG is allocated it is necessary to consider each block separately. This report sets out 

recommendations in relation to the Schools Budget for approval by Cabinet. The 

details set out in the report has been discussed, and agreed by the Schools Forum at 

its meeting on the 17th January 2023. 

Classification 
Open 

Item No. 

Page 115



2. Recommendations 

That Overview & Scrutiny: 
 

• Note content of this report 
• Consider whether they wish to make any recommendations to Cabinet on the 

content of this report 

That Cabinet approve and commend to Council: 
 

• Approve the Dedicated Schools Grant Budget for 2023/24 at £210.431m, and 

approve the allocations between the four funding blocks as set out in this report; 

• Approve the Schools and Academies 2023/24 funding unit values as 
recommended by Schools’ Forum and detailed at Appendix 1; 

• Note that, following the autumn statement, Bury mainstream schools will be 
receiving an additional grant with an indicative value of £5.1m to help with pay 

and energy cost rises. This will be paid in addition to the DSG in two instalments 
during the year in the summer term and autumn terms. The formula is 

determined by the DFE and there is no local discretion.  

• Note the position and risks associated with Project Safety Valve and the 
recovery of the Dedicated Schools Grant deficit within the timeframe agreed by 

DfE 
• Approve the 2023/24 hourly rates for all early years providers as follows: 

 £4.74 per hour for 3 and 4 year olds, and: 

 £5.62 per hour for 2 year olds. 
 

3.  Background 

Dedicated Schools Grant 

A three-year settlement, for the years 2022/23, 2023/24, and 2024/25, was announced in 2021. 

This announcement included an annual cash increase of £7 billion nationally by 2024/25 when 

compared with 2021/22. The government has published school and high needs funding for 

2023/24, the second year of the three-year funding settlement. This includes a change following 

the 2022 autumn statement, which further increased school funding in 2023/24. 

 

For schools this means that the minimum per primary school pupil amount has increased from 
£4,265 in 2022/23 to £4,405 in 2023/24. The Secondary school pupil amount has increased 
from £5,525 in 2022/23 to £5,715 in 2023/24.  

The allocations for Bury are set out in the following table. 
 

 
Dedicated Schools Grant 

2022/2
3 

 
£m 

2023/2
4 

 
£m 

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

£m’s 

Schools Block 147.202 149.832 2.630 

Central Schools Services Block 0.991 1.038 0.047 

Early Years Block 13.486 14.552 1.066 

High Needs Block 40.930 45.009 4.079 

Total DSG 202.609 210.431 7.822 

Page 116

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2023-to-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-tables-for-schools-and-high-needs-2023-to-2024


The 4 blocks that make up the DSG are: 

 The Schools Block 

This provides funding for individual mainstream schools and academies as well 

as growth funding for any planned growth in schools. It is the responsibility of 

the Council to propose and decide any changes to the formula which is used to 

allocate Schools Block DSG to all primary and secondary schools. The Schools 

Forum is consulted on any proposed changes and informs the governing bodies 

of all consultations. 

 
 The High Needs Block 

This provides funding for the education of pupils subject to Education, Health and 

Care plans from age 0-25 in a range of provision including special schools, 

mainstream schools, alternative provision, independent specialist provision and 

council centrally retained expenditure for high needs support and inclusion. It 

is the responsibility of the local authority to propose and decide the allocation 

of High Needs Funding. The Schools Forum is consulted on any proposed 

changes and informs the governing bodies of all consultations. 

 

 The Early Years Block 

This provides funding for two-year olds, early years funding in schools and in 

the Private, Voluntary and Independent (PVI) sector as well as centrally 

retained expenditure for under 5s. Local Authorities must pass through a 

minimum of 95% of funding for the universal 15-hour entitlement for 3 and 4 

year olds and the additional 15 hours entitlement for 3 and 4 year old children 

of eligible working parents directly to settings. This leaves a balance of up to 

5% that can be retained by the Council to contribute to early years functions 

delivered by education services, for contingency to allow in-year funding to be 

provided to providers for increased early years pupil participation and for Early 

Years SEND inclusion funds. 

It is the responsibility of the local authority to propose and decide on the 

allocation of early years funding. The Schools Forum and all early year’s 

providers are consulted annually and given an opportunity to give their view on 

the proposals. 

 

 The Central Schools Service Block 

This provides funding for the local authority to carry out central functions on 

behalf of pupils in both maintained schools and academies. The local authority 

proposes the spending allocations funded from the Central Services block but 

the final decision is made by the Schools Forum. Central Schools Services 

includes the admissions service, schools forum administration, school 

improvement and other statutory and regulatory duties. 

Page 117



There is limited flexibility for councils to transfer funding between the 4 blocks. For 2023/24 the 

Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) has limited the movement between blocks to 
0.5% of the total Schools Block allocation but only with the agreement of the Schools’ Forum. 

Any proposed increase on this is subject to approval by the Secretary of State. 

 

For 2023/24, Bury’s Schools’ Forum approved a transfer of 0.35% from the Schools’ Block to 

help support the pressures being faced on the High Needs Block. This equates to a £0.521m 

contribution to help sustain the recovery of the High Needs deficit.  A transfer of 0.35% was 

recommended and approved on the basis that in order to transfer 0.5% this would not have left 

sufficient funding within the schools block to meet the national funding formula. This decision 

can only be made on an annual basis and will be reviewed again next year. 

/ 

4. DSG Allocation  

Schools Block National Funding Formula Allocation 

4.1. The Schools Block allocation for 2023/24 is £149.832m. This is an increase of 

£2.629m from the 2022/23 allocation. 

4.2. In September 2017, the National Funding Formula (NFF) for Schools and Central Schools 
Services was introduced. The 2023/24 funding factors continue to comply with the national 

funding formula values 

4.3. The Schools Forum has considered the allocation of the Schools Block and have made their 
recommendations. These have been applied to the formula used to determine individual 

school allocations and ensure full compliance with statutory requirements. 

4.4. It should be noted that the funding increase to the Schools Block included the transfer of 
the Teachers Pay and Pension Grants into the DSG from 2021/22. To ensure schools can 

continue to meet the cost of increased pay and pensions for teachers, the schools’ delegated 
budgets are enhanced through an increase to the per-pupil Basic Entitlement funding. 

4.5. A full summary of the funding formula factors is set out at Appendix 1 and these are 
recommended for approval by Cabinet. 

4.6. In addition to the Schools Block funding, additional external funding is available directly for 

schools and academies. It should be noted that these are estimated figures, based on 
2022/23 actuals and are subject to pupil census and other data updates. A summary is set 
out in the following table. 

 
Estimated external Funding available to schools and academies in 
2023/24 

 £m 

Mainstream Schools Additional Grant 5.118 
Pupil Premium Grant 9.485 
Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant 2.148 
Primary PE and Sport 1.179 
Covid Recovery Premium/ School Led Tutoring  1.630 
Devolved Formula Capital 0.809 
TOTAL 20.369 

 

Page 118



5. Early Years Block National Funding Formula Allocation 

5.1. The Early Years Block allocation for 2023/24 is £14.552m which includes funding 
recognition for inflation and cost pressures in Early Years. The Early Years Block will be 
adjusted in-year in respect to fluctuations in Early Years participation. The final funding 

allocation is based on two sets of January census data: January 2023 accounts for April 
2023 to August 2023 (5/12ths) January 2024 accounts for September 2023 to March 2024 

(7/12ths) Therefore the allocation identified in this report remains indicative. 

 

DSG Early Years Block 

2023-24 

Indicative 

3&4 year old Basic Entitlement £8,073,865 

3&4 year old Extended Entitlement £4,159,587 

2 year old Funding £1,863,735 

Early Years Pupil Premium £157,889 

Disability Access Fund £86,112 

Maintained Nursery Supplementary Funding £211,014 

TOTAL £14,552,202 

5.2   Early Years funding to providers is based on hourly rates for eligible 2, 3 and 4 year olds 

accessing their entitlement to free early education. The hourly funding rate applied to 3 and 

4 year olds must also meet a minimum level of an average across all providers. 

5.3   Up to 5% of the funding for 3 and 4 year olds may be retained by the Council to contribute to 

central early years functions, contingency for in-year increases to early years pupil 

participation in settings and for Early Years SEND Inclusion Fund.  Based upon the 

proposed hourly rate the pass through rate is 96.7% 

5.4 The 2 year-old funding rate allocated is higher in order to contribute to funding the greater 

staffing ratios required and associated costs of supporting 2 year-old children.  

5.5 The Early Years block for 2023/24 continues to include the Maintained Nursery School (MNS) 

funding protection which is allocated as an additional lump sum outside of the universal 

hourly rates used. 

5.6 In accordance with the statutory requirements Council is required to approve these hourly 

rates applicable with effect from 1 April 2023, as recommended by Schools’ Forum. These 

are set out in the tables below. 

 

Factor 
2022-23 
Hourly  

Rate 

2023-24 
Hourly  

Rate 

Variance 

£ 
Increase 

% 

3 & 4 Year Olds £4.46 £4.74 £0.28 6.3% 

2 Year Olds £5.56 £5.62 £0.06 1.1% 

 

5.7 Early Years settings may also receive additional funding for eligible pupils through the Early 

Years Pupil Premium Grant (EYPPG) at £0.62 per hour, and/or Disability Access Fund (DAF) 

at £828 lump sum per eligible child which has increased from £800 in 2022/23. 

Page 119



6 High Needs DSG Budget Allocation 

The 2023/24 allocation for High Needs DSG is £45.009m. This represents a £4.078m increase 
from the 2022/23 allocation. 

High Needs funding is based on SEND pupil numbers as of October 2022 in special and 

resourced provision in maintained schools and academies, and SEND pupil numbers at January 
2023 in independent provision. 

Of the total allocation of £45.009m, the ESFA will allocate £1.092m direct to Further Education 
(FE) establishments for high needs places. The funding remaining for the Council to manage is 
therefore £43.917m to fund all in-borough and out- borough provision and specialist support 

delivering SEND and inclusion priorities. From the £43.917m the ESFA will also allocate 
£3.394m direct to Bury’s Academies with specialist places, leaving £40.523m. 

It should be noted that the funding increase to the High Needs Block also included the transfer of 

the Teachers Pay and Pension Grants into the DSG from 2021/22. To ensure Bury’s Special 
Schools and Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) can continue to meet the cost of increased pay and 
pensions for teachers, the statutory place funding was increased by £660 to £10,660 per place 

from April 2021. 

7 Central Schools Services Block (CSSB) DSG Budget Allocation 

The allocation of the Central School Services DSG (CSSB) block is £1.038m in 2023/24, this 
represents an increase of £0.047m from the 2022/23 allocation. The use of the CSSB is 
determined by the Schools Forum based upon proposals from the Council in respect to funding 

ongoing responsibilities and central functions undertaken on behalf of schools and academies. 

It should be noted that the funding increase to the CSSB also included the transfer of the 
Teachers Pay and Pension Grants into the DSG from 2021/22. This is to meet the cost of 

increased pay and pensions for centrally employed teachers. 

The planned use of this funding block in 2023/24 is: 

 
Item Value (£m) 

Safeguarding in Schools Officer 0.050 

Admissions 0.206 

Schools Forum 0.018 

National Copyright Licences 0.168 

Education Welfare 0.279 

Asset Management 0.096 

Statutory / Regulatory inc SACRE 0.067 

Teachers Pay and Pension 0.154 

Total 1.038 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120



8 Dedicated Schools Grant Recovery Plan 

Costs of high needs have exceeded the available budget for several years and the position on 
the DSG reserve the cumulative forecast deficit at the end of 2022/23 is currently £20.607m. The 

deficit has accrued for a number of reasons including increasing volumes of pupils receiving 
Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs), increasing complex needs, increasing costs of 
provision, increased numbers of pupils in out of borough placements, as well as investment 

made into in-borough inclusion. 

The DfE want to ensure that DSG deficits are recovered and have set up a DSG Safety Valve 
Project team to work with the Councils with the greatest deficits to develop an agreed recovery 

plan. 

Bury is one of the first five Local Authorities to work with the Department for Education (DfE) in 
respect to developing and agreeing a recovery plan. 

Bury subsequently agreed to enter into the formal Safety Valve agreement and work with the 

DfE on recovering the deficit in full. The formal agreement was signed by all parties and 

published by the DfE on 19 March 2021 and the agreement was ratified by Cabinet at the 

meeting of 24 March 2021.  The original plan was to fully recover the deficit by the end of 

2025/26 and the latest submission shows that at the end of 2025/26 based on current 

projections there will be a remaining deficit of £6.483m.  There is a risk that the DfE will not 

accept this revised forecast.  

A transformation plan aimed at recovering the position has since been developed and, 

approved by the Secretary of State in March 2021. This agreement has provided Bury with an 

additional £20m revenue DSG and an additional £3.781m High Needs capital allocation to 

contribute to developing in-borough provision and places to help reduce cost pressures of 

expensive out-of- Borough placements. 

Bury has also secured approval for two Special Free Schools to address in borough sufficiency 

and capacity of SEND places, specifically for Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and Social 

Emotional Mental Health (SEMH). Bury currently has a lack of sufficient provision to meet the 

needs and prevalence of these cohorts and this results in increased high-cost out of Borough 

placements 

An application has also now been submitted for a further Free Special School, designated for 

KS1/2 SCLN/ASC, responding to the continued and increasing demand pressures. 

The transformation plan has involved intensive input from SEND and Finance colleagues and 

has been completed in accordance with the DfE timeframes and reporting requirements. The 

original January 2020 plan was refreshed and re- submitted to the DfE in December 2021 in 

order to ensure the most up to date priorities and progress of SEND transformation is reported to 

the DfE as per their assurance requirements and to ensure continued financial support from the 

DfE. 

The DfE have acknowledged the considerable progress made since producing an ambitious 

action plan that includes a robust, comprehensive, and manageable delivery plan incorporating 

key milestones and performance indicators. All concerned recognise the significant financial 

challenges that are being driven by the increased numbers of Education Health Care Plans and 

the current lack of sufficiency in the Borough. 

Page 121



The DfE recognised the Council needed additional support to recover the deficit in full and 

undertake the extensive transformation required. Within the Safety Valve programme revenue 

funding agreement there is recognition of the additional capacity required to deliver Bury’s 

SEND transformation and deficit recovery priorities, with £4m included to support increased 

capacity within SEND, Finance and data including systems developments and Programme 

Management. The DfE also committed their support by providing Bury with additional advice, 

support and guidance from their own specialist colleagues covering SEND and Finance, as well 

as helping Bury to learn from best practice being developed across the other Safety Valve 

participants. 

9 Community impact / Contribution to the Let’s Do It Strategy 

Delivery of the Let’s Do It Strategy is dependent upon resources being available.  

The funding of the Education provision within the borough has the potential to support key 

ambitions of the Let’s do it strategy:  

 A better future for the children of the borough  
 A better quality of life  
 A better future for the children of the borough  

 A chance to feel more part of the borough  
 Building a fairer society that leaves no-one behind  

 

Equality Impact and considerations: 

Equality impacts will be considered when any funds are moved between blocks where 

there may be an impact on an individual or group of individuals.  

 
 

Assessment of Risk: 

The following risks apply to the decision: 
 

 
Risk / opportunity Mitigation 

The Council has a statutory requirement to set 

its annual budget before 11 March 2023. 

Failure to approve the budget would mean that 
schools and early years providers do not 

have their funding 
allocations agreed for 2023/24. 

All proposals have been approved with 

the Schools Forum and are based on 

the latest financial information. 

Page 122



 
 
 

 

Consultation: 

The School's Forum has been consulted on the proposals set out in the report and 

the recommendations were approved at the meeting on the 17th January 2023. 
 
 
 

Legal Implications: 

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is payable to Local Authorities under S14 of the 

Education Act 2002, guidance is issued annually. The Executive Director of Finance 
(s151 officer) is required to report on the deployment of the DSG as required by the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015. The Secretary of State has the right 

to recover the grant if there is evidence the Local Authority has failed to comply with 
the conditions of the grant. 

 

 
 

Financial Implications: 

The financial implications are set out in the report. 

 

 

Report Author and Contact Details: 
 

Sam Evans 

Executive Director of Finance 

Sam.Evans@Bury.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

Background papers: 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms 
used in this report. 

 

Term Meaning 

DSG Dedicated Schools Grant 

SEND Special Educational Needs and Development  

DFE Department for Education 

SCLN Speech Communication and Language Needs 

ASC Average Size Class 

Page 123

mailto:Sam.Evans@Bury.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Factor Sub-level 
2022-23 

 NFF 
Values 

2023-24 

 NFF 
Values 

Increase 

 £ 

Increase 

 % 

Basic Entitlement 
 Age Weighted Pupil Unit 
(AWPU) 

Primary  £3,217 £3,394 £177 5.5% 

Key Stage 3 £4,536 £4,785 £249 5.5% 

Key Stage 4 £5,112 £5,393 £281 5.5% 

Deprivation Factors 

Free School Meals 
Primary £470 £480 £10 2.1% 

Secondary £470 £480 £10 2.1% 

Free School Meals - Ever 6 
Primary £590 £705 £115 19.5% 

Secondary £865 £1,030 £165 19.1% 

Income Deprivation 
Affecting Children Indices 
(IDACI)  
Primary 

IDACI F £220 £230 £10 4.5% 

IDACI E £270 £280 £10 3.7% 

IDACI D £420 £440 £20 4.8% 

IDACI C £460 £480 £20 4.3% 

IDACI B £490 £510 £20 4.1% 

IDACI A £640 £670 £30 4.7% 

Income Deprivation 
Affecting Children Indices 
(IDACI)  
Secondary 

IDACI F £320 £335 £15 4.7% 

IDACI E £425 £445 £20 4.7% 

IDACI D £595 £620 £25 4.2% 

IDACI C £650 £680 £30 4.6% 

IDACI B £700 £730 £30 4.3% 

IDACI A £890 £930 £40 4.5% 

Additional Educational Needs Factors 

English as an Additional 
Language (EAL) 

Primary £565 £580 £15 2.7% 

Secondary £1,530 £1,565 £35 2.3% 

Low Prior Attainment 
Primary £1,130 £1,155 £25 2.2% 

Secondary £1,710 £1,750 £40 2.3% 

Mobility 
Primary £925 £945 £20 2.2% 

Secondary £1,330 £1,360 £30 2.3% 

School Factors 

Lump Sum 
Primary £121,300 £128,000 £6,700 5.5% 

Secondary £121,300 £128,000 £6,700 5.5% 

  

Minimum per pupil 
funding levels 

Primary £4,265 £4,405 £140 3.3% 

Secondary £5,525 £5,715 £190 3.4% 

 

Page 124



  
 

Report to: 

Overview and Scrutiny – 9th February 2023  

 

Cabinet – 15th February 

 

 

Subject: 
Capital Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 

 

Report of Cabinet Member for Finance and Communities 

 

Executive Summary 

 
In line with good practice, the Capital Strategy forms part of the Council’s strategic and 
financial planning and provides a framework within which the investment plans will be 

delivered. The Capital Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 has been prepared to cover a 3-year 
period. It is anticipated that this will be extended to a 5-year time frame in line with the 

Council’s medium term financial strategy. The current strategy recognises the uncertainty 
in relation to funding in future years. 
 

The format of the Capital Strategy reflects the Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes issued by CIPFA in 2017 which require Councils to prepare a Capital Strategy and 

include specific information within it. The strategy in order to comply with the code 
includes: 

A high-level, long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 

financing and treasury management activity contribute to the 

provision of services. 

An overview of how the associated risk is managed.  

The proposed capital programme 2023/24 to 2025/26.  

Financing of the capital programme. 

 

The Capital Strategy is prepared to ensure Members are fully aware of the overall long 

term capital investment objectives, capital strategy requirements, governance 

arrangements and risk appetite. 

The strategy cannot be viewed in isolation and links directly to the medium- term financial 

strategy and the treasury management strategy. 

 

Recommendation(s) 

That Overview & Scrutiny: 

 Note the content of this report. 

 Consider whether they wish to make any recommendations to Cabinet on the 

content of this report. 
 
That Cabinet: 

 Approve and commend the capital strategy to Council. 

 

Classification:Open Decision Type:Non-Key 

Page 125



 

 

1. Background 

 

CAPITAL STRATEGY 

 

The Council is committed to an integrated approach that develops a Capital Programme to 
reflect the priorities with an organisation-wide approach rather than being determined by 
individual services. This approach aims to ensure our scarce resources are used in the 

most effective way and support our corporate priorities as set out in the Let’s Do It 
Strategy: 

 

A local, place-based approach to working with communities to 

improve social, environmental, health and economic outcomes. 

Harnessing the enterprise of local people and businesses to drive 

economic growth, and ensuring every resident has the 

opportunity to connect to the opportunity of this growth through 

their skills, networks and scope for meaningful work. 

A new collaborative approach to delivering together with 

communities, to share ownership of issues and opportunity and 

combine all resources 

A strengths-based approach to public service delivery, to build on 

the resources people have to solve issues and target resources 

on the gaps rather than taking a deficit-based view. 

 
     CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 
When assessing the level of planned capital investment to undertake, we make a 

judgement about the level of capital resources that are likely to be available over the 
period of the programme. Our main capital resources are service specific grants, third 

party contributions, capital receipts, lease, finance and borrowing. 
 

Historically, the Capital progamme required any additional  by the Council. This is no 

longer considered a sustainable position borrowing is likely to be a key source of funding 

for new schemes in the future. There are revenue consequences of this, as the Council 

must incorporate the associated borrowing costs and minimum revenue provision in its 

revenue budget. Any further opportunities for grant funding that may emerge from central 

Government will be maximised as part of the overall  approach.  In developing the capital 

programme, any revenue costs needed  to support potential borrowing have been 

identified and reflected in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

The new funds being made available by the Government are subject to competitive 

bidding rounds and to maximise the opportunity that these present, the Council needs to 

ensure it has the required resources to develop these bids. 

2. CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ALLOCATIONS AND EXTERNAL GRANTS AND     

CONTRIBUTIONS  
 

2.1 Some capital projects are financed through the allocations received 

directly from the Government Departments or external grants and 
contributions, which are mostly specific to projects and cannot be used for 

other purposes. Examples of these would include the allocations for 
schools or highway maintenance direct from Central Government or 
through the Greater Manchester Combined Authority. 

Page 126



 

 
2.2 Grants from external organisations are a valuable source of capital 

finance for the Council and have enabled the Council to realise a 
substantial number of Capital developments in the past that would 

otherwise have been unable to progress. 
 

2.3 The Council will continue to explore cost effective opportunities for grants 
from external bodies. However, support through grants cannot be 

accurately predicted and therefore the Council recognises that it cannot 
depend on this source entirely. The Council will also ensure that exit 

strategies are prepared in the case of on-going projects funded through 
external support, in the event of the support being withdrawn. 

 

 
Capital Receipts 

 

2.4 The Council generates capital resources through the sale of surplus land 

and buildings. The Cabinet, at its meeting on 24 November 2020, 
approved an accelerated land disposal programme aimed at generating 
significant capital receipts for the Borough. Subsequently a number of 

phases have been approved by the Cabinet: Phase 1 on 24 March 2021, 
Phase 2 on 30 June 2021 and Phase 3 on 13 October 2021. 

 

2.5 The completion of the programme will generate significant receipts over 

a 3-year period which can be used to support the Council’s capital 
ambitions. 

 

2.6 Colleagues in the Business Growth and Infrastructure Department have 

undertaken work to try and identify when these capital receipts will be 
achieved and also to adjust the anticipated values by undertaking risk 
analysis based upon if the disposal is on track, or if there is a risk to the 

anticipated timeframe or value of capital receipt.  A summary of the 
anticipated capital receipts is included in the table below 

 

Confidence 

Level   

Adjustment 

Factor  2023-24  2024-25  2025-26  

High  80%  2,360,001  0  414,718  

Medium  65%  4,949,750  3,412,500  0  

Low   33%  363,000  664,950  0  

Complete  100%  639,826  127,087  127,087  

          

TOTAL 

Estimated 

Receipts    8,312,577  4,204,537  541,805 

 

 
2.7 For prudence it is recommended that only those values of high 

confidence or already complete are taken forward and recognised as a 
funding source for the capital programme or ring fenced as part of the 
flexible use of capital receipts each year.  The receipts are kept under 

Page 127



 

review and as more are realised a decision can be made at that time as 
to whether they should be used to fund the capital programme or be used 

as part of the flexible use of capital receipts to fund transformation.   
 

2.8 The Council will continue to pool both Housing and General Capital 
Receipts to reflect its commitment to a priority-led approach to the 
allocation of resources and continue to maintain a policy of not ring-

fencing the use of capital receipts to fund new investment in specific 
schemes or service areas. However, it does recognise that exceptionally 

there will be instances in which it will be necessary to earmark receipts 
to particular schemes, and if earmarking is necessary, then a report will 
be taken to the Cabinet for consideration of the specific circumstances. 

 
2.9 From April 2016 the Government introduced the flexibility for capital 

receipts to be used to fund revenue expenditure which meets certain 
criteria. To meet the qualifying criteria the revenue expenditure needs to 
relate to activity which is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings 

or to transform a service which results in revenue savings on 
improvements in the quality of service provision. Local Authorities are 

only able to use capital receipts from the sale of property, plant and 
equipment received in the years in which this flexibility is offered. They 
may not use the existing stock of capital receipts to finance the revenue 

costs of service reform. There is a separate report at Appendix 2 setting 
out how the Council proposes to use capital receipts to fund 

transformation in 2023/24. 
 

BORROWING 

 

2.10 From 1 April 2004 Authorities have had the discretion to borrow in line 
with the CIPFA Prudential Code, which is known as ‘Unsupported 
Borrowing’. 

 

2.11 The Council can make use of the opportunity for the Prudential Borrowing 
where it is most cost effective and as long as its capital investment plans 
are affordable, sustainable and prudent. It hence makes a choice on 
whether revenue resources are used to fund direct service delivery or 

reserved to finance costs of borrowing for capital investment. 
 

2.12 The Council will consider the use of unsupported borrowing in 
three particular circumstances: 

 Discretionary unsupported schemes - where individual    services 

can meet the full borrowing, and other revenue costs from within 
existing resources and where the related expenditure meets with 
Council ambitions/priorities and would not be able to proceed through 
another funding source. Any such schemes must be specifically 
approved by the Cabinet or Council and be supported  by a detailed 
Business Case. 

 

 Invest to save schemes - where pump priming assistance is 

required but overall, costs are met from additional revenue/capital 
income or savings generated by the scheme. Pump priming can be 
funded from unsupported borrowing or from slippage/internal 
resources.    

Page 128



 

 Strategic investment – where strategic investment to support the 
Borough’s economy is required, subject to a detailed business case 
and Cabinet approval. 

 
 

   REVENUE CONTRIBUTIONS AND RESERVES  

 

2.13 The Council can also use revenue resources to fund capital projects, 
although revenue budgets have come under increased pressure over 

recent years and the ability to use revenue is restricted. The proposed 
Capital Programme requires borrowing and the cost of borrowing to 
support the 2023/24 programme has been factored into the 2023/24 
budget. Any requirements beyond this will need to be factored into the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). The Council may also 
finance capital schemes from S106 monies. 

 

   LEASE FINANCING  

 

2.14 The Council has traditionally used funding by way of leases to mainly 
acquire or use vehicles and grounds maintenance equipment where the 

revenue budget did not allow for a full capital repayment. Before 
determining whether to proceed with a lease arrangement there must 
be a robust business case accompanying any consideration of this type 
of arrangement. 

 

2.15 The Council is currently part way through a programme to replace all of 

its vehicles and equipment held on operational leases. A strategy to 
cover replacement was agreed as part of the 2020/21 capital 
programme the phasing of which is over several financial years. The 
replacement strategy continues into 2023/24. 
 

   JOINT VENTURES  

 
2.16 The Council is currently engaged in significant regeneration activity in 

Both Bury and Prestwich Town Centres, for which the Authority has 
procured Joint Venture partners.  Both arrangements were completed 
in 2022, and the respective teams are currently developing plans for 

large scale regeneration over the medium to long The Council is 
currently engaged in significant regeneration activity in Both Bury and 
Prestwich Town Centres, for which the Authority has procured Joint 
Venture partners.  Both arrangements were completed in 2022, and the 
respective teams are currently developing plans for large scale 
regeneration over the medium to long term. 

 

2.17 Prestwich Village Regeneration (Your Prestwich) - This programme 

is a Joint Venture between Bury Council and Muse Developments. The 
development is focused on creating a people first place that promotes 
health and wellbeing by improving the public realm and adding green 
infrastructure to the site. The project plans currently consist of creating 

a community hub building, a travel hub, a village square, residential, 
retail and commercial space. The project is currently in an early-stage 
public conversation to present and collect feedback on a draft 
masterplan. 

 

Page 129



 

2.18 Bury Millgate - This programme will bring about transformation of the 

Mill Gate shopping centre and associated estate.  It is a joint venture 
with Bruntwood Group and will provide improvements to public realm, 

housing and retail alongside other commercial and leisure uses. 

 

2.19 At present, material allocations have not been made in the Council’s 

capital programme to fund these programmes.  This is because the 
programmes are currently in the very early stages of development and 
the Joint Venture partners are considering a number of specific funding 

strategies for the development, alongside development design and 
phasing arrangements.  Each programme team is engaging widely with 
a variety of stakeholders to set the strategy for each programme of 
work and will return to decision makers later in the year with emerging 
plans and development appraisals.   

 

 
3 CAPITAL SPEND PROPOSALS 

 
3.1  The Council’s 2023/24 to 2025/26 capital programme is set out at 

Appendix 1.  The proposed programme takes account of the latest 
monitoring position on the 2022/23 capital programme including any 
identified rephasing that has been agreed for carry  forward into 
the 2023/24 financial year. Several new schemes reflecting the 

priorities are proposed and are included in the draft programme.  
 
    3.2     The proposed Capital Programme is focused on some main themes 

that align to the Councils objectives and outcomes including: 
 

 

 Regeneration of key areas within the borough 

 Strategic Investment to support economic growth 

 Sport and Leisure 

 Operational Fleet 

 Housing 

 Highways 

 Children and Young People, including schools 

 Carbon Neutrality 

 Estate Management 
 
The capital budget for 2022/23 is £81.148m, with a forecast outturn   at 

quarter 3 of £75.037m, therefore, it is anticipated there will be further 
rephasing requested once the outturn is known. The following schemes 
have already had some of their 2022/23 budget rephased into 2023/24: 

 
 
4 LEVELLING UP FUND SCHEMES  
 

The Council was successful in two levelling up bids for Radcliffe (£20m) and Bury 
(£20m). These schemes are both supported by an element of match funding from 

both capital receipts and borrowing. The total investment being £65.8m included 
in this capital plan which may be subject to change as detailed plans are 

developed. 
 
4.1 The Levelling Up Fund (LUF) was announced as part of the 2020 spending 

review, it focuses capital investment on local infrastructure by regenerating 
town centres, investment in cultural facilities and upgrading local transport 

Page 130



 

infrastructure. It will have a visible impact on people and places and support 
economic recovery. 

 
4.2 The Bury project comprises a number of inter-related and coordinated 

elements that will collectively regenerate Bury town centre and support the 
prosperity of Bury Market. The works consist of three main elements consisting 
of market improvement works, new Flexi-Hall and public realm improvements. 

 

4.3 The Radcliffe project comprises several inter-related and coordinated elements 
that will collectively regenerate Radcliffe town centre acting as a catalyst for 
further redevelopment and investment in support of strategic growth 

aspirations for the town.  The project includes the development of a new build 
wellness and civic hub, refurbishment of the market basement and market 

chambers building and improved public realm.  Within the funding contribution 
from the Council £5m of capital receipts was assumed from the disposals of 
Whittaker Street, Green Street and School Street.  Current estimates for these 

three schemes are that they will now realise £3.094m, a shortfall of £1.906m. 
 
Regeneration. As part of the 2022/23 capital budget a significant amount of regeneration 

works were approved covering all major sites and areas across the Council. In addition, 
the Council has committed to the Radcliffe Strategic Regeneration Framework (SRF) 

which requires significant funding over a 3- year period.  Other key areas of regeneration 
across the Borough include Prestwich Town Centre and Bury Town Centre. 

 
Replacement of the vehicle fleet. This is the continuation of the programme that was 

agreed as part of the 2020/21 capital programme. A vehicle replacement strategy was 

approved by Cabinet in July 2020 and the procurement of the vehicles is anticipated to 
take place over a 3-year period although delays related to the Covid 19 pandemic has 

slowed the pace of this scheme. 
 

Highways. Continued investment in highways services and phasing of the works that have 

previously been approved. A Highways Strategy was approved by Cabinet in September 
2020 and showed that the funds available would be spent over 3 financial years. The 

draft capital programme reflects the latest position on the agreed Highways Strategy. 
 
Cycle Ways. The Council has been provided with grant funded income from the Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority to support greater use of cycle ways and to promote 
greater use. The funds are to be phased over several financial years to reflect the 

spending profile. 
 
Education and Schools. Anticipated grant income for schools related expenditure has 

been assumed for the funding that is known. £15m of the funding received in 2022/23 is to 
be rephased into 2023/24. Further potential Education Capital allocations are still awaited and 

will be reflected in the strategy as and when the information becomes available. 
 
Sports and Leisure. Investment in external sites, including parks, as well as leisure 

facilities is assumed within the capital programme to promote healthier lifestyles and 
wellbeing. Some of the schemes are grant funded. A parks strategy (Phase 1) was 

approved by Cabinet in December 2020 which continues into 2023/24. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 131



 

5.   NEW SCHEMES 

 
5.1    The capital budget for 2023/24 includes: £20.154m of new schemes 

 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA). The continuation of annual investment in 

properties o f  c i r c a  £14m is assumed to maintain the housing stock and 

meet statutory compliance requirements. This f o l l o w s  the existing 
programme of works and is funded from the HRA, the Major Repairs Reserve 

and carbon reduction grants where applicable and grant is secured. 

 

Operations. £0.65m of new projects have been included for schemes related to 

health and safety, maintenance and other urgent works to ensure both the safety 
of Bury residents and protect income streams for the Council mainly relating to 

leisure centres.  

 

Street Lighting Energy Savings – Dimming. £1.4m over two years to upgrade 

older infrastructure with modern, energy saving options.  
 

Children and Young People. £2m in 2023/24 will enable the continuation of local 

SEND resourced provision to reduce the need to send pupils out of borough, at a 

significant cost to the Council.  The capital programme  includes a total  of £18m 
across three years for a new primary special school. A bid to the DfE for funding 

to support the new school has been submitted which if successful will negate or 
reduce the need for Council’s resources.  

 

Discussions are ongoing with the DfE in relation to the opening of the new 
secondary school in Radcliffe and the date of the first intake.  Delays have been 

experienced with the procurement of a developer which may necessitate a 
modular solution to allow for the first year 7 in take in September 2024.  If this was 

to be needed the Council is in discussion with the DfE with regards to making a 
financial contribution of 50% of the costs of the modular solution.  The total costs 
of which are estimated to be between £0.800m to £1.000m.  The Council would 

cap its contribution at £0.500m to avoid the risk of inflationary pressures.  This 
would likely be funded from capital receipts should there be capital receipts 

available in 2024/25 or unused from 2023/24.  However, using the criteria above 
there are no capital receipts in 2024/25 identified as being of high certainty or 
delivered which are of sufficient value and therefore, at this point this is identified 

as requiring capital borrowing.  This situation will be kept under constant review 

 

An Onside Youth Zone in Bury to be delivered over the next three years is 

proposed, subject to a further report to Cabinet in March 2023 with the view that 
external funding and grants will be secured to fund the capital contribution to the 
scheme. 

 

Business Growth and Infrastructure. £1.45m to facilitate the relocation of 

Pennine Care Foundation Trust staff and clinics from Humphrey House.  There is 
a separate report on the February Cabinet in relation to this.  This will be funded 
by £1.1m use of capital receipts in 2023/24 and a further £0.350m in 2024/25 or 

2025/26 when Pennine Care take floors three and four.  This will necessitate the 
carry-over of capital receipts generated in 2023/24 to facilitate. 

 

 

 

Page 132



 

 
5.2 Total budget in 2023/24 is planned at £127.072m, of which, £66.717m is 

funded externally or through the HRA or major repairs reserve and £3.875m 
is identified as funded through the use of capital receipts.  

 
The position is however likely to evolve as: 

 

 There may be further government funding allocations announced prior to the start 

of 2023/24.  As noted above we are still awaiting the outcome of a bid to DfE for 
funding of the new special school.  If this is supported this funding will replace the 
ask of the Council’s funding in the capital programme. 

 

 It is likely that new initiatives will be announced later in the financial 

year. The Council may identify other funding sources, including capital 

receipts, to finance additional capital expenditure. 

 
 Phasing of the expenditure as more detailed implementation plans evolve. 

 
5.3  The capital programme position will be kept under review and any new 

information in respect of funding allocations will be presented to Members 
in future reports. 

 
 

6 Funding the Capital Programme 

 

Financing the Capital Programme 2023/24 

 £m 

Prudential Borrowing 54.973 

External Funding 51.165 

Capital Receipts 3.875 

General Fund Reserves 1.507 

Housing Revenue Account / Major Repairs Reserve 15.552 

Total 127.072 

 

The Council must ensure that appropriate funding arrangement are in place, and this is 

monitored as part of the Treasury Management arrangements. It is proposed that the new 

schemes be funded through a combination of external grants and allocations, capital 

receipts and borrowing.  The borrowing costs have been reflected in the Council’s 

Medium Term Financial Strategy. Funding assumptions beyond 2023/24 are reflective of 

proposed investment for future years and confirmed external funding. 

 

7 PRIORITISING, MANAGING, MONITORING, REPORTING AND 

EVALUATING THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

Prioritising Capital Resources 

 

 It has long been demonstrated that the demands for capital investment 

tend to exceed available resources. To alleviate this, a robust mechanism 
is in place to assess schemes against key criteria and strategic priorities, 

to assist in decision making around the prioritisation of capital resources. 
 

Page 133



 

 There is a cross departmental multi-disciplinary team in place which has 
formed a Capital Project team to review the existing capital gateway 

processes.  This will include a review of governance and the approval 
and monitoring of capital schemes.  This process will ensure wider 

ownership of the monitoring of the capital programme and will include 
progress updates on each scheme against forecast outcomes as well as 
risk monitoring. 

  

 The proposal, once the processes are embedded will ensure the scrutiny 

of capital schemes through the Capital Board and using the RAG rating 
scheme will focus on any flagged as red/high risk. This will allow oversite of 

any barriers to scheme delivery and allow them to be unblocked. 
 

 Preparation of the Capital Programme is undertaken in two stages. 

Firstly, scheme bids are submitted by each directorate and placed into 
the following categories: 

 

100% funded schemes. 

Discretionary schemes (Invest to Save and Strategic  

Investment).  

Discretionary schemes to support priorities and outcomes. 

 

 The second stage involves assessing the extent of any resources that 

are available to fund new, discretionary schemes and then assessing the 
extent to which schemes reflect the Councils strategic priorities, generate 

revenue savings/costs and lever in additional external resources. A 
review of the current capital programme is also essential at this time to 

understand resources previously approved that may no longer be 
required or can be transferred into future years.  

 

 The framework is for the prioritisation of capital investment for the Capital 

Programme. By using this prioritisation process on an annual basis to 
decide the Capital programme for the following year, it allows the review 
of the whole three-year rolling capital programme. This review of 

schemes allows the addition, withdrawal or deferral of capital investment 
ensuring available capital resources are focused on corporate priorities. 

 

 Reviewing the Capital Programme is an on-going process and in the past 

several years available resources have been reducing constantly due to 
new identified funding requirements and a slowdown in available suitable 

for disposal surplus assets. A full review of the capital programme has 
been carried out which has provided greater insight and transparency of 

the programme. This means that the Council can be more effective in its 
monitoring and scrutiny. 

 

 As part of the gateway process, resource requirements including 

specialist support will be assessed. Ensuring that sufficient resources are 
available across the organisation to support the delivery of the capital 

programme is key and the Capital Programme Team will explore and 

capture the delivery dependencies of each project so teams can plan 
resources accordingly.  

 
 

 

Page 134



 

8 MONITORING AND REPORTING ON THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 

 The Capital Programme will be monitored regularly throughout the year by 
the Capital Board and is reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis. This 

report presents detail of spend, potential re-profiling of the programme and 
any significant changes in funding assumptions, especially the level of asset 

disposals which are always critical for the delivery of the Capital 
Programme. An enhanced focus on funding of the capital programme is to 
be introduced in particular capital receipts and to ensure that all funding is 

received. 
 

9 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

There are some inherent risks in the Capital Strategy. These include: 

 

Capital receipts are not realised to the level anticipated. This is a 

major risk and is one that has impacted on past programmes. To 

manage this risk, it is strongly recommended that schemes reliant on 
capital receipts do not begin until there is a high degree of certainty 
that the relevant receipt will materialise. 

Future rise in Interest Rates. Planning for Prudential Borrowing can 
be affected by rises in interest rates making the borrowing option less 

attractive as a funding option and putting at risk longer term large 
capital schemes. 

Schemes need re-profiling from one year to the next. This is 
considered a normal feature of capital schemes and can occur for a 

number of reasons. The risk can be mitigated by slipping 
corresponding resources between years and is not felt to be high. It 

is expected that the new capital gateway processes will improve the 
profiling of expenditure and also the delivery of schemes in line with 
expectations. 

 Scheme costs increase. Whilst not unusual, increased costs    can 
occur due to a number of factors, and sometimes cannot be 

mitigated without an impact on other schemes within the Programme 
or an impact on future years’ resources.  The risk can be reduced by 

the use of sound costing techniques, effective project management 
and monitoring schemes using a risk assessment approach. 

Delivery of the programme and ensuring sufficient capacity is 

available is a risk. As part of the new gateway processes, resource 
requirements for delivery will be fully assessed and incorporated in 

the detailed plans. This will include ensuring appropriate specialist 
skills and requirements are identified and that arrangements are in 

place for these to be sourced. 

 Government grant funding is needed to deliver the whole of 

the Council’s aspirations and if funding isn't secured the longer-term 
ambitions and delivery of the capital programme will be affected. The 

funding of the programme is continually assessed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 135



 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

The strategic imperatives of the LET’S Do It! Strategy, to deliver economic growth faster 
than the national average are facilitated by this capital programme which is supporting the 
economic regeneration of our Borough and the building and development of new schools 

and educational places.   
  

This capital budget provides the resources to maintain the Council’s strategic leadership 
of the LET’S Do It! Strategy, including the specific delivery priorities for 2023/24 and 
beyond which are described in the Corporate Plan.   
_________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 

 

Not applicable  

 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

 

The Council is working towards becoming a carbon neutral organisation by 2038.  All 

capital build projects are developed with carbon impacts fully taken into consideration. 

 

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

The Council s capital resources are not 

managed effectively. 
 

 
 
 

 
The Council s capital resources are not 

targeted to priorities and outcomes and 
the benefit of the investment across the 

Borough is not maximised. 
 

 
 

The capital programme and the 

gateway process ensures that all 
available resources are identified and 
that, where borrowing is required, the 

costs are reflected in the Council s 
revenue strategy. 

 
 The approach ensures that schemes 
can be developed and prioritised 

throughout the year and that 
appropriate monitoring arrangements 

are in place. 
 

 
 

 

Legal Implications 

This report forms the suite of reports with Members need to consider when setting the 
Council’s budget. Members need to give due regard to the setting of the capital budget 
when undertaking the budget setting process. 

The Council must set the budget in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and approval of a balanced budget each year is a 

statutory responsibility of the Council.   

The Council is required by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to make specific 

estimates of gross revenue expenditure and anticipated income leading to the calculation 

Page 136



 

of the Council tax requirement and it must be sufficient to meet the Council’s legal and 
financial commitments in order to ensure the proper discharge of its statutory duties and 

lead to a balanced budget. In setting the budget the Council has a duty to ensure that it 
continues to meet its 

statutory duties.  
 

Financial Implications: 

The financial implications are detailed within the report. 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix 1 – Capital budget 

 

Background papers: 

Please list any background documents to this report and include a hyperlink where 

possible. 

The Council Budget 2023/24 MTFS 

Quarter 3 Cabinet Monitoring Report 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this report.  

  

Term Meaning 

CIPFA Charter Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy 
 

JV 
 
 

Joint Venture 

DFE Department for Education 

HRA Housing Revenue Account  
 

SEND 
 

Special Educational Needs and 
Development  
 

 

Report Authors and Contact Details: 

Name: Sam Evans       Liz Cook 

Position: Executive Director of Finance   Director of Housing 
Department: Finance     
E-mail: sam.evans@bury.gov.uk   liz.cook@bury.gov.uk 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 137

mailto:sam.evans@bury.gov.uk
mailto:liz.cook@bury.gov.uk


 

 

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Regeneration and Economic Growth

Radcliffe Hub 19.019 8.361 0.000 27.380 8.517 0.000

Radcliffe Enterprise Centre Design 

Development
0.000 0.000 0.121 0.121 0.246 0.000

Radcliffe Hub - FF&E 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.125 0.000

Radcliffe Enterprise Centre 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 4.700 0.000

CRSTS: Radcliffe SOBC 0.000 0.000 1.380 1.380 0.000 0.000

Prestwich 3.276 5.086 0.000 8.362 11.092 0.000

Ramsbottom 0.272 0.000 0.000 0.272 0.000 0.000

Bury Flexi Hall 21.499 4.012 0.000 25.511 12.072 0.000

Commercial Sites Regeneration 0.000 0.500 0.000 0.500 0.500 0.000

Sub Total 44.066 17.959 1.501 63.526 38.252 0.000

Place Shaping/Growth 2.011 0.030 0.050 2.091 0.380 0.000

Sports and Leisure 2.812 1.450 0.330 4.592 0.700 0.300

Operational Fleet 1.469 2.000 0.000 3.469 0.000 0.000

ICT and Digital 0.798 0.060 0.000 0.858 0.000 0.000

Highways

Cycle and Walking Routes 2.011 0.000 0.000 2.011 0.000 0.000

Highways 1.338 3.453 0.000 4.791 3.453 2.884

Street Lighting 2.000 -1.000 0.730 1.730 1.730 0.000

Traffic Calming and Improvement 0.538 0.000 0.000 0.538 0.000 0.000

City Region Sustainable Transport Core 

Maintenance
0.000 2.546 0.000 2.546 2.546 2.546

City Region Sustainable Transport Strategic 

Maintenance
0.000 0.000 0.900 0.900 0.900 0.900

Road Safety 0.200 0.000 0.000 0.200 0.000 0.000

Sub Total 6.087 4.999 1.630 12.716 8.629 6.330

Children and Young People

Children and Young People All Schools 14.028 0.000 0.000 14.028 0.000 0.000

Children and Young People - New Special 

School
0.000 0.000 2.000 2.000 8.000 8.000

Children and Young People - Star Academy 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.500 0.000

Sub Total 14.028 0.000 2.000 16.028 8.500 8.000

Estate Management - Investment Estate 0.085 0.000 0.000 0.085 0.000 0.000

Estate Management - Corporate Landlord

Fernhill Gypsy and Traveller Site 1.566 0.000 0.000 1.566 0.000 0.000

Springwater Park 0.750 1.100 0.000 1.850 0.032 0.000

Muslim Burial Extension 0.025 0.000 0.000 0.025 0.000 0.000

Welfare Facilities and Emergency Building 

Repairs
0.255 0.800 0.320 1.375 2.760 0.000

Sub Total 2.596 1.900 0.320 4.816 2.792 0.000

One Commissioning and Disabled Facilities 

Grant

Older People 0.223 0.000 0.000 0.223 0.000 0.000

Disabled Facilities Grant 0.487 0.000 0.000 0.487 0.000 0.000

Sub Total 0.710 0.000 0.000 0.710 0.000 0.000

Housing Public Sector 2.459 0.000 13.523 15.982 13.447 13.200

Disabled Facilities Adaptations 0.000 0.000 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800

Empty Property Strategy 0.368 0.000 0.000 0.368 0.000 0.000

Housing Development 0.811 0.000 0.000 0.811 0.000 0.000

Sub Total 3.638 0.000 14.323 17.961 14.247 14.000

Climate Change 0.220 0.000 0.000 0.220 0.000 0.000

TOTAL 78.520 28.398 20.154 127.072 73.500 28.630

Draft Capital Programme 

Slippage brought 

forward

Prior Year 

Commitments

New schemes 

2023/24
Total 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Page 138



  
 

Report to: 

 
Overview & Scrutiny – 9th February 2023  

 
Cabinet – 15th February 2023 

 

Subject: 
 

Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2023/24 
 

Report of Cabinet Member for Finance and Communities 

 
Summary 

 
The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government issued 

guidance with effect from the 1st April 2016 that allowed Local Authorities 
dispensation to use capital receipts to support revenue transformation projects and 
expenditure that would deliver long term and future savings. However, in order to do 

so the authority must approve in advance of the financial year a strategy stating that 
it intends to do so and what those capital receipts will be used for. 

 
Recommendation(s) 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to: 

 Note the report. 

 Consider whether they wish to make any 
recommendations to Cabinet on the content of this report. 

 

Cabinet is asked to approve and commend to Council  
 

 The Flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy 2023/24. 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s)  

 
The strategy needs to be approved in advance of the financial year and offers the 

Council greater flexibility over its use of resources. 
 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

 
The Council could choose not to adopt this strategy and continue to retain all capital 

receipts for future capital expenditure but this strategy offers greater flexibility of the 
Council’s resources to support transformation and deliver future revenue savings. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Classification:Open Decision Type: Key 

Page 139



1. Background 

 

The proposals within this Flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy have been 
prepared based on a capitalisation direction issued by the Secretary of State under 

Sections 16(2)(b) and 20 of the Local Government Act 2003: Treatment of Costs as 
Capital Expenditure. 
 

2. The Direction 

 

2.1 The Direction issued by the Secretary of State under Sections 16(2)(b) of the 
Local Government Act in relation to the flexible use of capital receipts specifies 
that Local Authorities can treat revenue expenditure as capital which: 

 
“is incurred by the Authority that is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings 

in the delivery of public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs 
and/or transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for 
services in future years for any of the public sector delivery partners”. 

 
“is properly incurred by the Authority for the financial years that begin on 1 April 

2016 to 1 April 2021.” This has since been extended for a further 3 years and is 
now available for financial years that begin 1st April 2022, 2023 and 2024”. 

 

2.2 It is a condition of the Secretary of State’s direction that the flexible use of capital 
receipts in accordance with the direction only applies to capital receipts which 

have been received in the years to which the direction applies. 
2.3 When applying the direction, Authorities are required to have regard to Guidance 

on Flexible Use of Capital Receipts issued by the Secretary of state under 

Section 15(1)(a) of the Act. 
2.4 In using the flexibility, the Council will have due regard to the requirements of the 

Prudential Code and to the CIPFA Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice. 
2.5 The Council is also required to prepare a Flexible use of Capital Receipts 

Strategy before the start of the year to be approved by the Council – this is that 

Strategy 
 
3 The Council’s Proposals 

 
The Guidance sets out examples of qualifying expenditure which includes “funding 

the cost of service reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation (staff or non-staff), 
where this leads to ongoing efficiency savings or service transformation” and it is for 

this purpose that the Council is proposing to use Capital Receipts in 20232/24.  In 
line with this Strategy and the Council’s overall Financial Strategies, the following 
areas are proposals for the use of this directive but it should be noted that each will 

be considered at the time at which they arise in terms of the best use of the capital 
receipt in terms of offering greatest return. 

 

 Subject to the approval of another report on this agenda to fund a 
contribution to the costs of the refurbishment of 3 Knowsley Place to 

accommodate the move of Pennine Care Foundation Trust. This will 
facilitate the Council disposing of Humphrey House which requires 

significant capital investment and does not meet energy efficiency 

Page 140



standards, thereby incurring significant energy costs. This will also 
release a prime brownfield site in the Town Centre.  The scheme was 

originally proposed for within the 2022/23 financial year. 
 

 There are also a number of opportunities within the property and 
estates portfolio for significant savings in future years.  Work is ongoing 
to determine the resource requirements to realise these savings which 

may require ICT enabled transformation focusing on process 
automation, operational efficiency and improved data quality. 

 

 Work is also ongoing to rationalise the Council’s administrative estate 

but it is recognised that in order to do this additional capacity and 
resource may be required to support with professional fees, survey 
costs and costs associated with the relocation of staff, which may also 

include a small team of staff to support this work. 
 

 As part of the Council’s wider savings proposals to close the 2023/24 
financial gap a number of service reviews and restructures will be 
undertaken.  It is recognised that costs associated with such reviews 

are permissible under this direction and may be considered at the time.  
 

It is recognised that some of the Council’s capital receipts have already been 
earmarked as match funding for the levelling up fund schemes but this does not 
apply to all of those which will be achieved through the accelerated land disposal 

programme. Therefore, this strategy only applies to those receipts that have not 
been earmarked as funding for any other proposed capital expenditure and therefore 

there is no anticipated additional impact on the Council’s prudential indicators as set 
out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. The use of capital receipts as 
match funding for the levelling up schemes is included within the Council’s capital 

programme report which is also on this agenda. 
 
4 2023/2024 Revenue Budget 

 
To support the significant and continued reconfiguration of the Council’s Services to 

deliver the improvement and efficiencies set out in the Council’s budget for 2023/24, 
it proposed that some of the associated one-off costs are funded from capital 

receipts. The legitimacy of this use will be determined by the Executive Director of 
Finance who is the Council’s S151 Officer in order to ensure that they meet the 
requirements set out by the Secretary of State. 

 
It should be noted that the Council is not relying upon the flexible use of capital 

receipts in order to balance its revenue budget in 2023/24 and will assess at the time 
of the receipt whether the receipt offers better value for money to support 
transformation or in order to support the capital programme and thereby reduce 

borrowing. This will be dependent upon both the Councils revenue position at the 
time and the cost of borrowing. 
 
5 The Prudential Code 

 

The Council has due regard to the requirements of the Prudential Code and the 

Page 141



impact on its prudential indicators from the application of this Flexible Use of Capital 
Receipts Strategy. The latest Treasury management report for the Council identifies 

that Bury is currently under borrowed and the use of these capital receipts in this 
way will not negatively impact this position. 

 
The Council will also have due regard to the Local Authority Accounting Code of 
Practice when determining and including the entries required from undertaking and 

funding this scheme within the 2023/24 Statement of Accounts. 
 

6 Monitoring the Strategy 

 
Implementation of this Strategy will be monitored as part of regular financial reporting 

arrangements and any schemes funded from the flexible use of capital receipts will 
be included within the quarterly financial monitoring updates to Cabinet. 
  
 
Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

 
The “Enterprise” principle of the Let’s do it! Strategy commits to driving 

innovation and transformation as an enabler of change. The flexible use 
of capital receipts will allow for resources to be accessed to enable 
transformation and change within the Council’s existing resource 

envelope 
 

 
          
Equality Impact and Considerations: 

There are no equality implications associated with the principle of flexible 
use of receipts. As such an equality assessment (EA) has not been 

completed at this stage. An EA will, however, be undertaken for every 
proposal to use these funds to ensure that there is no disadvantage to 
any group and the Council takes every opportunity to further equality of 

opportunity 
 

 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

 
There are no direct environmental impacts from the implementation of this strategy 
but the individual disposals which generate the capital receipts or the projects which 

utilise those capital receipts may have an environmental impact 
 

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

No risks have been identified 
 

_________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Page 142



Legal Implications: 

Capital receipts can only be used for specific purposes, and these are set 

out in Regulation 23 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 made under Section 11 of the 

Local Government Act 2003. The main permitted purpose is to fund 
capital expenditure and the use of capital receipts to support revenue 
expenditure is not permitted by the regulations. 

The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government issued 
guidance in March 2016 under section 15 (1) (a) of the 2003 Act, giving 

local authorities greater freedoms as to how capital receipts can be used 
to finance expenditure. This allows for the following expenditure to be 
treated as capital, “expenditure on any project that is designed to generate 

ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of public services and/or 
transform service delivery to reduce costs and/or transform service 

delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for services in future years 
for any of the public sector delivery partners.” 
 

The guidance requires authorities to prepare, publish and maintain a 
Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy with the initial strategy being 

effective from 1st April 2016 with future Strategies included within future 
Annual Budget documents. 
 

There is no prescribed format for the Strategy, the underlying principle is 
to support local authorities to deliver more efficient and sustainable 

services by extending the use of capital receipts to support the revenue 
costs of reform projects. It should include a list of each project which 
plans to make use of the capital receipts flexibility, together with the 

expected savings that the project will realise. The Strategy should also 
include the impact of this flexibility on the affordability of borrowing by 

including updated Prudential Indicators. 
 

 

 
Financial Implications: 

The financial implications are included within the body of this report. This 
flexibility will allow for the use of capital receipts from the accelerated land 

disposal programme to be used to support transformation expenditure if 
required but each decision will be judged at the time as to which route 
offers best value for money. 

 

Appendices: 

There are no appended documents 
 

Background papers: 

 
Please list any background documents to this report and include a hyperlink where 
possible. 

Government guidance on flexible use of capital receipts: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/final-guidance-on-flexible-use-of-capital-

receipts/guidance-on-the-flexible-use-of-capital-receipts-updated  

Page 143

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/final-guidance-on-flexible-use-of-capital-receipts/guidance-on-the-flexible-use-of-capital-receipts-updated
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/final-guidance-on-flexible-use-of-capital-receipts/guidance-on-the-flexible-use-of-capital-receipts-updated


 
Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this 

report.  

  

Term Meaning 

ICT Information Communication Technology 
 

 
Report Author and Contact Details: 

Name: Sam Evans 
Position: Executive Director of Finance 

Department: Finance 
E-mail: sam.evans@bury.gov.uk 
 

________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 144

mailto:sam.evans@bury.gov.uk


   

 

   

 

 

 

 

Meeting: Overview & Scrutiny – 9th February 2023 

Cabinet – 15th February 2023 

Title of report: Treasury Strategy 2023-24 

Report by: Cabinet Member for Finance and Communities 

Decision Type: Non-Key Decision 

Ward(s) to which 

report relates 
All 

 

1. Executive Summary: 

1.1 This report presents the Council’s 2023-24 Treasury Management Strategy. The Treasury 
Management Strategy is a plan to manage cash, borrowing and investments. This plan is 

set in the context of the Council’s Capital Programme, General Fund Medium Term 
Financial Strategy, Collection Fund and Balance Sheet. 

1.2 The Capital Programme is the most important determinant of the Council’s cash 

requirements. Under statute, the Council can only borrow long-term to fund its Capital 
Programme. 

1.3 As the most important determinant of the cash demand, the Capital Programme also 

impacts most on the quantitative ratios, measuring projections of future treasury 

management activity. These quantitative ratios are called Treasury and Prudential 

Indicators. They are set out in the report and are standardised measures used across all 

Local Authorities.  

1.4 The Treasury and Prudential Indicators shown in this report summarise key parts of the 

Council’s Treasury Strategy and should be considered alongside the analysis of risks and 

other commentary. 

1.5 The Treasury Management Strategy is the first of three reports in each financial year to 

manage risks associated with the Treasury Management function. In addition to the 

Strategy, there will be a mid-year progress report, with the final report showing the Outturn 

position.  

1.6 The reports form part of the statutory regulation of Treasury Management activity, to assist 

in the management of financial risks. It is the role of Cabinet to scrutinise these reports and 

the identified risks, prior to recommending them to Full Council.   

Classification 
 
Open  

Item No. 

 

Page 145



   

 

   

 

 

2. Recommendation(s) 

Cabinet is asked to approve the 2023-24 Treasury Management Strategy and recommend 

its approval by Council.  

 

3. Key considerations 

Overview 

3.1 The Council’s 2023-24 Treasury Management Strategy covers: 

 Treasury Management definition 

 Treasury Management Regulation 

 The Capital Prudential Indicators 

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 

 Borrowing 

 Treasury Indicators 

 Prospects for Interest Rates 

 Annual Investment Strategy 

 

4. Definition 

4.1 The Local Government accounting organisation (CIPFA) defines treasury management as: 

4.2 “The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, including 

its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 

associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 

those risks.” 

4.3 Optimum performance is within the context of the priorities set out by CIPFA. These 

priorities, starting with the most important are security, liquidity and yield. It is absolutely 

not the role of Local Government Treasury functions to maximise yield regardless of the 

risk of capital loss.  

4.4 Commercial initiatives and loans to third parties are classed as non-treasury activities. 

However, they will impact on the Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators shown 

in this report. 

  

Page 146



   

 

   

 

 

5. Treasury Management Regulation 

5.1 Due to the financial risks, the Treasury Management function in Local Government is highly 

regulated. This includes: 

 The Treasury Management Code 

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 

 Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 

 The CIPFA Financial Management Code of Practice. 

 

6. The Capital Prudential Indicators 2023/24 – 2025/26 

6.1 The Capital Prudential Indicators are standardised ratios measuring the Capital 

Programme, which drive treasury management activity. 

6.2 The Capital Prudential Indicators are detailed below: 

Prudential Indicator 1 (A): Capital Expenditure 

6.3 Table 1 is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans.  There is a separate report 

on this agenda detailing the future years capital programme and budget for approval. 

 

Capital expenditure 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

£m Actual Forecast Spend Estimate Estimate Estimate 

      

Non-HRA 32.120 60.334 110.290 59.253 14.630 

HRA 13.616 14.703 16.782 14.247 14.000 

Total 45.736 75.037 127.072 73.500 28.630 

Source: Capital Strategy and Housing Revenue Account 

 Prudential Indicator 1 (B): Capital Financing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 147



   

 

   

 

6.4 Table 2 summarises how the capital expenditure plans are being financed by capital and 

revenue resources: 

Financing of capital expenditure 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

£m Actual Forecast Spend Estimate Estimate Estimate 

Net financing need for the year 
(Prudential Borrowing) 

17.141 36.148 54.973 55.330 11.057 

External Funding 15.258 23.641 51.165 3.446 3.446 

Capital Receipts 0.613 0.108 3.875 0.477 0.127 

General Fund Reserves 0.306 1.429 1.507 0.000 0.000 

Housing Revenue Account/Housing 
Revenue Account Reserve 

12.418 13.711 15.552 14.247 14.000 

Total 45.736 75.037 127.072 73.500 28.630 

Source: Capital Strategy 2023-24 & Quarter 3 Cabinet monitoring report 

  

 Prudential Indicator 2: The Capital Financing Requirement 

6.5 The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The 

CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid 

for from either revenue or capital resources. It is a measure of the Council’s indebtedness 

for a capital purpose. Any capital expenditure which is not financed in year, generates a 

net financing need for the year. The Council repays a proportion of the General Fund CFR 

each year out of the revenue budget. This repayment is called the Minimum Revenue 

Provision (MRP). 

6.6 The Housing Capital Financing Requirement is projected to remain the same from 2021-

22 to 2025-26. This is because the Council does not finance any of its housing spend from 

borrowing. Also, the balance on the Housing CFR, unlike the General Fund CFR does not 

have to repaid. 

6.7 The CFR and MRP projections are based on the Council’s Capital Programme. This 

programme prudently shows the availability of grant funding only when fully confirmed. In 

practice the CFR and MRP are likely to be lower due to additional grant funding. However, 

if required, the Council would use previous MRP overpayments to reduce the 2023-24 MRP 

cost* by £1m (See 7, Minimum Revenue Provision Statement Explanation). 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 148



   

 

   

 

6.8 The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections shown in the tables below: 

£m 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

Capital Financing Requirement 

Non-HRA 174.242 207.423 258.232 308.050 311.506 

Housing 118.784 118.784 118.784 118.784 118.784 

Total CFR 293.026 326.207 377.016 426.835 430.290 

Movement in CFR 14.539 33.181 50.809 49.819 3.455 

        

Movement in CFR represented by 

Net financing need for the year 
(above) 

17.141 36.148 54.974 55.330 11.057 

Less MRP/VRP and other 
financing movements 

-2.602 -2.967 -4.165 -5.511 -7.602 

Movement in CFR 14.539 33.181 50.809 49.819 3.455 

 (*£4.165 less £1m is £3.165m) 

 Prudential Indicator 2b: External Borrowing 

 

6.9 The indicator below illustrates that the external borrowing requirement driven by the Capital 

Programme is equal to the net financing need shown in the above tables.  

External borrowing £m 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

Treasury Management (Capital Financing 
Need) 

17.141 36.148 54.974 55.330 11.057 

 Prudential Indicator 3: Liability Benchmark 

 

6.10 A new Prudential indicator included in the 2023-24 Treasury Strategy is the Liability 

Benchmark (LB). The components to this indicator are: 

 Existing loan debt outstanding – loans already taken out. 

 Loans CFR – projection of the Capital Financing Requirement. 

 Net loans requirement – loan requirements due to short-term, non-capital cash 

requirements plus existing loans and loans for capital borrowing (Loans CFR) 

 Liability benchmark – the net loan requirement plus a cushion for short-term and 

unexpected liquidity requirements. 

 

 

 

Page 149



   

 

   

 

6.11  The liability benchmark indicator measures the overall cash demand pressures to increase 

borrowing. The indicator will increase between 2021/22 and 2025/26.  

External borrowing £m 2021/22 2022/23 023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

Existing loan debt outstanding 220.826 226.634 207.826 202.826 200.526 

Projection Capital Financing 
Requirement. 

14.539 33.181 50.809 49.819 3.455 

Net loans requirement 5.808 33.181 120.259 185.919 193.675 

Liability benchmark  25.808 53.181 140.259 205.919 213.675 

 Prudential Indicator 4: Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances 

 Prudential Indicator 4 shows the Council’s core funds as cash reserves alongside its 

working capital position. The working capital position reduces the Council’s core funds: 

the Council has significant long-term debtors, but has cash owing, these balances reduce 

cash in the bank account.  

The working capital position reduces the Council’s core funds, which are further reduced 

to allow for a liquidity buffer. However, overall, the Council’s core funds will still reduce 

external borrowing and interest costs.   

Year End Resources 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

£m Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

Fund balances / reserves 141.966 124.504 113.663 111.663 109.663 

Capital receipts 6.967 6.859 2.984 2.984 2.984 

Provisions 8.500 8.500 8.500 8.500 8.500 

Other -57.660* -57.660 -57.660 -57.660 -57.660 

Total core funds 99.773 82.203 67.487 65.487 63.487 

Liability Adjustment 20.000 20.000 20.000 20.000 20.000 

(Under)/over borrowing -74.773 -57.203 -42.487 -40.487 -38.487 

Expected investments 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 

 (*Includes adjustment for working capital) 

 

7. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement Explanation 

7.1 Under Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 

Regulations 2003, where the Authority has financed capital expenditure by borrowing it is 

required to make a provision each year through a revenue charge (MRP). 

7.2 The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP Statement for the year 

2023/24. This statement is the same as in the current 2022/23 financial year.  

 MRP for supported financing will be calculated using 2.39% over 50 years under the 

annuity method of calculating MRP. 

 The Asset Life method of calculating repayment provision will be used for prudential 

borrowing. 

Page 150



   

 

   

 

 The Executive Director of Finance may from time to time and when it is beneficial to 

the efficient financial administration of the Council, vary the amounts charged as 

MRP in the year by making additional and voluntary payments of MRP. In these 

circumstances, the amount paid would not prejudice the existing strategy or be 

counter to the regulatory intent of that strategy. 

 These options provide for a reduction in the borrowing need over the asset’s life. 

 There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but there 

is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made.  

 MRP Overpayments – A change introduced by the revised MHCLG MRP Guidance 

was the allowance that any charges made over the statutory minimum revenue 

provision (MRP), voluntary revenue provision (VRP) or overpayments, can, if 

needed, be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent. In order for 

these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must disclose the 

cumulative overpayment made each year. The cumulative value of the over 

payments to date is £2.789m. 

  

Page 151



   

 

   

 

8. Borrowing 

8.1 The Council’s Capital Programme sets out the future investment, which will provide long-

term benefit to residents. The overall treasury management portfolio as of 31 March 2022 

and the current January 2023 position are shown below for both borrowing and 

investments: 

TREASURY PORTFOLIO 

   £m £m   

   31.3.22 20.01.23   

Treasury investments      

Local authorities 
 

14.000 0.000   

Banks 
 

0.000 4.810   

DMADF (H.M Treasury) 
 

0.000 0.000   

Money Market Funds 
 

0.000 0.000   

Certificates of Deposit   0.000 0.000   

TOTAL MANAGED EXTERNALLY   14.000 4.810   

Bond Funds 
 

 
 

  

Property Funds         

Total managed externally 0.000 0.000   

Total treasury investments       

Treasury external borrowing 
  

  

Local Authorities 
 

17.300 26.300   

PWLB 
 

153.695 150.503   

Market Loans  16.828 16.828   

LOBOs 
 

33.003 33.003   

Total external borrowing   220.826 226.634   

Net treasury investments / (borrowing) 6.34% 2.12%   

          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 152



   

 

   

 

8.2  The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The table 

shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing need, (the 

Capital Financing Requirement – CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing. Please 

see the forward borrowing projections in the table below: 

 

 

9. Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity 

9.1 The Operational Boundary is a treasury indicator. This is the limit beyond which external 

debt is not normally expected to exceed. It is set at the same level as the Council’s 

projected external borrowing. It is less than the CFR, as the Council uses its core funds 

and earmarked reserves to reduce borrowing levels and associated costs. 

 

Operational boundary 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m 

Borrowing 269.004 334.529 386.348 391.804 

Other long term liabilities 0.010 0.010 0.010 0.010 

Total 269.014 
 

334.539 
386.358 391.814 

 

9.2 The Authorised Limit for external debt is a treasury indicator. This is a key treasury indicator 

and represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a legal limit 

beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the 

Full Council. It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded 

in the short-term, but is not sustainable in the longer-term. 

9.3 The Authorised Limit is set at a level of £10m above the Operational Boundary. 

 

£m 
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  Actual     £m Estimate   £m Estimate   £m Estimate   £m Estimate   £m 

External Debt      

Debt at 1 April 206.016 220.826 254.008 304.816 354.635 

Debt Repayments -5.000 -13.000 -5.000 -2.300 0.000 

Replacement Loans 

19.810 

13.000 5.000 2.300 0.000 

Unsupported borrowing 

(Prudential) 
33.181 50.809 49.819 3.455 

Debt at 31 March 220.826 254.008 304.816 354.635 358.090 

Net change 14.810 33.181 50.809 49.819 3.455 

Page 153



   

 

   

 

9.4 The Authority is asked to approve the following Authorised Limits. 

 

Authorised limit 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m 

Borrowing 279.004 344.529 396.348 401.804 

Other long term liabilities 0.010 0.010 0.010 0.010 

Total 279.014 344.539 396.358 401.814 

     

 

10. Prospects for Interest Rates (Link Group Treasury Advisors) 

10.1 The Authority has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of their service is 

to assist the Authority to formulate a view on interest rates. Link provided the following 

forecasts on 19.12.22.  These are forecasts for certainty rates, gilt yields plus 80 bps. 

 

 

10.2 Central forecast for interest rates were updated on 19 December and reflected a view that 

the Monetary Policy Committee would be keen to further demonstrate its anti-inflation 
credentials by delivering a succession of rate increases.  Bank Rate stands at 3.5% 

currently but is expected to reach a peak of 4.5% in the first half of 2023. 

10.3 The CPI measure of inflation appears to have peaked at 11.1% in Q4 2022 (currently 
10.7%).  Despite the cost-of-living squeeze that is still taking shape, the Bank will want to 

see evidence that wages are not spiralling upwards in what is evidently a very tight labour 
market. 

10.4 Regarding the plan to sell £10bn of gilts back into the market each quarter (Quantitative 
Tightening), this has started and will focus on the short, medium and longer end of the 
curve in equal measure. 

10.5 In the upcoming months, forecasts will be guided not only by economic data releases and 
clarifications from the MPC over its monetary policies and the Government over its fiscal 

policies, but the on-going conflict between Russia and Ukraine.  (More recently, the 
heightened tensions between China/Taiwan/US also have the potential to have a wider 
and negative economic impact. 

10.6 On the positive side, consumers are still estimated to be sitting on over £160bn of excess  
savings following the pandemic which should cushion some of the impact of the above 

Page 154



   

 

   

 

challenges.   However, most of those are held by more affluent people whereas lower 
income families already spend nearly all their income on essentials such as food, energy 

and rent/mortgage payments.  

 

11. PWLB RATES 

 The yield curve movements have become less volatile of late and PWLB 5 to 50 
years Certainty Rates are, generally, in the range of 4.10% to 4.80%.   

11.1 The balance of risks to the UK economy: - 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is to the downside. 
11.2 Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include: - 

 Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive and depress 

economic activity (accepting that in the near-term this is also an upside risk to inflation 
and, thus, rising gilt yields). 

 The Bank of England acts too quickly, or too far, over the next year to raise Bank Rate 

and causes UK economic growth and increases in inflation.  
 UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on trade flows and financial 

services due to complications or lack of co-operation in addressing significant remaining 
issues.  

 Geopolitical risks, for example in Ukraine/Russia, China/Taiwan/US, Iran, North Korea 

and Middle Eastern countries, which could lead to increasing safe-haven flows.  
 Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates: - 

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate 

and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly and for a longer 

period within the UK economy, which then necessitates Bank Rate staying higher for 
longer than currently projected or even necessitates a further series of increases in Bank 

Rate. 
 The Government acts too quickly to cut taxes and/or increases expenditure in light of 

the cost-of-living squeeze. 

 The pound weakens because of a lack of confidence in the UK Government’s fiscal 

policies, resulting in investors pricing in a risk premium for holding UK sovereign debt. 

 Longer term US treasury yields rise strongly and pull gilt yields up higher than currently 

forecast. 

 Projected gilt issuance, inclusive of natural maturities and Quantitative tightening, 

could be too much for the markets to comfortably digest without higher yields 
consequently. (Quantitative tightening is when the Bank England sells the Government 

Bonds it owns back into the market. This increases bond sellers relative to the number 
of buyers in the market, forcing increased yields on Government Bonds to increase their 

attractiveness to buyers. The overall effect of the increase in yields and the mechanism 
by which the Bank of England sells Government bonds is to reduce the money supply). 
  

11.3 Borrowing advice: The long-term (beyond 10 years) forecast for Bank Rate stands at 

2.5%. As all PWLB certainty rates are currently above this level, borrowing strategies will 

need to be reviewed in that context.  Better value can generally be obtained at the shorter 
end of the curve and short-dated fixed LA to LA monies should be considered. Temporary 
borrowing rates are likely, however, to remain near Bank Rate and may also prove 

Page 155



   

 

   

 

attractive whilst the market waits for inflation, and therein gilt yields, to drop back later in 
2023.  

11.4 Suggested budgeted earnings rates for investments up to three months’ duration in each 
financial year are rounded to the nearest 10bps as follows: - 

Average earnings in each year  

2022/23 (remainder) 4.00% 

2023/24 4.40% 

2024/25 3.30% 

2025/26 2.60% 

2026/27 2.50% 

Years 6 to 10 2.80% 

Years 10+ 2.80% 

 

11.5 As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in respect of all 

interest rate forecasts.   

11.6 interest rate forecast for Bank Rate is in steps of 25 bps, whereas PWLB forecasts have 
been rounded to the nearest 10 bps and are central forecasts within bands of + / - 25 bps. 

Continuous monitoring takes place and forecasts are updated as and when appropriate. 

 

12. Borrowing Strategy 

12.1 The Authority is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that the 
capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded 

with loan debt as cash supporting the Authority’s reserves, balances and cash flow has 
been used as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent as medium and longer dated 

borrowing rates are expected to fall from their current levels once prevailing inflation 
concerns are addressed by tighter near-term monetary policy.  That is, Bank Rate 
increases over the remainder of 2022 and the first half of 2023. 

12.2 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted 
with the 2023/24 treasury operations. The Director of Finance will monitor interest rates in 

financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances: 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing rates, then 
borrowing will be postponed. 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in borrowing rates 
than that currently forecast, fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower 

than they are projected to be in the next few years. 

12.3 Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision-making body at the next available 

opportunity. 

12.4 Currently interest rates are forecast by Link Group to peak at around 4.4% in the financial year 
and fall gradually to 2.5% in 2026-27. An interest rate of 2.5% is the likely rate when the Bank 

of England achieves its mandating of 2% inflation.  

Page 156



   

 

   

 

12.5 The above interest rate forecast suggests a borrowing strategy in which new borrowing is 
restricted to short maturity periods. This would enable the Council to refinance borrowing 

at lower interest rates, if interest rates peak during the next financial year, per the current 
Link Group Forecast. The borrowing strategy is kept under review by the Section 151 

Officer.  

 

13 Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need 

13.1 The Authority will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit 
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be 

within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates and will be considered 
carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated and that the Authority can 
ensure the security of such funds.  

 

14 Rescheduling  

14.1 The Council has no plans to reschedule its debt portfolio. The external debt projections 
assume that maturing debt will be refinanced. Specific decisions around this will be taken 
in accordance with the borrowing strategy set out above.  

 

15 Approved Sources of Long and Short-term Borrowing. 

15.1 approved Sources of Long- and Short-term Borrowing 

 

On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable  

  

PWLB   

Municipal bond agency    

Local authorities   

Banks   

Pension funds   

Insurance companies   

 

Market (long-term)   

Market (temporary)   

Market (LOBOs)   

Stock issues   

 

Local temporary   

Local Bonds  

Local authority bills   

Page 157



   

 

   

 

Overdraft   

Negotiable Bonds   

 

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)   

Commercial Paper  

Medium Term Notes   

Finance leases   

 

16 Annual Investment Strategy 

16.1 Investment policy – management of risk 

The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC – formerly MHCLG) 
and CIPFA have extended the meaning of “investments” to include both financial and non-

financial investments. This report deals solely with financial investments, (as managed by 
the treasury management team). Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of 

income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy, (a separate report).  

16.2 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following:- 

 DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)  

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”).   

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018. 

16.3 The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second and then 

yield (return). The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk 
appetite. In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to keep investments 

short term to cover cash flow needs. However, where appropriate (from an internal as well 
as external perspective), the Council will also consider the value available in periods up to 

12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, as well as wider range fund options. 

16.4 The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA place a high priority on the management 
of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk 

appetite by the following means:- 

 Minimum acceptable credit citeria are applied in order to generate a list of highly 

creditworthy counterparties. This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the Short Term 
and Long Term ratings. 

 Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an 

institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both 

a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in 
which institutions operate. The assessment will also take account of information that 

reflects the opinion of the markets. To achieve this consideration the Council will 
engage with it’s advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit 
default swaps” and overlay that information on top of the credit ratings. 

Page 158



   

 

   

 

 Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other 

such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most robust 

scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties. 

 This authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the 

treasury management team are authorised to use. There are two lists in appendix 2 
under the categories of “specified” and “non-specified” investments. 

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to a 

maturity limit of one year. 

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for periods 

in excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require greater 
consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use. 

 Lending limits, (amounts and maturity), for each counterparty will be set through 

applying the matrix table in paragraph 15.2. 

 This authority will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for  
longer than 365 days (see paragraph 15.2) 

 Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a specified 
minimum sovereign rating (see Appendix 3) 

 This authority has engaged external consultants (see paragraph 10.1), to provide 

expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield, 
given the risk appetite of this authority in the context of the expected level of cash 

balances and need for liquidity throughout the year. 

 All investments will be denominated in sterling. 

 As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2020/21 under IFRS 9, this 

authority will consider the implications of investment instruments which could result in 
an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested and resultant charges at the 

end of the year to the General Fund. (In November 2018, the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government, [MHCLG], concluded a consultation for a 

temporary override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of all 
pooled investments by announcing a statutory override to delay implementation of 
IFRS 9 for five years ending 31.3.23.) 

16.5 However, this authority will also pursue value for money in treasury management and will 

monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investments 

performance (see paragraph 15.1). Regular monitoring of investment performance will be 
carried out during the year.  

16.6 The above criteria are unchanged from 2022/23. 

 

17  Creditworthiness policy  

17.1 This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  This 
service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three 
main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings 

of counterparties are supplemented with the following overlays:  

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

Page 159



   

 

   

 

 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries. 

17.2 This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a 
weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which 

the end product is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative 
creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are used by the Council to 

determine the suggested duration for investments.   The Council will therefore use 
counterparties within the following durational bands:  

 

 Yellow   5 years 

 Dark Pink   5 years for Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score 

of 1.25 

 Light Pink   5 years for Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score 
of 1.5 

 Purple    2 years 

 Blue    1 year (nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks) 

 Orange   1 year 

 Red    6 months 

 Green    100 days  

 No colour  not to be used  

 

17.3 The Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information other 

than just primary ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring system, it does not 
give undue preponderance to just one agency’s ratings. 

17.4 Typically, the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short-Term rating 

(Fitch or equivalents) of   F1 and a Long-Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when 
the counterparty ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but 

may still be used.  In these instances, consideration will be given to the whole range of 
ratings available, or other topical market information, to support their use. 

17.5 All credit ratings will be monitored weekly. The Council is alerted to changes to ratings of 

all three agencies through its use of the Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service.  

 if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting 

the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately. 

 in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 

movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other 
market data on a daily basis via its Passport website, provided exclusively to it by 

Link Asset Services. Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

Y Pi1 Pi2 P B O R G N/C

1 1.25 1.5 2 3 4 5 6 7

Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 2yrs Up to 1yr Up to 1yr Up to 6mths Up to 100days No Colour

Page 160



   

 

   

 

17.6 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this Council 
will also use market data and market information, information on any external support for 

banks to help support its decision making process.  

  Colour (and 

long-term 

rating where 

applicable) 

Time  

Limit 

Banks * yellow 5 yrs 

Banks  purple 2 yrs 

Banks  orange 1 yr 

Banks – part nationalised blue 1 yr 

Banks  red 6 mths 

Banks  green 100 days 

Banks  No colour Not to be used 

Limit 3 category – Council’s banker (where “No Colour”) 
 

 1 day 

DMADF UK sovereign 

rating  

6 months 

Local authorities n/a 5 yrs 

Housing associations Colour bands As per colour 

band 

  Fund rating Time  

Limit 

Money Market Funds CNAV AAA liquid 

Money Market Funds LVNAV AAA liquid 

Money Market Funds VNAV AAA liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25  Dark pink / 

AAA 

liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.50 Light pink / 

AAA 

liquid 

 

17.7 Significant levels of downgrades to Short – and long – Term credit ratings have not 

materialised since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where they did change, any 
alterations were limited to Outlooks. However, as economies are beginning to reopen, there 

have been some instances of previous lowering of Outlooks being reversed.  

17.8 Credit Default Swap (CDS) prices - Although bank CDS prices, (these are market 

indicators of credit risk), spiked upwards at the end of March / early April 2020 due to the 

heightened market uncertainty and ensuing liquidity crisis that affected financial markets, 
they have returned to more average levels since then. However, sentiment can easily shift, 

so it will remain important to undertake continual monitoring of all aspects of risk and return 
in the current circumstances. Link monitor CDS prices as part of their creditworthiness 

Page 161



   

 

   

 

service to local authorities and the Council has access to this information via its Link-
provided Passport portal. 

17.9 Other limits - The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties 

from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch Ratings (or 

equivalent from other agencies if Fitch does not provide). The list of counterparties will be 
added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in accordance with this 
policy. 

 

18 Investment Strategy 

18.1 In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash 

flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments 
up to 12 months). Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods. 

While most cash balances are required in order to manage the ups and downs of cash flow , 
where cash sums can be identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to 

be obtained from longer term investments will be carefully assessed.  

 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time horizon 
being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most investments as 

being short term or variable.  

 Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time period, 

consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for longer 
periods. 

18.2 Investment returns expectations.  The current forecast includes a forecast for Bank Rate 

to reach 4.5% in Q2 2023. 

18.3 As noted above the suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on 

investments placed for periods up to three months during each financial year, (based 
on a first increase in Bank rate in quarter 2 of 2022), are as follows:  

 

Year Average 

earnings in 

each year 

2022/23 4.00% 

2023/24 4.40% 

2024/25 3.30% 

2025/26 2.60% 

2026/27 2.50% 

Years 6 to 10 2.80% 

Years 10+ 2.80% 

 

Page 162



   

 

   

 

18.4 For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its business reserve 
instant access and notice accounts, money market funds and short – dated deposits, 

(overnight to 100 days), in order to benefit from the compounding of interest.  

 

9 Environmental, Social and Governance Strategy 

9.1 The Council is currently developing an Environmental, Social and Governance Strategy. 
However, the Council does not invest in equities directly.  

 

Community impact/links with Community Strategy 

The Treasury Management Strategy sets the cash management strategy for the authority, 
which underpins the Capital Programme and the Revenue Budget. 

 

Equality Impact and considerations: 

 

Equality Analysis Treasury Report does not impact on resource allocation. 

 

 

 

 

Assessment of Risk: 

The following risks apply to the decision: 

 

Risk / opportunity Mitigation 

The Council borrows or invests money at too high or 
too low an interest rate and doesn’t achieve best 

value 

Use of specialist advisors 

 

 Consultation: There are no requirements to consult on the content of this report 

 

Legal Implications: 

The Treasury Management Strategy, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy and Annual 

Investment Strategy set out the Council's policies for managing its investments which 

includes giving priority to security and liquidity. It is effectively the management of the 

Page 163



   

 

   

 

Council’s cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the 

effective control of the risks associated with those activities and the pursuit of optimum 

performance consistent with those risks. The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and 

supporting regulations require the Council to ‘have regard to’ the Chartered Institute of 

Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential Code and to set Prudential and 

Treasury Indicators to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, 

prudent and sustainable.  

The Council also has an obligation to comply with the Ministry for Housing, Communities 

and Local Government (MHCLG) Guidance under section 15(1)(a). The Act requires the 

Council to set out its Treasury Management Strategy at the start of each new financial year 

and to prepare an Annual Investment Strategy. This report sets out the Council’s policy for 

maintaining capital security whilst managing its investments and for giving priority to the 

security and liquidity of those investments. The borrowing strategy aims to minimise the 

revenue cost of debt whilst securing the Council from revenue pressures in the event of 

interest rate volatility.  

 

Financial Implications: 

All financial implications are covered within the report. 

 
 

Report Author and Contact Details: 

 Sam Evans, Executive Director of Finance   

 sam.evans@bury.gov.uk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 164

mailto:sam.evans@bury.gov.uk


   

 

   

 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this report. 

Term Meaning 

Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR) 

The Council’s cumulative borrowing balance for 
a capital purpose. 

Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) 

The repayment of the Capital Financing 
Requirement allocated between current and 

future financial years. The repayments are 
generally aligned with the service benefit 

derived by the Council from the use of the land 
and buildings purchased from the original 
borrowing. The Minimum Revenue Provision 

Policy statement sets how the repayments are 
calculated.  

Prudential Borrowing This is where a Council externally borrows for a 

capital purpose in accordance with the 
regulations – the Prudential Code. A capital 

purpose is where the borrowing is used to 
finance land, buildings or plant, which delivers 
service benefit to the Council lasting more than 

one year 

Prudential Code The CIPFA Code of Practice on financing capital 
expenditure. The key principle is that Councils’ 

can borrow to finance capital expenditure but 
should determine the appropriate level of 
borrowing according to their ability to repay the 

debt. This is in contrast to the regulation prior to 
the Prudential Code, where Central Government 

set a borrowing ceiling for each Local Authority. 

Prudential Indicators These are standardised ratios measuring the 
Council’s borrowing and its ability to repay. The 
Indicators are standardised by CIPFA and must 

be produced by all Local Authorities alongside 
its strategies. 

Public Works Loan Board 

(PWLB) 

A department of the Treasury which provides 

loans to Local Authority when they make a 
determination to borrow for a capital purpose. 

Treasury Management The management of the local authority’s 

borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
including its banking, money market and capital 
market transactions; the effective control of the 

risks associated with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 

those risks. 

Voluntary Repayment Provision This is similar to minimum revenue provision, 

where the Council repays some of its Capital 

Page 165



   

 

   

 

Financing Requirement. However, it is an 

additional voluntary payment in addition to the 

Minimum Revenue Provision. For example, the 

Council might receive some unexpected funding 

and decided to use this to pay off debt. 

 

Page 166



Reference  

Executive Director Sam Evans  

Cabinet Member Cllr. Richard Gold 

Section A 

 

   

Service Area All Service Areas with fees and charges  

Budget Option Description Review of all fees and charges for the 
financial year 23/24 ensuring that any 
increase covers the cost of inflation and 
ensure that the impact on Bury residents is 
not adverse.  

 

    

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
Fees and charges set by Bury Council have undergone a review by the respective Heads of Service 
and Finance to ensure they reflect not only the cost of inflation but to ensure that the impact on 
Bury residents is not adverse. Fees and charges have been benchmarked to other Greater 
Manchester Authorities ensuring they are in line with other Local Authorities.  
 
Consultation has been taken with services to identify the appropriate levels of increase and each 
increase has been considered on a case-by-case basis.  
 
Several services are subject to statutory increases, and these are set externally and not by the 
Council so are out with this review. Examples include Licensing, such as application for premises 
license and variations fees. 

 
Fees for New Roads and Street Works are set by GMRAPS (TfGM (Transport for Greater 
Manchester)) for all GM (Greater Manchester) authorities, and therefore are also outside of this 
review. 

 
Penalty charges are included but are set by legislation. They are the same across GM authorities  

 
Adult Social Care costs have been excluded from the proposed increase due to the majority being 
means tested and an increase would have negligible impact. 
 
Analysis of all Fees and Charges Budgets has been undertaken and whilst the increase in the fees 
and charges range from 5% to 15% only budgets that can support an increase in budget has been 
included. If specific budgets are currently underachieving this has been taken into context in the 
setting of a new budget.  
 
The following is the proposed budget increases by Department as a consequence of the proposed 
increase in fees and charges 
 

Page 167 Agenda Item 8a



 
 

Directorate £ 

Business, Growth & Infrastructure 80,000 
Corporate Core  309,00 

Department of operations 611,000 
Total 1,000,000 

 
 
Proposed increase in charges, the detail for every individual charge will be communicated through 
the appropriate mechanisms as the list is too extensive to include here 
 

Service Fee Proposed average Increase 

Waste management Commercial Waste Between 5% - 15% 
Parks Hire of facilities, allotments, 

car boot sales land hire, 
Fishing permits and Peel 
Tower entry 

10%  

Environmental Health Sampling, visits general 
Fees and Charges  

Between 5% - 10% 

Trading Standards Testing & Stamping 
Weighing & Measuring 
Equipment, Hourly charge 
for Business Advice 

15%  

Pest Control Domestic and commercial 
insect and rodent control 

10% 

Leisure Services Session fees, discount 
cards, memberships, facility 
hire for dry and wet 
activities 

10% 

Bereavement Services Rights of Burial, memorial 
charges,  

10% 

Libraries Photocopying, printing, hire 
charges, fines, room hire, IT 
charges and archives  

Between 5% - 15% 

Engineers Permits, Traffic orders and 
miscellaneous fees 

Between 5% - 15% 

Licencing Animal welfare, Zoo, 
Piercers, street trading and 
miscellaneous.  

Between 5% - 15% 

Markets Trader fees  10% 
Building Control Domestic Work 10% 

Development Control Pre-application advice, 
planning fees and advice 

15% 

Legal Legal advice and licences Between 5% - 15% 

Registrars Attendance at ceremonies 
& citizenship 

10% 

Page 168



 

 

Private Rented Sector Houses in multiple 
occupation licences, 
enforcement action costs 
and officer time 

10% 

Elections & Land Charges Enquiries on decisions, 
other matters, land search 
fees  

10% 

 

 2023/24 2024/25 

Increase in income range (£)   
£1m 

 

Inflation 
dependant  

Staffing Reduction (FTE) None None 

    

Is the proposal One-Off or Ongoing? Ongoing and to be reviewed annually  

Property 

None  

Service Delivery 

Service delivery will continue. Increases in fees and charges are reviewed to ensure that increases 
do not adversely impact on demand.  

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Increases in fees and charges will need to be communicated. All services with fees and charges, 
except for schools, will be affected. Statutory fees and charges are included in the review, but not 
able to be altered.  

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

None  

 

Communities and Service Users 

Service delivery will continue. Increases in fees and charges are reviewed to ensure that increases 
do not impact on demand or the community in an adverse way.  

Other Partner Organisations 

This is a council wide review.  

 

 

 

Page 169



 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  

Milestone Timeline 

  

 Once approved, all fee’s need to be 
increased as per individual factors 

 On a case-by-case basis after approval, with 
all being implemented by April 2023 

  

  

 

 

 

Section D 

Consultation Required? Consultation is required as part of the budget  

   

 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Trade Unions   

Public Oct 2022 Dec 2022 

Service User  Oct 2022 Dec 2022 

Other   

 

 

 

 

Section C 

Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Increases in fees and charges will reduce 
demand  

Heads of Service are to review all proposed fees 
and charges to ensure the community is not 
adversely affected or demand in the service 
drops.  

Increased income of over 10% due to inflation 
will not be realised as cost to provide the service 
increases  

Other efficiencies in service delivery will need to 
be considered by the specific departments to 
ensure that cost to provide the service remains 
viable.  

Page 170



 

 

Section E  

Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 

 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

None although changes will need to be made to websites and systems 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed timescales? 

Yes – Review of increased charges to realise increased income to be included.  

 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  
Executive Director Lynne Ridsdale  
Cabinet Member Cllrs Rafiq 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Council Wide  
Budget Option Description Workforce Costs 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
The scale of budget gap forecast for 2023/24 exceeds the extent of potential options which are congruent 
with organisation strategy. As such it is necessary to bring forward additional options which may not be 
strategically aligned but represent the opportunity to make savings through reduction in non-statutory 
services.  This template sets out the detailed work and approach to progressing two such options as set 
out within the October MTFS refresh: 
 
1. Additional unpaid leave (£600K)  
2. A review of the Council’s Chief Officer Structure (£100k)  

 
Additional Unpaid leave 
 
Background  
 
The Council historically operated a system of 3 days mandatory unpaid leave to support its budget 
position between 2011 and 2019. When this scheme ceased in 2019 those staff who wished to were 
enabled to continue to opt-in to access this, with an additional voluntary scheme introduced enabling staff 
to purchase up to a further 10 days leave each year, subject to managers approval. Savings targets for 
these schemes continue to be built into the current budget:  
 

 Budget Savings 
Target 

Staff uptake in 
2022/23 

2022/23 
Projected Saving 

Variance from 
target  

3 Days Unpaid Leave £170k 1,213 £234k +£64K 
Additional Leave Purchase  £14k  114 £74 +£60k 

TOTAL £184k 1,327 £308k +£124k  

 
As per the above table, in year we are projected to overachieve on the budget target across these 
schemes by £124k.  
 
Work to maximise uptake  
 
Officers have worked to further enhance uptake of the voluntary leave purchase scheme over recent 
months, working towards a £600k savings target, which is based on an assumed 3 days of unpaid leave 
being taken by all staff.  
 
This work has been supported by a significant internal communications campaign and a streamlined and 
simplified application process.  
 
Whilst the level of savings through the remaining staff participating in the original scheme will diminish 
over time, as staff leave and withdraw, analysis also suggests the target here could safely be increased 
taking account of turnover patterns.  
 

 Initial Savings 
Target 

Staff uptake 
projected for 
2023/24 

2023/24 
Projected 
Savings  

Projected additional 
budgeable savings  

3 Days Unpaid Leave £170k 1,019 £190k +£20k 

Additional Leave Purchase  £14k  250 £140k +£126k 
TOTAL £184k 1,269 £340k +£146k  

 

Page 173



Based on the above, and assuming additional in-year take-up through the ongoing communications 
campaign a further saving of £150k through unpaid leave can safely be built into the 2023/24 with a 
very low risk delivery rating. A potential stretch target of £200k would also be reasonable.   
 

Going further  
 

Whilst it may be possible to slightly improve on this £150k through additional communications, promotion 
and incentives within current policy (to say £200k) this falls well below the original target of £600k in 
savings.  
 
One option to enhance uptake here would be to move to an ‘opt out’ approach, with staff automatically 
enrolled to access 3 days unpaid leave but given the option to opt out of this arrangement if they wish to 
do so.   
 
This approach would be applied to those who are not currently enrolled in the original scheme and, for 
those who have voluntarily purchased 3 days or more leave already this year, would not increase the 
number of leave days they are accessing unpaid in 2023/24. The intention would be to apply this on the 
same basis as the original scheme i.e. that staff are enrolled on an ongoing basis but free to withdraw at 
any time. Going forward new staff would also be automatically enrolled into the scheme from their start 
date with the option to withdraw included in the new starters process. – The total potential additional 
savings from this approach would be £367k  
 
There are several areas of the Council where it would not make financial sense to opt staff into this 
scheme. Where, for example, staff require cover during any absence and such cover would be more 
costly (i.e. waste) or those funded by income or specific grants where no saving would be realised by 
additional leave (i.e. School Catering). – Staff in these areas would retain access to the voluntary 
additional leave purchase scheme but would reduce the total potential savings through the ‘opt in’ 
approach by £48k.   
 
The table below summarises those areas proposed to be excluded from this approach: 
 

Team 
Total number 
of employees 

Pupil Escorts 56 

School Crossing 20 

Adult Learning Service 34 

Caretaking and Cleaning Services 197 

Catering Services 248 

Waste Management 103 

Sheltered Services and Carelink 49 

Sensory Support Service 23 

Choices for Living Well - Killelea 125 

Emergency, resilience and response 24 

Curriculum Language Access Service 32 

 911 

 
Excluding the above areas, taking account of staff already accessing unpaid leave, this would take the 
total additional potential savings to £319k. A 50% ‘opt out’ rate has been assumed meaning a projected 
further £160k of savings through the opt-out approach.  
 
Moving to an ‘opt out’ approach poses a number of practical and potential legal risks which are explored 
further below. However, given the scale of budget challenge facing the Council this option, on balance, is 
proposed to be progressed.  
 
A review of the Council’s Chief Officer Structure  

Page 174



 
The 2022/23 budget includes a savings target of £200k from a review and rationalisation of the Council’s 
Chief Officer structure. £138k will be achieved towards this target in-year, with the reminder to be 
achieved in 2023/24.  
 
A further £100k saving is proposed for inclusion in this budget. This will be profiled for delivery in 2024/25 
and will be incorporated into work by the incoming Chief Executive to review the Council’s senior 
structure.  
 
Bridging the gap 
 
As set out above, clear plans are in place which will deliver circa. £400k of the £700k savings proposed 
through workforce costs.  

  
A number of options have been considered to bridge this gap including: 
 Moving the application of unpaid leave to a mandatory model, most likely through the termination and 

re-engagement of staff 
 Increasing the level of automatically opted in days from 3 to 5 
 A further cut in Chief Officer staffing 
 Adjustments to the Council working week and hence associated staff costs.  

  
These options have, at this stage, been rejected as the potential impact on service delivery and staff 
morale and productivity which are seen as disproportionate to the savings value.  

  
It is important that considerations here are set in the context of the Council’s overall employee terms and 
conditions package which, similar to many other local authorities, has seen changes to enable savings in 
a number of areas over the past decade, including movement to the payment of overtime at plain-time 
only and a more stringent approach to sick pay.  

  
The 2021/22 budget included £360k in savings from a review of discretionary workforce spend. This 
target was achieved through a detailed review of all non-salary payments to staff, such as allowances 
and on-call payments. Over the past year significant analysis was also conducted in relation to 
organisational management layers and spans of control which, whilst not identifying significant savings 
opportunities, has identified a number of lines of enquiry for further potential analysis.  
 
The proposal is to seek to achieve the remaining £290k savings through further work to promote uptake 
of unpaid additional leave and, potentially a continuation of the discretionary workforce spend review and 
further organisational design analysis. – These savings are scheduled for delivery by 2024/25.  
 
Overall Savings Proposals 
 

 TOTAL savings 23/24 24/25 
Review of current ‘3 days unpaid leave’ income target  £20k  £20k   

Additional unpaid leave – voluntary purchase £130k  £130k   
Additional unpaid leave – Opt out approach £160k £160k  

Chief Officers Savings  £100k   £100k 
Additional workforce savings   £290k  £290k 

TOTAL  £700k  £310k £390k 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 175



 
Section B 

What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

None  
 
Service Delivery 

Through the exclusion of areas where additional leave would require cover through either overtime or 
agency staff the intention is to minimise the impact on delivery in key operational service areas. – 
However, additional leave will, by definition, reduce workforce capacity which will pose a challenge to 
service delivery. This risk will be mitigated by prioritisation and structured performance management 
arrangements across services.  
 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Management of this programme will require increased work across HR and Payroll functions. 
 
Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

This proposal will affect the full workforce, as described above.  

Communities and Service Users 

No 

Other Partner Organisations 

No  

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

The ‘opt out’ approach receives legal challenge 
on the basis of an unlawful deduction from wages 

Initial legal advice has suggested a number of 
measures to mitigate this risk, principally through 
ensuring the robustness of staff communications and 
simplicity of the approach to opting out. – Also, it will 
be important that any individuals who feel they have 
been inappropriately opted in have a route to raise 
this and issues to be corrected. 
 

The ‘opt out’ approach negatively affects staff 
morale or industrial relations  

This risk will be mitigated by strong and open 
communications with staff and the trade unions and 
an emphasis on the Council’s wider employment 
offer and support alongside clarity that opting-out 
requires no form of justification or approval. 
 

The assumed 50% ‘opt out’ projection is not 
accurate and a lower level of savings are 
delivered  

Ongoing monitoring will be key to understanding the 
position here. However, it is not possible to fully 
mitigate this risk. 
 

Additional leave negatively impacts service 
delivery 

Through the exclusion of key operational areas and 
the wider focus on prioritisation and performance 
management this risk will be mitigated. 
 

A reduction in the Chief Officer structure affects 
the Council’s capacity to deliver on its key 
objectives  

The Chief Executive will carefully consider how any 
reduction is managed with reference to the Council’s 
operational and strategic priorities 
 

Page 176



The additional savings Gap cannot be met  
  

Focused work will begin on this area from May 2023 
with a view to developing a clear and risk assessed 
plan of action by October. – There is considerable 
risk here. However, analysis of both the 
organisational structure and key areas of spend 
provides some initial confidence in relation to 
deliverability.  
 

 
Key Delivery Milestones:  
Milestone Timeline 

S188 meeting to agree proposed approach and progress staff 
communications  

27 February 2023 

Communications to all affected staff, including opt-out process 27 February 2023 

Ongoing communications and staff briefing March 2023 
New processes agreed for new starters and annual management of the 
process 

March 2023 

Opt-out deadline and application of 3 days unpaid leave to staff as 
applicable  

30 March 2023 

Ongoing monitoring of savings against budget  From April 2023 

Review of Chief Officer structure to generate 2024/24 savings progressed.  September-December 2023 
 

Section D 

Consultation Required? Yes – for Chief Officer review  

   
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ adverse 
impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people This process will need to be carefully managed (in 
particular the employee communications and 
practical opt-out arrangements) to mitigate any 
negative impact on protected groups.  

Particular Ethnic Groups 

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 
People who are married or in a civil partnership 

People of particular sexual orientation 
People who are proposing to undergo, undergoing 
or undergone a process or part of a process of 
gender assignment 
People on low incomes 

People in particular age groups 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs 
  
EIA Required? Yes 

 

Section E: Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

No  
  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed timescales? 

Yes 
 

 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  

Executive Director Paul Lakin 
Cabinet Member Cllr O’Brien 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area BGI 
Budget Option Description Capitalisation of BGI spend on 

Regeneration  

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

In accordance with financial regulations, the revenue cost of salaries of staff who are 
directly involved in delivery of active capital projects will be recharged to the associated 
capital budgetary provision 
 
Capitalisation of project management staff has already been assumed as part of the 2022-
23 budget process.  The salaries of support and management staff time to these projects 
will also now be capitalised with a particular focus on recharges to: 
 

 UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 

 City Region Strategic Transport Settlement (CRSTS) 
 
Revenue recovery through capitalisation will be managed on a timesheet basis and 
monitored quarterly  
   

    
 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m) £0.200m   
Staffing Reduction (FTE) N/a   

    
 

Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

Among other resources, staff from within the Land and Property function will be deployed 
to assist in delivery of capital projects instead of recruitment of dedicated 
resource/consultancy.  This will require prioritisation of work within the team. 
 
Service Delivery 

Charging of additional staff time or Council overhead to capital projects will need to be 
balanced against the capital available for project delivery/construction and therefore 
should primarily be built into externally funded rather than Council funded projects.   
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Will necessitate the prioritisation of staff resources to deliver the highest value of land 
parcels and premises within the Accelerated Land Disposal Programme (required to 
deliver capital receipts). 
Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

None 

Communities and Service Users 

Page 179



 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Capitalisation will require journaling of 
salary costs against capital expenditure 
codes on a monthly or quarterly basis 

Quarterly reports 

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? No consultation required 
   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Trade Unions   

Public   
Service User    

Other   
 

Equality Impact 

None 

Other Partner Organisations 

None 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Capital budgets are under considerable 
pressure at present due to unprecedented 
construction material and labour price 
inflation.  Further capitalisation may result in 
project overspends which may require 
further capital funds/scope change/project 
closure. 

Proactive capital monitoring of each major 
project and use of value engineering where 
appropriate.  
 
Additional capital may be required to fund 
overspends should value engineering be 
unsuccessful. 

Use of internal staff to deliver externally 
funded or capital activity will reduce 
operational capacity in BG&I operational 
services. 

Reduction in non-value adding activity 
through job management. 
 
Extension of delivery timescales for 
operational activity. 
 

Focus on capitalisation gain will lead to 
reduced job security and recruitment and 
retention challenges within project 
management teams.   
 
This may result in project delivery issues 
which may result in grant clawback. 

None. 

SORP permissibility of management time 
capitalisation. 

Finance confirm robust rationale for 
capitalisation of management time – 
assuming time recording is in place. 

Page 180



Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 

Particular Ethnic Groups No 
Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  
EIA Required? No EIA required 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
None 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

Sufficient external capital programmes and grants have been secured within 2022/23 to 
manage this and there is no reason to expect this not to be the case in 2023/24 and future 
years but this will require careful in year monitoring and close scrutiny of all future bids to 
ensure every opportunity is maximised 

 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  

Executive Director Paul Lakin 
Cabinet Member Cllr O’Brien 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area BGI 
Budget Option Description Commercial Asset Management 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
The Council’s Major Projects Division manage the Council’s commercial and other land 
assets through the Land & Property Service. 
 
The Service will shortly commission an asset management planning and review process; 
the aim of which will be to identify additional income opportunities from commercial assets.  
The process will also identify loss making assets or high cost / low margin activity. 
 
The asset planning process will be the subject of a separate bid for flexible use of capital 
receipts or transformation funding.  This will be submitted for approval in February 2023.    
 
Following completion of this exercise, officers will prioritise activity and assets which will 
increase commercial income through: 
 

 Rent review 

 Asset disposal/mothballing 
 Income growth through strategic investment 

 Cost avoidance/reduction. 
 
The Land & Property Service was prevented from engaging in commercial rent review 
processes during the pandemic and there is a backlog of this activity and therefore 
potential for increased rental income. 
 
The Council’s commercial activities bring in revenue income of approximately £3.6m per 
annum.  The proposed saving of £250k is based on a targeted net increase in 
income/reduced expenditure which equates to 7% of net annual income.  It is felt that this 
should be achievable, this will require the team to prioritise this activity and subject to the 
success of the afore mentioned bid for flexible use of capital receipts or transformation 
funds.   
   
    

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m) £0.250m   

Staffing Reduction (FTE) N/a   
    

 
 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

The review will revise rent levels where possible.  Income maximisation activity may result 
in asset disposal or capital investment (subject to approval). 

Page 183



 

Service Delivery 

The Land & Property Service are currently engaged in wider activity focused on: 
 

 Maximising capital income through the Accelerated Land Disposal Programme 
(ALDP). 

 Supporting Capital Project delivery (Regen/Schools/Housing). 

 Supporting Brownfield Housing Delivery. 
 
These activities contribute directly to other budgeted savings associated with increases in 
Council Tax and Treasury Management. 
 
The Service is also carrying a number of vacancies and is capitalising staff resource to 
capital projects in order to deliver other BGI savings for which there is a resultant FTE 
reduction.   
 
This activity will require significant resource and will require complex planning to ensure it 
is completed effectively. 
   
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Prioritisation of staff resources in order to deliver a number of key priorities for both the 
Department and the organisation including the Accelerated Land Disposal Programme 
(required to deliver capital receipts). 
Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

None 

Communities and Service Users 

None 

Other Partner Organisations 

None 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

The savings proposal is an estimate, based 
on the best available information.  Full 
information on income maximisation 
potential/cost avoidance will not be known 
until asset management planning activity is 
complete. 

Early procurement of Asset Management 
Plan work package. 

Availability of Land & Property surveyor 
resource. 

Ongoing recruitment activity associated with 
hard to fill posts. 

Risk to other council savings: –  
The Land and Property Service is currently 
engaging in activity to underpin Council Tax 
income increases (Brownfield housing 
Programme) and will provide capital 
receipts under the ALDP to bring in funds 

Ongoing recruitment activity associated with 
hard to fill posts. 

Page 184



 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Procurement of Asset Management 
Planning consultancy package 

February – March 2023 

  

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? No consultation required 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   
Trade Unions   

Public   
Service User    

Other   
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 
Particular Ethnic Groups No 

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  
EIA Required? No EIA required 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 

used by other services for savings via 
flexible use of capital receipts.  Should this 
initiative provide resourcing challenges for 
the Service, there is likely to be an effect on 
activity associated with the wider Council’s 
savings programme.  

Page 185



Investment will be required for the asset management planning and review system.  This 
will be a non-recurrent costs and subject to a bid for use of flexible use of capital receipts 
or the transformation funds 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

This work has not yet started but there is an opportunity as this work has not been 
undertaken since before the pandemic to potentially recover prior years monies in 2023/24 
which should compensate for any slippage in the scheme not starting on the 1st April but 
this will require careful negotiation and may also need the support of finance and legal 
colleagues 

 

Page 186



Reference  

Executive Director Paul Lakin 
Cabinet Member Cllr O’Brien 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area BGI  
Budget Option Description Additional Salary Capitalisation generated 

through capital receipts 
    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
The Council’s Major Projects Division manage the Council’s commercial and other land 
assets through the Land & Property Service. 
 
The Land & Property Service are currently in the process of disposing of Council land 
assets to generate capital receipts to support the overall capital programme.  This capital 
will underpin investment priorities for the Council alongside the flexible use of capital 
receipts process – required to generate the wider corporate savings. 
 
The table below presents the estimated receipts available.  Given current instability with 
the macro economy, the estimates have been adjusted down to account for financial and 
temporal risk. 
 
  
Financial Year Est. Capital Receipts  
2022-23 £3,740,500 
2023-24 £8,962,577 
2024-25 £4,854,537 
2025-26 £1,841,805 
2026+ £3,312,000 
TOTAL £22,711,419 
 
Of the £22.7m highlighted above, £1.3m is already secured/complete.  However, it should be 

noted as per the Capital report a number of these capital receipts are already committed to fund 
capital projects 

 
The Service is able to capitalise costs associated with the disposal up to 4% of the capital 
receipt. This will allow further capitalisation of direct labour and direct disposal charges. 
 
 
    

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m) £0.050m £0.200m  
Staffing Reduction (FTE) N/a N/a  

    

 
 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

The proposal is contingent on the disposal of council owned land assets.  These disposals 
have previously been approved by Elected Members via the ALDP. 

Page 187



 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

In line with previously agreed ALDP.  

  

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? No consultation required 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   
Trade Unions   

 

Service Delivery 

The Land & Property Service are currently engaged in wider activity focused on: 
 

 Income Maximization / Cost reduction – Commercial Assets. 
 Supporting Capital Project delivery (Regen/Schools/Housing). 

 Supporting Brownfield Housing Delivery. 
 
These activities contribute directly to other budgeted savings associated with increases in 
Council Tax and Treasury Management. 
 
The Service is also carrying a number of vacancies and is capitalising staff resource to 
capital projects in order to deliver other BGI savings for which there is a resultant FTE 
reduction.   
   
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

None 

Communities and Service Users 

None 

Other Partner Organisations 

None 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Land receipts are heavily dependent on the 
health of the wider economy. 

Effective marketing and promotion of land 
opportunities.  Early engagement with the 
market. 

  

Page 188



Public   
Service User    

Other   
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 

Particular Ethnic Groups No 
Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  
EIA Required? No EIA required 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
None 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

This will require careful monitoring as the Cabinet has recently received a number of 
reports where the capital receipt achieved was lower than originally anticipated.  The 
Capital strategy report also identifies a number of schemes where the capital receipts from 
a number of disposals are already committed in order to fund capital schemes and reduce 
overall borrowing costs. 

 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  
Executive Director Lynne Ridsdale  
Cabinet Member Cllrs Rafiq, Gold & Morris 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Corporate Core  
Budget Option Description Service Reviews within the Corporate Core  

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
The scale of budget gap forecast for 2023/24 exceeds the extent of potential options which are congruent 
with organisation strategy. As such it is necessary to bring forward additional options which may not be 
strategically aligned but represent the opportunity to make savings through reduction in non-statutory 
services.  This template makes proposals for such options from the Department of Corporate Core 
Services. 
 
The Corporate Core fulfils the majority of “back office” functions within the Council, a number of which 
are statutory (e.g. community safety and performance reporting); organisation critical e.g. HR, IT and 
Legal Services or externally funded, e.g. Adult Learning.  The Department was created in 2019/20 in 
direct response to LGA feedback about the need to invest in strategic corporate capabilities and to 
ensure these operate in a way which connects to the community voice.   
 
Budget reductions totalling c£1.079m are proposed through this proposal the context of a total budget of 
c£15m.   
 
In developing these proposals, a focus has been given to:  
 

 Ensuring organisational critical services are maintained at a minimal standard (both statutory services 
and functions crucial to our organisational ambition)  

 Minimising the impact on jobs and taking fortuitous opportunities through the deletion of vacancies / 
recharges elsewhere wherever possible.  

 
The proposals, by Service Area include: 
 
1. IT capacity review (£300K in 25/26) – Delivered from a reduction in operating costs enabled by 

service improvements through the new structure and operating model currently being finalised and 
increased capitalisation of project costs. 

2. Reduce HR and OD capacity (£250K across 23/24 and 24/25) – Including delivery of a review of the 

Council’s Occupational Health Unit and EAP provision, which is already underway, and a review of 
the HR operating model with the potential impact on circa. 5 jobs.  

3. Legal Services (£175K in 23/24) – Through the capitalisation of legal costs associated with 

supporting the delivery of Bury’s capital regeneration works. 
4. Business Support (£130k in 23/24) – Through a review of service capacity and savings opportunities 

enabled by the new central service. The majority of this will relate to the deletion of vacancies with a 
potential impact on circa. 2 jobs.  

5. Performance (£88k in 25/26) – A reduction in capacity enabled by the delivery of system 

improvements and automation, with a potential impact on 3 roles. 
6. Communications and engagement (£81k in 23/24) – Reductions in service through a review of all 

functions, with potential impact on 2 roles.  
7. Delivery Unit (£55k) – Reductions within the Council’s Delivery Unity through alternative funding 

options for Project Management support.  
 
A more detailed breakdown of proposals including savings by year and potential FTE implications. – 
Savings will be delivered through 7 connected projects each led by a member of the Corporate Core 
management team.  
 
 
 

Page 191



Service Lead Total 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 Indicative FTE Impact 

IT KW £300k 0 0 £300k 0 0 

HR SM £250k £150k £100k 0 0 5 

Legal JD £175k £175k 0 0 0 0 

Business Support SM £130k £130k 0 0 0 2 

Performance KW £88k 0 0 £88k 0 3 

Communications 

and Engagement 

KJ £81k 
£81k 

0 0 0 2 

Delivery Unit  KW £55k £55k 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL  £1.079m £591k £100k £388k 0 12 

 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

None  
 
Service Delivery 

Reduction in support to Council delivery services may have a knock-on impact on service delivery. This 
will pose a significant challenge in the context of the current scale of priorities being supported across the 
Corporate Core and will require a compromise / reduction in relation to some priority areas of work which 
will need to be managed in partnership with deliver departments.  
 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Internal impacts will be: 
- Reduced strategic HR capability – culture improvement journey diminished 
- Reduced strategic communications and engagement capability. May impact on delivery for other 

council departments 
- Reduced performance capability through reduction in analyst capacity 
- Where there is a lead for specific external communications and engagement activities an alternative 

may be required. Expertise likely to diminish 
- Reduced capacity for Project Manager may impact on some delivery 
- Reduced business support may impact other Council functions 

 
Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

C12 posts at risk of redundancy  
 
Communities and Service Users 

None  

Other Partner Organisations 

None 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 192



 
 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Increased burden on council 
managers and reduction in 
quality of provision as a 
result of diminished capacity 
within HR, Business 
Support, communications 
and engagement. Greater 
associated risk of external 
challenge and cost and 
dependency on external 
support in exceptional 
circumstances. Risk of staff 
retention  
 

Management development programme to begin this spring will strengthen 
core management skills based 
 
Investment in systems automation and improvement 
 
Investment in communications and engagement templates to automate 
production 

Insufficient skills and 
capacity to maintain the 
systems and processes 
established within the Core 
to respond to LGA advice 
(i.e. strategic HR; corporate 
performance and planning 
framework; project office 
support and community 
engagement) 
  

Corporate performance planning cycle maintained at strategic level on 
reduced basis 
 
Annual business planning exercise to be managed within the context of 
available resources 

Staff engagement and 
retention reduces  

Senior managers accountable for maintaining engagement processes 
within their department 
 

Failure to respond to 
external advice about safe 
resourcing requirements for 
IT delivery. Greater risk of 
cyber attack; data loss and 
transformation journey 
compromised  

IT capabilities prioritised; risk register updated. 
 
Savings profiled for later in the budget cycle  

Systems will not be 
developed to ensure that 
legal services activity is 
captured in a timely manner 
 
 

Senior lead accountable for establishment of systems with finance lead. 

 
Key Delivery Milestones:  
Milestone Timeline 

Overarching consultation with workforce – 90 days; S188 notice served October 22 – January 23 
Service specific consultation (23/24 savings) – 30 days March 2023  

Budgets reduced for 23/24 savings  April 2023 
Capitalisation and recharges in place April 2023 

Post-consultation decision on 23/24 service reviews  April 2023 

Full implementation of new structural arrangements for 23/24 (staff notice 
served)  

July 2023 

Detailed design for future year savings progressed  October 2023  
 
  

Page 193



Section D 

Consultation Required? Yes – consultation with staff will take place in-line with the 
Council’s agreed consultation toolkit. Wider engagement will take 
place on proposed changes across the organisation as needed.  

   
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ adverse 
impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No – Changes will take place in line with then 
Council’s agreed policy framework and workforce 
change procedures which have been subject to 
equality analysis. 

Particular Ethnic Groups 
Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

People who are married or in a civil partnership 
People of particular sexual orientation 

People who are proposing to undergo, undergoing 
or undergone a process or part of a process of 
gender assignment 
People on low incomes 

People in particular age groups 
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs 

  
EIA Required? No – Changes will take place in line with then 

Council’s agreed policy framework and workforce 
change procedures which have been subject to 
equality analysis. 

 

Section E: Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

One-off funding for redundancy costs may be required.  
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed timescales? 

 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 194



Reference  

Executive Director Lynne Ridsdale 

Cabinet Member Cllr Morris 

Section A 
 

  

Service Area Corporate Core 

Budget Option Description Options appraisal of Bury Art Museum & 
TIC 
  

   

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

Bury Council recognises the important role that culture plays in community and economic 
development. Through the leadership of the Arts and Museum service the Council became the first 
GM Town of Culture in 2019; the museum site will be included in the culture quarter of the Bury 
town centre masterplan and the scope for a significantly expanded events offer is central to 
regeneration plans in Radcliffe and Bury through the new public hub / flexi hall buildings.   
 

Independent advice on a potential borough culture strategy was sought and partners have been 

engaged during the autumn to bring it to a conclusion. The intention is to bring forward a proposal 

for Council approval in March 2023 
 
The Council’s Art Museum is presently central to the borough cultural co-ordination and a much-
loved asset. The service operates with a small team comprised of a manager, curator; assistant 
curator, operations officer and a small number of Visitor Assistants.  In addition, the service 
provides a Tourist Information Service which, by operating from the front desk of Fusiliers’ 
Museum, also host the reception to the Fusiliers Museum. 
 
In the context of the council’s budget position options to underwrite the museum costs have been 
considered over the last 8 weeks, including addressing the disrepair of the listed building from 
which it operates and the fact that visitor numbers have, regrettably, reduced and not yet recovered 
post Covid and a long-standing income target remains outstanding.   
 
The options appraisal has been informed by feedback from over 500 survey responses and 37 
stakeholder replies from organisations and interest groups. Detailed analysis of the results is below 
this template but focusses largely on support for greater commercialisation including suggestions 
for a “friends” group; to pursue voluntary donations and host charged-for, ticketed events. The 
overwhelming message from the public who have responded is that it is not necessary financially 
to close the site as cost contributions will be achievable. 
 
In the context of further analysis and consultation feedback, final proposals are to: 

- Invest in professional technical advice to submit a high-quality MEND application to the Arts 
Council for repairs to the building. This process is now underway 

- Review staffing costs to make a small reduction in the service cost base 
- Pursue voluntary income through installation of a digital, voluntary donation point 
- Implement ticketed events during 2023 as part of service planning which will address the 

historic £20 000 income target and explore scope to increase income in future to contribute 
towards costs 

- Invest UKSPF funding in leadership and fundraising capacity across the Bury arts sector, 
including the museum, to provide the capacity to develop and implement a 
commercialisation model which will address pressures within the art museum and for other 
partners. This will include pursuing external grant funding from partners such as the Arts 
Council and Heritage Lottery Fund, as well as income from donations and optional ticketed 
events available to the public 

- Commit to a feasibility study to engage an external partner to develop and operate some of 
the museum space for external event hire, particularly weddings, in order to achieve a 
rolling revenue income line and enhance the events offer within Bury Town Centre 

 

   

Page 195



 
 

 2023/24 2024/25 

Budget Reduction (£m) £0.050m £0.200m 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 2-3 0 

 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

The property disrepair will be addressed through external investment, subject to a successful 

MEND application. 
A feasibility of the engagement of an external operator to further develop the site for external 

events hire will also be explored. 
 
Service Delivery 

The proposal is to maintain current service delivery and develop the offer to include additional, 

ticketed events to secure additional income 

 

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

BGI capacity required to support the architectural assessment for MEND application; to progress a 
feasibility study for events use and a major dependency on Bury town centre masterplan. 
Any changes to the building will impact of Bury Museum and Archive service which also operate 
from the site 
 
Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

Efficiencies sought from staffing structure – potential reduction of 2-3 posts, subject to a detailed 

service review and consultation exercise 
Communities and Service Users 

Dependency of public engagement with ticketed events and contributions to a voluntary donation 

point 
Other Partner Organisations 

Fusiliers’ museum affected by any changes to reception support 
  
 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Community opposition to any reductions or 
changes 

 Community consultation 

Arts council funding withdrawn for museum roof on 
basis of any change in use 

 MEND application now underway; 

engagement with Arts Council contact 

BGI capacity to include museum within Masterplan 
programme 

 Site formally included in culture quarter 
proposals 

Ability to engage meaningfully with Arts 
Council/deliver change, outside of directly 
impacted staff group 

 Dedicated leadership proposed, funded 
by UKSPF  

Insufficient income from commercialisation model 
secured 

 Savings deferred to year 2 to give time 

for commercialisation model to be 

developed and values confirmed. Option 

revisited in 2024/25 if assumptions not 

achieved 
 

Page 196



Key Delivery Milestones: Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
 
 
Milestone 

Timeline 

Temporary leadership and fundraising capacity 

established 
Donation point installed 

Income strategy for existing target in place 

April 2023 

Service review & c£50 000 savings identified June 2023 
Feasibility study of operator for event hire; outline 
business case determined 

June 2023 

Income strategy developed July 2023 

Evaluation to inform 2024/25 budget October 2023 

 
 
Section D 

Consultation Required? Complete 
   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   
Trade Unions   

Public   
Service User    

Other   
 
Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 
Particular Ethnic Groups No 

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  
EIA Required? No 

 

Section E: Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

MEND application requires investment provided for from existing funds 
Feasibility study for future events space  to be funded form UKSPF funds 
 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

Delivery: 
50k by summer 2023 – service restructure / voluntary donations 

Page 197



200k income generation 2024/24 from event hire and fundraising/income. Strategy to be 

pursued in 2023/24 to demonstrate achievable values and confirm assumptions 
 

 

Bury Art Museum Consultation Report 

Methodology 

 Consultation commenced on 7th November 2022 and closed six weeks later, on 19th 

December 2022. The questionnaire was developed and hosted on-line on ‘One Community’, 

the council’s engagement and consultation portal (hard copies were available on request 
and from reception points in the Art Museum and Fusiliers Museum. 

 523 responses were received on-line via One Community with a further 37 
email/letters/testimonies received to the dedicated engagement inbox. 

 The consultation was promoted via: 

  Council Social media accounts 

 Press releases 

 One community newsletter 

 The Bury Directory 

 Art Museum newsletter  

 Hub weekly newsletters 

 Direct engagement with stakeholders e.g. funders, schools, exhibitors, other cultural 

venues both in Greater Manchester, Nationally and Internationally, community group 

users of the museum spaces, local arts and cultural groups, groups that the Art 

Museum work in partnership/collaboration with. 

 Two events at the Art Gallery at which the consultation was actively promoted. 

 Community groups newsletters  

The survey was open to all and therefore respondents were self-selecting, meaning that 

results should be viewed as indicative of the wider population rather than representative. 

All percentages have been rounded up to the nearest whole number. 

All free text responses received from the on-line survey have been grouped into themes 

along with those from emails/letter/testimonies. 

 The overall view from respondents both on-line and those who sent it 

email/letters/testimonies was to keep the art museum open, as it is an asset to Bury, it plays 

a central part of the cultural offer and history of the town and is also a valued place to view 

art, both by local residents, those visiting from across Greater Manchester and from across 
the country.  

 Respondents did also have many positive and imaginative ideas as to how the 250k savings 

needed from the museum could be generated, which was mainly through greater 

commercialism, working in partnership and considering other funding streams and income 

generation schemes, as well as ideas generally about how the spaces and building could be 

used to its advantage, whilst maintaining the art collection and allowing the public to see it in 
person.  

 The survey received responses across all demographics (see graphs below) but no real 
differences in opinion was found. 

 Bury Art Museum Consultation Findings 

  

Page 198



Question: What if any, have you used in the last 12 months? (Please tick all that 
apply) 

   

Within the last 12 months 514 respondents stated that they had visited the Art Gallery, with a 

further 440 visiting the Museum, 402 visiting the shop, 340 attending the sculpture centre 
and 158 people accessing the tourist Information centre.  

  

Question: How are you responding to this consultation? 

 

As the graph shows, the largest group pf respondents where residents of Bury (322), whilst 

178 respondents visited from outside of Bury. 54 people were responding as part of a 

community group or as a stakeholder and 23 staff members of the Council/NHS GM 
responded. 64 people responded as ‘other’. 

 ‘Other’ responses came from: 

  Exhibitors/artists – 32 respondents 

 Bury College lecturer/teacher in Art – 6 

 Local business owner – 3 

 Volunteer at Bury Art Gallery – 3 

 Museum professional - 2 

  

On-line open-ended results 

Respondents were next asked a series of questions that asked for their comments and 
thoughts. For each question all comments have been grouped into themes. 

 

Page 199



Question: Do you have any suggestions as to how the Council could make the £250k 
savings required from the Art Museum? 

 518 comments were made to this question. The comments have been themed as below, 
along with a small number of the comments. 

 The largest number of comments that were received related to the art gallery being more 

commercial, with suggestions such as hosting weddings, charging for entry, loaning out 

pieces of art, being a film location, musical events, hire out for private events. Repurposing 

the space (for corporate events, community use, events) partnership delivery, and 

alternative ways of funding were also suggested by large number of respondents. 

Digitisation of collections was put forward but mainly to complement the physical presence of 
the collections rather than replace them. 

  

Greater commercialism 

 The largest number of comments that were received related to the art gallery being more 

commercial, with suggestions such as hosting weddings, charging for entry, loaning out 
pieces of art, being a film location, musical events, hire out for private events. 

 ‘hire out building for private events when shut - filing, weddings, conferences., concerts. It's 
a beautiful building and so should be of interest’ 

 ‘increase the profile of the shop - why no online shopfront? Could be a great shop window 
for local contemporary artists generating commission’ 

 ‘I'd like to see greater commercialisation, what about more music events, alcohol licence 

(with local brewers such as brewsmith, brightside etc), local artists selling events etc, dining 

experience with guided tours, dating events,  

more art courses, perhaps in the evening oil, acrylic, drawing etc. Charge for this’ 

 ‘More options for events. There’s loads of demand for parent and baby stuff, and being such 

an accessible venue could create a great opportunity. A kid safe/friendly play space would 

definitely encourage us to come more’ 

 ‘Greater commercialisation  

Use of historic buildings for filming, weddings, functions etc’ 

   

Repurposing of space 

 ‘Rent the unique gallery spaces for private parties, weddings, corporate events, 
conferences, craft fairs, music events’ 

 ‘By using the museum space for ticketed, paid performances and events’ 

 ‘Use the space as a training space for other public service groups to use, rather than buy 

space commercially from outside the council. There are excellent examples of this in other 
museums regionally and nationally. Ideal for NHS/Education training groups’ 

  

Partnership delivery 

 ‘By working with schools and other community projects to educate future generations to 

develop an understanding and love of the arts. Encourage established artist to share their 
skills within the museum’ 

Page 200



 ‘Partnership delivery would be a preferred method - more support from the wider cultural 
sector in GM’ 

 ‘partnership delivery, could this be linked with Fusilliers Museum next door. Can there be 

any partnership with other museums/galleries in GM - Lowery/Imperial War Museum 
exhibitions from other GM/North West organisations’ 

  

Alternative ways to raise funds 

 ‘Start a membership scheme? Annual subscription in return a couple of member events 
(talks/tours) and cafe/shop discount’ 

 ‘Legacy scheme / Bury supporters group / Event hire / greater commercialisation, prints on 
demand, art collection / virtual supporters or adoption scheme’ 

 ‘Friends of scheme’ 

 ‘Crowdfunding for repairs’ 

  

Digitisation 

 ‘Expanded digital provision may support the art museum, if this can generate income, and it 
can be done without reducing the existing offer’ 

 ‘Use of digital media’ 

 ‘Expanded digital provision might be a valuable asset and a way of drawing more people to 
the museum’ 

   

Question: How would any change to current arrangements impact on you/your 
group? 

509 comments were received to this question. Comments received fell in to three main 
themes as below. 

 

Impact on Bury 

 ‘Bury would cease to become an attractive place to live, and investment would surely shrink 
if Bury Art Museum's service was to diminish under the wishes of the council’ 

 ‘If this gallery were to close or change too much, I feel the cultural heart would be stripped 
from the Town...it would be devastating’ 

 ‘It would be a tragedy for Bury to lose it’s only art based cultural space’ 

 ‘It would take away from the community massively. Cultural landmarks like this are the 

backbone of any town and not having it there would have severe negative repercussions on 
family days out, tourism and myself as an artist’ 

 ‘I visit monthly and bring visitors here, any closure would impact on the attractiveness for 
me/ my visitors coming to the town centre’ 

 ‘I am an artist and professor of art and daughter to two young girls - your change would 

mean a bury would win the race to the bottom of culture - well done - seriously it would affect 

me in that bury would not be visited by me my family nor any of my friends and associates - 

again own goal’ 

Page 201



 ‘It will take away a reason to visit Bury and enjoy (and spend money) in the rest of town's 

amenities. It makes me wonder whether Bury values its history and culture, which are well 
manifested by the Museum’ 

 ‘Would not visit anymore’ 

 ‘The museum provides a vital cultural hub at the heart of the community, and I would visit 
Bury considerably less were it not there’ 

‘The Art Museum puts on exhibitions that I have travelled to Bury to see. While in Bury, I 

spend money in local shops. The closure of the Art Museum would remove my reason for 
visiting Bury town centre’ 

 ‘The art gallery is a real asset to our community and it’s removal would significantly impact 

many people’s likelihood of visiting Bury and therefore engaging with other services and 

spending money in our shops and businesses’ 

  

Impact on local artist/exhibitors 

 ‘Precious opportunities for local artists to exhibit and sell art work be lost’ 

 ‘I have exhibited with the Museum as part of the Text Festivals. It would be a huge loss if 
this place were no longer available. I have donated time and work to the Museum’ 

‘If the gallery closed We would not get a chance to  Have our annual  exhibition  and it is an 

important event  for Bury Art Society’ 

‘Without Bury Art Gallery, I'd have not shown my first major work. This work demanded 50 

people, who had never been to Bury before, going to participate as well as enjoy the 

exhibition and Bury's other offering's before and after. So to answer the question, new artists 

would not have a space in Greater Manchester, and Bury would cease to have any cultural 
connection to the county’ 

  

Educational impact 

 ‘Bury is small. It helped me through my entire art career and time at university to see such a 

nice gallery in this small town. In doing so attracts more people, and makes it a proper 

culture hub and hotspot. You'll push people away, therefore effecting like-mindless and 

culture of the North!’ 

 ‘The community would be without an internationally-reaching art museum and Sculpture 

Centre, artworks by world-renowned artists such as JMW Turner, community events and 

workshops, and no provision for the thousands of school children that come throu The 

removal of a local art museum will negatively impact the educational remit of the local area. 

It will be a big blow to children and schools in the area gh its doors year upon year as part of 
the educational offer’ 

 ‘The gallery and museum offer my children and their friends a chance to engage with art 

and historical artefacts. Hands on workshops enable them to interact with history in a way a 

text book can’t do. Being surrounded by changing exhibitions both in the sculpture centre 

and gallery challenges them to think about the world in ways they wouldn’t otherwise be 

exposed to. Art helps children think critically - take inspiration away and you risk taking away 
the spark which leads to new exciting ways of thinking and as a result, progress’ 

  ‘I work at Bury College Art department, and we have links with the Bury Creatives team and 

often do things in collaboration with this team. We also use the Gallery as a valuable local 

resource to show our students artwork in person as often they have never visited a gallery  

Page 202



before. If the gallery were to close or reduce its provision or opening hours, this would 
impact us’ 

   

Question: If the Council withdraws the museum, how could the public access it’s art 
collection? 

 485 comments were received to this question. The comments fell in to two main themes; it 
wouldn’t be able to be viewed and located to other venues. 

Digitisation was mentioned but in the main was commented on to complement the physical 
collection not replace it. 

 Don’t think it would be able to be viewed 

 ‘The collection is important and needs to be both cared for an accessible to the public and 
the current gallery is the best way of doing this’ 

 ‘There is no real way of enabling the population to access the collection’ 

 ‘I suspect the public wouldn’t be able to access the collection and it would be lost forever’ 

 ‘The public will not be able to access the art collection. It will be a great loss to Bury. I work 

in the town and do not live there but I think the town centre has a great deal to offer and the 
museum is in an important part of that. If lost, it will not be regained’ 

 ‘There is no substitute for seeing the collections at first hand’ 

 ‘Withdrawing the museum would be in conflict with taking into account the Deed of Gift and 

the obligations for care and repair of the collection. Bury's residents have a right to access 

their public art collection. It is also important that wherever anyone lives in the country (be 

that London or Bury) that one can access public collections of significant art. Removing 

access from communities that are already disadvantaged will result in lowered aspirations 
and opportunities for creative development and town regeneration’ 

   

Located to other venues/galleries 

 ‘Loan of artwork to other locations? 

 ‘Safely display in already public spaces like the bus station’ 

 ‘Move all art collection to another free to access museum’ 

 ‘Share to neighbouring venues’ 

 ‘The collection would need to be moved to an alternative location or housed, conserved and 
displayed within the current building in a scaled down forma 

 ‘Display the physical collection around bury in other public and prominent buildings on 
rotation. Then everyone might get to see it’ 

  

Digitalisation  

 People did suggest digitalisation may be an option but generally thought it should 
complement not replace being able to see the collection in person 

 ‘Art UK or similar digital platform’ 

 You would need to invest in a digitisation programme that includes high resolution 

photography of the collection items, full cataloguing of the items, delivery of the catalogue 

Page 203



and associated images online, all of which is likely to cost as much as, if not more than, the 

£250K you are seeking to save by closing the Art Museum. 629 of your artworks are already 

in the digital public domain via Art UK, you could build on this by discussing with Art UK 
whether there is potential for further digitisation of your collection. 

 Digital access is an option but looking at art on screen is no replacement for being in the 
space. 

 Question: Any other comments? 

378 comments were received. The comments received reiterated comments to the previous 

three open ended questions. With the majority of comments stressing the need to keep the 

art gallery open and as it is now and stating what a loss it would be to Bury as a place if it 

were to close. Respondents also commented again on how the 250k could be generate as 
they had done in previous questions. 

 Below are examples of comments received to this final open ended question. 

 ‘Please think much more imaginatively about this problem. I fully understand you can't 

financially support this, but think and get the right person in to help with a very small team for 

a period and you should be provided with a legacy that means you don't have to worry about 
this issue again’ 

 ‘Withdrawal of funding and removing staff from Bury Art gallery and museum/ Tourist 

information centre would fundamentally change the outlook of Bury within the North West: 

far from building on the reputation as town of culture this is now being destroyed. All the 

opportunities provided to school children, youth groups, vulnerable adults, residents, workers 

and visitors to Bury would be lost. Closing Bury Art Museum would be a huge loss both 
locally and nationally as access to the import collection of art would be lost’ 

 ‘The council have a great asset in the gallery. The museum has regained its full registration 

lost after the sale of the Lowry painting and this should not be jeopardised again. The 

museum provides a cultural beacon at a time when few other cultural options exist. It is 

unreasonable to say that the building could remain the heart of the cultural quarter and 

taking away its function as a respected (registered) museum and art gallery. It is a creative 

space Because it is a fully functional gallery. The gallery's engagement with the public, for 

children and adults is already excellent, providing a service which supports school 

curriculum at all levels. Their engagement also supports adults, not just artists and creatives 

but provides an unofficial mental health and wellness service. The council should encourage 

and further build on this. Above all, the council need to retain the skill set of the museum 
team who already provide these services which other museums have to buy in’ 

 ‘Just generally horrified that anyone's considering shutting an art museum’ 

 ‘Think it would be unforgivable if the museum were closed. The town would lose a valuable 
asset which would speed up the decline of the town centre and lose tourists and visitors’ 

 Respondents were then asked a series of questions about themselves. The tables below 
show the responses received. 

 Question: Which age bracket do you fit in to? 

  

Age bracket number of respondents and % 

18 or under 2 (0.4%) 

19-24 17 (3%) 

25-34 60 (11%) 

35-44 115 (22%) 

45-54 95 (18%) 

Page 204



55-64 128 (24%) 

65+ 118 (22%) 

  

As the table shows, the largest number of respondents were over the age of 35, but 

relatively evenly slip between 35 and 65+ years. The younger age groups were still positively 
represented. 

 Question: What is your gender?  

Gender Number of respondents and % 

Female 346 (65%) 

Male 186 (35%) 

  

65% of responses were received from females, with 35% from males. 

Question: What is your religion?   

Religion Number of respondents and % 

No religion 301 (59%) 

Christian 171 (33%) 

Jewish 10 (2%) 

Muslim 6 (1%) 

Buddhist 4 (1%) 

Hindu 1 (0%) 

Other 20 (4%) 

  

The largest number of respondents to the survey (59%) stated that they had ‘no religion’ with 

a further (33%) stating that they were Christians. Other religions were represented in the 
responses.  

Question: Do you have a disability?   

No 452 (86%) 

Yes  73 (14%) 

  

86% of respondents did not have a disability, however 73 respondents (14%) had a 
disability.  

Question: What is your Ethnicity?   

Ethnicity Number of respondents and % 

White (English, Welsh, 
Scottish) 

433 (83%) 

Other White  33 (6%) 

White Irish  15 (3%) 

African  11 (2%) 

Other Mixed Race 7 (1%) 

White and Black African 6 (1%) 

Indian 2 (0.4%) 

Pakistani 2 (0.4%) 

White and Black Caribbean 1 (0.2%) 

Page 205



Chinese 1 (0.2%) 

Other Asian 1 (0.2%) 

Arab 1 (0.2%) 

White and Asian 1 (0.2%) 

  

The largest number of respondents were ‘White’ (83%) however responses were received 

from many different ethnic groups. 

  

 

 

Page 206



Reference  
Executive Director Jeanette Richards 

Cabinet Member Cllr Lucy Smith 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Social Care & Safeguarding 
Budget Option Description Children’s External placements / Step 

down of very high-cost placements 
across childrens 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
This proposal is to reduce expenditure by reviewing the number of children in high-cost 
residential children home placements and Independent Foster Agency (IFA) placements 
where appropriate and safe to do so.   
 
Actions to deliver this savings are as follows: 
 

 Review the role of the complex care panel and procurement activity as part of a 
wider transformation programme and pool budgets to ensure that health and 
education contribute to high-cost placements where therapy and educational 
support and intervention are provided.  

 

 Increased focus on the recruitment of supported lodging hosts and stepping down 
young people from residential provision when appropriate into a semi-independent 
and supported lodging provision.  

 

 Continuing focus on recruitment of foster carers/Supported Lodging hosts and a 
review of the permanence and recruitment strategy. 

 
  

    
 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m)  0 £1.200 0 
Staffing Reduction (FTE)  0 0 0 

    
 

Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

N/A 

Service Delivery 

Complex Care Panel processes for multi-agency placements will need to be reviewed to 
support and also review practices to ensure that there is a proactive approach to sharing 
budgets and also reviewing the packages agreed at panel. 

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

N/A 

Page 207



Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

N/A 

Communities and Service Users 

 

  

Page 208



Other Partner Organisations 

N/A 
 
 

Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 
Risks Mitigations 

Insufficient Bury Foster Care placements Investment in foster care strategy to be 

brought forward 

No in-house residential children’s home 
provision, reliant on commissioned 
services. 

Step children and young people into foster 
care or semi-independent provision when 
appropriate to do so. 
Medium term strategy to develop council 
residential care provision 

 

Key Delivery Milestones  
Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Phase 1. Initial desk top review of top high 
cost out of area placements and provide an 
options appraisal in relation to each child 

By January 2024 

Phase 2. Review of single funded packages 
at children’s social care budget placement 
panel 

By January 2024 
 

Phase 3. Review of Complex Care Panel 
processes and new TOR developed 

By January 2024 
 

Phase 4. Review of jointly funded packages 
at complex care panel 

February 2024 onwards 

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? No 
   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Trade Unions   
Public   

Service User    

Other   
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 

Particular Ethnic Groups No 
Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

Page 209



People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 
People in particular age groups Yes 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  
EIA Required? Yes 

 

Page 210



Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 
Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
None 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

The reduction and review of the high cost residential and independent foster care 
placements will secure the saving on the budget from 2024/25 
 

 

Page 211



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  
Executive Director Isobel Booler 

Cabinet Member Cllr Lucy Smith 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Children, Young People & Skills 
Budget Option Description Children’s short breaks and Personal 

Budgets 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
Burys’s short break offer is based on the following model that was developed in 
consultation with parents  
 

 
 
 
The allocation of Personal Budget sit within the top 2 zones of this model. 
 
There is a separate saving proposal that related to the bottom 3 short break offer. We are 
mindful that to reduce the level spend on the personal budget allocation we do need to 
increase the offer within the targeted, local offer and universal 
 
In regard to savings for 2023/24 the service will extend the 2022/23 review of all personal 
budget plans in place either as a direct payment to the family on a payment card or 
through a broker arrangement.  
 
We are seeking to the view of all packages that are funded within the Specialist and 
complex zone to seek to realign the spend to the correct funding sources. Whether that we 
health via CHC assessment and or social care  via Section 17  
 
We have reviewed the top 15 costing packages and identified that the short break offer 
are being access to support provision of care rather than offering respite so that the 
calibration of that funding need to be reconsidered which will be done via the Complex 
Care Panel   
 
 

Page 213



We care currently auditing short break packages is appropriate according to the assessed 
levels of need, and to quality assure the plans to ensure the best potential outcomes for 
the child/young people are being achieved and recorded.  This work will be enhance with 
the development of the Short break team as set out within the Phase 1 of the children’s 
service restructure  
 
We already have a proactive approach to reconcile all plans to bank accounts and recover 
any unspent funding which is part of the current saving work. 
 
To ensure families are aware that the award and level of personal budget will be subject to 
review dependent to their ongoing assessed needs and is not in perpetuity.  
 
To work with Bury2gether to develop policy and processes for personal budgets and 
ensure that families are engaging through the Local Offer.  
 
To work with health and education to have a system wide process for personal budgets 
that is fair and transparent 
 
We have commissioned a joint piece of work with the Council for Disabled Children review 
our short breaks policy and the assessment process and formation need/packages   
 
Clarification around Continuing Health Care Assessment to ensure that we are seeking 
the relevant joint funding arrangements for support packages where there is a health 
component  
    

 2023/34 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£k)  0.200 0.300  

Staffing Reduction (FTE)  0   
    
 

Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

N/A 

Service Delivery 

There will be updated awareness training for social workers and family support workers so 
that families are encouraged to use personal budgets in support of independence. 
 
Rigorous budgetary control measures and brokerage are in place to ensure a robust 
system of management.  
 
For example, for those social care assessed short break personal budgets issued in 
21/22, the auditing of accounts has begun with early funds recouped from account holders 
in August and September. The timeline for all non-evidenced/non-used funds to be 
returned to the local authority following audit is the end of October. It is estimated that this 
final amount will be circa £115,000. The reasons which families give as to why they were 
unable to use their support are: Covid related as unable to take up activities, and now post 
Covid, PA recruitment has become more difficult as time goes on. 
 
Audit and reconciliation will be undertaken by the commissioning team. 

Page 214



 
 

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

N/A 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

None 

Communities and Service Users 

Bury2gether; families; Children with SEND; Children with Disabilities 

  

Page 215



Other Partner Organisations 

N/A 
 
 

Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 
Risks Mitigations 

Parental perception Co- produce with Bury2gether and co-
design personal budget policy which is a 
statutory obligation to co-produce 
 

Lack of awareness of the policy and 
processes for personal budgets which 
impacts on the volumes of complaints  

Ensure that the personal budget policy and 
criteria are up to date and are clear to 
families on the Local Offer 
 

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Extend review and continued Reduction of 
Personal Budget costs: 

2022/23 onwards 

Review current personal budget plans and 
identify where other funders to contribute 

April 23 

Ask health to screen proposed cases for 
funding eligibility and then submit to panel 
for agreement  

April 23 

Audit payments mid year  Sept 23 
End of year reconciliation  April 24 

  
  

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? Yes 
   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Trade Unions   

Public March 2023 March 2023 
Service User    

Other   
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people Yes 

Particular Ethnic Groups No 
Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

Page 216



People of particular sexual orientation No 
People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 
  
EIA Required? Yes 

Page 217



Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 
Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
None 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

The review and reduction to personal budget allocations / clawback of unused funding will 
secure the saving on the budget from 2023/24 
 
 

 

 

Page 218



Reference  
Executive Director Jeanette Richards 

Cabinet Member Cllr Lucy Smith 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Children, Young People & Skills 
Budget Option Description Early Help 
    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
This proposal is to review the current structures within early help and span of officers and 
managers with an expected saving of £66k.  
 
 
 

    
 2023/24   

Budget Reduction (£m)  £0.066   

Staffing Reduction (FTE)  1   
    
 

 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

 
N/A 

Service Delivery 

The early help teams provide the support at neighbourhood level to families and to other 
lead partners to address concerns with families before they escalate and so try to reduce 
referral into specialist services 
 
Early help is a requirement and will be key to the overall improvement journey for children 
and reduce costs associated with children accessing more expensive social care services  
 
Early Help is inspected as part of the regulatory Ofsted framework. 
A review of the structures and realignment of some roles is estimated to meet a saving of 
£66k 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

N/A 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

Three 

Communities and Service Users 

All young people age 11 – 18 (or 25) across Bury 

Page 219



  

Page 220



Other Partner Organisations 

N/A 
 
 
 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

 
Any disestablishment of posts associated 
with this reduction will place staff at risk of 
redundancy. There are associated costs 
with this as well as reputational issues 
especially at a time when children’s 
services is currently subject to an 
improvement order. 
 
 
 
 

 
Any staff affected will be able to access 
redeployment and there are other 
opportunities for staff to apply for alternative 
posts including two team manager posts 
that will be available, as well as a manager 
for the new Family Group Conference. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

New structure paper written January 2023 

Consultation with any staff effected February 2023 
New structure implemented April 2023 

  
  

  

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? Yes 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff February March 

Trade Unions December  March  
Public   

Service User    
Other   

 

Equality Impact 
Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 
Particular Ethnic Groups No 

Page 221



Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  
EIA Required? Yes 

Page 222



Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 
Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
None 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

Yes 
 
 

 

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  
Executive Director Jeanette Richards 
Cabinet Member Cllr Lucy Smith 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Social Care & Safeguarding 
Budget Option Description Edge of Care review 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

Edge of Care work requires a clear, prompt, and skilled intervention with families to avoid 
unnecessary care entry or to facilitate a timely return home/within family networks from short-
term care episodes. The service remit and criteria, referral and access to this resource must be 
clearly defined and easily accessible for the system at the right level to capitalise on timely 
response that in most cases could help families remain together where safe and possible to do so.  

To support implementing the Edge of Care service, there needs to be greater clarity about what 

services are available to support families at the right level and safeguarding responsibilities need 

to be shared within the partnership network.  Step-up and step-down processes need to be fluid 

and focused on intervention at the right level (i.e., after an intense, short term family focused 

intervention on edge of care at Level 5, the family could be stepped down for some youth 

mentoring work if that would help with maintaining the improved family functioning in the long 

term).   

Family Group Conferencing (FGC) has a role in supporting with early family disfunction/prevent 
escalation into Level 5 services and need for specialist Edge of Care intervention, in line with 
services being delivered at the right level. This would ensure access to Edge of Care services as a 
last possible intervention before care entry, and not as the go-to service before any other 
intervention is tried. 

Feedback from our Sector Led Improvement Partner (SLIP) Essex County Council advises of a need 
for protected space to develop a specific skillset and carry out specialist, intensive change work.  

The proposed model works with the whole family together and uses a clear methodology for 
intervention (Solution Focused) which has tended to promote sustainable change faster without 
necessarily a need for separate work. 

We will implement the following:  

 Preventative work aiming to keep families together within Early Help and FGC.  

 A closer analysis of the data around the unplanned care entry cohorts (i.e. pre-teens, 
adolescents and 16/17 year olds) to better understand trends and factors impacting on 
families and reasons for care entry. 

 The Edge of Care service will be a secondary service sitting within Level 5. We will 

implement a service that is flexible, adaptive and prompt in offering a planned, specialist 

whole family intervention as opposed to reactive crisis support.  

 Clear remit and referral criteria for the service will be developed along with clear referral 
and decision pathway – decision making will be via a resource allocation panel with 
oversight at Practice Director level.  

 Referrals will come in via the allocated SW (IRT, CIN, Safeguarding, SGO teams) at point of 
parents and young people’s relationship breaking down or of an unplanned short-term 
episode of care with a clear plan of return home where safe and possible to do so.  

 The work may be stepped down to Early Help once relationships are improved and risk of 

care entry is reduced for additional support as needed (i.e., parenting support, 1:1 

emotional support for the young person etc.).  

Page 225



 Once the service is established, consideration will be given to extending the offer to 

supporting placement stability work (for long term placements where there is a risk of 

placement breakdown). 

 The service will hold the view that family networks are the best place for children and 

young people to thrive and would hold their nerve through periods of crisis within 

families.  

 We will adopt a clear approach that fits with a BRIEF solution focused intervention model 

which promotes collaboration and agency within the families we support (and that would 

also fit with the overall family focused approach of the organisation).  

This proposal will target a reduction in the looked after children cohort of 24 children, which is an 

approximate saving of £1.2M but will require time for the service to be established 

    
 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m)  £0m £506k £1.2m 
Staffing Reduction (FTE)  0   

    
 

 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

N/A 

Service Delivery 

 
This will improve service delivery for those families that require intensive support, 
complementing the Family Safeguarding model. This will build on the improvements that 
Bury Children Services have already made, contribute to practice that is more aligned to 
the rest of Greater Manchester and better serve our children and families - improving 
outcomes. 
 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

None 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

Creation of posts within Children’s restructure already approved and funded from April 
2023: 1 x Team Manager, 3 x social workers, 3 x family support workers 
 
Communities and Service Users 

Bury2gether; parents; young people; Children with SEND; Children with Disabilities 

 

Other Partner Organisations 

N/A 
 

Page 226



 

Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 
Risks Mitigations 

Failure to recruit New comms and recruitment strategy 
implemented 

  

 

Key Delivery Milestones  
Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Recruit team April 2023 
Complete training May 2023 

SLIP mentoring and evaluation July 2023 
  

  
  

  

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? Completed 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   
Trade Unions   

Public   
Service User    

Other   
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 
Particular Ethnic Groups No 

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  
EIA Required? Yes 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Page 227



Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
Restructure investment already agreed and funding in place from April 2023. 
 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

The savings have been phased to commence in 2024/25 to allow time for the new team 
and ways of working to become embedded 
 

 

Page 228



Reference  
Executive Director Jeanette Richards 
Cabinet Member Cllr Lucy Smith 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Social Care & Safeguarding 
Budget Option Description Family Safeguarding Implementation 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

Family Safeguarding is a whole family approach to working with children and their families 
that supports parents to create sustained change for themselves and their family. It is a 
whole system innovation that changes professional attitudes to families, with a renewed 
focus on the values and principles of the Children Act 1989. The approach was originally 
developed in Hertfordshire to work with families where there are children:   
 

 in need, who are experiencing significant impairment to health or development as a 
result of needs in their family 

 the subject of child protection plans, who are experiencing significant harm as a 
result of intra-familial abuse or neglect.  

 who is the subject of family law proceedings or pre-proceedings. 
 
With the support of the wider council and its partners we have set out a plan of 
transformation which is ambitious and seeks to improve the lived experience of children 
and therefore their outcomes during childhood and beyond, to achieve this a focus upon 
an effective offer of help and support to those families who face complex issues is 
required. Adopting a model of social work practice that is evidence based, in terms of 
achievable outcomes, restorative and which enables and facilitates change is a strategic 
priority within the plan and is central to the improvement and sustainability of improved 
delivery of services to our community that improve outcomes for children, particularly 
preventing the need for children to become looked after.  
 
Evidential evaluation indicates improved outcomes for children and parents by 
successfully reducing risk of harm to children; this leads to a reduction in entry to care, 
and cost avoidance by those authorities that have fully implemented the model.  Following 
implementation of this innovative practice, fewer children will be taken into care or placed 
on child protection plans. In evaluations, Family Safeguarding has been shown to result in 
up to 45% fewer children on a child protection plan and up to 30% fewer children needing 
to come into care. These are all improved outcomes for children and families, but they 
also (in times of high intervention and placement costs) have a significant impact on cost 
avoidance for authorities working in this way.  
 
 Data from Hertfordshire outlines an expected reduction of 26 children looked after (CLA) 
from year 2 on Bury’s Stretch targets.  Cabinet received a report in July 2022 which 
outlined the approach and the anticipated savings once the approach was embedded 
 
Staff recruitment and retention is a challenge and a priority for Children’s Services, with 
reliance upon agency staff being high at around 40%. The higher costs associated with 
agency staffing have driven budget pressures and the churn of staff adversely impacts 
effective support to children and families. Evaluation of the Family Safeguarding model 
suggests that there is the potential for positive impact upon the workforce: authorities 
reported anecdotal evidence that vacancies were more readily filled as staff were attracted 
by the model.  
 

 78% reported that they were very satisfied with their job  

 78-83% reported that the model enabled them to undertake more direct work with 
families. 

Page 229



 
Family Safeguarding has a proven track record in keeping more children at home safe 
with their parents. This not only delivers better outcomes for children and their families but 
also frees up Social Workers and other professionals involved to undertake work that has 
a greater impact for those who need it.  
 
 It should be noted that these figures do not include cost avoidance/savings in partner 
agencies. However, other adopters have also seen significant benefits for those 
organisations/agencies over and above their base business case. 
 

    
 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m)  £0m 0.587 1.175 
Staffing Reduction (FTE)  0   

    
 

Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

N/A 

Service Delivery 

 
This will transform the way services are delivered to children, young people and families.  
We will establish co-located multi-disciplinary teams that consist of adult specialist workers 
collaborating with children and families’ social workers, providing help and support in 
relation to parental problems associated with domestic abuse, substance misuse and 
mental ill-health.  
 
The adult specialist workers are employed by the relevant partnership agency in the area 
and receive professional supervision by a lead specialist worker or a nominated senior 
manager in the partner agency.  
 
Motivational Interviewing is used by all Family Safeguarding staff when working with 
families and within teams to build on strengths, encourage autonomy, provide support and 
encouragement, and sustain lasting change. 
 
A significant training programme will support this transformation. 
 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

OCE/ Children’s and Education 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

 
Those workers currently in the Safeguarding Teams will become part of Multi-Disciplinary 
Teams (MDT). 
 
Communities and Service Users 

Bury2gether; parents; Children with SEND; Children with Disabilities 

Page 230



 

Other Partner Organisations 

 
As detailed above, the MDTs will include adult workers (from probation, substance misuse 
and health). 
 

 

Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Failure to recruit to the teams – given the 
challenges in recruitment in these areas. 

 

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Establish Operational Board February 2023 

Detailed Project Plan February 2023 
Recruitment of adult workers March-July 2023 

Family Safeguarding Training delivered by 
Hertfordshire 

Begins January 2023, rolling programme 
throughout 2023 

Motivational Interviewing delivered by 
Alastair Cant Associates 

January – August 2023 

  

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? No 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   
Trade Unions   

Public   
Service User    

Other   
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 
Particular Ethnic Groups No 

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

Page 231



  
EIA Required? No 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
Funding has been identified for the first 2 years of this model following which the savings 
will cover costs and deliver savings 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

This is a model that has been developed elsewhere and is being supported by external 
colleagues.  Savings have been phased to start to deliver once the model is embedded 
but this will require careful monitoring to ensure the new practice is having an impact 
 

 

Page 232



Reference  
Executive Director Jeanette Richards 
Cabinet Member Cllr Lucy Smith 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Social Care & Safeguarding 
Budget Option Description Accelerating work on children’s 

fostering capacity invest to save 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
When children cannot remain in the care of their own families, the LA needs to ensure that 
there are sufficient foster homes and supported lodging hosts in the Borough to meet their 
needs.  There is an ongoing national crisis in terms of foster carer recruitment and 
retention and placement sufficiency for children and young people needing to be placed 
within foster families.  
 
This proposal: 
 

 embeds best practice models of support (Mockingbird) so that foster cares feel 
supported and want to work for Bury children 

 increases our range of incentives which will support our recruitment and retention 
strategies  
 

A detailed business case, including incentives and savings, will be presented to Cabinet in 
March 2023 for decision. 
 
Early indications of savings which can be delivered through increased use of internal 
foster carers rather than independent foster carers are included below 
 

    
 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m)  0 £0.121 £0.604 
Staffing Reduction (FTE)  0   

    
 

 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

N/A 

Service Delivery 

The fostering service will introduce ‘The Mockingbird model’ originally developed by the 
Fostering Network. The Mockingbird model will support the service to offer some of our 
more traumatized children and young people homes with highly skilled and experienced 
carers. This will further reduce the need for residential placements for some children, 
supporting placement sufficiency and efficient use of Council resources 
 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

None 

Page 233



Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

None 
 
Communities and Service Users 

Bury2gether; parents; young people; Children with SEND; Children with Disabilities 

 

Other Partner Organisations 

Fostering Network 
GMCA  
 

 

Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 
Risks Mitigations 

Approval process for business case Detailed report being taken to Cabinet in 
March 2023. 

  

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Cabinet approval for proposed changes March 2023 
Launch digital marketing campaign (with 
GM)  

April 2023 

Launch revised offer to foster carers April 2023 
Implement Mockingbird (phase 1) Summer 2023 

  
  

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? Yes – with existing foster carers 
   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Trade Unions   
Public   

Service User    
Other   

 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 

Particular Ethnic Groups No 
Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

Page 234



People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 
People in particular age groups Yes 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 
  
EIA Required? Yes 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 
Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
Full costings will be included in the report to Cabinet in March 2023. 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

 
The full costings and savings will be within the business case presented to Cabinet in 
March and it is recognised that there will be no savings in 2023/24 as I will take time to 
recruit new internal foster carers 

 

 

 

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  
Executive Director Jeannette Richards 
Cabinet Member Cllr Lucy Smith 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Children, Young People & Skills 
Budget Option Description Multi-Disciplinary Early Help 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
The service attracts significant grant monies for a number of programmes of work.  This 
proposal will maximise opportunities to fund substantive officers specifically working to 
achieve the outcomes and deliverables of those projects and programmes against the 
external funds.  This will create an in year saving to the base budget.   

    
 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Budget Reduction (£m) £0.124m   

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 0   

    
 

Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

None  

Service Delivery 

There will be no impact to service delivery as the staff are already working in these areas 

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

None 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

This will differ year on year.  The value is based upon 3 staff salaries but will not impact 
upon the number of posts in the service just the source of funding 
 
Communities and Service Users 

 
None 
Other Partner Organisations 

 
None 
 
 

Page 237



 
 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

There is no risk to this proposal  

  

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

23-24 budget 31 March 2024 

  

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? Not Required 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   
Trade Unions   

Public   

Service User    
Other   

 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people Not applicable as relates to staff already in 
post 

Particular Ethnic Groups As above 

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

As above 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

As above 

People of particular sexual orientation As above 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

As above 

People on low incomes As above 

People in particular age groups As above 
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs As above 

  
EIA Required?  

Page 238



Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 
Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
None 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

 
This will result in one in an annual saving of £124k. The source of external funding will be 
reviewed annually 
 

 

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  

Executive Director Isobel Booler 
Cabinet Member Cllr Lucy Smith 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Children, Young People & Skills 
Budget Option Description SEN Home to School Transport 
    

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 
Current Position 

 

SEN Home to School Transport currently provides travel assistance to a total of 527 

children and young people in the form of transport, mileage reimbursement or a personal 

travel budget.  

 

Transport is provided by external operators and the Council’s internal transport service 

following a competitive procurement exercise. A total of 423 children and young people 

access transport provision to and from school, the breakdown of vehicle types in use is:  

 

Vehicle Type Number of Vehicles  Number of 

children/Young People 

Saloon Car 33 40 

Euro Cab / Black Cab 1 2 

Private Hire Minibus*  12 37 

Private Hire Minibus with Tail 

Lift or Ramp* 

3 6  

(2 children travelling 

in individual vehicles 

due to needs) 

PSV Minibus** 26 154 + 1 therapy dog 

PSV Minibus with Tail Lift or 

Ramp** 

26 167 

Internal Fleet – Minibus with 

tail lift 

3 17 

 
* Private Hire Minibus – up to 8 seats and licenced by Bury Council’s Licensing Team 

** Public Service Vehicles (PSV) Minibuses – 8 seats and above, regulated by the Driver 

and Vehicle Standards Agency 

 

NB: Note the maximum vehicle capacity is not always utilised in order to accommodate 

the needs of the children and young people on the journey. 

 

It is important to note that the base budget for SEND Transport/travel assistance has 

remained unchanged for a number of years despite significantly increasing demand 

pressures. These demand pressures are likely to continue. 

 

Per capita, the expenditure on SEND transport in Bury is the lowest across the ten GM 

LA’s and amongst the lowest nationally.  

 
Proposal 

 

Review policy for travel assistance for children and young people with special educational 

needs and disability. Consideration to be given to reducing policy to statutory minimum 

requirements: 

 

 Removal of post 16 provision 

 

Page 241



 Removal of travel assistance for children under the statutory school age (5 years 

of age) 

 

 Removal of transport to short breaks / respite provision 

 

 Review of provision of transport for students on a reduced timetable (Pru) with 

a view to shared transport only at the beginning and end of the school day. 

School and parents to be responsible for requirements that differ.  

 

 Review of personal travel budget allowance, possible introduction of a banding 

system based on mileage. 

 

The proposals will ensure that the policy meets statutory minimum requirements. As a 

result, some service users currently in receipt of transport or travel assistance, will no 

longer be eligible. 

 

It is important to note that current expenditure in respect of post -16 transport is 

significantly in excess of the budget provision, and therefore, whilst this proposal would 

reduce costs, the savings to the base budget would be much lower. 

 

In addition, the statutory post 19 provision needs to be included in the travel policy 

following the outcome of a Local Government Ombudsmen investigation. This will have 

the effect of increasing costs in respect of the post 19 element. 

 

Stakeholder consultation will be required to inform decisions on changes to the policy, 

with the outcome of that decision being presented to Cabinet for determination.  

 

In addition to proposed changes to policy, there are a number of operational aspects 

that will be pursued.  

 

Review increased use of the Council’s Operational Services internal vehicle fleet.  

 

 The Council’s internal fleet currently undertake 3 routes (1 on a temporary basis) 

to Elms Bank High School, Millwood School and a combined route to Tottington 

Primary and Tottington High School.  

 

Retender of Home to School and College Transport Contract . 

  

 Existing framework (Dynamic Purchasing System) is due to expire 31s t August 

2023. It should be noted increased costs may be incurred due to the cost-of-

living crisis and increase in contractor operating costs (fuel costs, energy costs, 

driver salary, increase in cost of vehicle parts).  

 

 It should be noted that additional PSV minibuses with a tail lift may be required 

to safely accommodate wheelchair users. Depending on the size of the vehicle 

(standard minibus or welfare minibus) the service has been able to allocate two 

or three wheelchairs to a vehicle however, over the past few years the 

wheelchairs have increased in size resulting in limited capacity on the vehicles. 

Due to the length and width of some wheelchairs it is only possible to alloc ate 

one or two to a vehicle with additional seated passengers. A member of staff 

must be able to access the wheelchair from all sides in the case of emergency 

evacuation or to attend to the needs of the individual child/young person. 

 

Ensure all alternative travel assistance offers continue to be explored during the 

assessment process and maximised where possible.  

 

 Mileage Reimbursement – 55 children & young people in receipt at a cost of £94k 

per academic year, average of approx. £1709 per child/young person in 

comparison to £6137 per child/young person on transport.  

Page 242



 Personal Travel Budget - 49 children & young people in receipt at a cost of £68k 

per academic year, average of approx. £1387 per child/young person in 

comparison to £6137 per child/young person on transport. 

 

 Independent Travel Training – contract in place until August 2024 with an option 

to extend to August 2025. The contract provides 1 full time and 2 part time (20 

hours) travel trainers with a target of 15 to 20 (minimum) young people 

successfully complete the travel training programme per academic year.    

 
Independent Travel Training – consideration to be given to an additional part time travel 

trainer at a cost of £12,030 per annum.  

 

Review use of school owned vehicles 

 

 A number of schools own a small number of minibuses that could be utilised to 

support home to school transport. Further discussions to be held with schools.  

 
 

    
 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m)  0 45 90 

Staffing Reduction (FTE)  0   

    

 

Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

N/A 

Service Delivery 

Review of the travel assistance policy could potentially have a negative impact for some  

of our most vulnerable children and young people due to: 

 

 Removal of post 16 provision (college students aged 16 to 19) – potential saving 

of £400k per academic year – but the base budget is £88,800, which will be the 

extent of the reportable savings. However this needs to be done in line with 

statutory regulations with a need to consider 

 

 Removal of travel assistance for children under the statutory school age (5 years 

of age) – potential saving £80k based on transport costs to Hoyle Nursery and 

individual children accessing transport to school provision.  

 

The review of policy will have a positive outcome for a small number of students aged 

19 plus requesting travel assistance support.  

 

 Inclusion of consideration of post 19 provision 

 
 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Operations – Waste & Transport Team 

Persona – Day Services 

Children’s Services – Children with Disabilities Team 

EHCP Team Assessment Team 

Page 243



 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

N/A 

Communities and Service Users 

Schools, Bury2gether; parents; Children with SEND; Children with Disabilities 

 

Other Partner Organisations 

Contractors 

 

 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 
 
Risks Mitigations 

Lack of support in agreement to review of 

travel assistance policy to statutory 

minimum 

Support required from Senior Leadership 

Team, Elected Members 

Challenge from parents to travel policy 

review and consultation 

Ensure that the policy is promoted and 

clear to families 

Challenge from parents, social workers 

and health in relation to removal of 

respite transport  

 

Availability of internal fleet and drivers Discussions to take place with Operational 

Services 

Agreement with Adult Day Centres to 

adjust the timings that adults are 

transported to and from the day centres 

to allow the internal fleet to undertake 

school contract work. 

Discussions to take place with Adult Care 

Services 

Competitive cost to use the internal fleet 

on home to school transport, current 

costs are higher than external contractors 

and recharged to the department  

Ensure competitive pricing submission in 

mini competition 

Challenge from external contractors 

regarding increased use of internal fleet 

throughout the contract term. (The 

Council’s internal fleet operate on a 

section 19 permit and do not have to 

meet the same requirements as Public 

Service Vehicle operators) 

Meetings with contractors to make clear 

Council’s current position.  

 

 

Key Delivery Milestones  
Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Review of policy for Travel Assistance  

Implementation of revised Travel 

Assistance policy 

 

Page 244



Removal of Respite/Short Breaks 

Transport  

 

Increased use of Council’s internal 

transport fleet 

September 2023 (start of new contract) 

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? Yes 

   

 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Trade Unions   

Public   

Service User    

Other   

 

 
 
Equality Impact 
Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a 
disproportionate/ adverse impact on any of the following? 
Disabled people Yes  

Particular Ethnic Groups No 

Men or Women (including impacts due to 

pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 

partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 

undergoing or undergone a process or 

part of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups Yes 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  

EIA Required? Yes 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 
 
Consideration to an additional part time (20 hours) independent travel trainer to 

enhance the independent travel training offer at a cost of £12,030 per annum. 

Agreement to an additional travel trainer would be an invest to save initiative, students 

are generally training to travel independently from year 8 or 9 and could potentially 

generate savings for year 9 to year 11 of their schooling, based on the average cost per 

head on transport 1 student successfully completing the training could generate savings  

up to £6k per academic year. It is expected a minimum of 3 or 4 students would 

complete the training in one academic year demonstrating further savings while also 

providing the young person with lifelong skills. 

 

  

Page 245



Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within 
the agreed timescales? 

 
 
Yes 
 

 

Page 246



Page 1 of 3 
 

 

Reference 
 

Executive Director Sam Evans 
Cabinet Member Cllr Gold 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Finance 
Budget Option Description Finance innovation and project team   

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

There are a number of projects and pieces of work that are required to be undertaken by an 
innovation and project team which has been developed and resourced within the recent finance 
restructure. However, once the restructure is embedded, staff have been trained and a number of 
the larger projects have taken place the team will be disestablished, and innovation and projects 
should become part of business as usual of all the teams within finance. It is therefore proposed 
to remove the finance innovation and project team that will initially support self-serve, making tax 
digital, complete overall of debt recovery, automation of transactional processes, removal of 
internal processes which no longer add value and streamlining the finance ledger to improve 
reporting from Oct 2024. 
 
    

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£k) 
 

157k 313k 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 
 

9 9 

    
 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on. Set out any impacts (positive and negative) 
on performance and costs 
 
Property 

n/a 

Service Delivery 

It is envisaged that by Oct 2024 significant inroads have been made into supporting 
departments to move more to a self-serve approach and the implementation of making tax 
digital thereby significantly improving the financial acumen and awareness of all budget 
holders and services by this time. 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

As above 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

Currently the proposed team contains 9 posts. These post (or the backfill to them) will be 
recruited on a fixed term to minimise any disruption.  
 
Communities and Service Users 

n/a 

Other Partner Organisations 

n/a 
 
 
 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Page 247



Page 2 of 3 
 

Risks Mitigations 

There are risks that the major projects will 
not have been delivered by the time the 
team is disestablished 

Establishment of a programme board and 
monitoring of delivery plans 

  

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Completion of work programme to be 
delivered by innovation and project team 

Qtr. 2 2024/25 

 

Section D 

Consultation Required? Consultation will be required with the staff in post at the 
time 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff Apr 24/25 30 days later 

Trade Unions Apr 24/25 30 days later 
Public N/A  

Service User  N/A  
Other N/A  

 

 

Page 248



Page 3 of 3 
 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 
Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

There may be potential redundancy costs at the end of this period, but it is envisaged that 
staff may be able to secure posts within the wider finance structure through staff turnover 
during the period and then be seconded into the innovation and project team 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

 
Yes 
 

 

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

1 
 

Reference  

Executive Director Liz Cook 

Cabinet Member Cllr C Cummins  
Cllr T Tariq 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Housing 

Budget Option Description Additional savings from Health and Housing  

    

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

Work is underway to increase the supply of specialist and supported housing in the borough, to give 
adult social care service users choice in provision and an alternative to expensive residential care  
 

Savings of £0.431m from re-housing social care residents into alternative provision is already built 
into the Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) but further savings can be delivered by 2025/26 
through additional developments 

 
Savings derived are complex and are dependent on several factors: 
 

 Level of need  

 Number of beds/units in schemes  

 Commissioning efficiencies and cost of care provider 

 Reducing out of borough placements by accommodating within borough instead  

 Scheme development costs and priorities for achieving future proofing, net zero  

 Housing Benefit thresholds  
 

This makes assessment complex and subject to variation, however using information from previous 
schemes in Bury, Greater Manchester and nationally, an average saving on care per unit per year 

can be estimated. To ensure prudence and deliverability the midpoint variance is used to predict 
savings. 
 

For example, supporting a younger adult in outdated supported living property costs on average 
£47,000 a year but supporting them in a development of individual apartments can cost between 
£42,000 (saving of £5,000 per unit) per year and £36,000 (saving of £11,000 per unit). Having an 

apartment to live in rather than a shared house improves the quality of the person’s  life with the 
further benefit of being more cost effective to the public purse.    
 

Due to the complexity of assessing savings, the saving used for predications would be £8,000 
(midpoint between £5,000 - £11,000), but individual assessments of schemes indicate that the 
savings could be significantly higher. 

 
Over an average scheme size of 8 units, as commonly used for learning disability, this would be an 

annual saving of £64,000 when people are moved out of supported living and into the new 
accommodation, the cost saving would continue year on year as the care model delivers ongoing 
savings and prevents more costly care packages and out of Borough placements.  

 
For extra care housing a saving is not delivered for every extra unit delivered. This is because not 
everyone in an extra care unit requires care. For example, commonly a third of occupants are not in 

need of care, a third are in need of care similar to that that they would receive if they were in their 

Page 251



   

 

2 
 

own home, therefore no saving, and a third have a higher level of care, rather than moving into a 
care home 
 

For the third who no longer need to move into a care home then the annual saving would be on 
average £10,000 per person in care costs. However, as half of those who would have moved into 
care homes would have funded their own care there are no costs or savings to the public sector.  

 
To account for this the average costs for the 1/3 would then be £5,000 per year. This is cost 

avoidance as these people are yet to move into a care home, remaining in an extra care setting 
prevents this from happening. 
 

A series of schemes are proposed, below, to deliver savings and cost avoidance 

Priority Area 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total 

 
Older People 

 
Increase capacity 
by at least 57 

units 
 
Cost Avoidance 

£0.095m  
(Cost avoidance 

is estimated on 
the basis of 
development 

negates the 
requirement for 
additional care 

packages ) 

  
Increase capacity 
by at least 57 

units 
 
Cost Avoidance 

£0.095m 

 
114 
 

 
Cost avoidance 
£0.190m 

 
Mental Health 

 
2 x 10 unit 
schemes 

 
Saving £0.160m 

 

 
2 x 15 unit 
schemes 

 
Saving £0.240m 

 
2 x 18 unit 
schemes 

 
Saving £0.288m 

 
86 
 

 
Saving £0.688m 

 
Learning 
Disabilities 

and/or Autism 

 
2 x 8 unit 
schemes 

 
Saving  £0.128m 

 
1 x 16 unit 
scheme 

 
Saving  £0.128m 

 
1 x 7 bed 
scheme 

 
Saving £0.056m 

 
39 
 

Saving £0.312m 

TOTAL £0.383m £0.368m £0.439m £1.190m 

 
Therefore, over the next 3 years the savings are anticipated to be £1,190,000 of which £0.281m + 

£0.150m is already accounted for in 23/24 Adult Social Care (ASC) Innovation and Savings 
programme. 
 

Update position- supply side delivery  

Priority Affordable Homes projects        No. of 
AH units 

Start on Site Practical completion 

Page 252



   

 

3 
 

Fletcher Fold, Bury Township – c. 

26 units for older people and older 
people with LD. 
 

26 Summer 2023 March 2025 

Townfields Close, Bury Township – 

c. 35 units for older people 65+ 
 

 
 
 

35 Summer 2023 2025 

Wheatfields – Whitefield 

c.6 bungalows for older people and 
disabilities  

6 March 2023 March 2024 

William Kemp Heaton – c.40 
including for people with LD and/or 

autism low- moderate needs) 
 

18 April 2023 Sept 2024 

The Elms, Whitefield  – expected to 
be allocated for people with LD 

 

24  TBC 2023 TBC 2024 

Willow Street, Bury Township – 
Specialist scheme – 13 self-contained, 

apartments for young adults with high 
needs - physical and/or sensory 
disability or LD 

13 June 23 TBC Dec 2024 

Clerke St – c.30 units TBC 

 
Exploring housing options for this site 
working closely with ASC  

 

30 April-June 

2024 

2025 

 

TOTAL  152   
 

 

Financial savings 
 

   

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m)   0 £0.225 £0.569 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) n/a   

    

 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 

 

Property 

Availability of land and inward investment, capital programme priorities – balance of capital receipts 
and provision of potentially discounted land to RP’s  

Service Delivery 

Page 253



   

 

4 
 

Positive impacts of choice for customers and reduction in high-cost placement  

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Capacity pressures in BGI, Finance and Legal  
Implementation resources in ASC – transfer of existing and new customer to new provision 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

n/a 

 

Communities and Service Users 

Additional housing provision and choice  

 

Other Partner Organisations 

 

RP providers, Homes England, GMCA  
 

 
Section C 

Key Risks and Mitigations 
Risks Mitigations 

Coordination of sites  Housing Growth Board / Regeneration Board 

Assessment of accelerated land programme and 
Brownfield site programme 
 

Economic conditions increase in delivery costs- 

recession  

 

Increased demand preventing reductions in more 
costly placements and out of Borough 

placements 

 

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  

Milestone Timeline 

New sites in development  Practical completion in 2024/25  

  

 

Section D 

Consultation Required? Individual sites will require formal consultation, planning & Cabinet 

approval.  

   

 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Trade Unions   

Public   

Page 254



   

 

5 
 

Service User    

Other   

 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/  adverse impact 
on any of the following? 

Disabled people x 

Particular Ethnic Groups  

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

 

People who are married or in a civil partnership   

People of particular sexual orientation  

People who are proposing to undergo, 

undergoing or undergone a process or part of a 
process of gender assignment 

 

People on low incomes x 

People in particular age groups x 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs  

  

EIA Required yes – positive impact in 

provision of additional housing and support 
options and choices for people with 
additional needs to promote and maintain 

independent living  

 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
Housing Growth Manager recruited and in post as of December 2022.  

The Housing Growth Team is place and to be part funded by released capacity within the HRA, see 
separate template 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed timescales? 

This scheme is already in place as a continuum of developments.  Close monitoring of demand will 
be required and tracking of delivery in line with residents and clients moving from various 

accommodation types. 
 
 

 

 

Page 255



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Reference  
Executive Director Liz Cook 
Cabinet Member Cllr C Cummins  

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Housing 
Budget Option Description Efficiency savings and removal of 

duplication in the provision of 
housing services.  

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

This proposal aims to maximise available funding within the Housing Revenue 

Account (HRA) for services to council housing tenants and to direct these monies 
across a wider range of council housing activity. 

  
A review has identified significant duplication between the Bury Support at Home 
provision, provided by the Council and jointly funded by the HRA (£350K) and 

General fund (£150K), and the housing related support and facilities management 
of Sheltered Housing services provided by STH. It is proposed to withdraw the 

Bury Support at Home service on the basis that housing management, tenancy 
support and facilities in sheltered housing will all continue to be provided by Six 
Town Housing.  

  
Savings of £150K to the General Fund from these service changes will deliver an 

immediate efficiency.  The £350K saving to the HRA will be re-directed to meet 
staffing costs within the Business, Growth and Infrastructure department which 
relate to council housing development activity.  The ongoing development of 

council housing is a central part of the borough Housing Strategy, designed to 
benefit all residents including council housing tenants.  This resource will ensure 

that the pipeline of activity for 2023/24 across general and sheltered schemes is 
appropriately resourced. 
 

In future years, further efficiencies will be pursued from the HRA through a more 
fundamental review of housing management arrangements.  This work will be 

informed by the Options Appraisal of future management and maintenance of 
Council Housing which is in progress and expected to report to Cabinet in June 
2023. The options include:  

 A refresh of the Management Agreement 2020   

 Direct delivery of Housing Management and Maintenance of Council Housing in 

the Council.  

 A hybrid approach involving shared services   

 Stock transfer 

 

    
 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m)  £350K 

(HRA 

£150K 

GF 

  

Page 257



 

2 
 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 18 FTE TBC TBC 

    
 
 

Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

None  

Service Delivery 

It is proposed to withdraw the Support at Home service on the basis that housing 

management, tenancy support and facilities in sheltered housing will all continue to 
be provided by Six Town Housing 

 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Adult Social Care, Six Town Housing  

 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

 Registered Manager also covering the Falcon and Griffin Extra Care Scheme 

 1 full-time senior and 1 part-time senior (soon, a re-structure is looking to merge 

management with Falcon and Griffin Extra Care Scheme to make best use of 

resources) 

 14 Support Workers (previously named wardens) on a mixture of full and part-

time contracts  

 5 domestic staff covering the purpose-built schemes (some schemes have 

dispersed housing but still classed as sheltered accommodation) on a mixture 

of full and part-time contracts. A full review of domestic hours is planned to take 

place soon to ensure equity across the schemes. 

Total reduction anticipated to be a maximum of 18FTE accounting for current 

vacancies being held in the service.  

 
Communities and Service Users 

Bury Support at Home users will receive all future support from the STH Sheltered 
Housing service only 

 

Other Partner Organisations 

Six Town Housing 
Persona 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Page 258



 

3 
 

HRA Capacity  

Rent increase policy change – the CPI 
&1% model. 

Government has imposed a 7% rent 
increase against the rent strategy of CPI 

+ 1%  
 
The imposition of the rent cap 2023/24 

onwards will significantly impact on the 
HRA resource base.  

 
The rent loss from formulae rent 
CPI&1% =11.1% to the rent cap at 7% 

is £93,245K in 2023/24  
(Rent setting decision Cabinet February 

2023)  
 

Development of a robust business plan 
to include capital and revenue and 
approach to treasury management / 

borrowing.  

Increased costs of operations  

Economic conditions increase in 
delivery costs especially maintenance 
costs, supply chain costs  

Energy cost increases 

 

Reduction of housing related support 
could lead to increase in demand for 

social care packages. 

The closure and fundamental reduction 
in service to be managed by a clear 

communication plan.  

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Sheltered housing review  Implementation from April 2023. 

Options appraisal for future of 
management and maintenance of 

Council Housing  

Commenced – initial decision by June 
2023 

Implementation April 2024 

 

Section D 

Consultation 

Required? 

Consultation required with service users of Bury Support at 

Home  
Redundancy consultation required with Staff and Trade Unions  
 

To bring housing management and maintenance functions in 
house a test of opinion of tenants would be required – subject to 

a Cabinet / Council decision  
Consultation would be required for any changes with affected 
Staff – formal TUPE processes. / Redundancy  

   

 Start Date* End Date 

Staff June 2023  End June 2023 

Trade Unions June 2023 End June 2023 

Page 259



 

4 
 

Public TBC  

Service User  June 2023 End June 2023 

Other   
*Dates relate to phase 1, Sheltered Housing Review. A timeline for the wider potential changes lined 

to the review of Six Town Housing will be included in the outcomes of the current options appraisal.  

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a 
disproportionate/ adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people TBC 

Particular Ethnic Groups TBC 

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

TBC 

People who are married or in a civil partnership TBC 

People of particular sexual orientation TBC 

People who are proposing to undergo, undergoing or 

undergone a process or part of a process of gender 
assignment 

TBC 

People on low incomes TBC 

People in particular age groups TBC 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs TBC 

  
EIA Required? Yes 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

Resource allocation for Sheltered Housing Review ASC to assess if additionality is 
required.  
Resource allocation for STH Governance review If a yes decision to close the ALMO 
additionality will be required in project management, HR, Finance & Legal resource 
required.  
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

 
Yes 

 

Page 260



Reference  

Executive Director Liz Cook  

Cabinet Member Cllr Gold 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area Housing 

Budget Option Description Homelessness Prevention Grant 

    

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

 
In 2021/22 the Government combined and uplifted what was previously the Flexible Homelessness 
Support Grant and Homelessness Reduction Grant. In 2020/21 local authorities were provided with 

funding of £200m through the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant and £63m through the 
Homelessness Reduction Grant. In 2021/22 these two funding streams were combined and uplifted 

nationally by £47m to create a fund of £310m. Bury Council’s allocation was £463,254 
 
In 2022/23 the Councils allocation was an almost identical amount of £463,255 

 
The purpose of the Homelessness Prevention Grant is to give local authorities control and flexibility 
in managing homelessness pressures and supporting those who are at risk of homelessness. We 

expect local authorities to use it to deliver the following priorities:  
 

 To fully enforce the Homelessness Reduction Act and contribute to ending rough sleeping by 

increasing activity to prevent single homelessness 

 Reduce family temporary accommodation numbers through maximising family 

homelessness prevention 

 Eliminate the use of unsuitable bed and breakfast accommodation for families for longer 

than the statutory 6-week limit 
 
Bury Council already provides support to prevent homelessness therefore this grant will be used 

wherever possible to fund existing interventions and support currently funded by the Council’s base 
budget thereby reducing the base budget funding requirement by an equivalent amount.  
 

The assumption is that the Homelessness Prevention Grant will continue at the current level of 
£463,255 in 2023/24 and future years. 
 

 

    

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m)  £0.464 £0.464 £0.464 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 0 0 0 

    

 

 
 
Section B 

Page 261



What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

None 
 

 

Service Delivery 

None as existing services will continue 
 

 

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

None as existing services will continue 

 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

None as existing services will continue 

 
 

Communities and Service Users 

None as existing services will continue 

 

Other Partner Organisations 

None as existing services will continue 
 

 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

There is a risk of challenge related to additional 
funding provided by Government being used to 
fund existing services and therefore not provide 

the additional support intended 
 

Bury Council already provides support to prevent 
homelessness and this funding allows these 
services to be protected from budget cuts due to 

the Council’s projected budget gap and previous 
reliance on the use of reserves. 

Base budget funded spend is less than the value 
of the grant resulting in partial delivery of the 

funding exchange. 
 

Base budget spend will be monitored as part of 
the monthly financial monitoring with progress 

included in the savings monitoring appendix 
which is presented monthly to Execs and 
quarterly to Cabinet. 

  

The HPG budget ceases or diminishes which 
results in a de facto redundancy situation for the 

homelessness service or a new revenue 

A parallel review of reserves and retention of 
sufficient resources to manage this risk 

Page 262



 
Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  

Milestone Timeline 

 
The saving will be delivered from 1 April 2023 

when budgets are implemented 
 
 

 
Monitoring will take place monthly 

 

 

Section D 

Consultation Required? No 

   

 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Trade Unions   

Public   

Service User    

Other   

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 

 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

 
There are no investment requirements with this proposal 

 
 
 

 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed timescales? 

Yes 

 

pressure to retain this capacity through the 
general fund  

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  
Executive Director Will Blandamer 
Cabinet Member Cllr Tariq 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area OCO/ASC/CYP 
Budget Option Description 14 – 25 disability service redesign 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

Bury Council has an ambition to drive better outcomes for residents who use care services 
whilst securing best value for the tax payer.  
 
Within this context, the Council is seeking a high performing disability service for 14-25 
year olds that can manage existing and projected demand, deliver financial savings and 
improve service quality.  
 
Bury Council appointed EY to conduct an 8-week accelerated review of their 14-25 
offering to understand the current pain points and challenges, and the potential to 
redesign the services to ensure improvements, deliver savings and support independence 
and strengths-based approaches within the transition to adulthood.  
 
EY conducted data analysis to understand the current cohort and spend, any forthcoming 
demand, and high-level savings opportunities.  Through 1-2-1 interviews, workshops and 
care package reviews EY were able to understand Bury Council’s current pain points and 
challenges. Further utilising their relationship with the Social Care Institute for Excellence 
(SCIE), best practice and lessons learned from other local authorities were explored and 
discussed.  
 
This analysis found that   Bury Council should invest in establishing a designated 

transitions service focusing on 14-25 year olds, with a focus on preparing for 

adulthood to overcome their current pain points and barriers. 

 

 
What does this mean in practice? 

• Increased focus on supporting c14-25 year olds, by putting them front and 
centre to the transitions process, with the right level of commissioned services 

to meet the young person’s desired outcomes and needs  
• Over-arching social care structure remains unchanged, comprised of 

Children’s services supporting 0-18 year olds and Adults services supporting 18+ 
• The creation of a new multi-disciplinary Transitions Service to support 14-25 

year olds and enable a more seamless, outcomes focused transition into 

adulthood 

Page 265



• The new team will need to be appropriately resourced to meet current and 

projected demand and access expertise from social workers, occupational 
therapists, commissioning, brokerage, health colleagues and business support 

• The team will bring together representatives from the above functions from 
children’s social care, adults social care, education, health and the voluntary 
and community sector 

• Referrals to be received from CSC and front door/MASH where it is clear there is 

a disability need for a 14-25 year old 
• A robust ‘planning for transitions’ pathway will need to be established for 

children approaching 14 with robust data in place to provide the service with 

visibility of forthcoming demand 
• Similarly, a streamlined pathway for adults as they approach 25 will be 

required to support the transition into adult services, with data shared regularly to 
provide visibility of the level of demand and need  

• Specialised commissioned services for young people and adolescents 

through a dedicated commissioning team 
• There is flexibility on when children ‘enter’ and ‘exit’ the proposed support based 

on readiness. 
• The role of existing key contacts/ workers through this journey will need to be 

further designed 
 
This option will enable Bury Council to:  

• Build on existing practice strengths  
• Enable a streamlined pathway into adulthood and the potential to better 

manage costs and expectations without resulting in large scale change 
across the entire service 

• Provide focused multi-disciplinary capacity for the 14-25 cohort  
• Facilitate early intervention and planning presenting the opportunity to 

manage demand and build resilience into services during adulthood  
 
Essential Principals for successful service delivery 
 

 Governance will be robust, timely and involve representatives from across the 
pathway and multi-disciplinary teams   

 Commissioning will be integrated and focused on 14-25 year olds 

 Families and young people are front and centre to care and assessment planning, 
captured through single-multiagency assessments and transition planning 
commencing as early as 9 years old where appropriate  

 Dedicated information and advice service support families and young people to 
feel informed and prepared to transition into adulthood 

 The service is informed by appropriate data and reporting mechanisms to support 
early transition planning and forecast demand to ensure on-time assessments for 
young people, and maximisation of savings potential 

 
Resourcing Requirements 

 
The following table illustrates the resources required, whilst some are already available 
from existing services those highlighted as red will be additional. 
 
Those highlighted amber are existing roles that may be subject to restructure as the new 
model is delivered 
 
 

Page 266



 
 
The exact detail of the resources required within the new service will be defined when the 
programme starts in March. The programme requires senior programme management 
support full time for 1 year to deliver the restructure required. 
 
The savings are profiled accordingly to account for this start mid year. 
 
The cost of resources per annum is approximately £200,000 and has been netted off the 
expected stretch savings possible with this investment of approximately £700,000 over 4 
years  
 
Without such investment in resources tactical savings (no additional resources) of 
approx. £282k across 4 years are possible from reviews of high needs packages. 

 
 
 
 
    

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Page 267



 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Service design finalisation By end of April 2023 

Restructure and implementation By September 2023 

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? No 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Budget Reduction (£m) cumulative 0.120 0.300 0.480 0.700 
Staffing Reduction (FTE) 0 0 0 0 
 

 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

N/A 

Service Delivery 

Service changes to staff working with older children and young adults with disabilities 

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Bury Council CYP and ASC 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

No posts will be made redundant 

Communities and Service Users 

Older Children, Younger Adults and their families 

Other Partner Organisations 

NHS Bury 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Either the CYP or ASC department may not 
support the final model designed by the 
programme team 

The programme team will keep the 
departments updated and both departments 
will provide senior managers to act as join 
SRO 

Users and their families may not 
understand the changes 

Codesign with users and their families will 
be part of this transformation programme 

  

Page 268



Trade Unions   
Public   

Service User    
Other   

 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people X – but not adverse 
Particular Ethnic Groups  

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

 

People of particular sexual orientation  
People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

 

People on low incomes  
People in particular age groups  

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs  
  
EIA Required? no 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 
Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

£200,000 per annum as outlined above 
 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

Yes 

 

 

Page 269



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  

Executive Director Will Blandamer 

Cabinet Member Cllr Tariq 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area OCO 

Budget Option Description Enforce Section 22 of the Care Act 

    

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

Section 22 of the Care Act 2014 states that a local authority may not meet people’s needs 

by providing a service that should be provided under the NHS Act 2006 unless doing so is 
merely incidental or ancillary to doing something else that meets need. 
 
This means where a person requires a reminder, or prompt or assistance to take 
medication the local authority may only provide a care package to do this where the carer 
is also meeting another need at the same time, such as personal care or assistance with 
food.  
 
Where the support is only with medication the local authority is not required to provide 
care under the Care Act. 
 
Where medication is the only need and there are no other eligible needs that need 
meeting at the same time then this is the responsibility of the NHS under the NHS Act 
2006. 
 
This policy has already been enacted by most other local authorities in England 
 

An analysis for home care provision in Bury found a number of calls are now only for 

medication prompting or assistance. 
 

The total cost of providing these calls is £636,000 per year and equals 30,000 hours of 

care a year or 82 hours per day across all of our care and support services that provide 

services to adults.  These services are currently commissioned from external home care 

providers. 

 
This proposal sees no new home care calls that are for medication only provided to adults 
with care and support needs. In addition, over 2 years all small packages of care where 
home care calls are for medication only and no other need is being met will be reviewed. 
 
Where medication only support is required, adults will be encouraged to use a medication 
aid or to seek support from their GP or pharmacist for further advice on how to manage 
their medication. 
 
This policy and programme of reviews will start following public consultation 

    

 2023/24 2024/25 

Budget Reduction (£m) £0.300 £0.636 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 0 0 

 

 

Page 271



 

Section D 
Consultation Required? Yes 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff N/A N/A 
Trade Unions N/A N/A 

Public N/A N/A 
Service User  Feb 2023 March 2023 

Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

None 

Service Delivery 

Service users would no longer receive a call from a carer provided by the local authority 
but rather use a medication aid. Where this was not possible service users would be 
asked to contact their GP or pharmacist for further advice. 
 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

No effect on Bury Council 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

0 as these services are commissioned from external providers 

Communities and Service Users 

Service users would no longer receive a call from a carer provided by the local authority 
but rather use a medication aid. Where this was not possible service users would be 
asked to contact their GP or pharmacist for further advice. 
 
Other Partner Organisations 

Service users would no longer receive a call from a carer provided by the local authority 
but rather use a medication aid. Where this was not possible service users would be 
asked to contact their GP or pharmacist for further advice. 
 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Medication may be poorly managed Advice on compliance can be provided by 
pharmacists and general practice 
 
Compliance aids are readily available 
 
Where necessary service users can be 
referred to the equipment and assistive 
technology service 

Page 272



Other – NHS partners, 
providers 

Feb 2023 March 2023 

 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people X 

Particular Ethnic Groups  
Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

 

People of particular sexual orientation  

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

 

People on low incomes  
People in particular age groups  

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs  
  
EIA Required? yes 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

None 
 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

This will require careful monitoring and scrutiny to deliver the savings in 2023/24 due to 
timing of commencement following consultation and any transitioning 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Reference  

Executive Director Will Blandamer 

Cabinet Member Cllr Tariq 

Section A 
 

 

Service Area OCO 

Budget Option Description Disabled Facilities Grant and Housing Assistance Policy 

  

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

Improved utilisation of Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 

The DFG is a central government grant that the council receives each year to fund capital 

adaptions to people’s homes so that they can live more independently. 

It is currently £2m per year and increases yearly. 

The most recent white paper on reforms to Adult Social Care and updated guidance on 

Disabled Facilities Grant encourages councils to use the Regulatory Reform Order 2002 as 

part of a published housing assistance policy to innovate in the provision of housing 

support, assistive technology and streamlining the grant process and speeding up the 

adaptions process. 

Bury will publish a housing assistance policy and use the flexibilities contained within the 

regulatory reform order to release £250,000 per annum to fund innovation in the areas 

above. 

This policy will be delivered prior to 1st April 2023 at the nearest Cabinet meeting. 

  

 2023/24 

Budget Reduction (£) £250,000 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 0 

 

 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

None 

Service Delivery 

Service Delivery would not be affected  

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

None 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

Page 275



 

 

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

A housing assistance policy must be 
published 

March 2023 

  

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? No 
   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff N/A  

Trade Unions N/A  

Public N/A  
Service User  N/A  

Other N/A  
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 

Particular Ethnic Groups No 

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  

0 

Communities and Service Users 

No change in service provision 

Other Partner Organisations 

N/A 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 
Risks Mitigations 

Cabinet may not agree 
housing assistance policy 

Brief members in advance 

Page 276



 

 

EIA Required? no 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 
Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

None 
 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

Yes 

 

 

Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Reference  

Executive Director Will Blandamer 

Cabinet Member Cllr Tariq 

Section A 
 

  

Service Area OCO 

Budget Option Description Residents transitioning to alternative 
packages 

   

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

The council’s adult social care department will continue to work to ensure all Bury 

residents entitled to have their care package fully funded by NHS Continuing Health Care 

do so.  

The number of Bury residents accessing this support via this fund has been historically 

lower than many other areas and by working closely with our partnership in our integrated 

system we are steadily improving the number of people who receive their care funded by 

the NHS instead of paying for it themselves or having it funded by council. 

Over the next 3 years this will reduce the demand on the council’s care budget by 

£750,000 

   

 23/24 24/25 

Budget Reduction (£) £375,000 £750,000 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 0 0 

   

 

Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

None 

Service Delivery 

Service Delivery would not be affected  

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

None 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

0 

Communities and Service Users 

No change in service provision 

Other Partner Organisations 

Page 279



 

 

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Identification of potential cases for review 
and plan delivery of reviews and commence 
CHC training programme for ASC staff 

April – June 2023 

Training of Adult Social Care staff re CHC 
applications/eligibility to be completed 

July – Sept 2023 

Ongoing progression of reviews with 
associated savings monitoring and 
quarterly report via ASC SLT 

Oct 2023 onwards 

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? No 
   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff N/A  
Trade Unions N/A  

Public N/A  
Service User  N/A  

Other N/A  
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people  

Particular Ethnic Groups  
Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

 

People of particular sexual orientation  

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

 

People on low incomes  

People in particular age groups  
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs  

  
EIA Required? no 

Increased demand for funding from NHS continuing Health Care fund 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 
Risks Mitigations 

The number of people found eligible does 
not increase meaning the council funding is 
not released 

Numbers being found eligible will be 
monitored jointly with NHS partners 

Page 280



 

 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 
Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

None 
 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

Yes 

 

 

Page 281



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  
Executive Director Will Blandamer 
Cabinet Member Cllr Tariq 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area OCO 
Budget Option Description Review of working age adults' costs 

against a robust national toolkit 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

Bury is already a well performing albeit high cost authority with a wide range of existing 

strengths, so it is well placed to get even better. Specific strengths include: 

 Service, team and commissioning leadership that is value based with a focus on 

strengths-based approaches 

 Passionate and committed staff with good knowledge of strengths-based 

approaches 

 Co-location of NHS and the learning disability team with regular joint working 

 A well led joint NHS/LA commissioning and provider relations team 

 A good track record of identifying improvement and savings opportunities 

 Existing high levels of satisfaction about support from the people being supported 

 A good mix of use of support resources with new residential placements relatively 

rare 

There is however evidence of scope for Bury to further improve.  

National data shows that Bury: 

 Learning disability gross support costs are £35 per head of  population more than 

comparable authorities 

 Support cost per person supported aged 18-64 (£28.6k) are higher than the £25.5k 

North West average. 

 Supports 43 more people aged 18-64 relative to its population than is average for 

North West. 

 Supports more people after assessment than is average in the North West 

 Makes only limited use of short term care and support but Bury is below the 

average 

 Has comparatively low levels of NHS funding for adults age 18-64 

In addition local data shows that Bury has a high number (118) of support packages 

costing more than £1,800 pw as well as 160 support packages costing less than £200 pw.   

Both these cohorts need careful review as the case file review found evidence that some 

support in Bury is: 

 Not fully appropriate to meet needs - over servicing or because the support needed 

is not available, or  

 Costs more than is necessary - over pricing.  

 In particular: 

Page 283



o “Waking” night cover is not always justified by the recorded needs on file,  

o CHC/S117 NHS funding is less than we normally see in some cases, and 

o Some people aged over 65 may be better supported in Older Peoples 

services rather than specialist Learning Disability services 

The “Progression Model” has been used to improve outcomes for people with a learning 
disability by improving their independence and reducing their reliance on care and support 
services. 

 

The progression model is based on strength-based assessments which 
maximise opportunities for independence, helping service users to acquire independent 
living skills. This means trained workers at all levels including social workers, occupational 
therapists and the direct workforce, develop a 
plan with an individual taking small steps to independence. This may cover everything 
from learning to travel independently on a bus, to making a 
sandwich. The model has twin aims of maximising independence and making care 
affordable through the reduced reliance on longer term care. 
 

The main improvement opportunities are to: 

 Undertake a reassessment of all 118 packages costing more than £1,800 per week 

(accelerated benefits realisation project) 

 Revisit all 160 low cost packages of support as part of the normal review process 

to check all support is still needed 

 As a part of the above look to use assistive technology more often and more 

creatively and ensure care, support and treatment plans are outcomes focused 

with clear step by step plans to achieve outcomes 

 Seek to increase levels of NHS continuing health care and S117 funding where 

appropriate 

 To ensure the above have a lasting impact and to build on the recent investment in 

strengths based practice: 

o Introduce and embed the “Progression” © approach 

o Explore opportunities to further develop the effectiveness of MDT working 

Opportunity 1: Reassess 118 high cost packages to (a) right size support, and (b) 

negotiate a fair price for the “right sized” package as there is evidence of possible “Over 

Servicing” or “Over Pricing” might exist. 

Opportunity 2: Review 160 low cost packages and signpost to universal services where 

appropriate or redesign support creatively 

Opportunity 3: Seek to deploy Assistive Technology (AT) more often to:  

(a) Enable greater levels of independence and increase choice and control, and  

(b) Reduce support costs where it is safe to do so. 

Opportunity 4: Check that “Waking” night cover is always warranted by each individual’s 

support needs 

Page 284



Opportunity 5: Ensure Continuing Health Care (CHC), Section 117 and all other joint 

NHS funding is accessed where appropriate/locally agreed 

Opportunity 6: Consider if any of the 40 people aged >65 who have specialist LD support 

have age related support needs that would be better met by older people’s services 

 

    
 2023/24 2024//25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m) 1.000 1.700 1.700 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 0 0 0 
 

 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 

Property 

None 

Service Delivery 

Service for people living with disabilities would be changed to ensure independence was 
maximised  

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

None 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

0 

Communities and Service Users 

People living with disabilities would be provided services more appropriate to their needs,  
increasing the user’s independence, reducing the cost to the Council and potentially the 
cost to the user. 
 
Other Partner Organisations 

Joint working is required with the NHS where S117 or CHC funding may be appropriate 

 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

The number of people benefiting from 
improved care does not release the 
required savings 

A transformation programme will be 
established to over see the improvements 

Care Providers used to traditional care 
provision may not understand the 
requirements of delivering care that is 
developed on a progression model 

Care providers will be engaged with as part 
of the transformation programme 

  

Page 285



 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Programme team to deliver high needs 
review and transformation in place 

December 2022 

 

 

Section D 
Consultation Required? No 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff N/A  
Trade Unions N/A  

Public N/A  
Service User  N/A  

Other N/A  
 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people x 
Particular Ethnic Groups  

Men or Women (including impacts due to 
pregnancy/maternity) 

 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

 

People of particular sexual orientation  

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or part 
of a process of gender assignment 

 

People on low incomes  

People in particular age groups  
Groups with particular faiths and beliefs  

  
EIA Required? yes 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

Additional Social Work Staff to carry out reviews 
Support from Alder Advice 
Extra care services to improve independence 
Commissioning and Project management support 
Training 
£308,000 
This has been netted off the savings as part of the invest to save modelling 

Page 286



 
  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

Yes 

 

 

Page 287



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  
Executive Director Will Blandamer 
Cabinet Member Cllr Tariq 

Section A 
 

   

Service Area One Commissioning Organisation 
Budget Option Description Staying Well 

    
Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

The Staying Well team is a preventative service in Bury that carries out social prescribing 
and works with residents to design care plans that empower them to improve their abilities 
and maintain their independence 
 
At the heart of government policy is increasing capacity in general practice and using this 
capacity to address inequalities. It is doing this by delivering additional funding to primary 
care networks to employ additional roles to perform additional functions, these are: 
 

 Clinical pharmacists 

 Pharmacy technicians 
 First contact physiotherapists 

 Physician’s associates 

 Dietitians 

 Podiatrists 

 Occupational therapists 

 Community paramedics 

 Nursing associates and trainee nursing associates 
 Social prescribing link workers 

 Care co-ordinators 

 Health and wellbeing coaches 
 
The Staying Well team currently provides three of these functions, as described below: 
 
Social Prescribing 
Social Prescribing Link Workers give people time and focus on what matters to the person 
as identified in their care and support plan. They connect people to community groups and 
agencies for practical and emotional support and offer a holistic approach to health and 
wellbeing, hence the name ‘social prescribing’. 
 
Social prescribing enables patients referred by general practice, pharmacies, multi-
disciplinary teams, hospital discharge teams, allied health professionals, fire service, 
police, job centres, social care services, housing associations and voluntary, community 
and social enterprise (VCSE) organisations to get the right care for them. 
 
Link workers typically work with people over 6-12 contacts (including phone calls and face 
to face meetings) over a three-month period with a typical caseload of up to 250 people, 
depending on the complexity of people’s needs. 
 
 
Care co-ordinators 

Page 289



Care coordinators provide extra time, capacity, and expertise to support patients in 
preparing for clinical conversations or in following up discussions with primary care 
professionals. They work closely with the GPs and other primary care colleagues within 
the primary care network (PCN) to identify and manage a caseload of identified patients, 
making sure that appropriate support is made available to them and their carers (if 
appropriate), and ensuring that their changing needs are addressed. They focus on the 
delivery of personalised care to reflect local PCN priorities, health inequalities or at risk 
groups of patients. They can also support PCNs in the delivery of Enhanced Health in 
Care Homes. 
 
Health and wellbeing coaches 

Health and wellbeing coaches (HWBCs) will predominately use health coaching skills to 
support people to develop the knowledge, skills, and confidence to become active 
participants in their care so that they can reach their own health and wellbeing goals. They 
may also provide access to self-management education, peer support and social 
prescribing. 
 
Health coaches will support people to self-identify existing issues and encourage proactive 
prevention of new and existing illnesses. This approach is based on using strong 
communication and negotiation skills and supports personal choice and positive risk 
taking. 
 
They will work alongside people to coach and motivate them through multiple sessions, 
supporting them to identify their needs, set goals, and help them to implement their 
personalised health and care plan. 
 
 
This proposal sees the service funded by PCN ARRS funding rather than Council revenue 
as has already been agreed by three of the four PCNs.  
 
    

 2023/24 2024/25 

Budget Reduction (£) – See above £375,000 £375,000 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 0 0 
 
 
Section B 
What impact does the proposal have on: 
 
Property 

None 
 
 
Service Delivery 

None 
 
 
Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Page 290



 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  
Milestone Timeline 

Programme team to deliver high needs 
review 
 

Q3 22/23 
 

Transfer of Funding 
 

April 2023 
 

 

 
Section D 

Consultation Required? No 

   
 Start Date End Date 

Staff   
Trade Unions   

 
None 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

0 
 
 
Communities and Service Users 

None - The service will continue, funded by NHS PCNs 
 
 
Other Partner Organisations 

 
Primary Care Networks and General Practice Leadership Collaborative will take on the 
funding as has been agreed by three of the four PCNs. 
 
 
 
Section C 
Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

The primary care network may not wish to 
take over this service but rather purchase 
their own staff to perform the above 
functions meaning the saving is not 
delivered 

The Staying Well service comes with a 
established level of activity and an excellent 
history in delivering improved outcomes 
which can be evidenced 

The primary care network may not wish to 
take over this service but rather purchase 
their own staff to perform the above 
 

To deliver the saving it will be necessary to 
end the service if the PCN do not support 
this 

Page 291



Public   
Service User    

Other   
 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 
Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

None 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the agreed 
timescales? 

Yes 

 

 

Page 292



 

Reference  

Executive Director Donna Ball  

Cabinet Member Cllr Quinn  

Section A    

Service Area Engineering Services  

Budget Option Description Capitalisation of Staff salaries 

    

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

Engineering Services performs a wide range of statutory duties, including being 

the Highway Authority for the Borough. This means that the service has a 
significant role to play in ensuring that development and regeneration initiatives 
are realised for the benefit of the entire Borough.   

Bury Council is driving forward a significant growth and regeneration programme 
that will generate a significant number of major and complex planning applications 

in the coming years, including: 

- Northern Gateway - one of the largest employment sites in the country that will 

create thousands of jobs within the Borough and bring transformational change 
to the Borough’s economy and to the life chances of our residents; 

- Strategic residential developments, that will provide much needed new and 

affordable homes for our growing population and facilitate strategic 
infrastructure investment including at Elton and Northern Gateway (Simister); 

and 

- Large scale redevelopments and regeneration of the Borough’s key town 
centres in Bury, Radcliffe, Prestwich, Whitefield and Ramsbottom (including 

strategic transport and Levelling Up projects). 

These projects coincide with a considerable highways capital funding programme 

from both the Council’s capital funding and the CRSTS funding from TfGM.  

The service has the opportunity, in accordance with financial regulations, to 
capitalise salaries to on-going active capital projects.   

The existing staff budget for Engineering Services of £1,300,699 includes 
£168,000 of capitalised costs in 2022/23. Analysis of work in support of the above 

areas of capital funded activity has identified that a further £189,000 can be 
capitalised from 2023/24.  

Page 293



 

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m) – See above £0.189   

Staffing Reduction (FTE) None   

Section B 

What impact does the proposal have on: 

Property 

None. 

Service Delivery 

Charging of additional staff time or Council overhead to capital projects will need to 
be balanced against the capital available for project delivery and therefore should 
primarily be built into externally funded rather than Council funded projects.   

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

This restructure will support the priorities of both BGI and the Council.  

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

None  

Communities and Service Users 

None  

Other Partner Organisations 

None 

Section C 

Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Page 294



 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  

Milestone Timeline 

Capitalisation will require journaling of 

salary costs against capital expenditure 
codes on a monthly or quarterly basis 

Oct 2022 – Mar 2023  

 

Section D  

Consultation Required? No consultation required 

   

 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Trade Unions   

Public   

Service User    

Other   

 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a disproportionate/ 
adverse impact on any of the following? 

Capital budgets are under considerable 
pressure at present due to 
unprecedented construction material 

and labour price inflation.  Further 
capitalisation may result in project 

overspends which may require further 
capital funds/scope change/project 
closure. 

Proactive capital monitoring of each 
major project and use of value 
engineering where appropriate. 

 
Additional capital may be required to 

fund overspends should value 
engineering be unsuccessful. 

Capital/regeneration funding ends and 

the posts are therefore not funded. 

Currently capital funding streams are 

confirmed for the coming 5 years and 
indications from TfGM are that they are 

currently working on funding proposals 
for the 5 years after that. 
Regeneration schemes are Council 

priorities and therefore the risk of them 
not coming to fruition is minimal. 

Page 295



Disabled people No 

Particular Ethnic Groups No 

Men or Women (including impacts due 
to pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 

partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or 

part of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  
EIA Required? No EIA required 

 

Section E  

 Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 
 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

None 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the 

agreed timescales? 

Sufficient external capital programmes and grants to manage this and there is no 
reason to expect this not to be the case in 2023/24 and future years but this will 

require careful in year monitoring and close scrutiny of all future bids to ensure 
every opportunity is maximised 

 

Page 296



 

 

Reference  

Executive Director Donna Ball 

Cabinet Member Cllr Alan Quinn 

Section A    

Service Area Streetscene – Street Lighting 

Budget Option Description 
Continuation of LED street Lighting 
implementation  

    

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

Introduction 

Many local authorities across the UK have already opted to reduce energy 
consumption and costs through remodelling and modernising street lighting. The 

table below is taken from an APSE Street Lighting Survey and shows the different 
approaches taken by local authorities with regards to energy saving methods: 

 Zero 0-10% 
10-

20% 

20-

30% 

30-

40% 
>40% 

Lamp switch off (eg. 
2am-5am) 

65.22% 26.09% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 8.70% 

LED lighting 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 10.0% 0.00% 90.00% 

Lamp dimming 17.24% 0.00% 3.45% 6.90% 3.45% 68.97% 

Reduced lighting hours 56.52% 8.70% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 34.78% 

 

The table shows that replacement of Street Lighting with LEDs has been done by 
over 90%  of authorities and nearly 70%  are operating some form of lamp dimming.  

With rising energy costs, it is essential that savings options from street lighting are 
further considered Bury.  

Overview of Street Lighting Energy Usage  

Street lighting uses 27%  of the Council’s total electricity, and accounts for 9%  of the 

Council’s carbon emissions. 

The Street Lighting energy invoice for 2021/2022 was approximately £800k and the 
estimate for 2022/2023 is £1.7m, an increase of 112.5%. 

Work To Date 

Page 297



 

 

Phase 1 – LED Lantern swap on side roads – This work resulted in just over 11,000 

lanterns being swapped to LEDs.  Despite this being around 54% of the total lighting 
stock, these lanterns only make up just under 15% of the total energy consumption 

and are not of a type which can be dimmed without further upgrades. 

Phase 2 - Swapping columns of 8 metre and above which are approaching/have 

passed their design life, and the replacement of columns identified as requiring 
replacing as part of our structural test programme – This work is well under way, 
with some 855 having already been replaced with LED Lanterns. This phase is still 

in progress, and it is anticipated that over 3,000 columns will be swapped by the end 

of March 2024. 

A Way Forward 

Many local authorities across the UK have already opted to reduce energy 
consumption and costs through LED lanterns and dimming of street lighting. 

As mentioned above, the LED lanterns replaced in Phase 1 only make up around 
15% of the overall energy usage, so it is felt that the capital costs to swap out the 

control gear for one suitable of being trimmed/dimmed is just not cost effective. 

However, just over 57%  of the total energy consumption is made up of the higher 

wattage old low pressure/high pressure sodium lanterns, where replacement would 

provide a cost-effective solution to reducing the overall energy costs.  These are 
generally on 8 metre and above columns. 

Work is already ongoing to replace some of these as part of the current column 
replacement programme (Phase 2) as mentioned above in “Work To Date”.   

Taking the number of lanterns which will be swapped as a result of phase 2 into 
consideration, there are around 3,346 lanterns remaining which could still be 

replaced. They can be broken down as follows: 

 

Lamp Type Quantity 

90W 969 

100W 265 

135W 940 

150W 1,093 

250W 79 

 3,346 

 

Proposal 

To replace the lanterns containing the above-mentioned lamp types with LED 
lanterns. As a result, they will then be capable of being dimmed by the Council’s 

Page 298



 

 

current system, which is Philips CityTouch.  This will ensure that the Council has 
control of all the LED lighting of this type from a single system. 

The current estimated cost of replacing the above lighting, based upon lanterns 
costs and the current GMCA Framework rates, is £1,330,000. 

The estimated time to complete this work is approximately 360 working days, 

approximately 1.75 years based on 1 crew carrying out the work. The timescales 

could be reduced by employing more teams to carry out the work or contracting out 
the replacement work. However, it should be noted that recruitment to these roles is 

currently difficult and interest in bidding for this work is low due to high demand for 
these services. If approved the service can commence the process as soon as 

possible to contract out / recruit for this work, in the hope that the timescales can be 
reduced so the savings can be realised.  

Replacement with LED lighting 

The replacement of the columns with LED lanterns as described above will realise 
an estimated energy saving of £219,987 per year (pay back of 6.6 years). 

Dimming of the LED lighting  

The concept of dimming street lighting was first approved by Cabinet in November 
2012. The 855 lamps that have already been completed as part of phase 2 are 

already being dimmed by 50% between 00:00hrs and 06:00hrs with the same 
approach proposed for all future upgrades to LED lighting. 

It should be noted that, whilst detectable with a light meter, a 50% reduction in the 
lighting level should not be visibly noticeable. 

Once the above replacements have taken place the Council will have control of all 

the LED lighting of this type on the classified network from a single system and will 
have the capability of dimming the lighting.  Dimming the lighting by 50% between 
00:00hrs and 06:00hrs will provide a further saving of £102,804 and reduce the 
payback period to around 4.5 years. 

The Council has not received any contact / complaints in relation the existing trials 

that have been conducted around the borough to dim the street lighting. The 
dimming of streetlights has also been adopted by a significant number of local 

authorities and is working effectively.  

It is important to note that the Asset Management System is updated regularly and 
is constantly changing as result of this.  As such, the figures used in this report were 

correct as of the 11th of August 2022. 

This proposal will support our “Let’s Do It” strategy principal of achieving carbon 

neutrality by 2038. 

Considerations 

Some streets contain mixed column heights and, as such, may contain lantern types 

not covered by the proposal.  To ensure this proposal will not leave a patchwork of 
different lamp types in a street it is recommended that all the lanterns in the street 

will be swapped in addition to those identified for replacement. Currently, it is 
estimated that swapping all lanterns in a street will add an additional 461 lanterns, 
at an additional cost of £130,000 and taken a further 60 working days to complete. 

Page 299



 

 

Summary of Total Costs  

 Total Capital investment required = £1.46million 

 Revenue saving per year (Based on 2022/23 energy prices) for LED 
replacement = of £219,987 (pay back of 6.6 years). 

 Revenue saving per year (based on 2022/23 energy prices) for LED 

replacement and dimming on the classified network, between 00:00hrs 
and 06:00hrs by 50%  = £322,791 (pay back of 4.5 years). 

Timescales 

 Approximately 2 years based on 1 crew carrying out the work. 

 May be possible to reduce through employment of additional crews / contracting 
out the work.  

    

    

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£m) £0.300   

Staffing Reduction (FTE) None   

 

Section B 

What impact does the proposal have on: 

 

Property 

None. 

Service Delivery 

Reduced energy budget.  Decrease in the amount of energy consumed.  Decrease 
in the amount of Carbon produced.  

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

None. 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

If work programme accelerated additional staff / contractors will be required to 

deliver the work. 

Communities and Service Users 

Page 300



 

 

Previous trials have found that the public do not tend to notice the reduced lighting 
levels due to dimming, but there is potential for negative feedback.  

Consideration to the impact on the Safer Streets Strategy from Central Government. 

Other Partner Organisations 

None. 

Section C 

Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Time taken to complete the work and 
therefore delivery of the associated 
savings. 

Existing GMCA Frameworks will be 

used for the work.  Letting further 
contracts from The Chest to assist with 
the project.  Taking on temporary staff 

(internal) to assist with the project. 

Future energy price decrease reducing 

estimated savings and increasing the 
time in which savings will be paid back. 

Without this investment the Council 
would have to find additional funding to 

cover energy costs increases.  This 
proposal will mitigate against the 
increases. 

There is an annual cost for the Philips 
City Touch system after the initial 10 

year (given at time of lantern purchase) 
has expired.  

This is estimated at around £5 per 

lantern.  The GMCA Street Lighting 
Group are looking at a contract for this 

to reduce these costs. 

It may transpire that paying an annual 
fee for each lantern, takes up a 
significant amount of any savings 

achieved. 

The current settings of the lantern 
(including any dimming) will be 

maintained if the CityTouch subscription 
expires.  However, remote alteration of 

lantern settings will no longer be 
available. 

Delivery delays due to material 

shortages, etc., may extend estimated 
completion time. 

Price increases may result in less work 

being carried out and thereby reducing 
savings. 

Purchasing all the required materials at 
the start of the project would alleviate 
this and also negate any future price 

increases. 

Energy calculations are quite complex 
and actual savings might be lower than 
estimated. 

A combination of previous examples, 

experience, and airing on the side of 
caution have been used to try and 
ensure that as accurate an estimate as 

possible has been achieved.  

Page 301



 

 

Savings will still be achieved, and it is 
possible they may be even more than 
estimated. 

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  

Milestone Timeline 

Procure, appoint contractor, carry out 

works. 

October 2022  to September 2024 (2 

Years) or sooner if can accelerate. 

 

Section D 

Consultation Required? Further consultation not required as this is a 
continuation and extension of an existing approach. 

However, a full EIA will be conducted to take account 
of the extension in this proposal.   

   

 Start Date End Date 

Staff   

Trade Unions   

Public   

Service User    

Other   

 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a 
disproportionate/ adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people TBC 

Particular Ethnic Groups TBC 

Men or Women (including impacts due 

to pregnancy/maternity) 
TBC 

People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

TBC 

People of particular sexual orientation TBC 

Page 302



 

 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or 
part of a process of gender assignment 

TBC 

People on low incomes TBC 

People in particular age groups TBC 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs TBC 

  

EIA Required? Yes  

 

Section E  

Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

Installation Costs 

The current estimated capital cost of replacing the above lighting, based upon 
current GMCA Framework rates, is £1,460,000. 

Estimated Energy Savings 

 Revenue saving per year (Based on 2022/23 energy prices) for LED 

replacement = of £219,987 (pay back of 6.6 years). 

 Revenue saving per year (based on 2022/23 energy prices) for LED 
replacement and dimming on the classified network, between 00:00hrs 

and 06:00hrs by 50%  = £322,791 (pay back of 4.5 years). 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the 
agreed timescales? 

Full savings will only be realised on completion of the project. 

It should be noted, however, that energy costs may drop during the project resulting 
in reduced savings and a long payback period, or increase resulting in cost 

avoidance and a shorter payback period. 

 

 

 

Page 303



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference  

Executive Director Donna Ball 

Cabinet Member Cllr Quinn 

Section A    

Service Area Waste Management and Transport 

Budget Option 

Description 

Growth in vehicle maintenance provision to additional 

customers  

    

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

In the quest to find additional savings in 2023/24, Operations have considered 

further savings in terms of a more strategic, intelligence-based approach to public 
service reform that will deliver further efficiencies.  Most local authorities no longer 

rely solely on “in house” operations to deliver services turning to alternative 
approaches.  These include the use of “shared services”, between multiple local 
authorities and between local authorities and other public bodies; outsourcing to 

private or voluntary providers, and its opposite, “insourcing”; the increasing use of 
Local Authority Trading Companies (LATCs) to trade for profit, providing a revenue 

stream for the local authority; and mutuals.  Whilst outsourcing was popular 20 
years ago, there is increasing evidence that many Councils are insourcing their 
services.  In 2019, APSE estimated that 77% of UK councils were planning to bring 

services back in-house and calculated that between 2016 and 2018, at least 220 
local government contracts had been brought back into council control.  78% of 

local authorities believe insourcing gives them more flexibility, two-thirds say it also 
saves money, and more than half say it has improved the quality of the service 
while simplifying how it is managed. 

In England and Wales, section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 enables a 
local authority to enter into an agreement with another authority to place its officers 

at the disposal of the other authority, subject to consultation with the staff 
concerned and negotiation about any changes in terms and conditions.  More 
recently, the Government published a strategy for shared services in 2018.  This 

had three main rationales: delivering value and efficiency, convergence around 
processes and data, and meeting end user needs.  

Other Local Authorities currently contract out some vehicle maintenance work to 
the private sector and we are currently in discussions to identify if our vehicle 
maintenance workshop could undertake this work and deliver a saving to them, 

whilst increasing income to the Bury vehicle maintenance workshop and admin 
support.  Discussions are currently ongoing about the support we can provide and 

a saving for 2023/24 has been proposed based on the anticipated outcome of 
these discussions which will be concluded shortly.  

 

Page 305



 2023/24 2024/25 

Budget Reduction (£m)  increased income £0.100  

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 0 0 

    

Section B 

What impact does the proposal have on: 

Property 

None. 

Service Delivery 

Capability to undertake the additional workload. 

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

None. 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

None – may require additional business support and an extra technician to pick up 

the additional work. 

Communities and Service Users 

None. 

 

Other Partner Organisations 

To be confirmed. 

Section C 

Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

Timescale to explore, determine and 
execute. 

Additional capacity to undertake the 
work. 

Local Authorities and organisations are 
not prepared to take the option forward. 

Looking to try and make the proposal 

financially benefit both parties.  Further 
meetings in place to understand 
appetite. 

Page 306



The work provided from other Local 
Authorities not meeting the £100k. 

A number of options have been supplied 
to other Local Authorities and 
organisations. 

 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  

Milestone Timeline 

Determine options and viability 31 December 2022 

Due governance re: a decision 28 February 2023 

Implementation 1 April 2023 

 

Section D  

Consultation Required? No 

   

 Start Date End Date 

Staff TBC TBC 

Trade Unions TBC TBC 

Public No No 

Service User  No No 

Other No No 

 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a 
disproportionate/ adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 

Particular Ethnic Groups No 

Men or Women (including impacts due 
to pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

Page 307



People who are married or in a civil 
partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 

undergoing or undergone a process or 
part of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

  

EIA Required? No 

 

Section E  

Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

None 

 Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the 
agreed timescales? 

Initial indications are that the target savings are deliverable. However, there is an 
element of risk here until the detail is confirmed with other local authorities.  

 

Page 308



Reference  

Executive Director Donna Ball 

Cabinet Member Cllr. Tahir Rafiq  

Section A    

Service Area Operations 

Budget Option 
Description Operational services process re-engineering 

    

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

An investigation into rationalising Operational Services to include the redesign of 
cleaning and caretaking functions alongside Admin Building (Porters), with a 
consolidation of Budgets.   

    

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Budget Reduction (£) £100k £100k £100k 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) TBC 0 0 

    

Section B 

What impact does the proposal have on: 

Property 

Caretaking and Cleaning may be reduced or redesigned alongside some soft FM 

functions in Admin Buildings. 

Service Delivery 

Efficiencies made within Caretaking and Cleaning and potentially Admin Buildings 
may see an overall reduction in the delivery of some soft FM services.  

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

Workforce redesign within Caretaking and Cleaning Teams and Admin Buildings.  

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

Page 309



To be confirmed. (circa. 3-4) 

Communities and Service Users 

Admin building users.  

Other Partner Organisations 

None. 

Section C 

Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

FM review to fund a Corporate Landlord 
model is taking place and there may be 
interdependencies that need to be 

considered. 

Investigation into all options available 
will be required working with Finance, 
HR and the service / building managers 

to scope out all potential savings 
available and to understand how they 

would impact on a future Corporate 
Landlord model.  Reduction in cleaning 
SLA charges would create a decrease 

in expenditure, but it may not be a 
budget saving due to the drop in 

income.  Further work is needed as part 
of the project. 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  

Milestone Timeline 

Submit review of the Cleaning and 

Caretaking structure 

28/02/2023 

Subsequent consultation and Union 
engagement  

TBC  

Investigation into the consolidation of 

budgets from Admin Buildings and 
Cleaning and caretaking SLAs to 

reduce the cost-of-service provision.  
Review if overheads can be absorbed 
into the budget.   

TBC  

Review the structure and soft service 

provision within admin buildings, and 
the building rationalisation process, to 

assess potential further savings through 

TBC 

Page 310



rationalisation and reduction of the 
council's building estate.  

Review Admin building porters soft 

service activities and investigate 
potential savings through integrated 
porter / caretaker / cleaner, soft service 

activities across existing admin 
buildings 

TBC 

Review the cleaning standards across 

admin buildings and assess if cost 
reduction can be made.  

TBC 

Review the procurement of current soft 
FM service providers across existing 

Admin Buildings, with a view to (i) 
consolidation of contracts and better 

value for money (ii) day to day 
management of contracts (iii) 
consolidation of Budgets across 

Caretaking and Cleaning Teams and 
Admin buildings.  

TBC 

 

Section D  

Consultation Required? Yes  

   

 Start Date End Date 

Staff Yes – March 23  

Trade Unions Yes – March 23  

Public N/A   

Service User  TBC   

Other   

 

Equality Impact 

Is there potential for the proposed budget reduction to have a 
disproportionate/ adverse impact on any of the following? 

Disabled people No 

Particular Ethnic Groups No 

Page 311



Men or Women (including impacts due 
to pregnancy/maternity) 

No 

People who are married or in a civil 

partnership 

No 

People of particular sexual orientation No 

People who are proposing to undergo, 
undergoing or undergone a process or 
part of a process of gender assignment 

No 

People on low incomes No 

People in particular age groups No 

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs No 

EIA Required? No 

 

Section E 

Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 

 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

None. 

  

Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the 
agreed timescales? 

Budgets are available within these service areas which may enable saving to be 

delivered through a servicer review and rationalisation.  

 

 

 

Page 312



Reference  

Executive Director Donna Ball 

Cabinet Member Cllr Quinn 

Section A 

 

   

Service Area ICES Store in OCO and Stores in Waste 

Management. 

Budget Option Description Equipment Store changes in Ops and OCO 

    

Budget Reduction Proposal – Detail and Objectives 

The savings proposals for 22/23 and 23/24 included a two-year programme of work 
to integrate the following stores: 

 

 Integrated Community Equipment Store in OCO 

 Ops Store at Bradley Fold in Waste Management Service 

 

This included consideration of the physical relocation of the ICES store to Bradley 
Fold and then a restructure so that there would just be one manager across the 2 

teams. 

 

Feasibility work was completed to look at options for relocating the ICES store into  
the Ops store at Bradley Fold. A JD was produced to recruit a project manager which 
was evaluated and agreed that OCO reserves would fund but we were unable to 

recruit. The Architects Team produced drawings and costings to a spec from both 
teams but the costs are prohibitive at nearly £1m to do the building work.  It was 

decided therefore to shelve these plans until the potential wider redevelopment of 
Bradley Fold takes place in the future which will involve integrated arrangements 
with other partners which could include similar stores across the NE Sector. 

 

The requirement to deliver £140k savings split equally over the 2 years remains. 

Year 1 (22/23) savings have been fully delivered through the deletion of vacancies 
and improved ways of working across the stores.  

 

The £70k savings for 23/24 will be delivered via: 

 Use of £40k revenue from the OCO (previously earmarked for the project 

manager) 

 Increase in income targets of £30k from Operations as follows: 

 

 

Page 313



 

Cost code Increased income 

302 OP1000 3375 £1,600 

305 OP1000 3611 £11,100 

307 OP10000 3635 £14,600 

315 OP10000 3737 £2,900 
 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Budget Reduction (£) – See above 
£30k Ops 

£40k OCO 

£30k Ops 

£40k OCO  
Recurrent 

Staffing Reduction (FTE) 
Removal of 

vacant posts  
None none 

 

Section B 

What impact does the proposal have on: 

 

Property 

None now that we have shelved the integrated store proposal in the short term  

 

Service Delivery 

No change  

Organisation (Including Other Directorates/Services) 

no change 

Workforce – Number of posts likely to be affected. 

No change 

 

Communities and Service Users 

no change 

Other Partner Organisations 
 

 

 

 

Section C 

Page 314



 

Key Delivery Milestones  

Include timescales for procurement, commissioning changes etc.  

Milestone Timeline 

Income targets increased and vacancy 
deleted 

April 2023  

 

 

Section D 

Consultation Required? none 

 

 

Section E  

Financial Implications and Investment Requirements 

 

Investment requirements – Revenue and Capital 

None 

  

  
Finance Comments – Will the proposal deliver the savings and within the 
agreed timescales?  

Yes 
  

  

 

Key Risks and Mitigations 

Risks Mitigations 

none  

Page 315



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report to: Cabinet Date: 15 February 2023 

Subject: 
Bury Corporate Plan Performance and Delivery Report Quarter Three 2022-
23 

Report of Cabinet Member for Corporate Affairs and HR 

 
Summary 
1. This report provides a summary of key delivery and performance that occurred during 

Quarter Three (October – December) 2022-23, aligned to the 3R priorities. 
 

2. The Delivery Unit and Strategic Performance and Intelligence team have streamlined this 
report to highlight key areas of delivery and performance evidencing progress towards the 
3R priorities set out in Bury’s Corporate Plan. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 

3. That Cabinet:  
 

 Note the performance and delivery against the 3R priorities and the 2022-23 Corporate 
Plan delivery objectives. 

 Note the ongoing developments to strengthen and improve this reporting process and 
functionality. 

 
Reasons for recommendation(s)  
 

4. This report continues our commitment to “strengthening the basics” by embedding the 
corporate business planning process across all the work of the Council and NHS Bury 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). This will allow for more effective performance 
management at organisation, departmental and officer level. 
 

Alternative options considered and rejected. 
5. No alternative option considered. 
_________________________________________________________ 
Report Author and Contact Details: 
Name: Helen Smith 
Position: Head of Strategic Performance and Intelligence 
Department: Corporate Core  
E-mail: h.smith@bury.gov.uk 
_________________________________________________________ 
 
Links with the Corporate Priorities: 
6. This report references the contribution that the Council and NHS Bury ICP have made in 

Quarter Three (October 2022 – December 2022) to the delivery of the LET’S Do It! 
Strategy through delivery of the Corporate Plan for 2022-23. 

_________________________________________________________ 
Equality Impact and Considerations: 
 
7. Not applicable 
 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 
 
8. Not applicable 

Classification: 
Open 

Decision Type: 
Non-Key 

Page 317 Agenda Item 9

mailto:h.smith@bury.gov.uk


 

 
Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Not applicable 
 

_________________________________________________________ 
Legal Implications: 
 
9. There are no legal implications arising from the report however the updating report to 

Members and the Corporate plan form a fundamental part of our governance assurance to 
Members. 

 

Financial Implications: 
 
10. There are no direct financial implications arising from this update report, although there 

are a number of key finance performance targets and savings delivery targets included 
within the Corporate plan, as can be seen from the information in update 1 in relation to 
the poverty reduction strategy. 

 

Background papers: 
Please list any background documents to this report and include a hyperlink where possible. 
 

 Bury 2030 Community Strategy – LET’S Do It! 
 Bury Council & Bury CCG (NHS Bury ICP) Corporate Plan 2022-23 

 
Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this report.  

Term Meaning 

A&E Accident and Emergency 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CIN Children in Need 

CLA Children Looked After 

DSG Dedicated Schools Grant 

EHCP Education and Health Care Plan 

FOI Freedom of Information 

FTE Full Time Equivalent 

GM ICS Greater Manchester Integrated Care System 

HR Human Resources 

ICP Integrated Care Partnership 

JSA Job Seekers Allowance 

KPI Key Performance Indicator 

OFSTED Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills 

RIBA Royal Institute of British Architects 

SEND Special Educational Needs Disability 

UC Universal Credit 

 
 

Page 318



Background 
 

11. In 2020 Bury Council and Bury CCG (since July 2022 the NHS Bury ICP) led the 
development of the LET’S Do It! Strategy for the borough of Bury which sets out the 
vision for the next ten years. In 2021 a corporate strategic planning process was 
established, which provided for a single annual, integrated plan for the Council and NHS 
Bury ICP to guide delivery against the LET’S Do It! vision. 

 
12. Progress against this plan is monitored through monthly reports to the Council’s 

Executive Team and then quarterly via Cabinet. The corporate plan was aligned to the 
3R priorities in July 2021 and was refreshed to address the new 3R priorities agreed 
after the local elections in May 2022. As described below: 
 

 
 
13. This report outlines the delivery and performance during Quarter Three 2022-23, against 

the 3R’s and associated corporate plan priorities. A refreshed reporting style is 
introduced for this quarter to allow for a more streamlined summary of progress and 
activity as well as give more insight into the trend of performance for associated 
measures. 

 
Delivery Summary 
 
14. The table below summaries the details in the main body of the report in term of 

progress against the key activities which will contribute to the achievement of the 3R 
priorities. These have been rated and Green, Amber or Red dependent on their delivery 
against the intended milestones in Quarter Three. Those coloured blue have been 
completed. 
 

 

Page 319



3Rs Category Priority Status against 

Q3 deliverables 

Response 1 Anti-poverty action plan implemented On track 

Response 2 Supporting the Health and Care system to cope with 

COVID-19 and the backlog of demand 

Behind Schedule 

Population Health system On track 

Health and Care System Transformation including Urgent 

and Elective Care and Mental Health, Frailty, Adult Social 

Care Transformation, population health, learning 

disabilities, primary care, community services 

Behind Schedule 

Managing and overseeing transition to ICS On track 

Recovery 1 Delivery activity within the Safety Valve programme to 

reduce the Dedicated Schools Grant deficit and strengthen 

SEND, EHCP offer and DSG grant spend 

On track 

Improve education outcomes at all Key Stages, particularly 

Key Stage 4 

On track 

Increasing attendance levels through a strengthened 

strategic approach to attendance and by the expansion of 

the role of the Virtual school 

Behind Schedule 

Recovery 2 Develop locality teams to a Family Hub model through Bury 

East pilot 

On track 

Embedding the Neighbourhood Model - Bury East People 

Plan drafted 

Completed 

Embedding the Neighbourhood Model - Radcliffe People & 

Communities Plan agreed 

Completed 

Recovery 3 Delivery of activity within the OFSTED Improvement Plan On track 

Recovery 4 Delivery activity within the Safety Valve programme to 

reduce the Dedicated Schools Grant deficit and strengthen 

SEND, EHCP offer and DSG grant spend 

On track 

Develop SEND integrated transparent pathways through 

the revised Graduated Approach 

On track 

Increase the proportion of 16–25-year-olds with SEND in 

employment 

Behind Schedule 

Improve the outcomes of SEND children and young people 

so they attain educationally to the best of their ability and 

potential 

On track 

Renewal 1 Developing Bury Market & Flexi Hall On track 

Radcliffe Hub Levelling Up programme On track 

Radcliffe SRF including: Housing, North Block, Transport  On track 

Delivering the Prestwich Plan On track 

Delivering the Ramsbottom Plan On track 

Delivering the Bury Town Centre Plan On track 

Renewal 2 Delivery of the Economic Development Strategy including 

embedded all age skills strategy 

Behind Schedule 

Renewal 3 Delivery of Brownfield Housing Site Sales Programme  

Renewal 4 Achieve carbon neutrality by 2038 Behind Schedule 

Introduction of Clean Air Zone for Greater Manchester Behind Schedule 

 
15. The remainder of the report sets out more details in terms of the progress towards 

delivering these activities and the performance indicators for measuring impact on 
outcomes. 

Page 320



Response 1 - Update the poverty reduction strategy including an urgent response to the cost-of-living crisis, for residents & 
businesses: 
 
16. Following the co-production and refresh of the cost-of-living and anti-poverty strategy in Quarter Two, Quarter Three moved into 

implementation, supported by a second cost-of-living summit. Delivery has been focussed on supporting communities utilising local 
networks and relationships. Working with community partners, over £1,546,700 of the Household Support fund has been allocated 
via targeted delivery.  

 
17. Quarter Three also saw the launch of further funding for community groups to support with cost-of-living via targeted grants. New 

provisions via the Household Support Fund were also agreed to cover February half-term and the Easter holidays and the national 
Free Schools Meals Programme will be extended through to Easter 2023. Quarter Three also saw the launch of the ‘Warm Space’ 
initiative through The Bury Directory.  

 
18. The total amount of council tax support claimed within the borough has continued to decrease during Quarter Three. The impact of 

COVID-19 on the number of JSA and UC claimants is still evident but has reduced dramatically from the peak of 8,465 in May 2020. 
 
Aligned Corporate Plan Delivery  

Priority Status against Q3 deliverables 
Anti-poverty action plan implemented On track 

 
Performance 

 
 

  

12000

13000

14000

15000

16000

A
p
r-

1
9

Ju
n
-1

9

A
u
g
-
1
9

O
c
t-

1
9

D
e
c
-1

9

F
e
b
-2

0

A
p
r-

2
0

Ju
n
-2

0

A
u
g
-
2
0

O
c
t-

2
0

D
e
c
-2

0

F
e
b
-2

1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
n
-2

1

A
u
g
-
2
1

O
c
t-

2
1

D
e
c
-2

1

F
e
b
-2

2

A
p
r-

2
2

Ju
n
-2

2

A
u
g
-
2
2

O
c
t-

2
2

D
e
c
-2

2

Number of households in receipt of council tax 
support/reduction

5095

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

Ja
n
-
2
0

M
a
r-

2
0

M
a
y
-
2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

S
e
p
-2

0

N
o
v
-
2
0

Ja
n
-
2
1

M
a
r-

2
1

M
a
y
-
2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

S
e
p
-2

1

N
o
v
-
2
1

Ja
n
-
2
2

M
a
r-

2
2

M
a
y
-
2
2

Ju
l-

2
2

S
e
p
-2

2

N
o
v
-
2
2

Number of JSA and UC Claimants

P
age 321



Response 2 - Supporting the health and care system to reduce waiting times, improve access and lessen inequalities, 
working through the Bury Integrated Care Partnership and in the GM ICS: 
 
19. The programme of health and care transformation continued throughout Quarter Three with significant developments within urology, 

glaucoma, orthopaedics and long COVID pathways, and through the work of the Elective Care Recovery Board. Bury is also 
commenced a pilot of a GM-led initiative providing direct access chest x-rays (DACXR) with evaluation continuing into Quarter Four. 
Quarter Three also saw E-Derma pilot launch with all Bury GP’s engage. The adult social care reforms transformation programme has 
been developed and is moving into implementation to support work across the health and care system.  

 
20. To support the urgent care system, an Urgent Emergency Care (UEC) turnaround programme was established in Quarter Two that 

included a supplementary UEC Improvement Plan. Delivery and monitoring of the programme will continue into Quarter Four.   
 
21. Published data shows that Referral to Treatment waiting times of over 52 weeks reduced by 26% since the previous quarter. Rates 

of admissions to hospital from A&E were maintained over this same period. Patients at Fairfield General Hospital with no right to 
reside continues to fluctuate and stood at 32 patients at the end of Quarter Three.  

 
Aligned Corporate Plan Delivery 

Priority Status against Q3 deliverables 
Supporting the Health and Care system to cope with COVID-19 and the backlog of demand  

Population Health system  
Health and Care System Transformation including Urgent and Elective Care and Mental Health, 
Frailty, Adult Social Care Transformation, population health, learning disabilities, primary care, 
community services 

 

Managing and overseeing transition to ICS  

 
  

P
age 322



 
Performance 

 

  

  

32

2079

0

1000

2000

3000

A
p
r-

2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

O
c
t-

2
0

Ja
n
-
2
1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

O
c
t-

2
1

Ja
n
-
2
2

A
p
r-

2
2

Ju
l-

2
2

O
c
t-

2
2

Referral to treatment total 
number waiting in excess of 

52 weeks

1396
1524

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

A&E Admissions - Bury Patients - All 
Sites

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/2023

16

32

0
10
20
30
40
50

O
c
t-

2
0

D
e
c
-2

0

F
e
b
-2

1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
n
-2

1

A
u
g
-
2
1

O
c
t-

2
1

D
e
c
-2

1

F
e
b
-2

2

A
p
r-

2
2

Ju
n
-2

2

A
u
g
-
2
2

O
c
t-

2
2

D
e
c
-2

2

Patients in Fairfield General Hospital 
with No Right to Reside on the last 

day of the month

P
age 323



Recovery 1 - Strengthened partnership working with parents and schools including reducing the Dedicated Schools Grant 
deficit: 
 

22. Delivery of the Project Safety Valve programme continued in Quarter Three with preparation for the submissions to the Department 
for Education planned for January. The plan for enhanced resource provision is in place and work will continue into Quarter Four. An 
outreach offer has been developed which has been highlighted to all schools and the internally seconded headteacher has consulted 
with schools on the provision and outreach offer required going forward. Support plans for Category 3 & 4 schools are now in place 
to support improved outcomes. 

 
23. The Virtual School has recently more new appointments which will support the expansion of the role of the virtual school with the 

successful candidates starting on 3rd January 2023. During Quarter Three a procurement exercise was finalised to purchase a 
software system which will provide visibility of live attendance data: this implementation is now in Phase 1 (pilot) with 20 schools. 
Phase 2 will see it linked to the wider social care system in order to track attendance of children with a social worker. This is 
intended to go-live in time for the new school year in September 2023. 

 
Aligned Corporate Plan Delivery 

Priority Status against Q3 deliverables 
Delivery activity within the Safety Valve programme to reduce the Dedicated Schools Grant deficit 
and strengthen SEND, EHCP offer and DSG grant spend 

 

Improve education outcomes at all Key Stages, particularly Key Stage 4  
Increasing attendance levels through a strengthened strategic approach to attendance and by the 
expansion of the role of the Virtual school 

 

 
Performance 
 

24. Performance measures for this priority are under development in order to identify the most appropriate data sources and indicators 
to use. Further monitoring around SEND can be found in Recovery Priority 4 in terms of attendance and attainment.  

P
age 324



Recovery 2 - Beginning the development of people & communities plans for each of our neighbourhoods, including the pilot 
of a Family Hub 
 
25. Quarter Three saw continued delivery of the Bury East and Radcliffe People and Communities plan. Learning from these will be built 

into the developing plans for the remaining neighbourhoods. Work continued on the development of the Bury East Family Hub with 
launch expected in April 2023. Discussions are ongoing to map the offer in Radcliffe and identify a site for delivery of a Family Hub in 
that area. 

 
Aligned Corporate Plan Delivery 
Priority Status against 22/23 

deliverables 
Develop locality teams to a Family Hub model through Bury East pilot  

Embedding the Neighbourhood Model - Bury East People Plan drafted  
Embedding the Neighbourhood Model - Radcliffe People & Communities Plan agreed  

 
Performance 
 
26. Performance measures for this priority are under development but will be linked to the criteria used to report against Levelling-Up 

outcomes and UK Shared Prosperity Fund measures. There will also be overlap with the health and care locality outcomes measures 
in terms of quality of life and reduce health inequalities.  
 

 

  

P
age 325



Recovery 3 - Delivery of the Children’s OFSTED Improvement Plan: 
 
27. Delivery of the Children’s Improvement Plan continued during Quarter Three overseen by the Improvement Programme Board and a 

supporting governance framework. A further Ofsted Monitoring Visit took place 12 & 13 October 2022 which recognised pockets of 
improvement in service delivery, increased stability in leadership team and continued corporate support. 

 
28. The LGA review took place in November which focussed on corporate parenting this is part of a continuing support package from LGA 

to develop corporate parenting in Bury. The review findings and associated action plan will be in place for Quarter Four. 
 
29. During Quarter Three, Essex County Council completed a 2-day diagnostic under the Sector Led Improvement arrangements. The 

purpose of the diagnostic was to review how an edge of care offer would support improved outcomes for children and families across 
Bury. Findings will be used to develop an edge of care offer during Quarter Four. 

 
30. The Head of Service from Manchester also completed a review of child protection within the safeguarding service across Bury and the 

feedback to partners is scheduled for Quarter Four. 
 
31. Improvements are evidenced below with a reduction in the number of Children in Need plans (CIN) open at the end of the month, as 

well the highest amount of caseloads allocated. However, there has been an increase in the proportion of cases held by agency 
workers which is a key focus of improvement for Quarter Four. The number of children subject to a child protection plan has 
decreased this quarter whereas the number of looked after children (CLA) has increased. 

 
Aligned Corporate Plan Delivery 

Priority Status against Q3 deliverables 
Delivery of activity within the OFSTED Improvement Plan  

 
Performance 

 
  

34 28

0

20

40

Highest caseload of all allocated 
case workers that hold a case 

43 54.4

0

50

100

A
p
r-

2
1

M
a
y
-2

1

Ju
n
-2

1

Ju
l-

2
1

A
u
g
-2

1

S
e
p
-2

1

O
c
t-

2
1

N
o
v
-2

1

D
e
c
-2

1

Ja
n
-2

2

F
e
b
-2

2

M
a
r-

2
2

A
p
r-

2
2

M
a
y
-2

2

Ju
n
-2

2

Ju
l-

2
2

A
u
g
-2

2

S
e
p
-2

2

O
c
t-

2
2

N
o
v
-2

2

D
e
c
-2

2

% of allocated cases that are held 
by agency workers 

392 390

0

500

1000

Number of CIN plans open at end 
of month

P
age 326



  
  

206
232

200

250

300

No. of children subject to a child protection plan 

345
372

300

350

400

Number of Looked After Children

P
age 327



Recovery 4 - Work with stakeholders to deliver the SEND Improvement Plan: 
 
32. The multi-agency improvement programme board and associated governance continues to drive and manage the work to achieve 

this priority. This was formally launched at the SEND information day on 6th October with a group of schools now piloting a 
graduated response approach and using the resources available. 32 schools are also engaged in SEND peer reviews to gain the 
Inclusion Mark. 

 
33. Performance continues to stabilise through strengthening data quality and the embedded performance clinics using weekly reporting. 

Work continued through Quarter Three with the Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) team to assure improved processes around 
assessment and EHCP advice. The proportion of EHCP plans issued on time, within the 20 week compliance has fluctuated over the 
year, however it is at a reported low this quarter. This is due to a focus on dealing with historical cases in order to bring the service 
up to date and then to be able to maintain the expected response rates. This improvement should be reflected in the data for 
Quarter Four. 

 
Aligned Corporate Plan Delivery 
Priority Status against Q3 deliverables 

Delivery activity within the Safety Valve programme to reduce the Dedicated Schools Grant deficit 
and strengthen SEND, EHCP offer and DSG grant spend 

 

Develop SEND integrated transparent pathways through the revised Graduated Approach  
Increase the proportion of 16–25-year-olds with SEND in employment  

Improve the outcomes of SEND children and young people so they attain educationally to the best 
of their ability and potential 

 

 
Performance 

 
 
Performance 

78.9

33

0

20

40

60

80

100

EHCP: Percent of Plans issued on time, compliance at 20 weeks

P
age 328



34. Further performance measures for this priority are under development as we work to identify the most appropriate data sources and 
indicators to use. It is currently proposed to report activity in the following areas: SEND employment; Average attainment scores for 
pupils with SEN. 

  

P
age 329



Renewal and Regeneration 1 - As part of the Economic Development Strategy ensure delivery of our strategic regeneration 
sites in Prestwich, Ramsbottom, and the Radcliffe Strategic Regeneration Framework, including the Bury and Radcliffe 
Levelling Up Schemes: 
 
35. Significant work has been completed during Quarter Three including the approval of Radcliffe Hub Project RIBA Stage 3 which is 

where the where the practical aspects of the concept are decided. RIBA Stage Four, the technical design phase, is now set to 
commence. Work continues to complete documentation required for planning application submission (due in January) and 
submission of the full bid to the Sport England Strategic Investment Programme (deadline end of January). Bury Market & Flexi Hall 
programme continue to develop at RIBA Stage 3, including producing planning documentation. Negotiations continue regarding land 
assembly and the remaining properties required for the development.  

 
36. For Prestwich the Joint Venture Agreement, Option Agreement and Development Management Agreement have been signed off and 

Prestwich Regeneration LLP has been formed. RIBA Stage 1 Preparation and Design work is underway and will continue into Quarter 
Four. A full communications and engagement framework will also launch in Quarter Four. 

 
37. Work will continue into Quarter Four regarding the Ramsbottom and Town Centre plans. 
 
38. To give an indication of the current economic picture in Bury, the median monthly pay is reported below which has declined since the 

beginning of 2022. 
 
Aligned Corporate Plan Delivery 

Priority Status against Q3 deliverables 
Developing Bury Market & Flexi Hall  

Radcliffe Hub Levelling Up programme  
Radcliffe SRF including: Housing, North Block, Transport  

Delivering the Prestwich Plan  
Delivering the Ramsbottom Plan  

Delivering the Bury Town Centre Plan  
 
  

P
age 330



 
Performance 

 
 
39. Further performance measures for this priority are under development based on the most appropriate data sources and indicators. It 

is currently proposed we capture activity around the following areas: 
 

 Levelling Up Outcomes framework 
 Number of business start ups 
 Number of RIBA stages passed for development and regeneration activities 
 Number of jobs 

  

£2,142.55  

£2,051.85  

P
age 331



Renewal and Regeneration 2 - Delivery of the brownfield housing programme: 
 

40. Quarter Three saw continued delivery to progress Brownfield Tranche 1 and 2 sites. Key activity included: site surveys and ground 
investigations underway at William Kemp Heaton; work on the planning application for Wheatfields which is to be submitted early in 
Quarter Four; approval from Cabinet for disposal to a registered provider on the RP Framework with procurement underway at 
Fletcher Fold; and the commencement of pre-application work at Willow Street. 

 
41. The Pipeline of sites is in place and prioritisation of sites is in line with the updated Accelerated Land Disposal Programme (ALDP). 
 
Aligned Corporate Plan Delivery 
Priority Status against Q3 deliverables 
Delivery of Brownfield Housing Site Sales Programme  

 
Performance 

 

  

82
88

50

60

70

80

90

Mar-19 Mar-20 Mar-21 Mar-22

% Housing completions on brownfield land boroughwide

P
age 332



Renewal and Regeneration 3: Production and delivery of the all-age borough skills strategy 
 
42. Production and delivery of an all-age skills strategy is linked to the development of the Economic Development strategy. An external 

organisation has been commissioned to develop the strategy. Initial meetings have been held with Hatch (the external organisation) 
and outline structure developed for consideration. Engagement sessions have been held with key officers from across the Council to 
introduce the strategy and gain their support for helping to input into shaping the document. These will continue during Quarter 4. 
Work has started to develop a companion All-Age Skills Strategy but is dependent on the wider piece of work. 

 
43. Quarter Three continued to see improved uptake of Adult Learning provision within the borough, both at the Bury Adult Learning 

Centre but also in a growing number of community based sites including within schools, libraries and community centres. Work is 
underway to finalise the offer from Adult Learning within the designs for the Radcliffe Hub. 

 
Aligned Corporate Plan Delivery 
Priority Status against Q3 deliverables 

Delivery of the Economic Development Strategy including embedded all age skills strategy  
 
Performance 
 

44. Performance measures for this priority are under development based on the most appropriate data sources and indicators to use. It 
is currently proposed to measure activity around the following areas: 

 
 Proportion of Young People not in education, employment or training 
 Adult skills – Reduction in proportion with no qualifications 
 Adult Learning – Attendance, Achievement and Destinations 
 Links to Levelling Up and UKSPF indicators 

 
 
  

P
age 333



Renewal and Regeneration 4 - Implementation of the Climate Change programme 
 
45. Although the programme is behind schedule through delays at Greater Manchester and at national level, delivery has continued 

locally through Quarter Three. GMCA are now providing a consultant resource to provide information/data, business cases to help 
bring solar PV projects to market and Bury Council have provided an initial list of both schools and corporate buildings to GMCA that 
would benefit from this input. A refresh of the Single Use Plastic Action Plan has been produced and Bury Council has joined a GMCA 
group to progress this consistently across Greater Manchester and share best practice. The E-hub trial is in full operation with car 
club cars in place at both Market Car Park Bury and Fairfax Road, Prestwich. 

 
46. GM is still awaiting a formal response to the case for a new investment-led Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan, with no charging 

Clean Air Zone.  Work on this will continue into Quarter Four. 
 
Aligned Corporate Plan Delivery 
Priority Status against Q3 deliverables 

Achieve carbon neutrality by 2038  
Introduction of Clean Air Zone for Greater Manchester  

 
Performance 

 

 

 

  

33

45

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

% of council vehicles changed to lower emission 
versions

6

1

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Mar-20 Mar-21 Mar-22

Number of air quality monitoring stations breaching 
nitrogen dioxide targets

P
age 334



Getting the Basics Right 
 
47. Delivery continued through Quarter Three on the suite of programmes built into ‘Getting the Basics Right”. Key delivery was the roll-

out of Problem Solving training to senior leaders, development and launch of the behaviours and values framework, improvement of 
internal HR processes around agency and honoraria and development of the core leadership programme. The development of a suite 
of KPI’s to support this work was finalised in Q3 and detailed below.  

 
Delivery 

Theme Comment / Activity Timeframe and Status 
Behaviours Managed as part of the corporate core.  LETS Values & behaviours framework developed and launched. Plan to embed in development Q2 

Customer care training Managed as part of the corporate core: Customer care training rolled out to all contact staff. Officer group in place to monitor progress 

and track issues.  
Q1 - Complete 

Problem-solving capability Managed as part of the corporate core: Approach agreed, and leaders development sessions delivered supported with practical 

coaching sessions. Showcase event planned for Q4 and training to be offered to all staff 
Q2 - Complete 

Members case work Managed through the Corporate Core: New System in place with ongoing management Q1 - Complete 

New website and channel shift Delivered through the Once Transformation Programme: Project on track. Brand guidelines agreed and functional user acceptance 
testing commenced. Plans for wider stakeholder engagement in development to be launched in Q4 alongside Detailed delivery plan for 

23/24. 

Q4  

Operational Services Managed through Operation Department, programmes include Wellness model, highways improvement, corporate landlord and Youth 
Zone facility 

Q4  

A plan to respond to Member‘s 

casework in the run-up to the May 
elections 

Elections completed. New process in place, ongoing monitoring and improvements Q1 - Complete 

Improving basic internal processes Delivered through the LET’S Do It Well Transformation Programme. Programmes of work include iTrent, M365 training and adoption, 
Absence/Agency/Honorarium process improvement. 

Q4 

Develop better ways of measuring 
performance on the basics 

Departmental dashboards included in monthly highlight report for discussion and analysis.   Q4 - Complete 

Take a strengths-based approach.  Delivery managed through corporate core: Core Leadership programme. Programme design being finalised and now open for bookings 
with Cohort 1 go-live in January 

Q2 

 
  

P
age 335



Performance 

   

   

 
 

14.60 14.26

10.7 12.3
0.00
5.00

10.00
15.00
20.00

Sickness absence: average 
number of days lost per FTE per 

year

Bury Council Bury ICP

53.00

98.00

100.00
100.00

40.00

60.00

80.00

100.00

120.00

O
c
t-

2
0

D
e
c
-2

0

F
e
b
-2

1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
n
-2

1

A
u
g
-
2
1

O
c
t-

2
1

D
e
c
-2

1

F
e
b
-2

2

A
p
r-

2
2

Ju
n
-2

2

A
u
g
-
2
2

O
c
t-

2
2

D
e
c
-2

2

% of FOIs completed on time

Bury Council Bury ICP

2081.00

570.00

67.00 61.00

0.00

500.00

1000.00

1500.00

2000.00

2500.00

A
p
r-

2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

O
c
t-

2
0

Ja
n
-
2
1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

O
c
t-

2
1

Ja
n
-
2
2

A
p
r-

2
2

Ju
l-

2
2

O
c
t-

2
2

Number of potholes

Repaired Reported

50.5
69

0

50

100

150

O
c
t-

2
0

D
e
c
-2

0

F
e
b
-2

1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
n
-2

1

A
u
g
-
2
1

O
c
t-

2
1

D
e
c
-2

1

F
e
b
-2

2

A
p
r-

2
2

Ju
n
-2

2

A
u
g
-
2
2

O
c
t-

2
2

D
e
c
-2

2

Number of missed bin collections 
per 100,000

54.5

47.4
40

45

50

55

60

65

O
c
t-

2
0

D
e
c
-2

0

F
e
b
-2

1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
n
-2

1

A
u
g
-
2
1

O
c
t-

2
1

D
e
c
-2

1

F
e
b
-2

2

A
p
r-

2
2

Ju
n
-2

2

A
u
g
-
2
2

O
c
t-

2
2

D
e
c
-2

2

Proportion of household waste 
recycled

21743

14021
10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

A
p
r-

2
0

Ju
n
-2

0

A
u
g
-
2
0

O
c
t-

2
0

D
e
c
-2

0

F
e
b
-2

1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
n
-2

1

A
u
g
-
2
1

O
c
t-

2
1

D
e
c
-2

1

F
e
b
-2

2

A
p
r-

2
2

Ju
n
-2

2

A
u
g
-
2
2

O
c
t-

2
2

D
e
c
-2

2

Contact centre - number of 
contacts

6.32

7.65

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22 Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22

Average number of days to respond to councillor 
member queries (snapshot)

95
81

0

100

0

50

100

150

% of complaints responded to within timescale

Bury Council Bury ICP

P
age 336



Conclusion and Next Steps 
 
48. This is the second delivery and performance report for 2022-23. Further development 

required or due to take place has been noted and this report reflects changes made to 
strengthen and improve the reporting process and functionality. Further work due for 
the Quarter Four report will include: 

 
 Inclusion of benchmarking data at appropriate geographical level e.g. North West, 

Greater Manchester, Statistical Neighbours. 
 Reference to target setting for key performance indicators. 

 
49. This report will be presented for scrutiny, providing opportunity for further engagement 

and direction on this area of work. Performance and delivery will continue to be 
reviewed internally, monthly, generating conversations that will substantiate the content 
of these quarterly reports to Cabinet. 

 
50. As part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy, work will be undertaken to align budget 

tracking with monitoring delivery and performance. A new approach to sharing this with 
Members for Check and Challenge will be contained within the new Corporate Plan for 
2023/24. 

 
Recommendation 
 
51. That Cabinet is asked to: 
 
 Note the performance and delivery against the 3R priorities and the 2022-23 Corporate 

Plan delivery objectives. 
 Note the ongoing developments to strengthen and improve this reporting process and 

functionality. 
 

Page 337



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

Report to: Cabinet 
Date: 15 February 
2023 

Subject: Changes to Admission Arrangements for Secondary Schools 

Report of Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 

 

1.0 Summary 

1.1 On 1s t June 2022, Cabinet gave approval (CA.13) to consult on making 
changes to the admissions policy for maintained secondary schools, and for 
these changes to apply for admissions to secondary school from September 
2024 onwards.  

 
1.2 For maintained schools, the Council is the Admissions Authority, and it is 

required to consult on an annual basis, in respect of any significant change 
to the admission arrangements that will apply for entry in the following 
academic year. The Council is then required to consider the outcome of that 
consultation, before determining the arrangements that will apply. 

 
1.3 Whilst secondary academies are their own Admissions Authority, and 

responsible for determining their own arrangements, in Bury all secondary 
academies have adopted the Council’s policy.  

 
1.4 Whilst statutorily, changes to the Council’s policy will only apply to 

maintained schools which are Parrenthorn High, Philips High, The Derby 
High and The Elton High, all secondary academies have confirmed that they 
intend to follow the Council’s policy and, for this reason, the consultation 
also included reference to non-faith academies. The four faith schools each 
have their own Admission Arrangements that reflect their specific 
circumstances.  

 
1.5 A key feature of the current policy is the use of catchment areas as a 

determining factor when considering applications for school places. The 
catchment areas where first put in place in 1979, and have remained largely 
unchanged, despite significant demographic changes, and changes in the 
school landscape.   
 

1.6 It is proposed to remove catchment areas and the associated 
oversubscription criterion, which currently gives pupils residing in a 
designated catchment area, priority for admission to Community secondary 
schools in the borough. This will be replaced by a distance criterion, so when 
considering oversubscription, priority will be given to those applicants 
residing closest to the school for which they are applying. 
 

1.7 The consultation took place between 3 October and 5 December 2022. The 
Council also consulted on behalf of non-faith Academy Trusts in the 
borough, as they also wished to adopt the proposed policy. 

Classification: 
Open 

Decision Type: 
Key 

Page 339 Agenda Item 10



 
1.8 This report sets out the outcome of the consultation and requests Cabinet 

to determine the Secondary School Admissions Policy for the academic year 
2024/25. 
 

1.9 The changes, if adopted, would come into effect for applications for 
secondary school places for the academic year 2024/25 and would apply to 
all Community secondary schools and non-faith Academies in the borough. 
These are: 

 
 Hazel Wood High School 
 Parrenthorn High School 
 Philips High School 
 The Derby High School 
 The Elton High School 
 The Heys 
 Tottington High School 
 Woodhey High School 
 Unsworth Academy 
 Radcliffe Academy (new school) 

 
2.0 Recommendation(s) 

That: 

Cabinet determines the proposed admissions policy for maintained 

secondary schools, to come into effect for applications for secondary school 

places for the academic year 2024/25. 

Following consultation on behalf of Academy Trusts, the proposed policy will 

apply to all Community secondary schools and non-faith Academies in the 
borough. 

Reasons for recommendation(s)  

Catchment areas in Bury have not been reviewed for many years  

Changing demographics across the borough over time, means that 
catchment areas no longer reflect the schools that they serve.  

Further, as a number of secondary schools have closed over time, with 

former catchment areas being consolidated into those of remaining schools, 
that don’t reflect size of school being served, or geographical boundaries.  

The Council is committed to delivering a new secondary school for Radcliffe, 

which is expected to admit its first cohort of pupils in September 2024. This 

will also impact on the current designated catchment areas.  

The majority of respondents to the consultation were in favour of the 
proposed policy changes.  

Discussions have taken place with neighbouring LA’s as to their admission 

arrangements. Removing catchment areas would align with our 

Page 340



neighbouring LA’s admissions policies whilst complying with the School 
Admissions Code. 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

To retain existing admission arrangements for maintained secondary 
schools would not be viable due to the reasons stated above. 

3.0 Background 
 

3.1 In June 2022, Cabinet considered a report requesting approval to consult 
on proposed changes to the current admissions policy for Community 
secondary schools and non-faith Academies. The current policy provides 
higher priority to those children who reside within the designated catchment 
area than children with siblings in the school and children who may live 
geographically closer, but not within the specified catchment area. 

 
3.2 The proposed change to policy will remove the barrier for admission to the 

nearest school, due to the locally set historic boundaries of a catchment 
area. 

 
3.3 The catchment areas in use were adopted in 1979 and reflected the nature 

of the educational landscape at the time, that included a number of schools 
that no longer exist, and to serve communities that have changed 
significantly following residential development and other demographic 
changes. 

 
3.4 Whilst changes have been made over time to accommodate the removal of 

schools, the catchment areas no longer reflect the demographics, and in 
many respects, parents are applying for places based on factors other than 
catchment areas.   
 

3.5 The proposed policy is set out at Appendix One. 
 

4.0 The Statutory Process  

 
4.1 As the admission authority for community and voluntary controlled schools 

in Bury, the LA is responsible for determining the admission arrangements 
applicable to those schools. Within the admission arrangements are the 
oversubscription criteria which are used to determine which applicants will 
be allocated a place when there are more applications than places available. 
 

4.2 Academies and voluntary aided schools are their own Admissions 
Authorities and, as such are responsible for determining their own 
admission arrangements.  
 

4.3 Of the 13 secondary schools in Bury, four are community schools, eight are 
academies, of which three are faith schools, and one is a voluntary aided 
faith school 
 

4.4 Under the Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme, the LA is responsible for co-
ordinating the admission of all children to Bury schools and academies. 

Page 341



Therefore, whilst the Council only has statutory responsibility for the 
admission arrangements in its four maintained secondary schools, it must 
administer the arrangements for all schools and academies. 
 

4.5 In accordance with the School Admissions Code (the Code), when changes 
are proposed to admission arrangements all admission authorities must 
consult on their admission arrangements that will apply for admission 
applications the following academic year.  
 

4.6 The Code also sets out the timeframe for consultation and determination of 
admission arrangements, and the stakeholders to be included within the 
consultation. 
 

4.7 The non-faith Academies within Bury all follow the Community Secondary 
School Policy, and each has confirmed that it intends to continue to do so if 
the proposed changes are made. Therefore, the Council has also consulted 
on their behalf.  
 

4.8 Consultation must last for a minimum of 6 weeks and must take place 
between 1 October and 31 January in the determination year. Admission 
authorities must consult with:  

 
 parents of children between the ages of two and eighteen 

 other persons in the relevant area who in the opinion of the admission 

authority have an interest in the proposed admissions 

 all other admission authorities within the relevant area (except that 

primary schools need not consult secondary schools) 

 whichever of the governing body and the local authority who are not 

the admission authority  

 any adjoining neighbouring local authorities where the admission 

authority is the local authority; and  

 in the case of schools designated with a religious character, the body 
or person representing the religion or religious denomination.  

4.9 For the duration of the consultation period, the admission authority must 

publish a copy of their full proposed admission arrangements on their 

website together with details of the person within the admission authority 

to whom comments may be sent and the areas on which comments are not 

sought. Admission authorities must also send upon request a copy of the 

proposed admission arrangements to any of the persons or bodies listed 
above inviting comment. 

4.10 All admission authorities must determine their admission arrangements by 
28 February for entry in September the following calendar year. 
 

5.0 Consultation 
 

5.1 Formal consultation with all stakeholders took place between 3 rd October 

and 5th December 2022. A copy of the consultation document is contained 

at Appendix Two. Details of the consultation and how to respond were sent 

Page 342



to all primary and secondary schools and academies, independent schools, 

maintained nurseries, private nurseries, parents forum, childminders and 

colleges. All settings were asked to ensure their parents were aware of the 

consultation. Details were also sent to Elected members, all neighbouring 
Local Authorities, all school Governing Bodies and Diocesan bodies. 

5.2 Information about the proposals was also published on the Bury Council 
website and social media pages, in the local press, in the children’s        
partnership and SEND newsletters and the consultation was an item on the 
Autumn Term governing body agendas. Briefing sessions and meetings also 
took place.  

 
5.3 A total of 56 written responses were received. Of these, 38 respondents 

were in favour of the proposal and 18 were not. Two secondary school 
Governing Bodies responded, one in favour of the proposal and one against. 
The remaining respondents were parents. 

 

5.4 The majority of respondents supporting the proposal felt that this was a 

fairer system. Many expressed that they did not live in the catchment area 

for their closest school, therefore under the current policy their children had 

to travel further to their catchment school, by bus or by car, when they 

could walk to their closest school. Respondents also commented upon the 

environmental benefits of reducing travel to and from school, as well as 

reduced expense, particularly in the current economic climate. The following 
are a sample of comments received from those in favour of the proposal: 

“It will be a good thing for the people of Bury to choose their nearest 

school or the school most suitable for their family’s travel, access and 

other factors.” 

“Long overdue to remove out of date system.” 

“We currently have a situation where children are accepted into 

schools ahead of those who could actually walk to school purely 

because of historic catchment areas and it’s about time this was 
addressed.” 

“At present the catchment areas do not allow secondary schools to 
service children in their local area.” 

“I believe the proposed change to allocate places where schools are 

oversubscribed based on the straight line distance from the pupil’s 

home address to the school is the right one and the fairest way of 

allocating these places. At the moment the way the current catchment 

areas work disadvantages pupils who live close to the school but live 

just outside what are outdated and appear arbitrary boundaries. This 

has meant some children have not been able go to their closest school 

(which may be in walking distance) and instead are sent to a school 
further away.” 

Page 343



“We currently have children getting in schools ahead of those who are 

closest and can actually walk to school. I fully support this and hope 

it will lead to a more simplified process of children leaving primary 

school and then attending their nearest high school to continue their 
education.” 

“The current catchment areas are very arbitrary. It makes much more 

sense for admissions to be made based on distance rather than an 
outdated set of boundaries.” 

5.5 Several respondents objected to the proposed change, whilst stating that 

children should be offered a place at a school nearest to home, or wherever 

best meets their needs. Others expressed concern that without a catchment 

area, more children will travel to school by car from further away which will 
create more traffic and parking in residential areas.   

5.6 A number of respondents accepted the need to review catchment areas, 

however did not wish to see them removed completely. The following are a 

sample of comments received from those objecting to the proposal: 

“I think that the catchment areas should be reviewed rather than 

removed.  This is because we need to avoid pollution, congestion and 

carbon emitted by parents driving their children to school. I think if the 
catchment areas are removed the traffic will be worse.”   

“Please accept this email as my disagreement with the proposed 

changes to catchment area for high schools in Bury. Local children and 

their friends should be able to attend a local school without the need 

to travel alone through the borough in a time when teenagers are 
becoming increasingly vulnerable.”  

“This opposes the councils own aims to reduce car traffic and increase 

cycling and walking. It is wholly unfair to local children and their 
families.” 

“…without a catchment area, more children will travel to school by car 

from further away which will create more traffic and parking in 

residential areas.  This would be much more dangerous for pedestrians 

in the local area.  Another concern is that without a catchment area 

outstanding and good schools would find themselves filled with looked 

after children and those with EHCP and the result would be a rapid 

decline in challenging behaviour, lower achievement, antisocial 

behaviour and lower standards.  The proposal should not be upheld in 
my view.” 

6.0 Conclusion  
 
6.1 Following widely publicised consultation, a relatively small number of 

responses were received although clearly each response is making an 
important point. On balance the responses received express support for 
the proposed changes.  

 

Page 344



6.2 For those expressing opposition to the changes, in some respect the 
comments made make reference to the importance of ensuring local 
places are available to meet local need. In part, the proposed changes 
are designed to do just that, in introducing a clearly understood distance 
criterion, rather than rely on an outdated catchment areas.   

 
6.3 Based on the outcome of the consultation, it is recommended that the 

proposed changes to the admission arrangements are adopted. 
 
_________________________________________________________ 

Report Author and Contact Details: 

Name: Paul Cooke 

Position: Strategic Lead (Education Services) 

Departments: Children’s Services 
E-mail: p.cooke@bury.gov.uk  

________________________________________________________________ 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

The proposed changes to admission arrangements have the potential to support 
key ambitions of the Let’s do it strategy: 

 A better future for the children of the borough 

 A better quality of life 
 A better future for the children of the borough 

 A chance to feel more part of the borough 

 Building a fairer society that leaves no-one behind 

_________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 

An assessment regarding the impact on equality has been undertaken as part of 
the consultation process. This is contained at Appendix 3. 

_________________________________________________________
Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

The proposed changes to admission arrangements could potentially reduce 
transport across the borough/neighbouring authorities. 

_________________________________________________________
Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Impact on stakeholders Full consultation and engagement  
Equality Assessment 

Fairer, clearer system for the majority          
of families 

 

_________________________________________________________ 

Page 345

mailto:p.cooke@bury.gov.uk


Legal Implications: 

The consultation for the proposed changes to the admission arrangements has 

taken place in accordance with the School Admissions Code and there are no 

legal implications arising from the report. In relation to the requirement for 

consultations, it is noted that the Code requires admission authorities to consult 
every 7 years, even if there have been no changes during that period. 

_________________________________________________________
Financial Implications: 

There are no financial implications associated with these proposals. 

_________________________________________________________ 
Background papers: 

Briefing paper – CA Review Briefing Note  

Changes to Admission Arrangements for Secondary Schools - Cabinet report 
010622.pdf 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in 
this report.  

  

Term Meaning 

Catchment Areas A catchment area is a defined geographical area around a 
School. Once the area has been defined, a priority can be 
given in the oversubscription criteria to children living 
within that defined area. Living within a catchment area 
does not guarantee that a place will be offered 

Stakeholder Someone who has an interest in the proposal e.g., parent, 
member of staff, member of local community group, local 
residents. 

Co-ordinated Admissions 
Scheme 

The School Admissions (Admission Arrangements and  
Co-ordination of Admission Arrangements) (England) 
Regulations 2012 

Looked after child A child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b)  
being provided with accommodation by a local authority 
in the exercise of their social services functions, in England. 

Previously looked after 
child 

A child who was looked after (in England), but ceased to  
be so because they were adopted, or become subject to  
a child arrangements or special guardianship order, as  
well as a child who appears to have been in state care  
outside of England care (i.e. In the care of/or  
accommodated by a public authority, religious  
organisation or any other provider whose sole/main 
purpose is to benefit society) but ceased to be so as a  
result of being adopted.  

 

 

 

Page 346

file://///Bynas004/data$/Learning/Confidential/Rachael%20Stirk/Catchment%20Area%20Review%202021/CA%20Review%20Briefing%20Note%20-%20March%202022.docx
file:///Q:/Learning/Confidential/Rachael%20Stirk/Catchment%20Area%20Review%202021/Changes%20to%20Admission%20Arrangements%20for%20Secondary%20Schools%20-%20Cabinet%20report%20010622.pdf
file:///Q:/Learning/Confidential/Rachael%20Stirk/Catchment%20Area%20Review%202021/Changes%20to%20Admission%20Arrangements%20for%20Secondary%20Schools%20-%20Cabinet%20report%20010622.pdf


 

       APPENDIX ONE 

PROPOSED ADMISSIONS POLICY FOR MAINTAINED SECONDARY 
SCHOOLS  

It is proposed to remove catchment area priority from admission arrangements to 

Community secondary schools. The proposed new admissions policy for 
maintained secondary schools would therefore be as follows: 

Children with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) will be given a place at 

the school named in their plan. When schools are oversubscribed, priority for 
allocation of places will be as follows: 

 

 Children in public care (Looked after children) and previously looked after 

children.  

 Children who have an older brother or sister in the school in the September 

of the year of admission. For this purpose, a brother or sister may be a full 

or step-brother or a full or step-sister, living at the same address at the 

time of admission. 

 Other children 

 

If there is over-subscription in any category, places will be offered using straight 

line distance from the child’s home address to the school as a tiebreaker. The 

distance will be measured using the Local Authority’s computerised mapping 

system, which measures from the address point of the home to the address point 

of the school using the local land and property gazetteer. Those living closer to 

the school will receive the higher priority. 

 

 

The changes, if adopted, would come into effect for applications for secondary 

school places for the academic year 2024/25 and would apply to all Community 

secondary schools and non-faith Academies in the borough. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 347



    APPENDIX TWO 

 

                                                                                                                                                   

 

 

 

 

Consultation on the changes to the admission 

policy for community secondary schools and non-

faith academies in Bury 

 

 

 

These proposals would seek to remove the catchment area 

priority from the existing secondary admissions policy 

The proposed changes would be effective from September 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The consultation document tells you about the proposed changes and explains 

the decision-making process. We welcome all your views and encourage you to 
respond by the deadline of 5 December 2022 

 

Consultation dates: 3 October until 5 December 2022 

Page 348

https://www.bury.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=10298


THE PROPOSAL 

Bury Council, as the admission authority for community and voluntary controlled schools, 

is proposing the admission policy below, which would apply to applications for school places 

for the academic year 2024/25 for all community and voluntary controlled Secondary 

Schools and all non-faith academies on behalf of their multi academy trusts. 

We are consulting on the following proposals which would remove the catchment area 

priority from the community secondary school admissions policy. We would like to hear your 

views and comments about this, so that we can decide whether to include these changes in 
the admissions policy for 2024/25: 

For the following secondary schools, the proposed new policy is as follows:- 

SCHOOL NAME ADMISSION AUTHORITY 
Hazel Wood High School (Academy) Oak Learning Partnership 

Parrenthorn High School Local Authority 
Philips High School Local Authority 

The Derby High School Local Authority 
The Elton High School Local Authority 

The Heys (Academy) Rowan Learning Trust 
Tottington High School (Academy Shaw Education Trust 

Unsworth Academy (Academy) Shaw Education Trust 
Woodhey High School (Academy) Shaw Education Trust 

 

The proposed new admissions policy would be: - 

 Children with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) will be given 

a place at the school named in their plan. 

When schools are oversubscribed, priority for allocation of places will be as 
follows: - 

 Children in public care (Looked after children) and previously looked 
after children. (1) (2)  

 Children who have an older brother or sister in the school in the 

September of the year of admission. For this purpose, a brother or 

sister may be a full or step-brother or a full or step-sister, living at the 

same address at the time of admission. 

 Other children 

1. A ‘looked after child’ is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with 
accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social services functions, in England.  
2. A ‘previously looked after child’ is a child who was looked after (in England), but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted, or become subject to a child arrangements or special guardianship order, 
as well as a child who appears to have been in state care outside of England care (i.e. In the care of/or 
accommodated by a public authority, religious organisation or any other provider whose sole/main 
purpose is to benefit society) but ceased to be so as a result of being adopted .  

 

If there is over-subscription in any category, places will be offered using 

straight line distance from the child’s home address to the school as a 

tiebreaker. The distance will be measured using the Local Authority’s 

computerised mapping system, which measures from the address point of the 

Page 349



home to the address point of the school using the local land and property 
gazetteer. Those living closer to the school will receive the higher priority. 

As part of this consultation process, we are also consulting on behalf of Rowan Learning 

Trust to reduce the planned admission number (PAN) at The Heys to 130 from 

September 2024. The School Admissions Code states that they must carry out a 

consultation if they intend to lower their PAN for September 2024 onwards. Schools do 

not have to consult if we intend to increase or maintain the PAN. The table below shows 
the existing admission numbers at all Secondary Schools. 

 

SCHOOL NAME ADMISSION NUMBER 
Hazel Wood High School (Academy) 120 

Parrenthorn High School 210 
Philips High School 176 

The Derby High School 180 
The Elton High School 200 

The Heys (Academy) 172 (reducing to 130 from 2024) 
Tottington High School (Academy 195 

Unsworth Academy (Academy) 200 
Woodhey High School (Academy) 210 

Bury Church of England High School (Faith Academy) 162 
St Gabriels RC (Faith Academy) 210 

St Monicas RC (Faith Academy) 230 
Manchester Mesivta (Jewish VA) 40 

 

HOW CAN I MAKE MY VIEWS KNOWN? 

All comments and suggestions are invited, and you can provide these by e-mailing 

schoolorganisation@bury.gov.uk with your comments or if you do not have access to email, 

this can be done in writing to the School Admissions team, 3 Knowsley Place, Duke Street, 
Bury, BL9 0EJ by the deadline of 5 December 2022.  

 

THE CONSULTATION PROCESS 

The consultation process will last from 3 October 2022 until 5 December 2022.  

The statutory School Admissions Code states that when changes are proposed to admission 

arrangements, all admission authorities must consult on their admission arrangements that 
will apply for admission applications the following school year.  

Consultation must last for a minimum of 6 weeks and must take place between 1 October 
and 31 January in the determination year. Admission authorities must consult with:  

a) parents of children between the ages of two and eighteen;  

b) other persons in the relevant area who in the opinion of the admission authority have an 
interest in the proposed admissions;  

Page 350

mailto:schoolorganisation@bury.gov.uk


c) all other admission authorities within the relevant area (except that primary schools need 
not consult secondary schools);  

d) whichever of the governing body and the local authority who are not the admission 
authority;  

e) any adjoining neighbouring local authorities where the admission authority is the local 

authority; and  

f) in the case of schools designated with a religious character, the body or person 

representing the religion or religious denomination.  

For the duration of the consultation period, the admission authority must publish a copy of 

their full proposed admission arrangements on their website together with details of the 

person within the admission authority to whom comments may be sent and the areas on 

which comments are not sought. Admission authorities must also send upon request a copy 

of the proposed admission arrangements to any of the persons or bodies listed above 

inviting comment. Failure to consult effectively may be grounds for subsequent complaints 
and appeals.  

We are asking you to tell us: 

 Whether you agree or disagree with the proposal to remove the catchment area 
priority from the community secondary school admissions policy. 

All responses to the consultation will be reviewed and considered from 6 December to mid-

January 2023. The recommendations will be made to Bury Council’s cabinet by 28 February 

2023 for determination (approval) of admissions arrangements for the academic year 

2024/25. 

Following determination of arrangements, any objections to those arrangements must be 
made to the Schools Adjudicator by 15 May in the determination year. 

It is important to note that the Local Authority is not the admission authority for any of the 

faith schools (Bury Church of England, St. Gabriels RC, St. Monicas RC or Manchester 

Mesivta). If these schools decide to make changes to their own admission arrangements, 
they will undertake their own consultation with stakeholders. 

 

FURTHER DETAILS ABOUT THE PROPOSAL 

Bury Council proposes to remove catchment areas and the associated catchment area 

priority for the Community Secondary Schools and non-faith academies in the borough. 

Please see map at Appendix 1. showing the current catchment areas and the location of the 
schools. 

 

Why are we proposing the change? 

Catchment areas in Bury have not been reviewed for many years and as a number of schools 

have closed over the years, their previous catchment areas have been absorbed within 

other school’s current catchment areas. As new housing developments have been 

constructed over the years and are continuing to be developed, this now means some 

Page 351



catchment areas are very large and each school may not have the capacity for the growing 

number of children residing within its designated catchment area. In some cases, children 

are located in a catchment area of a school which is further and less accessible than their 

nearest geographical school. 

The current admissions policy for community secondary schools has given higher priority to 

children who reside within the catchment area than children with siblings in the school and 

children who may live closer, but not within the specified catchment area. The proposed 

change will remove the barrier for admission at the most geographically local school, due 

to the locally set historic boundaries of a catchment area. 

A number of secondary schools have converted to Academies, or are in discussions about 

conversion, and as such are/will be free to determine their own admissions arrangements. 

Furthermore, there is currently a proposal to establish a free secondary school in Radcliffe, 
which would also impact on the current catchment areas.  

 

GLOSSARY 
 

 

Cabinet The decision-making body of Bury Council, formed by the  
Leader of the Council and other executive members. 
 

Catchment Areas A catchment area is a defined geographical area around a 
School. Once the area has been defined, a priority can be 
Given in the oversubscription criteria to children living 
within that defined area. Living within a catchment area 
does not guarantee that a place will be offered. 
 

Stakeholder Someone who has an interest in the proposal e.g. parent, 
member of staff, member of local community group, local 
residents. 
 

 

Page 352



 

 

 

 

Page 353



 

APPENDIX  THREE 

 

EQUALITY ANALYSIS  

This Equality Analysis considers the effect of Bury Council/ Bury CCG activity on different 

groups protected from discrimination under the Equality Act 2010. This is to consider if there 

are any unintended consequences for some groups from key changes made by a public body 

and their contractor partners organisations and to consider if the activity will be fully effective 

for all protected groups. It involves using equality information and the results of engagement 

with protected groups and others, to manage risk and to understand the actual or potential 

effect of activity, including any adverse impacts on those affected by the change under 

consideration. 

For support with completing this Equality Analysis please contact corporate.core@bury.gov.uk 

/ 0161 253 6592 

  

 SECTION 1 – RESPONSIBILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY  

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 4 
1.1 Name of policy/ project/ 

decision 
Changes to Secondary School Admissions Policy 

1. 2 Lead for policy/ project/ 

decision  
Isobel Booler 

1.3 Committee/Board signing 

off policy/ project/ decision 
  

1.4 Author of Equality 

Analysis 
  

Name: Vicky Hunter 
Role: Team Manager (Admissions/Pupil Place Planning) 
Contact details: 0161 253 5670 

1.5 Date EA completed 18/01/2023 

1.6 Quality Assurance 
  

Name:  
Role:  
Contact details:  
Comments:  

1.7 Date QA completed   

1.8 Departmental recording 
  

Reference:  
Date:  

1.9 Next review date   

  

  

SECTION 2 – AIMS AND OUTCOMES OF POLICY / PROJECT 

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 5 
2.1 Detail of policy/ decision 

being sought 
Changes to the School Admissions Policy for 
Community Secondary Schools and non-faith 
Secondary Academies, specifically removal of 
catchment areas and the associated catchment area 
priority. 

Page 354

mailto:corporate.core@bury.gov.uk


2.2 What are the intended 

outcomes of this? 
Catchment areas in Bury have not been reviewed for 
many 
years and as a number of schools have closed over 
the years, their previous catchment areas have been 
absorbed within other school’s current catchment 
areas. As new housing developments have been 
constructed over the years and are continuing to be 
developed, this now means some catchment areas 
are very large and each school may not have the 
capacity for the growing number of children residing 
within its designated catchment area. In some cases, 
children are located in a catchment area of a school 
which is further and less accessible than their 

nearest geographical school. The current admissions 
policy for community secondary schools has given 
higher priority to children who reside within the 
catchment area than children with siblings in the 
school and children who may live closer, but not 
within the specified catchment area. The proposed 
change will remove the barrier for admission at the 
most geographically local school, due to the locally 
set historic boundaries of a catchment area. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

SECTION 3 – ESTABLISHING RELEVANCE TO EQUALITY & HUMAN RIGHTS              

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance pages 5-8 and 11 
  

Please outline the relevance of the activity/ policy to the Public Sector Equality 

Duty  
General Public Sector 

Equality Duties 
Relevance 
(Yes/No) 

Rationale behind relevance decision 

3.1 To eliminate unlawful 

discrimination, harassment 
and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by 
Equality Act 2010  

No   

3.2 To advance equality of 

opportunity between people 
who share a protected 
characteristic and those who 
do not.  

No   

3.3 To foster good relations 

between people who share a 

No   

Page 355



protected characteristic and 
those who do not 
3.4  Please outline the considerations taken, including any mitigations, to ensure activity is 

not detrimental to the Human Rights of any individual affected by the decision being 
sought. 
  

  

SECTION 4 – EQUALITIES DATA 

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 8 
Protected 
characteristic 

Outcome sought Base data  Data gaps (to 
include in Section 

8 log) 
4.1 Age       
4.2 Disability       

4.3 Gender       
4.4 Pregnancy or 

Maternity 
      

4.5 Race       
4.6 Religion and 

belief 
      

4.7 Sexual 

Orientation 
      

4.8 Marriage or Civil 

Partnership 
      

4.9 Gender 

Reassignment 
      

4.10 Carers       

4.11 Looked After 

Children and Care 
Leavers 

      

4.12 Armed Forces 

personnel including 
veterans 

      

4.13 Socio-
economically 
vulnerable 

      

  

SECTION 5 – STAKEHOLDERS AND ENGAGEMENT 

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 8 and 9 
  Internal Stakeholders External Stakeholders 
5.1 Identify 

stakeholders 
All Schools 
Elected members 
School governors 

All Students and Parents via :- 
 Nurseries (private and 

maintained and 
childminders) 

 Schools (Primary and 
Secondary, academies and 
maintained) 

 Colleges 
Diocesan bodies 
General public 

Page 356



Neighboring Local Authorities 
5.2 Engagement 
undertaken 

Briefing papers issued, drop-in 
sessions arranged to answer any 
questions on the proposals, item 
on the governing body agenda, 
published in the local press and 
on the council social media 
pages, newsletters, published on 
Bury Council website 

Published in the local press and 
on the council social media 
pages, newsletters, published 
on Bury Council website, 
information sent to parents via 
early years provider, schools 
and colleges. 
Formal consultation ran from 3 
October 2022 until 5 December 
2022 

5.3 Outcomes of 
engagement  

  A summary of responses was 
produced, which were in the 
main in favour of the proposal. 

5.4 Outstanding 

actions following 
engagement 
(include in Section 8 
log) 

    

  

  

SECTION 6 – CONCLUSION OF IMPACT 

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 9 
  
Please outline whether the activity/ policy has a positive or negative effect on any groups 
of people with protected inclusion characteristics  

Protected 
Characteristic 

Positive/ 
Neutral 

Negative
/  

Impact (include reference to data/ engagement) 

6.1 Age Neutral   
6.2 Disability Neutral   
6.3 Gender Neutral   
6.4 Pregnancy or 

Maternity 
Neutral   

6.5 Race Neutral   

6.6 Religion and belief Neutral   
6.7 Sexual Orientation Neutral   
6.8 Marriage or Civil 

Partnership 
Neutral   

6.9 Gender 

Reassignment 
Neutral   

6.10 Carers Neutral   
6.11 Looked After 

Children and Care 
Leavers 

Positive LAC and former LAC will continue to receive the 
highest priority after children with SEN in the 
proposed new policy. 

6.12 Armed Forces 

personnel including 
veterans 

Neutral   

Page 357



6.13 Socio-

economically 
vulnerable 

Neutral   

6.14 Overall impact - 

What will the likely 
overall effect of your 
activity be on equality, 
including 
consideration  
on intersectionality? 

  

  

SECTION 7 – ACTION LOG  

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 10 
Action Identified Lead Due Date Comments and Sign off (when 

complete) 
7.1 Actions to address gaps identified in section 4 

        

        
7.2 Actions to address gaps identified in section 5 

        

        
7.3 Mitigations to address negative impacts identified in section 6 

        

        
7.4 Opportunities to further inclusion (equality, diversity and human rights ) including to 

advance opportunities and engagements across protected characteristics  

        

        

  

SECTION 8 - REVIEW  

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 10 
Review Milestone Lead Due Date Comments (and sign off when 

complete) 
        

        

        

        

  

Please make sure that every section of the Equality Analysis has been fully completed. 

The author of the EA should then seek Quality Assurance sign off and departmental 

recording.  

  

SECTION 9 – QUALITY ASSURANCE   

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page x 
Consideration Yes/ 

No 
Rationale and details of further actions 
required 

Page 358



Have all section been 
completed fully? 

Yes   

Has the duty to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, 
harassment, victimization and 
other conducted prohibited by 
the PSED and Equalities Act 
been considered and acted 
upon? 

Yes   

Has the duty to advance 
equality of opportunity between 
people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who 
do not been considered and 
acted upon 

Yes   

Has the duty to foster good 
relations between people who 
share a protected 
characteristic and those who 
do not, been consider and 
acted upon 

Yes   

Has the action log fully detailed 
any required activity to address 
gaps in data, insight and/or 
engagement in relation to 
inclusion impact? 

N/A   

Have clear and robust 
reviewing arrangements been 
set out? 

    

Are there any further 
comments to be made in 
relation to this EA 

No   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 359



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

Report to: Cabinet Date: 15 February 2023 

Subject: Relocation of Pennine Care into 3 Knowsley Place – Part A 

Report of Leader and Cabinet Member for Strategic Growth and Skills 

 
Summary 

 Approval in principle is sought to approve the relocation of Pennine Care 

from Humphrey House to 3 Knowsley Place. 

 The relocation will result in a revenue savings to the Council and the 

generation of a capital receipt from the subsequent sale of Humphrey 

House, which will be used to make a capital contribution towards the fit 
out costs of 3KP. 

Recommendation(s) 

That Cabinet: 

 Approves the current Heads of Terms of the assignment of the Councils’ 

Lease at 3 Knowsley Place to Pennine Care. 

 Approves the relocation of Council staff currently occupying 3 Knowsley 

Place to 6 Knowsley Place and the Town Hall subject to appropriate 

consultation. 

 

 Approves the Capital contribution towards Pennine Care’s fit out at 3 

Knowsley Place.  

 

 Delegate any minor variations to the final Heads of Terms to the Director 

of Regeneration & Capital Growth in consultation with the Monitoring 

Officer, Section 151 Officer and the Leader of the Council. 

 

 Delegate the signing of all contracts required to complete the assignment, 
lease and landlords' consent to the Councils Monitoring Officer. 

Reasons for recommendation(s)  

 Relocation of Pennine Care from Humphrey House into 3 Knowsley Place 

will bring about a capital receipt from the sale of Humphrey House.  It will 

also deliver revenue savings from the shared occupation of 3 Knowsley 

Place for the duration of the lease term. However, that income will in part 
be a replacement for the income currently received for Humphrey House.   

Alternative options considered and rejected 

Option 1 – Do Nothing 

 

 In this scenario Pennine Care would remain in Humphrey House. 

Classification: 
Open 

 

Decision 
Type: 

Key 

Page 361 Agenda Item 11



 

 The Council would be faced with significant capital expenditure to 

refurbish Humphrey House which would provide very little in the 

way of additional income. 

 

 The Council would forgo the opportunity to sell Humphrey House 

and generate a capital receipt and would lose the opportunity to 

develop the site for an alternative purpose (housing). 

 

 The revenue savings from the shared occupation of 3 Knowsley 

Place would be lost. 

 
 As such, this option has been discounted. 

Option 2 – Procced with assignment lease to Pennine Care 

 This option would see Pennine Care relocated. 

 

 Whilst this option requires the Council to contribute towards 

Pennine Care’s fit-out costs, in the medium to longer term this is 

outweighed by the capital receipt from the sale of Humphrey House 

and revenue savings from the Council assigning its current lease to 
Pennine Care and the shared occupation of 3 Knowsley Place. 

_________________________________________________________ 
Report Author and Contact Details: 

Name: Roger Frith 
Position: Head of Land & Property  
Department: BGI 
E-mail: r.frith@bury.gov.uk 
________________________________________________________________ 

Key considerations 

1. Background 

1.1 Humphrey House is currently identified for disposal in the Accelerated 

Land Disposal Programme. An update on the programme was approved by 
Cabinet on 22 March 2022.  

1.2 Pennine Care occupy the majority of the building under a 10 year lease 

which expired in July 2020. They are currently holding over under the 

same terms. The current rent is £293k (inclusive of VAT) per annum. In 

addition, there is an annual service charge, which covers utilities costs, 
repairs, insurance and cleaning and security.  

1.3 Humphrey house is an outdated building with high running costs due to 

the fabric of the building and age of the mechanical, electrical and 

Plumbing (MEP) services. The building currently has an EPC rating of F, 

which is below the minimum standard required for commercial buildings of 

E which comes into effect in April 2023. To allow Pennine Care to continue 

Page 362



in occupation beyond this date, or to re-let the building, the Council would 

have to invest significant capital to bring it up to modern standards, which 
would not be recouped with current rent levels. 

1.4 Greater Manchester Mental Health also occupy a small part of Humphrey 

house (3,000 sqft) paying a rent of £26,920 (inclusive of VAT) per annum. 

Discussions are ongoing with them regarding alternative accommodation 
in the Town Centre. 

2. Proposal – Relocation to 3 Knowsley Place 

 

1.1. The Council occupies 3 Knowsley Place (3KP) under a 25 year lease from 

February 2010.  

 

1.2. 3KP comprises of some 42,750 sqft of accommodation over five floors. 

Pennine Care were originally looking to relocate to the Ground and First 

Floors at 3KP.  

 

1.3. Pennine are now looking to take the Ground, 1s t and 2nd Floors at the 

outset and occupying the remainder of the building in circa 4 years as part 

of a wider asset rationalisation strategy. Pennine have instructed external 

consultants to prepare a business case to support the financial case for 

taking an assignment of the whole of 3KP, which should be completed by 

the end of March 2023. Pennine will thereafter seek formal approval to the 

proposed heads of terms.  

 

1.4. The requirement for Pennine to take the 2nd floor in the short term would 

require Council staff from Business, Growth and Infrastructure (BGI) 

Directorate to relocate in the spring of 2023. The Council also lease 6 

Knowsley Place (6KP), although it sublets the whole of the building to Six 

Town Housing. Sufficient surplus accommodation has been identified on 

the 1s t & 2nd floors at 6KP to accommodate the current staff from level 2 

at 3KP. Other Council staff on level 1 will also need to be relocated when 

Pennine commence their fit-out works in late 2023. This provides 

sufficient time to identify suitable alternative accommodation in either 

3KP, 6KP or the Town Hall. 

 

1.5. In addition to Council staff, some former CCG staff occupy part of level 1. 

Pennine have confirmed in principle that these staff will be able to stay 

within 3KP following the assignment of the lease. 

 

1.6. The rationale for the council taking a leaseback of the 3rd & 4th Floors at 

3KP for a period of up to 4 years is to allow sufficient time to identity 

alternative accommodation for Council staff. A refurbished Town Hall 

building is one option that is under consideration. 

 

1.7. In December 2021 Cabinet approved it’s Let's do it Flexibly Policy, as part 

of the Corporate Transformation Programme with the aim of reducing the 

costs of operating the Councils corporate estate by £500k. The relocation 

Page 363



of Pennine Care into 3KP will provide a significant proportion of this 

saving. 

 

1.8. Should the Council, choose not to contribute to the fit-out costs it is likely 

that Pennine Care would seek to remain in Humphrey House, resulting in 

the council having to spend significant capital to improve the building, 

with no additional financial return. 

 

2. Proposed Heads of Terms 

 

2.1. As set out in Part B of this report. 

 

3. Pennine Care Approvals 

 

3.1. As noted in Para 1.3, Pennine Care have appointed external consultants to 

prove the business case for the relocation of staff to 3KP. Pennine expect 

the report to be completed in March and have it formally signed off in 

April. 

3.2. Pennine are currently reviewing their programme for the design, tender 

and contract dates for the fit-out works to the Ground & 1s t Floors of 3KP. 

Until this is received it is not possible to confirm the dates Council staff 
will need to vacate these floors. 

_________________________________________________________ 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

4. This proposal is fully aligned with the Let’s do It Strategy.  

_________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 

5. An EIA is not required 

 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

6. Humphrey House currently has an EPC rating of F, which falls well short of 

current standards. The relocation of Pennine Care into 3KP, which has a 

much-reduced carbon footprint than Humphrey House, will assist in the 

Councils overall carbon reduction targets.   

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Pennine Care fail to get formal approval to 
the relocation. 

The detail in the heads of terms have 
been discussed with senior officers at 
Pennine Care.  

Page 364



The final fit out costs exceed the current 
budget. 

The council is making a fixed 
contribution to the costs. Any over-
spend would be the responsibility of 
Pennine Care. 

Failure to secure Landlords consent for the 
assignment to Pennine Care. 
 

Informal discussions have already been 
held with the landlord who has so far 
raised no concerns. 

Failure to secure alternative accommodation 
for Council Staff in 4 years' time. 

Plans in place to consider refurbishment 
of the Town Hall building. 

Failure to find alternative accommodation 
for GM Mental Health leading to delays in 
receipt from sale of Humphrey House 

Discussions are ongoing with GMMH to 
identity alternative premises. 

_________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

All arrangements with Pennine care as set out in this report will be subject to 

approval by their Board. It is proposed that the Council assign the lease in 

respect of 3 Knowsley Place to Pennine Care. Following the assignment, the 

Council will sub lease accommodation within the building. Legal advice will be 

provided throughout all lease arrangement will be subject to detailed negotiation 
on the precise terms. 

As with all disposals the Council must obtain best value for its assets. 

_________________________________________________________
Financial Implications: 

It should be noted that the agreement for Pennine Care to take the lease at 3KP 

on the proposed terms is yet to be agreed by their Board.  The capital receipt for 

Humphrey House is still an estimate and subject to a red book valuation and 

actual receipt within the proposed timeframes.  The anticipated capital receipt is 

not sufficient to fully fund the capital contribution to Pennine Care for the fit out 

costs of 3KP and there will also be a timing issue in respect of when the payment 

is to be made to Pennine Care and when the receipt is realised.  The shortfall will 

therefore, need to be funded from capital receipts delivered from alternative 

disposals or from reserves.  This is referenced within the capital programme 

budget report elsewhere on this agenda. 

 

The agreement with Pennine Care does deliver savings over the medium to long 
term but due to the capital contribution to fit out it doesn’t deliver direct savings 
in the short term.  However, consideration must be given to the capital costs 
that would be required to bring Humphrey House up to the required standards if 
the Council were to retain it. This proposal is inextricably strategically linked with 
the separate report on this agenda about the Town Hall.  
 

_______________________________________________________ 
Background papers: 

None 

Page 365



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

Report to: Cabinet 
Date: 15 February 
2023 

Subject: 
Future of Bury Town Hall and other administrative buildings 
occupied by the Council 

Report of Leader and Cabinet Member for Strategic Growth and Skills 

 

Summary 

1.1 This report presents the findings of a cross party Working Group established 

to look at the future of Bury Town Hall. The final report of the Group appears in 

a report in part B of this agenda, as it contains commercially confidential 
information relating to rental agreements.  

1.2. The condition of the Town Hall is such that the Council cannot continue 

occupation without making a clear decision on whether to invest in the building 

or seek to replace it. 

1. 3. The Working Group considered options in the context of the Council’s wider 

administrative estate, in particular the office blocks at 3 and 6 Knowsley Place. 

The report also deals with the sites of Q Park roof and Humphrey House; 

decisions on both sites have been held back pending a decision on the Town 
Hall.  

1.4. The report presents a preferred option for the purposes of consultation. The 

preferred option is to undertake a phased refurbishment of the Town Hall. This 

will create higher quality office space in the Town Hall. It will also allow for a 

phased decant of staff from 3 Knowsley Place timed to align with the availability 

of newly refurbished space in the Town Hall. The preferred option will also create 

options for the Q Park roof and Humphrey House sites to be sold to enable 
further brownfield housing to be developed in the town centre.  

1.5. The viability of the plan has been enhanced by negotiations with Pennine 

Care NHS Foundation Trust with a proposal for the Trust to take over the lease 

of 3 Knowsley Place from the Council, but to enable the Council to retain 

occupancy of floors 3 and 4 until the phased refurbishment allows staff to move 

to the Town Hall. 

1.6 The proposals in the report will require capital investment into the Town 

Hall, which the Council owns, but will produce revenue savings by withdrawing 

from commercial leases and further knock-on savings from operating a smaller 
more compact estate and reduced energy costs. 

Recommendation(s) 

That subject to the approval of the recommendation appearing elsewhere on this 
agenda that the Council approve heads of terms for the transfer of its lease for 3 
Knowsley Place to Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust: 
  

Classification: 
Open 

Decision Type: 
Key 

Page 367 Agenda Item 12



(1) Cabinet approves the preferred option of a phased refurbishment of the 
Town Hall as the basis for a consultation with the public, staff and trade unions.  
  
(2) That the Executive Director (Place) be requested to submit a further report 
to Cabinet in April 2023 on the outcome of the consultation process to coincide 
with a report recommending detailed terms for the transfer of the Council’s lease 
obligation for 3 Knowsley Place to Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust. 
  
(3) That Cabinet note the intention to submit a detailed investment case for the 
refurbishment of the Town Hall to Cabinet by summer 2023. 
  
(4) That Cabinet note that, subject to satisfactory progress on the proposals to 
refurbish the Town Hall and the transfer the Council’s lease obligations for 3 
Knowsley Place, options for the disposal of the Q Park roof site and Humphrey 
House will then be presented to Cabinet. 
  
(5) That Cabinet note the intention in the longer term to withdraw from the 
lease for 6 Knowsley Place subject to sufficient refurbished accommodation being 
made available at the Town Hall.  
  
(6) That Cabinet note the findings of the Member Working Group on the future of 
the Town Hall as set out in the report in Part B of this agenda.  
 

3. Reasons for recommendation(s)  

 
3.1. The recommendations to commission a phased refurbishment of the Town 
Hall and to withdraw from leased premises at 3 and 6 Knowsley Place are the 
most cost-effective way of continuing to provide accommodation for the 
Borough’s civic and democratic functions and suitable space for the Council’s 
administrative staff.  
  
3.2. The recommendations also provide the most effective means of reducing 
the carbon footprint of the Council’s estate compared to other options for the 
future of the Town Hall. The Council’s corporate buildings account for 41% of its 
carbon emissions.   
  
3.3. The recommendations will support the implementation of the Bury Town 
Centre Masterplan, approved by Cabinet in March 2022 by retaining and 
refurbishing a key heritage asset and promoting high quality public realm.  
  
3.4. The recommendations will create a public service hub with Council, NHS and 
Six Town Housing staff being consolidated at the Town Hall and Knowsley Place. 
This will improve efficiency and joint working. Pennine Care NHS Foundation 
Trust will transfer staff to Knowsley Pace from Humphrey House and from sites 
outside of Bury town centre. This increase in public service staff based in a 
public service hub will support retail businesses in the town centre, which is a 
key objective of the Masterplan. 
 

4. Alternative options considered and rejected 

Page 368



4.1. The following alternative options have been considered and rejected for the 
reasons given in section 9 of this report.  
  
(a) Undertake an interim upgrade of the Town Hall and maintain the 
commercial leases on 3 and 6 Knowsley Place.  
  
(b)  Construct a new Town Hall on the Q Park site or on the site of the existing 
Town Hall. 
  
(c)  Dispose of the Town Hall, maintain the commercial leases on 3 and 6 
Knowsley Place and identify new space for civic functions elsewhere. 
  
5. Background 

5.1 The current condition of Bury Town Hall is such that the Council cannot 
continue without deciding to either withdraw entirely from the building or 
undertake a major programme of works. The Town Hall is around seventy years-
old and exhibits many of the operational challenges of operating from a building 
of that age. Over that time there have been no modernisation programmes or 
overhauls of plant and machinery. The fabric of the Town Hall and its electrical 
and mechanical systems have deteriorated to an extent that the costs of reactive 
maintenance have increased to an unacceptable level and parts of the building 
are not operational. The risks of further failures and costs will only grow unless 
more long-term action is taken. 
  
5.2. The internal layout of the Town Hall does not represent a modern 
workspace with numerous small offices instead of the open plan workspace 
needed to promote direct communication and collaboration across teams and to 
support the well-being of staff.  
  
5.3. Options for the future of the Town Hall have been known for some time. 
These have included, refurbishing the existing building; constructing a new Town 
Hall on the site of the Q Park building on the opposite side of Knowsley Street 
and disposing of the existing Town Hall; or demolition of the Town Hall and 
constructing a new Town Hall on the existing site. A decision on the development 
of the Q Park site has been held back pending a decision on the Town Hall. A 
decision on the disposal of Humphrey House has also been delayed by the lack 
of a decision on the future of the Town Hall and 3 Knowsley Place.  
  
5.4. The adoption of agile working since the Covid pandemic has reduced the 
amount of office space used by the Council and other public services. This means 
that the Council no longer requires both the Town Hall and 3 Knowsley Place. 
This, together with a decision of Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust to vacate 
its staff from Humphrey House and other locations, creates an opportunity to 
consolidate staff from different public service into a single hub.  
 

6. Member Working Group 
 
6.1. Given the context described above a Member Working Group was 
established in 2022 with a remit to: 
  

Page 369



(a) Review the Town Hall in the context of the future administrative and 
ceremonial space requirements of the Council. This will include considering how 
other key Council operational buildings are operated, reviewing the commercial 
leases that are held and considering alternate locations for ceremonial functions. 
  
(b) Account for how the Town Hall will play its part in the Council meeting its 
wider environmental obligations. The incentive to act on this has increased 
exponentially during 2022 as record gas and electricity prices have put further 
pressures on Council budgets; and  
  
(c) Look at examples of how Councils elsewhere in the UK have tackled 
challenges associated with their Town Hall buildings. This will allow the Group to 
consider how some places have re- purposed Town Hall buildings, how some 
have created cultural venues whilst others have introduced green infrastructure.  
  
6.2 The Working Group comprised the Leaders of all three political parties. A 
report from the Working Group, upon which this report is based, appears in Part 
B of the agenda for this meeting. The report includes confidential commercial 
information on the leases for 3 and 6 Knowsley Place.  
  
7.  Other buildings.  
  
7.1 In addition to the Town Hall this report refers to the following other 
buildings: 
  
(a) 3 Knowsley Place This is a five-story office block directly opposite the Town 
Hall. 
  
(b) 6 Knowsley Place is a four-story office block fronting onto Angouleme Way. 
  
(c) Humphrey House is a 1960’s office block fronting onto Angouleme Way, it is 
owned by the Council and currently occupied by health partners; and 
  
(d) the Q Park Roof is opposite the Town Hall building. The Council own the 
freehold of the building (with an operational lease for the car park with Q Parks). 
When the car park was constructed, the roof was designed to enable a building 
structure to be placed on it at a later date. 
  
7.2. The Council has leases in place for 3 and 6 Knowsley Place. 3 Knowsley 
Place is the larger of the two buildings and is currently occupied by Council 
staff. The building is not fully utilised at present. A proposal has been received 
from Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust to take over the lease of 3KP from the 
Council. This would allow Pennine Care to vacate Humphrey House, and over 
time, to transfer staff from other locations into 3 Knowsley Place. Six Town 
Housing have recently indicated they could operate out of two instead of all four 
floors of 6 Knowsley Place. 

 

8.  Preferred option  
  
8.1 Continuing to operate out of the Town Hall without a comprehensive 
refurbishment has significant financial and operational risks given the current 

Page 370



condition of the premises. The preferred solution is a phased refurbishment of 
the Town Hall. A phased refurbishment programme would: 
  
•  Create a modern working environment with open plan spaces. 
  
• Retain the Council chamber, committee rooms and Mayor‘s parlour as the 
heart of the Council’s civic and democratic role in the Borough.  
  
• Reduce the uncertainties and the impact on operations of the Town Hall by 
removing the need for constant reactive maintenance. 
  
• Significantly reduce the amount of energy and associated carbon emissions 
required to operate the building and contribute to the Council’s target of 
achieving carbon neutrality by 2038.  
  
• Modernise plant and equipment (heating systems, electrical systems, piping 
etc.).  
  
• Replace the remaining parts of the roof which have not been updated (around 
40% has been repaired with long term warranties in place).  
  
•  Deal with the lack of light penetration into the central areas of the building.  
  
8.2. The capital investment needed to refurbish the Town Hall will be supported 
by revenue funding released by withdrawing from the commercial leases for 3 
and 6 Knowsley Place. This represents the optimum way forward financially, 
environmentally and for staff productivity. This course of action will also unblock 
other key decisions, specifically options to dispose of Humphrey House and to 
develop the Q Park site. 
  
8.3. Details of the proposed transfer of the lease on 3 Knowsley Place are 
contained in a separate report elsewhere on this agenda. The proposal would see 
Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust take over the ground floor and floors 1 and 
2 from 2024 with works starting at the end of 2023. Council staff from those 
parts of 3 Knowsley Place can be relocated to the upper floors of the building or 
to 6 Knowsley Place until refurbished space becomes available at the Town Hall.  
  
8.4. Pennine Care will lease floors 3 and 4 of 3 Knowsley Place back to the 
Council for a period of four years, at which time they will be able to transfer 
additional staff into the building. To mitigate the risk that the refurbishment of 
the Town Hall has not progressed sufficiently to accommodate staff from levels 3 
and 4 in four years-time, 6 Knowsley Place will be retained for as long as 
necessary, and the phasing of the refurbishment will be prioritised to provide 
accommodation for staff from floors 3 and 4. In addition Pennine Care NHS 
Foundation Trust have indicated that they can provide some flexibility in 
timing.   
  
8.5. An advantage of this solution is that it enables a phased withdrawal from 
commercial leases which is concurrent with the provision of new space being 
developed in the existing Town Hall. This presents a cost-effective way of 
supporting the capital cost of the refurbishment. Whilst a detailed financial 
analysis cannot be completed until a fully costed proposal for the Town Hall 

Page 371



redevelopment is in place, the base costs of operating 3 and 6 Knowsley Place ( 
leases and running costs ) until the point of lease expiry (April 2035) is in excess 
of £20m. Investing capital in the Town Hall which the Council owns will, over the 
long-term, reduce annual revenue costs for the Council and will create value in 
the building. 
  
8.6. The consolidation of Council staff in the Town Hall rather than being spread 
between the Town Hall and 3 Knowsley Place will also bring significant further 
financial efficiencies by having one instead of two sets of reception, security, 
building management and corporate landlord costs. 
  
8.7. Consolidating into a single building will enable enhanced facilities, such as a 
small café, contemporary meeting rooms and gathering spaces. 
  
8.8. If the costs of the phased refurbishment exceed the available budget it will 
be possible to phase the refurbishment works to suit the available budget by 
selecting only certain areas of the building for refurbishment.  
  
9. Alternative options considered and rejected 
  
9.1. Interim Upgrade of the Town Hall and maintain commercial leases. 
  
9.1.1. There is an option which involves the Council maintaining 3 Knowsley 
Place and undertaking only basic upgrades to the Town Hall. This would differ 
from the do-nothing option to the extent that the Council would commit to a set 
of enhanced works focusing on preserving the life of the building This would 
include: 
 
• Full repairs to the roof. 
• New electrical and mechanical kit. 
• Newly decorated receptions. 
  
9.1.2.  This option would, at a low cost, preserve the Town Hall as a more 
reliable and resilient version of the existing building. However, this option has 
some clear downsides: 
 
• It fails to address the cellularised working environment and the lack of amenity 
for staff. 
• It does not create a collaborative working environment. 
• There is no budget offsetting generated from transferring commercial leases.  
  
9.1.3. There is a variant of this option involving a set of minor modifications to 
the Town Hall and disposal of both 3 and 6 Knowsley Place. This would have the 
benefit of creating a saving for the Council. However, no modern employer 
would contemplate creating this type of environment for its staff in the 2020’s, 
especially in an era where staff retention and recruitment is challenging.  
  
9.2.  Construct a new Town Hall on the Q Park site or on the site of the existing 
Town Hall. 
  
9.2.1. This option would require the Council to construct a replacement Town 
Hall facility on a new site, on the roof of the Q car park opposite the current 

Page 372



Town Hall or on the site of the existing Town Hall. A new facility would require a 
new debating chamber and committee rooms. This would involve construction of 
a bespoke building with a more complex and more expensive design and build 
than a standard office building.  
  
9.2.2. The Q Park roof is a site opposite the Town Hall was constructed with the 
structural capability to enable a building of scale to be constructed on the site. 
The benefits of this option are that the Council can design a purpose-built 
structure around its exact requirements. A new building could be constructed to 
the highest environmental standards, containing a strong mix of employee and 
visitor amenities and contemporary office spaces. An advantage of this option 
over a new build on the site of the existing Town Hall would be that the staff 
could be decanted at the point the new building is handed over, avoiding the 
costs of finding a temporary staff office and a temporary debating chamber and 
committee rooms.  
  
9.2.3. The alternative new build option is to construct a new Town Hall on site of 
the existing building. The advantage of this option would be that the constraints 
of refurbishment could be removed, with new retaining structures allowing the 
creation of much better spaces and in particular light penetration, open plan 
working and energy efficiency. The architects could be instructed to create a 
building with a sandstone finish to maintain historic look and feel of the Town 
Hall. A significant downside with this option is that there would be a prolonged 
period during the demolition and construction programme. This could leave the 
Council requiring temporary space for a prolonged time-period. 
  
9.2.4. In general, new build projects have more budget certainty because there 
are fewer unknown factors in play when compared to a refurbishment project. 
That said, the recent sharp increases in construction inflation have added a 
degree of uncertainty to all new-build projects. 
  
9.2.5. There are several limitations associated with the options for a new 
building. Should the Cabinet identify the Q Park Roof as the preferred location 
for a new building the existing Town Hall site would yield only a very limited 
capital receipt (if sold with an obligation to redevelop the existing building 
structure). A clearance of the existing building structure would create a stronger 
receipt; however, it would likely to be a controversial move and any receipt 
would not provide a meaningful financial contribution to the costs of a new Town 
Hall. The Q Park site has a commercial value and by committing to refurbishing 
the Town Hall there would options for the site to be put on the market for new 
brownfield housing. This would support the Bury Town Centre Masterplan 
objective of delivering brownfield housing units in the town centre. 
  
9.2.6. If the site of the existing Town Hall were to be selected the cost of a new 
Town Hall building to the size and footprint of the existing structure would be 
unaffordable. Although a new Town Hall would be more energy efficient than a 
refurbished building, the overall carbon cost may be greater given the scale of 
construction materials required and the loss of embedded carbon in the existing 
structure. The initial architectural advice and construction input suggests that 
the objectives of creating open plan working and much better light penetration 
can be achieved by modifying the existing building. 
  

Page 373



9.3. Maintain Commercial Leases and identify space for civic functions 
elsewhere. 
  
9.3.1. This option would involve committing long-term to 3 and 6 Knowsley 
Place as the primary administrative locations of the Council. The Town Hall site 
would be sold on for redevelopment or even possibly demolition. There are 
several challenges associated with this option. The existing commercial buildings 
do not have space which can deliver a debating chamber or suitable places for 
committee meetings. The ceremonial functions of the Town Hall could not be in 
the commercial buildings. There is insufficient space to relocate all the teams 
currently in the Town Hall within the two commercial buildings. 
  
9.3.2. Therefore, the Council would have to identify additional spaces for these 
functions. There are no obvious relocation opportunities available in the current 
built stock in Bury, therefore this option would still likely require some form of 
new build option.  
  
9.3.3. This option would require an ongoing financial commitment to the cost of 
the commercial leases. In the event the Council were to follow a strategy of 
lease renewal it may be difficult to secure competitive extension terms. The final 
point is one of the Council demolishing an existing structure which has a strong 
degree of history and presence. In general, it is considered best practice to 
make every attempt to reuse and refurbish historic structures ahead of 
demolition, and that demolition should only be considered when a building is 
beyond rescue. 

 

10.  Next steps.  
  
10.1. Should the Cabinet agree to the recommendations in this report, the 
Executive Director (Place) will: 
  
• Progress the proposals to sub-lease 3 Knowsley Place to Pennine Care 
Foundation Trust, details of which are in a separate report to Cabinet elsewhere 
on this agenda.  
  
•  Issue a public consultation document detailing how the preferred 
recommendation was reached. A consultation will be undertaken with staff, 
unions, building users and the Bury Strategic Estates Group (a forum of senior 
public sector estates staff who co- ordinate the efficient occupation of buildings 
in Bury). 
  
• Progress the recruitment of an architect to design a refurbished Town Hall and 
structural engineers to establish that the changes proposed can be made. 
  
10.2.  Subject to a satisfactory outcome to the consultation process and 
agreement with Pennine Care Foundation Trust, a detailed investment case (with 
costed building plans) will be submitted to Cabinet for approval in summer 2023. 
  
10.3. Subject to the approval of an investment case by Cabinet, options for the 
disposals of Humphrey House and Q Park roof space will be presented to Cabinet 
at a later date.  
 

Page 374



_______________________________________________________ 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

1. The proposals for the refurbishment of the Town Hall create the 

opportunity to develop a single service hub for Council services, the 

challenge of laying and redesigning building to enable better provision of 

public services will sit with the selected architects.   
  

_________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 

2. The Town Hall is an accessible building (assuming all the lifts are 

working), however, as a part of a refurbishment programme some of the 

lift shafts which are not properly working will have to be put back into full 

working order.  The redesign of the building to meet vulnerable users’ 

needs will form a central part of the architectural brief and the layout 

planning. 

_________________________________________________________ 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

3. A key driver for this project is for the Council to reduce its carbon 

footprint and its exposure to high energy bills.  The consolidation of staff 
and services into one building will help achieve this objective. 

The project will seek to address the energy efficiency of the Town Hall 

building.  The architectural brief will include a requirement for solar panels 

and water harvesting.  Options to install ground source heat pumps 

should also be investigated.  The creation of more natural light should 

reduce the number of lights left on during daylight hours and the 
installation of sensors and LED lighting should further reduce bills. 

The recommendation to refurbish the Town Hall as opposed to demolish 

and create a new build helps conserve existing carbon and reduces the 
requirements for new-build materials. 

_________________________________________________________ 

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Affordability The concurrent withdrawal from 
commercial leases will create a saving 
which can be reinvested in the Town Hall. 
 
Further analysis on the costs of operating 
the building need to be included in the final 
investment case (these should all 
contribute to longer term savings) 

Page 375



Construction Risks All construction projects, especially those 
involving heritage buildings, include a 
degree of risk because of unforeseen 
problems.  Once a preferred architectural 
plan is approved a series of invasive 
surveys should be carried out to test the 
risk associated with implementing the 
proposed works. 
 
It is also recommended that an enhanced 
contingency budget is carried by the 
project 

Improved staff retention and attraction The current Town Hall environment offers a 
very poor working environment for staff.  
Neighbouring authorities offer similar 
salaries and benefits but in the case of 
Bolton, Rochdale and Manchester all offer 
the opportunity to work in a modern and 
attractive refurbished or new-built office.   

Timing of offloading leases and 
committing to Town Hall pro gramme 

A decision on the transfer of the lease on 3 
Knowsley Place will need to be made before 
the final costs and detailed phasing of the 
Town Hall refurbishment are known. There 
is therefore a risk that Council will not have 
completed the refurbishment in time for 
staff to move from 3 Knowsley Place to the 
Town Hall to make space for Pennie Care 
staff. Details of how this risk will be 
mitigated are contained in paragraph 8.4 
above. In summary the mitigation is to 
retain 6 Knowsley Place until there is 
certainty that space will be available in the 
town hall and to prioritise the 
refurbishment in such a way as to provide 
space for the remaining staff from 3 
Knowsley Place to be first movers. 
 

_________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

This report recommends that Member endorse a preferred option, this will be 

subject to a detailed investment case which will be considered by Cabinet later 

this year. An investment case will have detailed survey, financial and legal input. 

A separate report on the agenda sets out the detailed proposals in respect of 3 
Knowsley Place. Members are asked to note the detailed working group findings.  

_________________________________________________________ 

Financial Implications: 

The financial implications of the Pennine Care move from Humphrey House to 
3KP are detailed in another report on this agenda.  

Page 376



The full financial case of the Town Hall refurbishment will be included within the 

Cabinet paper scheduled to come back to Cabinet in summer.  It is anticipated 

that the April 2023 Cabinet report will identify and request the pre-development 

resources, which will need to be added to the capital programme.   The full costs 

will then be identified in summer and will also need adding to the capital report 
along with the revenue impact of borrowing. 

_________________________________________________________ 
Report Author and Contact Details: 

Name:  Paul Lakin 
Position: Executive Director (Place) 
Department: Business, Growth and Infrastructure 
E-mail:  p.lakin@bury.gov.uk 
____________________________________________________________ 

Background papers: 

Please list any background documents to this report and include a hyperlink 

where possible. 

 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in 
this report.  

  

Term Meaning 

  

 

 

 
 

Page 377



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

Report to: Cabinet 
Date: 15 February 
2023 

Subject: Purchase of Microsoft Licences 

Report of Cabinet Member for Corporate Affairs and HR 

 
Summary 
 

1. The contract with the existing Microsoft Licensing Solutions Partner, SCC 
comes to an end on the 15th March 2023 and a decision is required about 
who should be the council’s Partner (or reseller) beyond that date.  

 
Recommendation(s) 
 

2. To extend the existing Microsoft Licensing Solutions Partner, SCC, for a 
further 2 years via HealthTrust Europe’s ICT Solutions 2019 Framework 
ComIT2. 

 
Reasons for recommendation(s)  
 

3. SCC are a leading Licensing Solutions Partner (LSP) and given Bury 
Council has a fixed price agreement with Microsoft for the next two years 
there are no savings to be made by switching to a different LSP.  

 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 

4. Switch to a different Licensing Solutions Partner (LSP). This option has 
been rejected as there would be no financial gain to the Council however 
additional costs would be incurred to run a procurement exercise. 

_________________________________________________________ 
Report Author and Contact Details: 
Name: Stephen Denton 
Position: Head of ICT 
Department: Corporate Core 
E-mail: s.denton@bury.gov.uk 
________________________________________________________________ 
Background 
 

5. To take advantage of pricing discounts offered by Microsoft, Bury Council 
extended its 3-year Enterprise Agreement with them for two years to 
March 2025 under the terms of the Digital Transformation Arrangement 
(DTA) MoU between Microsoft and the Crown Commercial Service.  
 

6. Microsoft do not sell directly to customers but through a Licensed 
Solutions Partner (LSP), sometimes called a Channel Partner or a Value-
added reseller.  
 

Classification: 
Open 

Decision Type: 
Key 

Page 379 Agenda Item 13



7. A company called SCC (Specialist Computer Centres) was appointed in 
March 2020 as our LSP for an initial period of 3 years. Given this initial 3-
year agreement with SCC ends in March 2023 it is now appropriate find a 
new LSP or extend the existing contract. 

 

8. Following advice from Garter as the Council’s independent IT adviser it 
was recommended to use an approved procurement framework to apply 
for a direct award to SCC for the continuation of the provision of the 
Council’s Enterprise Agreement. 

 
9. STAR Procurement advised on the use of the HealthTrust Europe’s ICT 

Solutions 2019 Framework (ComIT2). Full process has been followed and 
this paper now recommends to Cabinet award of the contract. There are 
no changes to terms and condition given the nature of the contract which 
is solely for the provision of licenses at a pre-agreed price. 

 
10.The annual cost of the Microsoft Licenses is approximately £750k and this 

paper is seeking approval to place the order via SCC for the next two 
years. The £750k sits within the current ICT revenue budget.   

_________________________________________________________ 
Links with the Corporate Priorities: 
 

11.Delivering new technology through investment in our digital 
infrastructure.   

_________________________________________________________ 
Equality Impact and Considerations: 
 

12.See below, neutral or continued positive impact. 

 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 
 

13. Using new technology has the potential to reduce travel and the carbon 
emissions associated with it. 

 

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 
Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

 
No new risks of extending this contract. 

 

_________________________________________________________ 
Legal Implications: 
 

14. A legally compliant procurement process has been undertaken to ensure 
that best value is obtained. 

 

Financial Implications: 
 

15.  The costs of the licences are the same irrespective of who the licensing 
solutions partner is. This is a continuation of the existing number of 
licences and therefore there is no financial impact. 

Page 380



 

Background papers: 
None. 
 
Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in 
this report.  

  

Term Meaning 

  

 
 

EQUALITY ANALYSIS  

This Equality Analysis considers the effect of Bury Council/ Bury CCG activity on different 
groups protected from discrimination under the Equality Act 2010. This is to consider if there 
are any unintended consequences for some groups from key changes made by a public body 
and their contractor partners organisations and to consider if the activity will be fully effective 
for all protected groups. It involves using equality information and the results of engagement 
with protected groups and others, to manage risk and to understand the actual or potential 
effect of activity, including any adverse impacts on those affected by the change under 
consideration. 
For support with completing this Equality Analysis please contact corporate.core@bury.gov.uk 
/ 0161 253 6592 
 

SECTION 1 – RESPONSIBILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY  

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 4 
1.1 Name of policy/ project/ 

decision 
Purchases of Microsoft Licenses 

1. 2 Lead for policy/ project/ 

decision  
Stephen Denton 

1.3 Committee/Board signing 

off policy/ project/ decision 
  

1.4 Author of Equality 

Analysis 
  

Name: Stephen Denton 
Role: Head of ICT 
Contact details: 0161 253 6043 

1.5 Date EA completed 30/01/2023 

1.6 Quality Assurance 
  

Name:  
Role:  
Contact details:  
Comments:  

1.7 Date QA completed   

1.8 Departmental recording 
  

Reference:  
Date:  

1.9 Next review date  

 

 

SECTION 2 – AIMS AND OUTCOMES OF POLICY / PROJECT 

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 5 
2.1 Detail of policy/ decision 

being sought 
Use the reseller, SCC, to purchase Microsoft Licences 
via the procurement framework, “HealthTrust Europe 
ICT Solutions 2019 Framework ComIT2”. Continuing 

Page 381

mailto:corporate.core@bury.gov.uk


to use the existing provider does not alter the 
microsoft software itself. 
 

2.2 What are the intended 

outcomes of this? 
Be able to purchase Microsoft Licenses 

 

SECTION 3 – ESTABLISHING RELEVANCE TO EQUALITY & HUMAN 

RIGHTS              

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance pages 5-8 and 11 
  

Please outline the relevance of the activity/ policy to the Public Sector Equality 
Duty  
General Public Sector Equality 

Duties 
Relevance 
(Yes/No) 

Rationale behind relevance 
decision 

3.1 To eliminate unlawful 

discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by Equality Act 2010  

No   

3.2 To advance equality of 
opportunity between people who 
share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not.  

No   

3.3 To foster good relations 

between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those 
who do not 

No   

3.4  Please outline the considerations taken, including any mitigations, to ensure activity 

is not detrimental to the Human Rights of any individual affected by the decision being 
sought. 
 

 

SECTION 4 – EQUALITIES DATA 

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 8 
Protected 
characteristic 

Outcome sought Base data  Data gaps (to 
include in 

Section 8 log) 

4.1 Age       
4.2 Disability       
4.3 Gender       
4.4 Pregnancy or 

Maternity 
      

4.5 Race       

4.6 Religion and belief       
4.7 Sexual Orientation       
4.8 Marriage or Civil 

Partnership 
      

4.9 Gender 

Reassignment 
      

4.10 Carers       

Page 382



4.11 Looked After 

Children and Care 
Leavers 

      

4.12 Armed Forces 

personnel including 
veterans 

      

4.13 Socio-economically 

vulnerable 
     

 

SECTION 5 – STAKEHOLDERS AND ENGAGEMENT 

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 8 and 9 
  Internal Stakeholders External Stakeholders 
5.1 Identify 

stakeholders 
  

5.2 Engagement 

undertaken 
  

5.3 Outcomes of 

engagement  
  

5.4 Outstanding 

actions following 
engagement 
(include in Section 8 
log) 

   

 
 

SECTION 6 – CONCLUSION OF IMPACT 

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 9 
  
Please outline whether the activity/ policy has a positive or negative effect on any groups 
of people with protected inclusion characteristics  

Protected 
Characteristic 

Positive/ 
Neutral 

Negative
/  

Impact (include reference to data/ engagement) 

6.1 Age Neutral   
6.2 Disability Positive There is no change to the positive impact of the 

Microsoft 365 set of applications (Teams, Outlook, 
Word, Excel) which integrate seamlessly with 
assistive technologies and accessibility settings on 
most devices. Examples of specific accessibility 
features include live subtitles, dictation and 
immersive reading techniques.  
 

6.3 Gender Neutral   
6.4 Pregnancy or 

Maternity 
Neutral   

6.5 Race Neutral   
6.6 Religion and belief Neutral   
6.7 Sexual Orientation Neutral   

6.8 Marriage or Civil 

Partnership 
Neutral   

Page 383



6.9 Gender 

Reassignment 
Neutral   

6.10 Carers Neutral   

6.11 Looked After 
Children and Care 
Leavers 

Neutral  

6.12 Armed Forces 
personnel including 
veterans 

Neutral   

6.13 Socio-

economically 
vulnerable 

Neutral   

6.14 Overall impact - 

What will the likely 
overall effect of your 
activity be on equality, 
including 
consideration  
on intersectionality? 

 

 

SECTION 7 – ACTION LOG  

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 10 
Action Identified Lead Due Date Comments and Sign off (when 

complete) 
7.1 Actions to address gaps identified in section 4 

        

        
7.2 Actions to address gaps identified in section 5 

        

        

7.3 Mitigations to address negative impacts identified in section 6 

        

        
7.4 Opportunities to further inclusion (equality, diversity and human rights ) including to 

advance opportunities and engagements across protected characteristics  
        

       

 
 
 

SECTION 8 - REVIEW  

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page 10 
Review Milestone Lead Due Date Comments (and sign off when 

complete) 
 Provider of 
Microsoft Licenses 

S.Den
ton  

 Feb 2024   

        

        

       

 

Page 384



Please make sure that every section of the Equality Analysis has been fully completed. 
The author of the EA should then seek Quality Assurance sign off and departmental 
recording. 
 

SECTION 9 – QUALITY ASSURANCE   

Refer to Equality Analysis guidance page x 
Consideration Yes/ 

No 
Rationale and details of further actions 
required 

Have all section been 
completed fully? 

Yes   

Has the duty to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, 
harassment, victimization and 
other conducted prohibited by 
the PSED and Equalities Act 
been considered and acted 
upon? 

Yes   

Has the duty to advance 
equality of opportunity between 
people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who 
do not been considered and 
acted upon 

Yes   

Has the duty to foster good 
relations between people who 
share a protected 
characteristic and those who 
do not, been consider and 
acted upon 

Yes   

Has the action log fully detailed 
any required activity to address 
gaps in data, insight and/or 
engagement in relation to 
inclusion impact? 

N/A   

Have clear and robust 
reviewing arrangements been 
set out? 

    

Are there any further 
comments to be made in 
relation to this EA 

No  

 

 
 

Page 385



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

   

 

  
 

Report to: Cabinet Date: 15 February 2023 

Subject: Application Rationalisation / Consolidation 

Report of Cabinet Member for Corporate Affairs and HR 

 
Summary 

When the ICT Capital Programme was agreed at Full Council in February 2019, and 

the subsequent Cloud Migration Programme stage agreed at Full Council in March 

2021 it was done based on the recognition of the importance of the Council having a 

modern and resilient IT estate that would enable agile working and transformation of 

services. 

Underpinning the Council’s new approach to Information Technology and Digital was 

the deployment of a Microsoft Azure Cloud Platform. This deployment has enabled 

the Council to begin the process of replacing its ageing, inflexible, legacy systems 

and facilities with a next generation digital platform. The intention is that this will 

support the transformation of services, alleviating some of the current delivery risks 

that the Council faces due to the non-reliability of iT applications. 

Although moving to Azure is the preferred architecture design principle, 

unfortunately, some of legacy applications are not compatible with the Azure 

platform, for example, Lalpac for Licensing and Acolaid for Planning and Building 

Control.  

After undertaking market research, new solutions came to light that can also provide 

additional case management for the Council’s Public Protection and Private Sector 

Housing services. The case management of these areas is currently provided by 

Civica APP which, if not included within this project would also need to be moved 

onto the Azure platform separately and require additional support, maintenance and 

ongoing licence costs. 

After through market testing it is recommended that these systems should be 

consolidated. This will, in turn, reduce the amount of servers ICT would need to 

provide and maintain in the Azure platform, along with any associated operating 

system and database costs. 

The application consolidation process would also reduce the amount of annual 

maintenance fees payable to three different suppliers, and are set out in the Part B. 

The business areas within the scope of the Application Consolidation project are as 

follows: - 

 

 Building control 

 Land Charges 

Classification: 

Open 

Decision Type: 

Key 

Page 387 Agenda Item 14



   

 

   

 

 Licensing  

 Planning 

 Private Sector Housing 

 Public Protection 

 

An open tender exercise has taken place using an appropriate procurement route, 

and the submissions have been evaluated and moderated by all stakeholders. 

Further details included in Part B 

Recommendation(s) 

That: 

Cabinet approves the decision to procure the solution as detailed on Part B to allow 

the continuation of the cloud migration programme. 

Reasons for recommendation(s)  

1 The savings that will be generated as detailed in Part B. 

2 Two of the legacy applications are not Microsoft Azure compatible and the servers 

that they currently reside on will be out of security support by the end of the 2023. 

3 The existing servers reside within the Town Hall and Textile Hall data centres 

which are due to be decommissioned by the end of 2023.  

Alternative options considered and rejected 

Alternative options would be to continue to invest in the Council’s on-premise data 

centre which is high risk due to the age of the hardware and infrastructure. In this 

case the Council would not benefit from having data stored in a cloud environment, 

or the improved data management to support the delivery of high-quality business 

intelligence. 

The Council retains the option to upgrade to newer Azure compatible solutions and 

remain with the existing suppliers of the legacy systems, however this would mean 

continuing to pay three sets of maintenance fees for the separate systems and would 

not realise the benefit of a fully integrated solution. 

_________________________________________________________ 

Report Author and Contact Details: 

Name: Emma Heap 
Position: Cloud Migration Project Manager 

Department:  Corporate Core – ICT division 
E-mail: E.Heap@bury.gov.uk 
_________________________________________________________ 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

The Application Consolidation project forms part of the Cloud Migration project and is 

mentioned specifically as a key deliverable within the Internal Transformation 

strategy for Corporate Core Services. 

Page 388



   

 

   

 

_________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 

 

Equality Analysis Please provide a written explanation of the outcome(s) 
of either conducting an initial or full EA 

Full Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and is available upon 
request 

 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

1. As set out in the Part B report 

 

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Risks: - 
 
Without approval of the procurement of the 

Consolidated Application, the Council will 
still need upgrade two of the legacy systems 
to Azure approved versions, to ensure the 

continuity of service within Planning, 
Building Control and Licensing areas 

 
 
Opportunities: -  

 
The centralisation of data relating to 

properties and vehicles, e.g., a property 
record can display all data relating to 
Planning, Building Control, Land Charges, 

Environmental Health, and Licensing.  
 

The consolidation of three separate 
maintenance and servicing contracts  
 

Increased negotiating abilities at contract 
renewal  

 

 
 
Begin consultation process with 

suppliers of Lalpac and Acolaid 
applications to begin immediate 
upgrade to Azure approved solutions 

before the decommissioning of the 
Town Hall and Textile Hall data centres.  

_________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

The recommendation to appoint the preferred supplier follows a competitive tender 

procedure, which was in accordance with the Council's Contract Procedure Rules 

and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. It should provide significant savings over 

Page 389



   

 

   

 

the five-year contract period. 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Financial Implications: 

The savings identified within Part B on this agenda are included within the 

transformation savings delivery already built into the Medium-Term Financial 

Strategy, within the LET’S Do It! ... Well part of the programme. 

 

Appendices: 

None 

Background papers: 

None 

 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this 
report.  

  

Term Meaning 

  

 

Page 390



  
 

Report to: Cabinet Date: 15 February 2023 

Subject: Locality Board Formalisation 

Report of 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Adult Care, Health, and 
Wellbeing 

 

Summary 

1. Partners in Bury jointly agreed a refreshed Locality Plan for health and care 

reform in January 2022 and have been operating revised partnership 

arrangements for health and care in Bury throughout 2022. This has included 

the work of a Locality board, operating in shadow form, and serving as the 

apex of the Bury Integrated Care partnership arrangements. 

 

2. At the Locality Board meeting in December 2022 it was recognised that the 

partnership should take steps to formalise the operation of the Locality Board, 

and in particular responding to the requirement of NHS Greater Manchester to 

secure the formality of devolved decision making and management of the 

Section 75 agreement between two partners to the Locality Board – the 

Council and NHS Greater Manchester. 

 

3. This paper provides more detail on all the documents required for approval: 

 

 A Locality Plan – refreshed to reflect the work of the Bury Integrated Care 

Partnership during 2022 and the establishment of the Greater Manchester 

integrated Care System, but maintaining the clear and previously agreed 

objectives and priorities of our local agreement to include the strong focus on 

prevention, earlier intervention, health inequalities and neighbourhood 

working. 

 A Terms of Reference for the operation of the Locality Board – built out of the 

previously agreed Terms of Reference for the shadow Board. 

 A partnership agreement for the members of the Locality Board 

 An initially revised section 75 agreement for the council and NHS Greater 

Manchester. 

 

4. These local discussions link to the requirement of NHS Greater Manchester 

governance that all localities formalise Locality Board terms of reference and 

related documentation prior to end of March 2023. This approval will enable 

Locality Boards to formally adopt decision making powers from 1st April 2023 

onwards. 

 

5. The governance requirement is that all documentation is approved at the 

Locality Board, and then approved through appropriate Local Authority 

Classification: 

Open 

Decision Type: 

Non-Key 

Page 391 Agenda Item 15



processes prior to final approval by the Integrated Care Organisation Board in 

March 2023. 

 

6. This report outlines the key elements of all documents requiring approval. 

 

7. The report also outlines the need for all documentation to remain responsive 

to ongoing commitments in Bury to neighbourhood and partnership working 

across organisational boundaries. 

Recommendation(s) 

8. To note the content of this report and in particular the key documents that 

require approval at local level. 

 

9. To recognise the need and commitment to regularly review and refine key 

documents to ensure that they continue to underpin our local commitment to 

close neighbourhood and partnership working arrangements. 

 

10. To note the requirement to approve the 2022/23 finance schedules alongside 

the formalisation of Locality Board documentation and confirm the authority 

for the Locality Executive Director of Finance to approve any final minor 

amendments to this schedule. 

Reasons for recommendation(s)  

11. To fulfil the requirement of NHS Greater Manchester governance that all 

localities formalise Locality Board terms of reference and related 

documentation prior to end of March 2023. This approval will enable Locality 

Boards to formally adopt decision making powers from 1st April 2023 

onwards. 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

12. N/A 

_________________________________________________________ 

Report Author and Contact Details: 

Clare Postlethwaite 

Associate Director of Finance (GM Estates) and Governance (Bury Locality) 

________________________________________________________________ 

Introduction 

13. As part of the transition to ICO arrangements, all localities are required to 

formalise Locality Board terms of reference and related documentation, to 

allow Greater Manchester Integrated Care Board (ICB) approval prior to the 

end of March 2023. 

 

Page 392



14. The documents that are a requirement of the ICB approval are as follows:- 

 

 Locality Board terms of reference. 

 Bury Integrated Care Partnership Agreement. 

 Section 75 agreement. 

 Finance schedule relating to 2022/23 budgetary limits. 

 

15. Additional documents also circulated to Locality Board members for 

completeness:- 

 

 Locality plan. 

 Section 75 agreement, covering report. 

 

16. It is recognised that the ongoing commitment to both neighbourhood and 

partnership working remains strong, with a need for ongoing review and 

refresh of all key documents to support these aspirations. 

Background 

17. Recognising that prior to 1st July 2022, the Locality was working in shadow 

form the approach to the formalisation of each document has been to use the 

shadow documentation as the base point with additional amendments 

included to reflect key changes post 1st July 2022. This approach ensures 

that the integrity of shadow locality working arrangements remains with 

amendments included as appropriate to further strengthen governance 

arrangements and the related detail. 

 

18. In particular, finance schedules and the related documentation has needed to 

be amended to reflect the reduced level of budgets now delegated to 

localities. 

 

19. Whilst the Locality Board terms of reference are based on the shadow 

governance arrangements, a number of additional elements have been 

included to reflect key inclusions that all Greater Manchester localities are 

required to incorporate (from the nationally defined ‘boiler plate’ terms of 

reference document.) 

 

20. Recognising that a number of large documents require review and approval 

by Locality Board members, the key elements of each document are 

summarised within this covering report to aid in the approvals process and 

related Locality Board discussions. 

Locality Board Terms of Reference 

21. The basis of this amended document remains the shadow Locality Board 

terms of reference that have been reviewed and approved previously. This 

approach recognises the fact that the shadow terms of reference already 

accurately identified the role and objectives of the Locality Board. 

Page 393



 

22. The shadow Locality Board started meeting in October 2021 and it is 

important to note that the formalised document proposed here does not 

fundamentally change either the responsibilities of the Locality Board or the 

requirements of its members as previously set out and agreed whilst working 

in shadow form. 

 

23. In Bury, the Locality Board is to work under a hybrid arrangement meaning 

that it is a Joint Committee of the Local Authority for the s75 and pooled 

budget decisions and then a committee of the ICB to enable it to receive and 

act on ICB delegations along with making decisions collectively on aligned 

and non-pooled budgets. 

 

24. Operationally, the hybrid working arrangement will allow the Locality Board to 

operate as a single meeting which will have the section 75 Committee in 

Common embedded within it. This approach will ensure that all Locality Board 

members will be able to contribute to the discussions in an open and 

transparent manner. 

 

25. The membership and voting rights have been amended to reflect current 

working arrangements. It is noted that these inclusions may need further 

consideration as ICB and locality working arrangements develop further. 

 

26. The updated terms of reference clearly outlined which members have voting 

rights for section 75 decisions and which can vote for decisions linked to 

aligned (non-pooled) decisions. The agenda for Locality Board meetings will 

clearly detail under what section of the meeting a specific decision is to be 

made in to ensure voting rights for each item are explicit at the outset. 

 

27. The updated documents include the required amendments from the nationally 

defined ‘boiler plate’ documentation and the terms of reference have also 

been expanded to fully reflect ongoing statutory requirements noting that, 

subject to GM ICB approval, the Locality Board will become a decision making 

board from 1st April 2023. 

 

28. The revised terms of reference also include additional detail to fully reflect 

Local Government requirements for decision making– a number of elements 

of standardised text have been included to fully reflect processes and 

guidance to ensure compliance with the constitution. 

 

29. For ease of reference, and as previously requested by Locality Board 

members, where additional information/text has been incorporated this has 

been highlighted in red. 

 

Page 394



30. A key element of the formalisation of this document has been the need to 

further strengthen the elements relating to conflicts of interest, conduct of 

meetings and the requirements of the statutory framework. 

 

31. The Locality Board terms of reference continues to be under pinned by the 

updated Locality Plan documentation along with the ongoing commitment to 

strong neighbourhood and partnership working within Bury. 

Bury Integrated Care Partnership Agreement 

32. The Bury Integrated Care Partnership Agreement remains an integral 

document that underpins our local commitment to strong neighbourhood and 

partnership working. 

 

33. In particular, this partnership agreement articulates in specific terms how the 

integral partnership working across the locality is governed by the Locality 

Board and related governance structures. 

 

34. The formalisation of the Locality Board does not in any way change this 

partnership agreement rather, the two governing documents together help to 

strengthen and embed the strong working arrangements across the Borough. 

 

35. A requirement of the GM ICB sign-off is submission of this partnership 

agreement alongside the revised terms of reference and related 

documentation. 

Section 75 Agreement (covering report) 

36. A key component of the required GM ICB assurance is the rebasing of 

existing section 75 agreements recognising that revised budgetary 

delegations under ICB arrangements limit budgets that can be pooled under 

this agreement. It should be noted that this is an agreement between the 

Local Authority and NHS Greater Manchester. 

 

37. The revised section 75 agreement does not change in any way the Local 

Authority inclusions but, instead amends the health elements to reflect current 

funds delegated to localities namely :- 

 

 Continuing Health Care 

 Mental Health 

 Prescribing (primary care) 

 Better Care Fund 

 

38. Recognising that the section 75 agreement itself is a lengthy and legally 

binding document, a summary covering report is included here to allow 

Locality Board members to more easily review the proposed changes to 

current section 75 arrangements. The principles outlined in this covering 

Page 395



report underpin the changes to the working section 75 full document and in 

particular the amended finance schedules. 

 

39. The amended section 75 document proposed here is wholly based on the 

existing document, with some minor amendments to reflect the reduced level 

of delegated budgets now in place. 

 

40. It is recognised that, whilst the section 75 documentation proposed here, is a 

legally binding and compliant document that satisfies the immediate 

requirements of GM ICB approvals, it is recognised that further work to 

strengthen this document further would add value to locality working. 

 

41. It is proposed that the existing section 75 documentation be amended to 

reflect the changes to the financial schedule and revised terms of reference 

outlined in this covering report in order to satisfy the immediate GM ICB 

approval. This proposal is alongside the recognition that locally appropriate 

additions to the section 75 documentation for the locality will be made moving 

forward to strengthen it further. On this basis, a further review and refresh of 

this document is proposed within the next 3-6 months – it is not anticipated 

that this review will impact on the GM ICB approval, rather it will reflect 

iterative developments on this key document to more fully support locality 

working. 

Finance Schedule – relating to 2022/23 budgetary limits 

42. As a condition of approving Locality Boards to take on formal decision making 

powers from 1st April 2023 onwards it is a requirement for localities to 

formally approve the 2022/23 budgetary limits and related finance schedule. 

 

43. Work to confirm formal approval of these budgetary limits continues with no 

material issues reported as this stage. 

 

44. It is proposed that final amendments to reach agreement on this schedule are 

delegated to the Executive Director of Finance, recognising that the 

agreement reflects current year budgetary working arrangements. 

Locality Plan 

45. Whilst not a formal requirement of GM ICB approvals, it is important to 

recognize that the Locality Plan remains the underlying commitment that 

partners work to around which all the formalised governance arrangements 

sit. 

 

46. On this basis, a refresh to the Locality Plan has been undertaken and forms 

an element of the documents for review/approval by Locality Board members. 

Next Steps / Recommendations 

Page 396



47. Cabinet is asked to confirm approval of the following key documents that will 

form part of the GM ICB approvals process :- 

 Locality Board terms of reference. 

 Bury Integrated Care Partnership Agreement. 

 Section 75 agreement – principles included within covering report. 

 

48. Cabinet is asked to recognise the requirement to commit to the 2022/23 

finance schedules as part of the GM ICB approvals process and is asked to 

confirm that this final decision to be approve be delegated to the Executive 

Director of Finance. 

 

49. Cabinet is asked to note the ongoing commitment of partners to work across 

neighbourhoods in order to continue to deliver our Locality Plan. 

 

50. Cabinet is asked to note that the principles included within the section 75 

report included here will form the basis of the detailed updates to the full 

section 75 working document and the financial schedules in particular. 

 

51. Cabinet is asked to note the commitment to further strengthen the section 75 

legal documentation with a further iteration of this document proposed within 

next 3-6 months. 

 

52. Cabinet is asked to note the contents of the updated Locality Plan that 

underpins all the work happening across the borough. 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

53. N/A 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 

54. N/A 

 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

55. N/A 

 

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

56. N/A 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

Page 397



57. As set out in the report.  

 

Financial Implications: 

58. As set out in the report.  

 

 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this 
report.  

  

Term Meaning 

  

 

Page 398



 

  1 
 

The Bury Integrated Care Partnership 

The Bury Locality (System) Board  

Terms of reference  

1 Purpose  

1.1 The Bury Locality System Board (“Locality Board”) has been established to provide 

strategic direction to the Bury Integrated Care Partnership, to manage risk and to 

support the Bury Integrated Delivery Collaborative for the performance of the Bury 

health and care system.  The Locality Board will undertake its duties in the context of 

the agreed Strategic Plan for Health, Care and Well-being for the Borough – the 

Locality Plan.   The primary purpose of the Locality Board is to set the Strategic 

direction for the reform and transformation of the operation of the health, care and well 

-being system in Bury, and to manage an integrated budget for the place (including a 

pooled fund between Bury Council and NHS GM).  The Locality Board brings together 

senior leaders for the NHS (primary, secondary, community and mental health), local 

authority and the VCFSE (Voluntary, Community, Faith & Social Enterprise).  

1.2 The responsibilities for the Locality Board will cover the same geographical area as 

Bury Local Authority.  

1.3 The Locality Board will have overarching responsibility and manage (subject to 

reserved matters) all matters relating to the Integrated Health and Care Fund (Pooled 

Budget) as set out in the S75 Agreement relating to the Integrated Health and Care 

budget for the borough between Bury Council and NHS GM.  The Locality Board will 

have delegated decision making authority of up to £208.1m (annual spend) with 

regards to the Pooled Budget of the Integrated Health and Care Fund and any other 

relevant new funding streams (such as grants).  

• In terms of the Better Care Fund; The Health and Well-being Board continues to be 

responsible for the Joint Local Health Well-being Strategy (JLHWS) which should 

directly inform the development of joint commissioning arrangements (S75 of the 

National Health Service Act 2006) in the place and the co-ordination of NHS and local 

authority commissioning, which include the Better Care Fund plans. 

• With regard to the Pooled Budget; the Health and Well-being Board does not 

commission health services themselves and do not have their own budget however 

play an important role in informing the allocation of local resources. This includes 

responsibility for signing-off the Better Care Fund plan for the local area and providing 

governance for the pooled fund that must be set up in every area. 

Page 399



 

  2 
 

1.4 The Locality Board will have overarching responsibility and manage (subject to 

reserved matters) matters relating to the Integrated Health and Care Fund (aligned 

and non-pooled budgets). 

2 Status and authority  

2.1 The Bury Integrated Care Partnership is formed of the parties, who remain sovereign 

organisations, to provide strategic coherence, shared ambition, and operational 

delivery of the health and care system in Bury, in pursuit of better outcomes for 

residents and a financially sustainable system.   The Bury Integrated Care Partnership 

is not a separate legal entity, and as such is unable to take decisions separately from 

the parties or bind its parties; nor can one or more party ‘overrule' any other party on 

any matter (although all parties will be obliged to act in accordance with the ambition 

of the Strategic Plan for Health and Care in the Borough).    

2.2 The Bury Integrated Care Partnership establishes the Bury Locality Board to lead the 

Bury Integrated Care Partnership on behalf of the parties.  As a result of the status of 

the Bury Integrated Care Partnership, the Locality Board is unable in law to bind any 

party so it will function as a forum for discussion of issues with the aim of reaching 

consensus among the parties.   However the Locality Board will have responsibility via 

the Section 75 agreement for the operation of the Integrated Pooled Budget for the 

borough. 

2.3 The Locality Board will function through engagement between its members so that 

each party makes a decision in respect of, and expresses its views about, each matter 

considered by the Locality Board.  The decisions of the Locality Board will, therefore, 

be the decisions of the parties, the mechanism for which will be authority delegated by 

the parties to their representatives on the Locality Board.  

2.4 Each party will delegate to its representative on the Locality Board such authority as is 

agreed to be necessary in order for the Locality Board to function effectively in 

discharging the duties within these terms of reference.  The parties will ensure that 

each of their representatives has equivalent delegated authority.  Authority delegated 

by the parties will be defined in writing and agreed by the parties and will be recognised 

to the extent necessary in the parties' own schemes of delegation (or similar).  

2.5 The parties will ensure that the Locality Board members understand the status of the 

Locality Board and the limits of the authority delegated to them.  

  

Page 400



 

  3 
 

2.6 Statutory framework; 

2.7 In respect of the Integrated Health and Care Fund (Pooled Budget), the Locality Board 

will sit as a joint committee established under Regulation 10(2) of the NHS Bodies 

and Local Authorities Partnership Arrangements Regulations 2000 (“the 2000 

Regulations”).  

2.8 In respect of the NHS GM Aligned Budget (non-pooled) element of the Integrated 

Health and Care Fund (Aligned Budgets), the Locality Board will sit as a Committee 

of the Integrated Care Board (ICB) of NHS GM on which there is Council and wider 

partner representation. The Locality Board will fulfil the requirements as outlined in the 

NHS GM Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. 

2.9 For the avoidance of doubt, insofar as the Locality Board sits as a joint committee 

under the 2000 Regulations, Bury Council and/or NHS GM are delegating the making 

of decisions to the Locality Board and not to their individual representatives on the 

Board. For the avoidance of doubt where the Locality Board sits as a Committee of the 

ICB, NHS GM is delegating the making of decisions to the Locality Board collectively 

and not to their individual representatives on the Board. 

3 Responsibilities  

3.1 The Locality Board will:  

3.1.1 Ensure alignment of all organisations to the Bury Integrated Care 

Partnership’s vision and objectives, as described in the Locality Plan for 

Health, Care and Well-being , ensuring the delivery of the triple aim of 

improved population health, improved experience, and financial 

sustainability. 

3.1.2 Jointly manage the Bury Integrated Care Partnership Locality Integrated 

fund – established to reflect the scope of services agreed to be managed 

at a locality level  between the Bury Council and NHS and in accordance 

with the NHS GM accountability agreements and doing so on the basis of 

‘formally pooled, aligned (non-pooled)’. 

3.1.3 Be responsible for achieving the financial sustainability of health and care 

services within the borough along with contributing to financial sustainability 

for NHS GM. 

Page 401



 

  4 
 

3.1.4 Ensure the Bury Integrated Care Partnership delivers on the NHS 

obligations under the terms of the NHS GM  Accountability Agreement with 

Bury. 

3.1.5 Secure the delivery of the portfolio of transformation programmes reported 

through the Integrated Delivery Collaborative Board and as described in the 

Locality Plan. 

3.1.6 Ensure the Bury Integrated Care Partnership works as part of the Wider 

Team Bury approach and in the context of the Let’s Do It Strategy for the 

borough and secures support of all partners including other public services, 

the business community, and the voluntary sector in addressing health 

inequalities and population health. 

3.1.7 Ensure that all partners are actively working to promote the capacity and 

capability of integrated neighbourhood team working in each of the 5 

neighbourhoods teams in Bury and doing so in a way consistent with the 

principles and values of the Locality Plan – a persona and community asset 

based approach. 

3.1.8 Promote and encourage commitment to the integration principles and 

integration objectives amongst all parties and in particular create the 

conditions for high quality integrated neighbourhood working. 

3.1.9 Formulate, agree and ensure that implementation of strategies for 

achieving the integration objectives and the management of the Bury 

Integrated Care Partnership. 

3.1.10 Discuss strategic issues and resolve challenges such that the integration 

objectives can be achieved.  

3.1.11 Ensure the work of the health, care and well-being partnership in Bury has 

the voices of patients and residents, and the learning from lived experience, 

at the heart of the transformation programmes and service delivery. 

3.1.12 Respond to changes in the operating environment, including in respect of 

national policy or regulatory requirements, which impact upon the Bury 

Integrated Care Partnership or any parties to the extent that they affect the 

parties' involvement in the Bury System Partnership.  

3.1.13 Agree policy as required.  

Page 402



 

  5 
 

3.1.14 Agree performance outcomes/targets for the Bury Integrated Care 

Partnership such that it achieves the integration objectives. 

3.1.15 Take collective responsibility for achievement of the objectives of the 

locality plan with regard to the performance/outcomes, financial position 

and contribution to population health gain.  Working with the Integrated 

Delivery Collaborative to determine strategies to improve performance, 

recognise and address unwarranted variation, and work together as a 

system to address poor performance and outcomes.  

3.1.16 Ensure that the Bury Integrated Delivery Collaborative identifies and 

manages the risks associated with the Bury System Partnership, integrating 

where necessary with the parties' own risk and governance management 

arrangements. 

3.1.17 Ensure the continued effectiveness of the Bury System Partnership, 

including by creating a partnership of trust and common purpose between 

the parties and between the Bury Integrated Care Partnership and its 

stakeholders. 

3.1.18 Ensure that the Bury Integrated Care Partnership support partners to 

deliver their regulatory requirements  through whatever means are required 

by such regulators or are determined by the Locality Board, including, to 

the extent relevant, integration with communications and accountability 

arrangements in place within the parties 

3.1.19 Address any actual or potential conflicts of interests which arise for 

members of the Locality Board or within the Bury Integrated Care 

Partnership, in accordance with a protocol to be agreed between the parties 

(such protocol to be consistent with the parties' own arrangements in 

respect of declaration and conflicts of interests, and compliant with relevant 

statutory duties).  

3.1.20 Oversee the implementation of, and ensure the parties' compliance with, 

this agreement and all other services contracts.  

3.1.21 Review the governance arrangements for the Bury Integrated Care 

Partnership at least annually and ensuring compliance and alignment with 

the governance of legal entity partners. 

Page 403



 

  6 
 

3.1.22 Ensure consistent representation to the decision making arrangements of 

the ICS such that the ICS creates the conditions for rapid delivery of the 

system transformation described in the refreshed locality plan. 

4 Accountability  

4.1 The Locality Board is accountable to the each of the parties to the Locality Board.  The 

Locality Board is also accountable to the NHS Greater Manchester Integrated Care  

(NHS GM), through the NHS GM Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, for the 

delivery of NHS standards and for the NHS GM budget that is part of the Integrated 

Fund, in which there will be Bury System representation on the GM ICB where 

appropriate. 

4.2 The minutes of the Locality Board will be sent to the parties within 10 working days.      

4.3 The minutes may be accompanied by a report on any matters which the chair 

considers to be material.  It will also address any minimum content for such reports 

agreed by the parties.  

5 Membership and Quoracy 

5.1 The Locality Board will have a number of voting members and non-voting members 

along with officers and key representatives that will be required to attend the meetings 

as and when required.    The voting members reflect senior clinical, political, 

managerial, and NHS non-executive and executive leadership from across the Bury 

Integrated Care Partnership.  The voting rights for each decision will be dependent on 

the budget under discussion, as described in the table as below; 

Role Organisation Voting member in 
relation to Pooled 
Budget (between 
Bury Council & 

NHS GM) 

Voting member in 
relation to Aligned 

and non-pooled 
Budget 

Leader of the Council Bury Council Yes Yes 

Executive Member of the Council for 
Adult Care, Health, and Wellbeing 

Bury Council Yes Yes 

Executive Member of the Council for 
Children and Young People 

Bury Council Yes Yes 

Executive Director NHS GMIC Yes Yes 

Senior Clinical Leader in the Borough Bury Locality Yes Yes 

Page 404



 

  7 
 

 

The Locality Board will also comprise the following participants who attend the meeting on a 

regular basis as an attendee and a non-voting member: 

Role Organisation 

Director of Children Services Bury Council 

Director of Adult Social Services and Community Commissioning Bury Council 

Role Organisation Voting member in 
relation to Pooled 
Budget (between 
Bury Council & 

NHS GM) 

Voting member in 
relation to Aligned 

and non-pooled 
Budget 

(as determined by the Clinical Senate 
via an election process) 

Senior Nurse Lead for the Borough 

(as determined by the Clinical Senate 
via an election process) 

Bury Locality Yes Yes 

Chief Executive & Place Based Lead Bury Council & Bury 
Locality 

Yes Yes 

Strategic Finance Group Chair & Joint 
Executive Director of Finance (S151 
Officer) 

Bury Council & Bury 
Locality 

Yes Yes 

Chair  IDCB No Yes 

Medical Director  NCA No Yes 

Medical Director IDCB No Yes 

Chief Officer or nominated Exec NCA No Yes 

Chief Officer or nominated Exec Pennine Care 
Foundation Trust 

No Yes 

Chief Officer or nominated Exec Manchester Foundation 
Trust 

No Yes 

Chair Bury VCFA (Voluntary, 
Community, Faith & 
Social Enterprise). 

No Yes 

Executive Director of Health and Care & 
Deputy Place Based Lead 

Bury Council & Bury 
Locality 

No Yes 

Bury Care Chief Officer NCA No Yes 

Total number of voters N/A 8 17 

Page 405



 

  8 
 

Director of Public Health Bury Council 

Chief Operating Officer IDCB 

Chair Bury Healthwatch 

Director of Finance NCA 

Representative from the Primary Care Network (Lead) PCN 

Invited Members 

Opposition Party** Radcliffe First 

Opposition Party** Conservative 

** Opposition Leaders (if the party holds 5 or more seats)** 

5.2 The Locality Board will be quorate (for decisions made under the pooled budget) if 

two thirds of its voting members (6)  are present.  The Locality Board will be quorate 

(for decisions made under the aligned/non-pooled budget), if two thirds of its 

voting members are present (12), subject to the members present being able to 

represent the views and decisions of the parties who are not present at any meeting. 

Where a member cannot attend a meeting, the member can nominate a named deputy 

to attend. Deputies must be able to contribute and make decisions on behalf of the 

party that they are representing. Deputising arrangements must be agreed with the 

Chair prior to the relevant meeting.  Representatives / deputies will count towards 

quorum if the Chair is notified at the start of the meeting and receives confirmation from 

the core member that the deputy has full authority to act as described above. 

5.3 The Locality Board will be chaired by the Leader of the Council, the Senior Clinical 

Leader from the Clinical and Professional Senate.  Chairing of meetings will be on an 

alternate basis and/or in the absence of one of the named chairs.  In the absence of 

both of the Chairs a replacement Chair will be elected for the duration of the meeting 

from the Core/Voting Membership. 

6. Conduct of business  

6.1 Meetings will be held on a Monthly Basis. The date and timings of the meetings will 

be fixed in advance, as part of the agreed schedule of meetings. 

Page 406



 

  9 
 

6.2 The agenda will be developed in discussion with the Chair(s) and will be developed via 

agenda setting meetings.  The agenda and supporting papers shall be in a standard 

format and circulated at least five clear working days in advance of meetings.  The 

minutes of decisions taken at the meeting will be kept and circulated to partner 

organisations within 10 working days.  Papers and Minutes (subject to any applied 

exclusions)  will be published on Bury Council’s web site and on the NHS GM web site.   

6.3 Agendas will be structured to clearly distinguish between decisions to be taken in 

respect of the Integrated Health and Care Fund (Pooled Budget) by the Locality Board. 

6.4 In accordance with the Council’s constitution, any Key Decision (defined at point 6.5) 

may not be taken unless Subject to point 7.4  (general exception) and point 7.6  (special 

urgency), a key decision may not be taken unless: 

(a) a notice has been published in connection with the matter in question at least 

28 days in advance of the decision being taken;  

(b) notice of the meeting has been given five clear working days before the 

meeting.  

6.5 A key decision is a decision taken at a Cabinet meeting, by an individual Cabinet 

Member, or a Joint Committee of the Cabinet and is:   

 •  Any decision in relation to an executive function which results in the council 

incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant 

having regard to the council's budget for the service or function concerned. A 

decision will be considered financially significant if it results in incurring 

expenditure or making savings of £500,000 or greater; unless the specific 

expenditure or savings have previously been agreed by full Council.  

 •  Any other executive decision which in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer is 

likely to be significant having regard to:  

 (a) the number of residents/service users that will be affected in the Wards concerned;  

 (b) whether the impact is short term, long term or permanent;  

 (c) the impact on the community in terms of the economic, social and environmental 

well-being. 

  

Page 407



 

  10 
 

 
Decisions subject to call in by scrutiny committees  
 
6.6 “Call in” is a statutory right for members of the Council to call in a key decision after 

it is made but before it is implemented. Other than decisions taken under the 

urgency provisions (7.4 and 7.6) Key decisions made but not implemented may be 

called-in in accordance with the scrutiny rules as set out in the Council’s 

constitution. 

6.7 The Locality Board meetings;  

a) will be held in public, subject to any exemption provided by law with specific time 

allocated for public question time. 

b) may resolve to exclude the public from a meeting that is open to the public (whether 

during the whole or part of the proceedings) whenever publicity would be prejudicial to 

the public interest by reason of the confidential nature of the business to be transacted 

or for other special reasons stated in the resolution and arising from the nature of that 

]business or of the proceedings or for any other reason permitted by both the Public 

Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 (as amended or succeeded from time to 

time) and the Local Government Act 1972. 

7. Decision making and voting  

 
7.1 The Locality Board will aim to achieve consensus for all decisions of the parties.  It is 

not intended that the Locality Board will seek to ‘outvote’ one partner to the board.  

Any decision of the Locality board needs to be supported by the governance of each 

organisation.  In the event of one or more partners disagreeing with a decision 

following consideration within the organisation, it is expected further dialogue and 

discussion will take place at the Locality Board.  The Chair of the Locality Board will 

have a second and deciding vote, if necessary and required, however the aim of the 

Locality Board will be to achieve consensus decision-making wherever possible. 

 
7.2 To promote efficient decision making at meetings of the Locality Board it will develop 

and approve detailed arrangements through which proposals on any matter will be 

developed and considered by the parties with the aim of reaching a consensus.  

These arrangements will address circumstances in which one or more parties decide 

not to adopt a decision reached by the other parties.  

  

Page 408



 

  11 
 

Urgent Decisions 

7.3 General exception - in accordance with the Council’s constitution, if a matter which is 

likely to be a key decision has not been included in the List of Key Decisions, then 

subject to the Special Urgency rule, the decision may still be taken if: 

(a) the decision must be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to defer the 

decision until it has been included in the next List of Key Decisions; 

(b) the Chief Executive has informed the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Committee, 

or if there is no such person, each Member of that Committee, and a nominated 

opposition or majority group member of the Committee as appropriate and the 

leader of the second largest opposition group in writing, by notice, of the matter 

to which the decision is to be made; 

(c) the Chief Executive has made copies of that notice available to the public at the 

offices of the Council; and 

(d) at least five days have elapsed since the Chief Executive complied with (b) and 

(c). 

7.4  Where such a decision is taken collectively, it must be taken in public. 

7.5 Special urgency - if by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken (general 

exception) cannot be followed, then the decision can only be taken if the Chair of the 

Locality Board, has: 

(a) obtained the agreement of the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Committee that the 

taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred;  

(b) consulted a nominated opposition or majority group member of the Committee 

as appropriate and the leader of the second largest opposition group. If there is 

no Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Committee or if the Chair is unable to act, then 

]the agreement of the Chair of the Council (Mayor), or in his/her absence the 

Vice Chair (Deputy Mayor) will suffice. 

(c) Consulted every member, following circulation to every member of appropriate 

papers and a written resolution. 

7.6 Such a decision will be as valid as any taken at a quorate meeting but will be reported 

for information to, and will be recorded in the minutes of, the next meeting.   

Page 409



 

  12 
 

8. Conflicts of interests  

8.1 The members of the Locality Board must refrain from actions that are likely to create 

any actual or perceived conflicts of interests.  

8.2 The Chair of the Locality Board shall manage all conflict of interest matters. The 

members of the Locality Board will be asked at each meeting to declare any new or 

existing actual or perceived conflicts for any items of business related to that meeting. 

The Chair will ensure that a Register of Interests for the members of the Locality Board 

is established and maintained.  

8.3 The Locality Board will formally record its deliberations within relevant minutes. Such 

minuting will be undertaken by the designated officer support provided, alongside the 

management of paperwork and version control. 

8.4 Depending upon the topic under discussion and the nature of a conflict of interest 

disclosed or identified, the member may be; 

✓ Allowed to remain in the meeting and contribute to the discussion; 

✓ Allowed to remain in the meeting and contribute to the discussion but leave the 

meeting at the point of decision; or 

✓ Asked to leave the meeting for the duration of the item under consideration. 

9. Confidentiality  

9.1 Information obtained during the business of the Locality Board must only be used for 

the purpose it is intended. Particular sensitivity should be applied when considering 

financial, activity and performance data associated with individual services and 

institutions. The main purpose of sharing such information will be to inform new service 

models and such information should not be used for other purposes (e.g., Performance 

management, securing competitive advantage in procurement).    

9.2 Members of the Locality Board are expected to protect and maintain as confidential 

any privileged or sensitive information divulged during the work of the Bury System 

Partnership.  Where items are deemed to be privileged or particularly sensitive in 

nature, these should be identified and agreed by the chair.  Such items should not be 

disclosed until such time as it has been agreed that this information can be released.  

9.3 Given that some Local Authority decision making will go through the Locality Board the 

provisions of the Local Government Access to Information legislation will apply.  

Page 410



 

  13 
 

10. Support  

10.1 Governance/administrative support to the Locality Board will be provided as agreed by 

the Partnership.  

10.2 The Executive Director, Health and Adult Care  - Bury Council and Deputy Place Based 

Lead for Health and Care - NHS GM (Bury) and Bury Council will act as the lead 

officer. Lead officer responsibilities will include ensuring that agendas are appropriate 

to the work of the Board. 

10.3 The programme structure and supporting work groups will be developed and agreed 

as part of the Locality Board work plan and these Terms of Reference should be read 

in conjunction with the Partnership Agreement and S75 Agreement. 

11. Review  

11.1 These Locality Board terms of reference will be formally reviewed annually and in the 

first instance in September 2023. 

Version Control 

Version 1e 30 January 2023 

  

  

  

 

Page 411



  

  

BURY INTEGRATED CARE 

PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 

Date of Approval: 6th February 2023 

 

 

Version Control Date 

v0.1 First Draft – Will Blandamer 17/1/23 

 

This Bury Integrated Care Partnership Agreement is made between the following partners: 

1) Greater Manchester NHS Integrated Care  

2) Bury Metropolitan Borough Council 

3) Northern Care Alliance Foundation Trust  

4) Pennine Care Foundation Trust  

5) Manchester Foundation Trust 

6) Bury Voluntary and Community Faith Alliance 

 

 

This document sets out how partners agree to work together as part of the Bury Integrated Care 

Partnership will work together to improve outcomes for residents. 

 
This is not a legally binding document but seeks to define and clarify how partners aim to strengthen 

existing collaborative relationships and underpin our arrangements with a clear set of strategic 

objectives and system characteristics. 

 

This partnership is not legally binding but does provide context for current and future separate legally 

binding agreements between two or more partners within the partnership – for example in a section 

75 agreement between NHS GM and Bury Council.   

 
This Agreement will supplement and operate in conjunction with: 

 

1.2.1 Bury Locality Plan for Health and Care (Refreshed 2023) 

1.2.1 The Let’s Do It! Strategy for the Borough of Bury to 2030 

1.2.2 The Greater Manchester Integrated Care Strategy 2023 

1.2.3 Locality Board Terms of Reference 

1.2.4 Services Contracts between NHS GM and Providers and between the Council and 

Providers of Services. 

1.2.5 The Section 75 Agreement between NHS GM and Bury Council 

1.2.6 Integrated Delivery Collaborative Partnership Agreement 

1.2.7 Integrated Delivery Collaborative Board Terms of Reference 
  

2. STATUS, PURPOSE AND CONTEXT OF THE AGREEMENT 

1. PARTNERS TO THE AGREEMENT 

Page 412



 
 

This agreement will run from 1st April 2023 to 31
st March 2024 and will be renewed annually (as a 

minimum).   
 

 

The “Bury Integrated Care Partnership” (ICP) is a term used to describe the common endeavor of 

partners in the health and care system in Bury.   

 

This is an agreement of the partners in Bury ICP to work collaboratively to mutual benefit and in pursuit of 

the objectives of the Locality Plan. 

 

The Bury Locality Plan for Health, Care and Well Being was endorsed by the Bury System Board in August 
2021 and its successor body the Bury Locality Board in January 2022.   It was intended to operate as 
touchstone – or a north star - as we recovered from the pandemic and moved into a period of organisational 
uncertainty.  It reminded us, that securing better outcomes, addressing health inequality, improving 
access to and the quality of services received, and supporting residents to be well, independent, 
connected to their communities, and in control of the circumstances of their care and lives is the 
basis for our transformational ambition. 
 
In particular the objectives of Bury’s locality plan for the health, care and wellbeing system are as follows: 

 

• We will seek to influence the factors that improve population health and well-being and reduce 

health inequalities and foster inclusion 

• We will support residents to be well, independent, and connected to their communities and to be in 

control of the circumstances of their lives 

• We will support residents to be in control of their health and well being 

• We will support children to ‘start well’ and to arrive at school ready to learn and achieve  

• We will support people to take charge of their health and care and the way it is organised around 

them, and to live well at home, as independently as possible 

• We will ensure all residents have access to integrated out of hospital services that promote 

independence, prevention of poor health, and early intervention and where front-line staff are working 

together in 5 neighbourhood teams 

• We will work to ensure high quality responsive services where people describe a good experience of 

their treatment 

• We will work to control the overall costs of the health and care system by eearlier intervention, 

prevention, and working with the strengths within people, families, communities  

The Bury Locality System Board (“Locality Board”) operates as the senior partnership group in Bury ICP.  

It has been established to provide strategic direction to the Bury ICP, to support the actions necessary to 

deliver the locality plan ambition, to secure better outcomes and to secure a financially sustainable health 

and care system.    

 

The Locality Board works to ensure all parts of the Bury ICP work effectively together – including the work 

of the Clinical and Professional Senate, the Strategic Finance Group, the Integrated Delivery Board, and 

a portfolio of programmes of work delivering and transforming urgent care, elective care, mental health, 

adult social care, childrens partnership working, Learning Disabilities services, and others. 

 

A particular focus of the Bury ICP is to create the conditions for multi-agency focused integrated working 

in neighbourhood teams serving all parts of the borough.  The ‘integrated neighbourhood teams’ (INT) 

secure focus in each of 5 places in Bury on preventative and early intervention-based services, rooted to 

an asset-based approach recognising the strengths of residents and communities.  The INT create the 

conditions for integrated health and care, connected to the reform of wider public services in the borough, 

which is a priority for the Bury ICP and for this agreement. 

3. COMMENCEMENT AND TERM OF AGREEMENT 

4. SUMMARY 

Page 413



 

The Locality Board is the apex of partnership arrangements in the Bury ICP and is the focal point for the 
discharge of partner obligations under this agreement.  The responsibilities of the Locality Board (as 
described in the ToR) are to; 

• Ensure alignment of all organisations to the Bury ICP vision and objectives, as described in the 
Locality Pan for Health, Care and Well Being, ensuring the delivery of the triple aim of improved 
population health, improved experience, and financial sustainability. 

• Jointly manage the Bury ICP Locality Integrated fund – established to reflect the scope of services 
agreed to be managed at a locality level between the Council and NHS and in accordance with the 
NHS GM accountability agreement and doing so on the basis of ‘formally pooled, aligned and non-
pooled’. 

• Be responsible for achieving the financial sustainability of health and care services within the 
borough and contributing to financial sustainability for NHS GM. 

• Ensure the Bury ICP delivers on the NHS obligations under the terms of the NHS GM Accountability 
Agreement with Bury. 

• Secure the delivery of the portfolio of transformation programmes reported through the Integrated 
Delivery Collaborative Board and as described in the Locality Plan. 

• Ensure the Bury ICP works as part of the Wider Team Bury approach and in the context of the Let’s 
Do It Strategy for the borough and secures support of all partners including other public services, 
the business community, and the voluntary sector in addressing health inequalities and population 
health. 

• Ensure that all partners are actively working to promote the capacity and capability of integrated 
neighbourhood team working in each of the 5 neighbourhoods’ teams in Bury and doing so in a way 
consistent with the principles and values of the Locality Plan – a personal and community asset-
based approach. 

• Promote and encourage commitment to the integration principles and integration objectives 
amongst all parties and in particular create the conditions for high quality integrated neighbourhood 
working. 

• Formulate, agree and ensure that implementation of strategies for achieving the integration 
objectives and the management of the Bury ICP. 

• Discuss strategic issues and resolve challenges such that the integration objectives can be 
achieved.  

• Ensure the work of the health, care and well-being partnership in Bury has the voices of patients 
and residents, and the learning from lived experience, at the heart of the transformation programmes 
and service delivery. 

• Respond to changes in the operating environment, including in respect of national policy or 
regulatory requirements, which impact upon the Bury ICP or any parties to the extent that they affect 
the parties' involvement in the Bury System Partnership.  

• Agree policy as required.  

• Agree performance outcomes/targets for the Bury ICP such that it achieves the integration 
objectives. 

• Take collective responsibility for achievement of the objectives of the locality plan with regard to the 
performance/outcomes, financial position and contribution to population health gain.  Working with 

5. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE LOCALITY BOARD 

Page 414



the Integrated Delivery Collaborative to determine strategies to improve performance, recognise 
and address unwarranted variation, and work together as a system to address poor performance 
and outcomes.  

• Ensure that the Bury Integrated Delivery Collaborative identifies and manages the risks associated 
with the Bury System Partnership, integrating where necessary with the parties' own risk and 
governance management arrangements. 

• Ensure the continued effectiveness of the Bury System Partnership, including by creating a 
partnership of trust and common purpose between the parties and between the Bury ICP and its 
stakeholders. 

• Ensure that the Bury ICP support partners to deliver their regulatory requirements through whatever 
means are required by such regulators or are determined by the Locality Board, including, to the 
extent relevant, integration with communications and accountability arrangements in place within 
the parties. 

• Address any actual or potential conflicts of interests which arise for members of the Locality Board 
or within the Bury ICP generally, in accordance with a protocol to be agreed between the parties 
(such protocol to be consistent with the parties' own arrangements in respect of declaration and 
conflicts of interests, and compliant with relevant statutory duties).  

• Oversee the implementation of, and ensure the parties' compliance with, this agreement and all 
other services contracts.  

• Review the governance arrangements for the Bury ICP at least annually and ensuring compliance 
and alignment with the governance of legal entity partners. 

• Ensure consistent representation to the decision-making arrangements of the NHS GM such that 
the NHS GM creates the conditions for rapid delivery of the system transformation described in the 
refreshed locality plan. 

  Chairing of the meeting; 

The Locality Board will be chaired by the Leader of the Council, the Senior Clinical Leader from the Clinical 
and Professional Senate.  Chairing of meetings will be on an alternate basis and/or in the absence of one 
of the named chairs.  In the absence of both of the Chairs a replacement Chair will be elected for the 
duration of the meeting from the Core/Voting Membership. 
 
Accountability 
 
The Locality Board will have overarching responsibility and manage (subject to reserved matters) all 
matters relating to the Integrated Health and Care Fund (Pooled Budget) as set out in the S75 
Agreement relating to the Integrated Health and Care budget for the borough between Bury Council and 
NHS GM. 
 
The Locality Board will have overarching responsibility and manage (subject to reserved matters), 
matters relating to the Integrated Health and Care Fund (aligned and non-pooled budgets). 

In respect of the Integrated Health and Care Fund (Pooled Budget), the Locality Board will sit as a joint 
committee established under Regulation 10(2) of the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership 
Arrangements Regulations 2000 (“the 2000 Regulations”).  

 In respect of the NHS GM Aligned Budget (non-pooled) element of the Integrated Health and Care Fund 
(Aligned Budgets), the Locality Board will sit as a Committee of the Integrated Care Board (ICB) of NHS 
GM on which there is Council and wider partner representation. The Locality Board will fulfil the 
requirements as outlined in the NHS GM Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. 

6. CHAIRING AND ACCACOUNTBILITY OF THE LOCALITY BOARD 

Page 415



For the avoidance of doubt, insofar as the Locality Board sits as a joint committee under the 2000 
Regulations, Bury Council and/or NHS GM are delegating the making of decisions to the Locality Board 
and not to their individual representatives on the Board. For the avoidance of doubt where the Locality 
Board sits as a Committee of the ICB, NHS GM is delegating the making of decisions to the Locality Board 
collectively and not to their individual representatives on the Board. 

 
The responsibilities of the Locality Board will be updated and reviewed as the Locality Board continues 
to develop and grow throughout the changing environment. 

 

 
We will continue to measure our overall success against four overarching outcomes for the Locality 
Plan: 

 
1) A local population that is living healthier for longer and where healthy expectancy matches or 

exceeds the national average by 2025.  
2) A reduction in inequalities (including health inequality) in Bury, that is greater than the national 

rate of reduction.  
3) A local health and social care system that provides high quality services which are financially 

sustainable and clinically safe.  
4) A greater proportion of local people playing an active role in managing their own health and 

supporting those around them. 
 
 

 
 

The Bury Locality Plan recognises a changing context as we seek to continue to transform and progress 

the health, care and well-being system.  These include; 

 

• Emerging from the profound effect of the pandemic and addressing increased demand and system 
pressures – the enormous challenge of elective care and demand for mental health services (for 
example). 

 

• New operating arrangements for the partnership arrangements in Bury and in the context afforded 
by the establishment of the Greater Manchester Integrated Care System arrangements from 1/7/22. 

 

• Coping with the significant financial challenges affecting both council, NHS partners, voluntary sector 
and others in the Borough.   

 

• Ensuring that the health and care System can play its full part in the ambition for the borough 
described in ‘Let’s Do It’ strategy. 

 

• Increasing pressures associated with workforce availability across all sectors. 
 

• To enable people and neighbourhoods to be active partners in their health and wellbeing and to build 
on the strengths of communities, neighbourhoods, voluntary groups and social networks. 

 

• To ensure services are safe, equitable and of a high standard with reduced variation. 
 

• To support, empower and invest in individuals and carers supporting them to manage their own 

health and to achieve a sustainable system in relation to finance, workforce and estate. 
 

It is important during a time of such change that ‘form follows function’.  We should remind ourselves of the 

vision we have for the system, the guiding principles, the way we want to work, and the priorities that we 

have.  In particular we will...  

• strengthen the focus on wellbeing across all our services from primary care through to hospital-based 

care, and in social care provision, including greater focus on prevention and population health. 

 

8. THE WORK WE NEED TO DO 

 

7. OUTCOMES FOR BURY RESIDENTS 

Page 416



• continue to redress the balance of care to move it closer to home where possible. 
 

• deliver effective & efficient integrated health and social care across the borough, and in particular build 
the capacity and capability of 5 integrated neighbourhood teams in health and care – working with other 
public services on the same footprint 

 

• consider how the ‘anchor institutions in health and care’ use social value to tackle the inequalities around 
us and create lasting benefits for the people of Bury, improve the local economy, whilst positively 
contributing (or at least minimising damage) to the environment. 

 

• ensure equality, diversity and inclusion are reflected in our leadership and guide our priorities and all 
areas of our work. 

 

• ensure that the lived experience of Bury residents and patients is informing and guiding the design and 
delivery of services, and that the health and care system listens more carefully to those who use its 
services, and positively creates opportunities for ‘co-design’ and ‘co-production’. 

 

• harness the breakthrough opportunities of digital technology for enhancing existing services and crafting 
novel services to give better outcomes to citizens and improved value for money. 

 

• secure clinical & financial sustainability across the whole of the health and social care landscape. 
 

• work to proactively identify cohorts of vulnerability and risk – for example identifying those residents at 
a higher risk of unplanned hospital admission and seek to support those residents and families to change 
remain well and independent. 

 

• contribute to economic growth and connect people to growth and maximise impact from health 
innovation and digital. 

 

• work constructively and collaboratively with partners in Bury, and across ‘sub regional footprints’ 
particularly the 4 localities footprint of the Northern Care alliance which includes Salford, Bury, Rochdale 
and Oldham),  

 

• work positively and constructively with the NHS Greater Manchester and the wider GM Integrated Care 
System 

 

• look to address unwarranted variation in services including particularly across mental health, learning 
disabilities and autism services. 

 

• Recognise the environmental consequences of our actions, and work as part of the borough strategy 
around carbon neutrality 

 

 
People 

• We will seek to develop and promote self-care and wellbeing 

• We will put neighbourhoods at the heart of our work with an emphasis on quality and safety. 

• We will emphasise assets and strengths at every level: individual, family and community, encouraging 

and enabling people to take responsibility for their own health and wellbeing. 

• We will seek out, value and learn from the lived experience of local people 

• We value and will provide skilled leadership to our services and system which is representative of all 
aspects of our diverse community 

 
Relationships 

• We will prioritise develop and strengthen our relationships including by doing hard things together, 
such as working through conflict 

• We will value creativity and innovation, including but not limited to digital innovation, which improves 
the personal, social and economic well-being of people in our borough  

9. THE WAY WE WILL WORK TOGETHER 

Page 417



• We will always promote inclusivity, social justice and fairness and we will seek to add social value in 
everything we do 

• We will be accountable in our actions to each other, to the wider system, and to the people of Bury 

• We recognise, and seek always to learn more about, each other’s pressures, environments, and 
statutory duties  

• We will aim to align our work to our individual organisational priorities 
 
Decision-making and resources 

• We are committed to working within a jointly developed structure, with a shared purpose, and 
operating principles 

• We will look to the Locality Board and/or the IDC board as an authoritative body when, for example, 
there is challenge or ambiguity in our work 

• We will seek to make the best use of our collective assets, to make best use of the public resources 
invested in the borough 

• We will promote and advocate for the health and well-being of Bury people, and for the resources and 
access to services that people need, in our work with the Greater Manchester integrated care system. 

 

 
 
In addition, the way we work will be informed by our deep understanding of the circumstances of people’s 
lives and their ambition for their health, wellbeing, and receipt of health and care services and are described 
in a series of ‘i-statements’ that were developed in consultation with residents in the borough. 
 

 

10. THE WAY WE WORK IN THE BOROUGH 

Page 418



 

The governance and partnership arrangements are important to provide clarity on leadership, vision, and 
accountability.  Our learning from Covid has been to recognise that empowering decision making, more 
agile working, reducing barriers between organisations, building quality working relationships, and have a 
shared ambition is hugely important to the achievement.   

 
From 2021 we have developed a revised set of partnership arrangements, and these continue to develop 

and mature.    A pictorial representation of the proposed new partnership arrangements is listed below. 

 

 
Partners in the Bury ICP will continue to build working relationships based on trust, mutual support, 

recognition of mutual dependence, and partnership.  To support the effective operation of the partnership – 

to orchestrate the arrangements, the Place Based Leadership Team has been convened as below, led by 

the Place Based Lead for Health and Care from the NHS GM – also the Chief Executive of the Council.   

 

The key elements of the Bury ICP system are as follows. 

 

• A Locality Board – made up of representatives of NHS providers, the Council and the Voluntary 

Sector and others – setting strategy, managing performance and delivery, and holding an integrated 

budget between Council and the NHS (providers and NHS GM) working effectively as a capitated 

budget for the system. 

 

• The Health and Well Being Board – formally a committee of the Council but with wider representation 

and operating almost as a standing commission on health inequalities and driving towards the full 

achievement of a population health system. 

 

• An Integrated Delivery Collaborative Board – an opportunity for all key partners and stakeholders to 

come together and drive the implementation of all aspects of reformed and transformed heath, care 

and wellbeing arrangements in the borough. 

 

11. OUR PARTNERSHIP GOVERNANCE 

      
          

    
     

             
             

      

          
               

 ur   nte rated  are  artnership   artnership  rran e ents

               
            
           

              
        

          
         
          

                      

                       
                    

          

          

     

      

         

                         
                 

                         
                    

                   
                     

       

                        
            

                     
                      

                               

             
        
            
                                 
                                 

       
        
      
     

      
      
     

            
          

       
          

        
           
           

        

            
                    

              

                         
          

                     

            
            
      

  
            

            
     

        

                 

            

         

 

                 

               

         
               

           

         

             

         

               

      

         

        

            

             

        

    
       
         

Page 419



• A children’s strategic partnership board – recognising that for children and families the connection 

between health, care and education services particularly is crucial – so the childrens strategic 

partnership board operates as a ‘sister’ to the Integrated Delivery Board  

 

• 5 Integrated Neighbourhood Teams in health and care (and connected to wider neighbourhood 

teams including community hubs and other public services) serving the populations of Prestwich, 

Whitefield, Radcliffe, Bury town, and Ramsbottom/Tottington. 

 

• A Clinical and Professional Senate – bringing together professional and clinical leadership from all 

organisations in the borough and ensuring mandate representation into the spatial levels of working 

described.  It is important this drive and leads transformation. 

 
In support of this architecture there will be several enabling functions to support the system working as 

effectively as possible.  This includes: 

 
a. A strategic finance group – professional financial leadership from all relevant organisations 

understanding the position of each organisation and the mutual dependence between organisation 

to ensure system wide sustainability 

 
b. A strategic estates group – ensuring a ‘one public estate’ approach to the best utilisation of 

available estate, to ensuring that estate development is consistent with the objectives in this plan 

and creating the estates conditions to support integrated neighbourhood team delivery. 

 
c. An IM&T programme – developing opportunities for integrated patient and residents’ records and 

data flows in support of better clinical and professional decision making and exploring opportunities 

for residents to be in control of their own records. 

 
d. Workforce and Organisational Development programme – identifying opportunities for system 

wide approaches to workforce recruitment, retention, and development in a way consistent with 

transformed health care and wellbeing partnership objectives. 

 
e. Comms and Engagement – bringing together communication and engagement specialists across 

health and care organisations and with the voluntary sector to listen effectively and amplify 

messaging where appropriate and consistent with the objectives as described. 

 

 
NHS Greater Manchester supports the operation of the Bury ICP through the provision of funding to support 
the Place Based Leadership Team including a Place Based Lead.  The role of the team is to orchestrate the 
operation of the Bury ICP arrangements, including convening the Bury Locality Board, and to create the 
conditions for the most effective partnership working possible between health and care system partners.  The 
place-based leadership team is as follows; 

12. NHS GREATER MANCHESTER CONTRIBUTION 

Page 420



 

 
In addition, through the scheme of delegated authority from NHS GM to NHS GM (Bury) via the Place Based 
lead, the duties are expected as follows: 

 
• Establish governance arrangements to support collective accountability between partner organisations 

for place-based system delivery and performance, underpinned by the statutory and contractual 
accountabilities of individual organisations. 
 

• Establish governance arrangements to ensure the continuation of joint commissioning and partnership 
working at locality level of those functions that are apt for inclusion in a s.75 agreement between the 
NHS GM and local authority. 

 

• Agree a plan to meet the health and healthcare needs of the population within each place, within the 
context of national strategy, the Partnership integrated care strategy and place health and wellbeing 
strategies. 

 

• Allocate resources to deliver the plan across the system, determining what resources should be 
available to meet population need across GM and in each place and setting principles for how they 
should be allocated across services and providers (both revenue and capital). 

 

• Agree place action on data and digital: working with partners across the NHS and with local authorities 
to put in place smart digital and data foundations to connect health and care services to put the citizen 
at the centre of their care. 

 

• Agree place action on estates, procurement, supply chain and commercial strategies to maximise 
value for money across the system and support wider goals of development and sustainability 

 

• Develop joint working arrangements with partners in place that embed collaboration as the basis for 
delivery within the NHS GM plan. 

 

• Agree implementation in Locality of People Priorities 
 

In Bury all System Partners have recognised that the role of Place Based Lead is undertaken by the Chief 
Executive of the Council. 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 421



  
Partners to this agreement recognise the mutual dependence of organisational financial planning and decision 
making in the context of an integrated health and care system.  Positively this can secure partnership 
commitment to collective ambition and the necessary financial decisions by individual organisations.   
 
Conversely a lack of appreciation of the value of joint financial decision making can create sub optimal reform 
and outcomes for residents, and potential ‘cost shunting’ and cost avoidance in the system. 
 
This partnership agreement recognises the role of the Strategic Finance Group in the Bury ICP in ensuring as 
far as possible that financial decisions that relate to the effective operational objectives of the Bury ICP are in 
view and aligned.   
 
The Locality Board should have the necessary information to discharge its obligation to ensure the financial 
sustainability of the health and care system in the Borough. The Locality Board on the basis of the information 
will therefore understand the work required to effect transformation required to a system prioritising prevention 
and earlier intervention and away from costly, reactive and institutional care. 
 
As the Locality Board exists to transform services and secure the financial sustainability of the health and care 
system we will seek to create pooled budgets on the basis of business cases demonstrating the benefits of 
the arrangements.  We will look to identify transformation initiatives which will benefit from a pooled financial 
approach – for example to the need to jointly fund pump priming and double running costs of new delivery 
models and the need for pooled budgets to overcome the barriers to scaling new delivery models.  A joint, risk 
share and / or pooled approach and culture will resolve barriers to transformation where, for example 
investment is required by one partner where the dividend of that investment falls to another, or where there is 
a time lag between investment in intervention and prevention and return on investment in from reduced 
demand and lower cost. Risk and gain share arrangements will be key to ensuring the total quantum of 
resource in Bury is utilised in the most cost effective, efficient and needs based way.    
 
A pooled budget arrangement has worked very effectively on a bilateral basis between Bury Council and what 
was Bury CCG – where budgets related to the Better Care Fund, and indeed all possible budgets, were 
pooled.  This created incentive for joint working and joint investment and created opportunities for moving 
investment to mutual benefit in pursuit of commonly agreed goals between clinical and political leadership in 
the borough. There are other examples in Bury of more informal risk and gain share arrangements with NHS, 
3rd sector and other system partners.  
 
This agreement invites partners to actively consider opportunities for pooling budgets and developing joint 
investment agreements in pursuit of common objectives and subject to all necessary individual organisational 
approval and to continue to build a culture of an integrated financial approach, crossing organisational 
boundaries by risk and gain share arrangements. It is expected this could be particularly around strengthening 
the capacity and capability of integrated neighbourhood team working.   
 
The Locality Board will in the first instance have visibility of the formal pooled budget between NHS GM and 
Bury Council and the total quantum of the Bury health and local authority spend in the borough. 
 
Partners will review the opportunity of more formalised models of integrated financial planning, including 
opportunities for further pooled budget arrangements and joint investment opportunities.  
 
 

13. INTEGRATED FINANCIAL PLANNING AND RESOURCE ALLOCATION 

Page 422



 
 

 

The Locality Board provides the Strategic leadership of the Bury ICP.  The engine room of the Bury ICP 

is the ‘Integrated Delivery Collaborative Board’ (IDCB).   

 

The purpose of the IDCB is direct and govern the work of the IDC and to transform the ways in which health 
and social care is provided and that it successfully and effectively. 
 

• Provides high quality integrated care and support at neighbourhood and borough level to the people of 
Bury, providing excellent patient experience and outcomes. 

 

• Transforms health and social care services in line with the principles, standards and outcomes set by 
the Bury Locality Board and the NHS GM, making best use of every pound invested in Bury’s health and 
care services. 

 

• Supports improvements in population health, wellbeing and outcomes and addresses inequalities in 
health across the borough. 

 
A key aim is to ensure that home and community are the principal place in which health and social care 
services are provided and that ‘institutional’-type care, whether in hospital or in care homes, is ‘right-sized’ to 
meet the needs of those whose needs can only be met in such settings. 
 

The IDCB is a partnership board recognised by the Boards of each of the partner organisations as responsible 
for: 
 

• The achievement of the objectives, goals and outcomes set for the IDC (including system and service 
transformation objectives), through the management team and staff team. 

 

• Setting strategy and direction, in the context of available resources and the strategic intentions of the 
Locality Board. 

 

• Managing the effectiveness of the arrangements for the IDC, including the staffing agreement and the 
execution of delegated powers. 

 

• Holding the Chief Officer and other senior staff to account for the delivery of objectives, goals and 
outcomes. 

 

• Providing assurance to commissioners and to IDC partner organisations in relation to the effectiveness 
of the IDC’s work and its achievement of goals and outcomes. 

 
We should recognise that the Children’s Strategic Partnership operates as a ‘sister’ to the integrated deliver 
collaborative, creating the opportunity to connect to wider core partners such as schools, and the same 
characteristics above are expected of the CSPB. 
  

14. ROLE OF THE INTEGRATED DELIVERY COLLABORATIVE BOARD 

Page 423



 

 
A particular responsibility of the Locality Board is to create the conditions for successful integrated 
neighborhood teams. 
 
Integrated Neighbourhood teams (INTs) were created, providing unified management or a coordinating focus 
across community health services, adult social care and more recently community mental health services, and 
connected to communities.  INTs have focused initially on delivering Active Case Management – proactively 
identifying residents at risk of future lost independence (for example unplanned admission to hospital) and 
working together to alter the course. 
 
Neighbourhood and place-based working are key in providing the closest 
connection to the broadest range of factors affecting people’s health and 
wellbeing. Most people will receive most of their day-to-day care for most of 
their lives in the neighbourhood or locality. The only place where local 
authority spend and planning, not only on care services, but also on the 
wider determinants of health comes together with NHS spend is at the 
locality level.  

 

We will work to ensure that the 5 integrated neighbourhood teams are 

working in as asset-based way -recognising the talents and hopes of 

residents, patients and carers, and the asset of local communities.  We will 

also require the enabling groups, particularly IM&T, Estates, and workforce 

development to work to support the capacity and capability of neighbourhood team working. 

 

The Integrated Neighborhood teams currently operate primarily for adult services but there are increasing 

opportunities to connect health and care services to the model.  This will be a focus in 2023/24. 

 
Neighbourhood team working in health and care is one part of a wider ambition in “Let’s Do It” to build 

integrated teams of public services, working with communities differently.  The other two parts – the work of 

community hubs, and the work to organise wider public services like GMP.  DWP, housing providers, schools 

etc.  This allows us to recognise the contribution many other partners play to both health and wellbeing, and 

to the demand for health and care services. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

15. INTEGRATED NEIGHBOURHOOD WORKING 

Page 424



 

The Locality Board will function through engagement between its members so that each party makes a 
decision in respect of, and expresses its views about, each matter considered by the Locality Board.  The 
decisions of the Locality Board will, therefore, be the decisions of the parties, the mechanism for which will 
be authority delegated by the parties to their representatives on the Locality Board.  

Each party will delegate to its representative on the Locality Board such authority as is agreed to be 
necessary in order for the Locality Board to function effectively in discharging the duties within these terms 
of reference.  The parties will ensure that each of their representatives has equivalent delegated authority.  
Authority delegated by the parties will be defined in writing and agreed by the parties and will be recognised 
to the extent necessary in the parties' own schemes of delegation (or similar).  
 
The parties to this Agreement agree to act reasonably and in good faith in their dealings with one another. 
The parties will conduct themselves in the spirit of partnership with the intention of creating a substantial, 
long-term relationship based on: 

 
•  A shared intention to create a sustainable health and social care system in Bury 
•  A shared ambition to develop the opportunities offered by the GMICB. 
•   Fair and proportionate distribution of risk and reward 
•  Shared values and culture of high-quality service to the public 

 

The parties to this Agreement also share the ambition by which health and social care services within a 
locality are integrated and delivered in a financially and clinically (professionally) sustainable manner and 
the parties to this Agreement acknowledge the establishment of this new architecture. 
 
The parties will also ensure that the Locality Board members understand the status of the Locality Board 
and the limits of the authority delegated to them. 

 
 

 

16. PROBLEM RESOLUTION & ESCALATION 

Page 425



 
 
 

By signing this agreement, each partner acknowledges and agrees to the terms of this 

agreement. 

  

 

Signed by  

 
On behalf of Greater Manchester 

Integrated Care Partnership 

 
 

………………………………………………….. 

Insert role 

 

Signed by Geoff Little 

 
On behalf of Place and Bury Council 

 

………………………………………………….. 

Place Lead and 

Chief Executive of Bury Council 

 

Signed by  
 
On behalf of Northern Care Alliance  

 

………………………………………………….. 

Insert role 

 

Signed by  
 
On behalf of Pennine Care NHS 

Foundation Trust 

 

………………………………………………….. 

Insert role 

 

Signed by  
 
On behalf of Manchester Foundation 
Trust 

………………………………………………….. 

Insert role 

  

Signed by  

 

On behalf of Bury Voluntary and 
Community Faith Alliance 

 

………………………………………………….. 

Insert role 

 
 
 
 
 

 

17. PARTNER AUTHORISATION 

Page 426



 

 

 

Meeting:  Locality Board  

 

Meeting Date 06 February 2023 Action Consider 

Item No. 5 Confidential No 

Title S75 Report to the Locality Board 

Presented By 
Will Blandamer, Deputy Place Based Lead (Bury Locality) 

& Executive Director of Health and Adult Care (Bury Council) 

Author Simon O’Hare – Bury Deputy Locality Finance Lead  

Clinical Lead Dr. Cathy Fines 

 

Executive Summary 

The purpose of this report is to update the Locality Board on the Pooled fund budget and proposed 
risk share arrangements for 2022/23. 
 
The Local Authority approved a balanced 2022/23 budget at Budget Council on the 23rd of February 
2022. The CCG Governing Body approved a draft budget for 2022/23 on 22nd June 2022 in line with 
the allocations received. 
 
The CCG ceased to exist as a legal entity from the 1st of July 2022 with NHS Greater Manchester 
Integrated Care (NHS GM) being the successor entity from the 1st of July 2022.  NHS GM will 
therefore be a party to the S75 with the Council moving forward. 
 
In view of the structural changes and move to NHS GM working arrangements, the S75 agreement 
in place between Bury Council and NHS GM needs to be revised in order to cover the health 
budgets held at Locality level following delegation from NHS GM. It is proposed that the budgets 
delegated by the Council will not change from the original S75 as these have not been directly 
impacted on by the move to NHS GM working arrangements. 
 
It is recognised that the initial drafting of the revised s75 agreement will include a small list of budget 
areas where it is already clear that these will be delegated to locality from a decision making 
perspective.  Recognising the strength of partnership and neighbourhood working in Bury the S75 
may be further updated once the final delegation of health budgets to localities is confirmed by NHS 
GM to ensure that the scope remains as wide as is allowable under the revised working 
arrangements. 
 
This report updates the Locality Board on the Health and Social Care revised pooled budgets for 
2022/23 in line with National Health Service England (NHSE) guidelines.   It should be noted that as 
part of operating a pooled budget regular monitoring reports are required. 
 
It should be noted that the Better Care Fund (BCF) remains included within the pooled fund but is 
shown separately presentationally as elements of the BCF are within locality budgets with elements 
retained by NHS GM from a budgetary control perspective.  On this basis, the locality NHS budget in 
this report is reduced to allow the full BCF to be shown separately. 
 

Page 427



 

 

Recommendations 

The Locality Board is asked to note the revised opening budget for Health, the opening budget for 
the Council and the revisions that are to be made for the increased funding made available for the 
Adult Social Care Discharge fund that are to be incorporated recurrently into the Better Care Fund 
(BCF) from 2022/23 onwards. 
 
The report also recommends the revision of the S75 agreement for 2022/23 and that the Chief 
Executive is given delegated authority to sign the documentation for the revised S75 agreement on 
behalf of the local authority and by the NHS GM Board on behalf of the NHS. 
 

 

Links to Strategic Objectives  

SO1 - To support the Borough through a robust emergency response to the Covid-19 
pandemic.   
 

☒ 

SO2 - To deliver our role in the Bury 2030 local industrial strategy priorities and recovery. 
 ☒ 

SO3  - To deliver improved outcomes through a programme of transformation to establish the 
capabilities required to deliver the 2030 vision.            
 

☒ 

SO4 - To secure financial sustainability through the delivery of the agreed budget strategy. 
 ☒ 

Does this report seek to address any of the risks included on the NHS GM Assurance Framework? 
 ☒ 

 

Implications 

Are there any quality, safeguarding or patient 
experience i mplications? 

Yes  ☐ No ☒ N/A ☐ 

Has any engagement (clinical, stakeholder or 
public/patient) been undertaken in relation to this 
report? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ N/A ☐ 

Have any departments/organisations who will be 
affected been consulted ? 

Yes ☒ No ☐ N/A ☐ 

Are there any conflicts of interest arising from the 
proposal or decision being requested? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ N/A ☐ 

Are there any financial Implications? Yes ☒ No ☐ N/A ☐ 

Is an Equality, Privacy or Quality Impact 
Assessment required? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ N/A ☐ 

If yes, has an Equality, Privacy or Quality Impact 
Assessment been completed? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ N/A ☐ 

If yes, please give details below: 

 

If no, please detail below the reason for not completing an Equality, Privacy or Quality Impact Assessment: 

 

Are there any associated risks including Conflicts of 
Interest? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ N/A ☐ 

Page 428



 

 

Implications 

Are the risks on the NHS GM risk register? Yes ☐ No ☐ N/A ☒ 

 
 

 
 

Governance and Reporting 

Meeting Date Outcome 

N/A 

 
       

 
 

       

 
 
  

Page 429



 

 

S75 Report to the Locality Board 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Locality Board on the Pooled fund budget and 

proposed risk share arrangements for 2022/23. 
 

1.2 The Local Authority approved a balanced 2022/23 budget at Budget Council on the 23rd of 
February 2022.  The CCG Governing Body approved a draft budget for 2022/23 on 22nd June 
2022 in line with the allocations received. 

 
1.3 The CCG ceased to exist as a legal entity from the 1st of July 2022 with NHS Greater 

Manchester Integrated Care (NHS GM) being the successor entity from the 1st of July 2022.  
On this basis, NHS GM will be a party to the S75 with the Council moving forward. 

 
1.4 Taking on board the information as listed above, the S75 between Bury Council and NHS GM 

therefore needs to be revised in order to cover the health budgets held at Locality level 
following delegation from NHS GM. The budgets delegated by the Council will not change 
from the original S75.  It is recognised however, that the S75 agreement may be further 
updated once the final delegation of health budgets to localities is confirmed by NHS GM. in 
order to reflect the strong partnership and neighbourhood working in the borough. 

 
 
1.5 This report also updates the Locality Board on the Health and Social Care revised pooled 

budgets for 2022/23 in line with National Health Service England (NHSE) guidelines.  It is 
important to note that as part of operating a pooled budget regular monitoring reports are 
required.  Locality Board will receive these monitoring reports going forward. 

 
1.6 In terms of the Better Care Fund (BCF), this remains included within the pooled fund but is 

shown separately due to elements of the BCF being within locality budgets and elements 
remaining at NHS GM from a budgetary control perspective.  Therefore, the locality NHS 
budget in this report is reduced to allow the full BCF to be shown separately presentationally. 
 
 

2. Areas for consideration 
 
2.1 The pooling of budgets between the two organisations, Bury Council and NHS GM, is in line 

with NHSE guidelines to progress integration of Adult Social Care and Health and is in 
accordance with the decision made by Cabinet and what was the CCG Governing Body. 

 
2.2 The operation of a formal pooled budget in Bury has been in place from 2018/19. 
 
2.3 With regard to alternatives, the operation of a formal pool in 2022/23 builds on the shadow 

pool that was operated by the ICB in 2017/18 and is in line with 2018/19 to 2021/22 reporting; 
therefore, there are no alternatives to consider. 

 
 
3. Costs and budget summary 
 

3.1 Local Authority Revenue Budget 2022/23 

Page 430



 

 

The quarter three report to Cabinet identifies the overall revenue budget of the Council as per the 
table below: 
 

Directorate  Approved 
Budget 
£’000 

Business, Growth, and Infrastructure  £3,269 

Children and Young People  £45,910 

Corporate Core  £14,872 

Corporate Core – Finance  £5,169 

Housing General Fund  £1,288 

Non-Service Specific  £6,349 

One Commissioning Organisation  £80,781 

Department Of Operations  £19,846 

  
TOTAL  

 
£177,484 

 
It should be noted that the quarter three Cabinet report also identifies a forecast overspend of 
£3.959m and that departments are working hard to mitigate these overspends as far as possible.  
These overspends are driven by pressures in adults and children’s social care alongside rising 
utilities costs. 
 
3.2  General Fund Summary Estimates 2022/23 
 

 Service 

2022/23 
Budget 
£’000 

Pooled 
Budget 
(s75) 

Adult Social Care £48,718 

Mental Health & LD £1,890 

Children's Social Care £7,281 

Other Children's Services £6,395 

Public Health £10,857 

Other OCO Services £19,316 

Other Council Services £15,529 

Pooled Budget Total £109,986 

Aligned 
budget 

Children's Social Care £18,135 

Other Children's Services £14,099 

Business, Growth & 
Infrastructure £3,269 

Operations £19,846 

Other Council Services £12.149 

Aligned Budget Total £67,498 

Council Total £177,484 

Page 431



 

 

 
 

3.3 In March 2021, the Council set a balanced budget for 2021/22, with an estimated budget gap 
of £5.127m for 2022/23.  In February 2022, the Council set a balanced budget for 2022/23, 
having addressed the forecast gap through the implementation of a £600k savings 
programme, a further 1% increase in Council Tax via the Adult Social Care precept, an 
increase in social care grant funding, and via the use of reserves. 

 
3.4 The Council has a recurrent  budget gap of £31.395m in 2023/24 which it has addressed 

through increased council tax and business rate income, non recurrent grants, savings and 
efficiencies of £24.261m which will be delivered over a four year period and the use of 
reserves totalling £4.712m in year. 

 
3.5 Pooled Fund – Local Authority  
 
3.6 The pooled fund includes Adult Social Care, Public Health and some Children’s Social Care 

services from the Local Authority.  The table below shows the value of the LA’s pooled budgets 
by service area: - 

 

 Service 

2022/23 
Budget 
£’000 

Pooled 
Budget 
(s75) 

Adult Social Care £48,718 

Mental Health & LD £1,890 

Children's Social Care £7,281 

Other Children's Services £6,395 

Public Health £10,857 

Other OCO Services £19,316 

Other Council Services £15,529 

Pooled Budget Total £109,986 

 
3.7 Health NHS GM Delegated Budgets, BCF and additional Adult Social Care discharge 

monies 
 
3.8 The CCG Governing Body approved a draft budget for 2022/23 on 22nd June in line with the 

allocations received for £363.7m as per the table below which was the basis of the Pooled 
Fund for 2022/23.  This draft budget included a £2.2m surplus as directed by GM and regional 
colleagues. 

Page 432



 

 

 

3.9     The CCG ceased to exist as a legal entity from the 1st of July 2022.  NHS Greater 
Manchester Integrated Care (NHS GM) is the successor entity from the 1st of July 2022. NHS 
GM has delegated a proportion of the budgets, to localities and ,as at December 2022, the full 
year value of the delegated budgets is £91.2m.  It is important to note that this figure has 
been reduced to strip out the locality elements of the BCF, so that these can be shown 
together with the elements of the BCF that are part of budget held at NHS GM.  It is these 
locality budgets, the BCF and the Adult Social Care Discharge monies that are new in 
2022/23 and are funded recurrently, that will form the basis of the revised S75.  This gives a 
total of £100.1m as the basis for the NHS contribution to the pool.  The remaining budgets are 
held by NHS GM and do not presently form part of the revised S75 agreement. 

 

Service 
2022/23 

budget £000 

Community £6,956 

Mental Health £8,673 

CHC £24,693 

Primary Care £4,062 

Prescribing £34,901 

Other £285 

Locality exc BCF £79,570 

Locality BCF £11,635 

NHS GM BCF £6,987 

Total Opening BCF £18,621 

ASC Discharge BCF (new 
in 2022/23) £1,872 

Total NHS  £100,063 

Bury CCG 2022/23 Annual 
Plan £’000 

Acute £179,930 

Mental Health £39,740 

Community £39,380 

Continuing Care £24,560 

Primary Care £41,470 

Primary Care - Co 
Commissioning £32,500 

Other Programme £2,290 

Running Costs £3,840 

Total £363,710 

Allocation -£365,920 

Surplus -£2,210 

 

Page 433



 

 

 
 
Pooled Fund – NHS GM 

3.10 The Health Pooled fund budget for 2022/23 will be revised due to the delegation of budgets 
from NHS GM to Locality.  On this basis and taking into account the national guidance for 
pooled funds NHS GM will pool £98.6m, including the BCF (£18.6m) and the new Adult Social 
Care discharge monies.  National guidance prevents the pooling of certain services (central 
drugs in prescribing and certain community services such as Termination of Pregnancy) and 
as a result £1.5m of the NHS GM budget pertaining to the Bury locality is not able to be pooled.  
It is recognised that the strong partnership and neighbourhood working in the borough means 
that the proposal is to expand this pooling further as and when delegations allow. 

 
 

Service 

2022/23 
budget 
£000 

Community £6,579 

Mental Health £8,673 

CHC £24,693 

Primary Care £4,062 

Prescribing £33,772 

Other £285 

Locality exc BCF £78,063 

Locality BCF £11,635 

NHS GM BCF £6,987 

Total Opening BCF £18,621 

ASC Discharge BCF (new in 
2022/23) £1,872 

Total NHS Contribution £98,556 

Not Pooled £1,507 

 

3.11 Combined Pooled Fund 2022/23 
3.12 Combining the council budgets and the NHS GM budgets gives a total full year effect pooled 

budget of £208.1m for 2022/23, with an aligned budget of £67.5m and budgets not able to be 
pooled of £1.5m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 434



 

 

Service 

Pooled 
2022/23 
Budget 
£’000 

Aligned 
2022/23 
Budget 
£’000 

Not pooled 
2022/23 
Budget 
£’000 

Adult Social Care £48,718 
 

  

Mental Health & LD £1,890 
 

  

Children's Social Care £7,281 £18,135   

Other Children's Services £6,395 £14,099   

Public Health £10,857 
 

  

Other OCO Services £19,316 
 

  

Other Council Services £15,529 £12,149   

Business, Growth & Infrastructure 
 

£3,269   

Operations 
 

£19,846   

Council total £109,986 £67,498 £0 

Community £6,579   £377 

Mental Health £8,673     

CHC £24,693     

Primary Care £4,062     

Prescribing £33,772    £1,129 

Other £285     

Locality BCF £11,635     

NHS GM BCF £6,987     

ASC Discharge BCF (new in 2022/23) £1,872     

NHS GM Total £98,556 £0 £1,506 

Grand Total £208,117 £67,498 £1,506 

 
3.13 S75, Risk Share and differential contributions 
 
3.14    Within Bury a risk share has not been applied to the pooled budget and it is recommended to 

not change this for 2022/23 but to review going forward.  The facility does exist for differential 
contributions to the pooled budget and this has been used in the past, this should remain an 
option going forward.  

 
4   Risk and Policy Implications 

 
4.1 The key financial risks to the Pooled fund are the financial impacts of dealing with the COVID 

pandemic and the continued uncertainty of delegation to locality from NHS GM. 
 

4.2 The risk is noted that the level of confirmed delegated budgets at this stage risks diminishing 
the strength of partnership and neighbourhood working in the borough.  On this basis, a 
commitment remains to expand the s75 pooling arrangements as and when local and national 
legislative guidance enables this. 

Page 435



 

 

  
5 Recommendations 

 
5.1 The Locality Board is asked to note the revised opening budget for Health, the opening budget 

for the Council and the revisions that are to be made for the increased funding made available 
for the Adult Social Care Discharge fund that are to be incorporated recurrently in to the Better 
Care Fund (BCF) from 2022/23. 
 

5.2 The report also recommends the revision of the S75 agreement for 2022/23 and that the Chief 
Executive is given delegated authority to sign the documentation for the revised S75 agreement 
on behalf of the local authority and by the NHS GM Board on behalf of the NHS. 

 
5.3 The Locality Board is asked to note the ongoing commitment to extensive multi-agency and 

partnership working across the borough and hence, the commitment to expanding budgetary 
pooling arrangements as and when this is allowable under the revised operational NHS GM 
arrangements. 

 
 
 
Simon O’Hare 
Bury Deputy Locality Finance Lead  
February 2023 

Page 436



 

1 
 

 

Bury Locality Plan 

The Bury Strategy for  

Health, Care, and Well Being 

2023 to 2024 
  

Endorsed at System Board 20/8/21 

Re-endorsed at Locality Board January 2022 

Refreshed January 2023 

Version 3.2 (Draft subject to finalisation by SFG) 

  

 

  

Page 437



 

2 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 

Significant progress has been made in transforming the operation of the health, care and wellbeing system 

since the first Bury Locality Plan in 2017, and since its refresh in 2019.  However, the context of the work 

of partners has changed considerably because of Covid 19, and the emergent new partnership 

arrangements as a consequence of the DHSC White Paper of March 2019 and subsequent legislation.  We 

also have the benefit of the Let’s Do It strategy for the borough – the strategy for the place until 2030. 

‘Form follows function’ – and as we progress new partnership arrangements and priorities to respond to 

the changed context it is imperative to restate and reconfirm the vision, the priorities, and the way we 

anticipate working together to support better outcomes for Bury residents. 

This refreshed and concise Bury Locality Plan for Health, Care and Well Being was endorsed by the Bury 

System Board in August 2021 and its successor body the Bury Locality Board in January 2022.   It was 

intended to operate as touchstone – or a north star - as we recovered from the pandemic and move into 

a period of organisational uncertainty.  It reminded us, that securing better outcomes, addressing health 

inequality, improving access to and the quality of services received, and supporting residents to be well, 

independent, connected to their communities, and in control of the circumstances of their care and lives 

is the basis for our transformational ambition. 

This refreshed Locality Plan has been further updated in January 2023 to reflect the formal establishment 

of NHS GM as the Integrated Commissioning Board, and the wider GM NHS Integrated System Partnership, 

and consequently the disestablishment of Bury CCG on 30/6/22. 

  

Contents 

 

A. Background 

B. Context 

C. Progression of the Health and Care System 

D. The purpose of the Locality Plan Refresh 

E. Let’s Do It – the Strategy for the Borough to 2030 

F. Financial Strategy 

G. Objectives  

H. The Way We Work 

I. Neighbourhood Team Working 

J. New Partnership Arrangements 

K. Transformation Programmes 

L. A population Health System 

 

Page 438



 

3 
 

A. Background 

 
1. In 2017 partners in the health and care system in Bury agreed a strategy for health, care and wellbeing.  

It was called the ‘Bury Locality Plan’, and each of the 10 Districts in Greater Manchester had a similar 

document as part of the wider GM Health and Care Devolution arrangements. 

 

2. The 2017 Bury Locality Plan set out an ambitious programme of work, focusing not only on new models 

of joined up health and care delivery, but also on the wider ambition to improve population health 

and reduce inequalities. The plan recognised that achievement on health inequalities was also 

dependent on work with other public services, and work to support residents to be independent of 

services as far as possible and connected to their communities.  The plan also developed a framework 

for potential investment from the Greater Manchester held Transformation Fund – to help establish 

new ways of working and to cover some ‘double running’ costs.  Importantly, it indicated that without 

concerted and system wide action the size of the financial gap in the health and care system was 

predicted to be £76m in 2022. 

 

3. In 2019 the Locality Plan was refreshed. The refresh recognised considerable progress – in beginning 

to build neighbourhood teams for health and care staff in each of 5 places, in building the partnership 

of providers as a ‘local care organisation’ (LCO), in standing up some borough wide transformation 

programmes (e.g in Urgent Care), and in the work tackling entrenched health inequalities in the 

borough.  It referenced the work being done to substantially improve the working relationships 

between Council and CCG in the borough through the proposed establishment of the One 

Commissioning Organisation (OCO).  The OCO changed some line management arrangements into 

integrated team and was also an ethos of collaboration in commissioning between Council and CCG – 

joint appointments, an integrated (pooled and aligned) budget, and the establishment of the Strategic 

Commissioning Board – where decisions from Council Cabinet and CCG Board were delegated for 

shared and joint decision making by clinical and political leadership. 

 

4. The 2019 Locality Plan was comprehensive in describing a range of new programmes and initiatives.  

And it constituted a step change in integrated commissioning arrangements through the OCO, and a 

new forum for partnership and collaboration and delivery through the LCO.   It also acknowledged 

some areas where progress from the 2017 plan was not as advanced as hoped, and it recognised the 

anticipated 2022 financial gap was now £85m. 

 

5. Nevertheless the 2017 Locality Plan and its refresh in 2019 were pivotal in the Bury Health and Care 

System.  They created ambitious transformation programmes in the delivery of health and care, they 

focused strongly on improving population health as a means of improving outcomes and contributing 

to the financial sustainability of the system.  They constituted a step change on our journey of 

integration.  And they confirmed a commitment to building and developing neighbourhood teams of 

health and care staff.   They also recognised that simply re-designing the way health and care services 

are provided isn’t enough – we need to engage with people and communities in a different way, 

support residents to be in control of their lives and in control of the way health and care services are 

organised around them. 

Page 439



 

4 
 

B. Context 

 
6. Much of the locality plan refresh of 2019 stands true today.  But the context for a strategy on health, 

care and wellbeing in 2021 for Bury changed fundamentally for the following reasons: 

 

a. The global Covid 19 pandemic from 2020 has been an appalling tragedy for so many people and 

families, and the consequences in terms of health, and the economy will be felt for years to come.  

However, it is also true that the response to the pandemic has taught us much – it has starkly 

exposed health inequalities particularly by ethnicity as well as socio-economic deprivation, it has 

required a community-based response, it has demonstrated the best of how a health and care 

system can work together effectively, it has seen rapid deployment of technology, and it has 

reminded us of the important role of social care provision as part of an integrated system. 

 

b. The focus of the NHS in response to the pandemic has of course been the urgent care system, but 

the consequence has been an enormous backlog of elective/planned care that needs to be 

addressed.  There is also likely to be a hidden cost in terms of health inequalities– lost 

opportunities to prevention harm or to intervene earlier (for example in cancer diagnosis).  Finally, 

we are likely to see a growth in demand for services, particularly in mental health, as consequences 

of the pandemic itself, and as a consequence of the very severe economic position currently being 

experienced. 

 

c. The financial position of the health and care system predicted in the locality plan of 2017 and its 

refresh in 2019 is becoming evident.  For the year 21/22 both Council and CCG remained very 

financially challenged – the Council due to significantly reduced income due to the pandemic, and 

both council and CCG facing significant demand growth. 

 

d. Very positively, Bury Council and CCG have worked with partners to produce ‘Let’s Do It’ – the 

Strategy for the borough until 2030.  It has a focus on combining economic ambition with a 

relentless focus on tackling the inequalities in health and life chances that hold many residents 

and communities back in making a full and positive contribution to the future of the borough and 

being in control of the circumstances of their lives.  Let’s Do It provides a clear strategic framework 

within which our sectoral strategy on health and care can sit, and mutually reinforce other 

strategies around economic ambition, climate change, wider reformed public services, and 

community vibrancy and connectedness. 

 

 

7. The refreshed Locality Plan of 2021 has been further updated to reflect the implementation of the NHS 

White Paper of March 2021 has signalled a shift in the focus of the system – from competition to 

collaboration in the NHS, to a focus on ‘place’, to a blurring of the commissioning/provision distinction.  

The core objectives and priorities of the locality plan remain true, and the system has since 2021 built 

and operating a new model of partnership working reflective of establishment of the GM ICB, the 

disestablishment of Bury CCG, and changed financial flows and incentives. 

 

 

Page 440



 

5 
 

C. Progression of the Health and Care System  

 

8. In addition to the changing context, it should be recognised that the locality plan refresh of 2019 

anticipated a progression in our collective thinking about priorities and objectives.  It described moving 

from a state of organisational silos and crisis response, through to a system displaying more joined up 

working as exemplified by the OCO and LCO.  It also describes the future – system wide, integrated, 

preventative, connected to communities and neighbourhood team based. 

 

9. Of course, progress across these three ‘states’ isn’t linear, and there are examples of where our current 

practice and working arrangements are ahead or behind the ‘current position’.  The 2019 set out the 

progress since 2017 and conditions to move beyond to fulfil the overall ambition.  But this diagram is 

prescient – if the first locality plan of 2017 responded to the characteristics of the ‘previous state’, and 

the locality plan refresh of 2019 created the conditions for our ‘current state’ then this 2021 locality 

plan refresh is intended to recognise the new context and circumstances and move to realise the 

characteristics of ‘ambition’. 

 

10. The diagram above could be updated to reflect an additional dimension that has become apparent 

during Covid and has increasingly informed our response to pandemic – on issues of inequality and 

inclusion.   The Let’s do It strategy has escalated our collective ambition on addressing health 

inequalities, and all partners are working on a stronger inclusion focus. 

 

• Previous state – one model for everyone 

• Current position – improved understanding of different populations needs 

• Ambition – services that are designed to meet all populations 

 

 

Page 441



 

6 
 

D. The purpose of this ‘Locality Plan for Health Care and Well Being’ Refresh. 

 

11. This refresh of the 2021 Locality Plan recognises a changing context as we seek to continue to 

transform and progress the health, care and well-being system.    

 

• Emerging from the profound effect of the pandemic and addressing increased demand and 
system pressures – the enormous challenge of elective care and demand for mental health 
services for example 
 

• New operating arrangements for the partnership arrangements in Bury and understanding our 
part of the Greater Manchester Integrated Care System from 1/4/22. 

 

• Coping with the significant financial challenges affecting both council and NHS partners and 
others in the Borough   

 

• Ensuring that the health and care System can play its full part in the ambition for the borough 
described in ‘Let’s Do It’.   

 

• Increasing pressures associated with workforce availability across all sectors. 
 

12. It is important during a time of such change that ‘form follows function’.  We should remind ourselves 

of the vision we have for the system, the guiding principles, the way we want to work, and the priorities 

that we have.  And that we use this opportunity to ‘refresh’ our ambition in a way that cements all 

partners to common goals and priorities.     Once this ‘function’ is re-described, we can push on and 

further mature the partnership arrangements we will use to deliver it. 

 

 

 

  

Page 442



 

7 
 

E. “Let’s Do It” – the Strategy for the Borough to 2030 (February 2021) 

 

 
13. This document is a refresh of our strategy for health and care and well being in the borough.  It sits in 

the context of the overall strategy for the borough – “Let’s Do It”.  Delivering the strategy for the 

borough to 2030 requires a mutually reinforcing alignment of several different strategic frameworks 

reflective of different sectors, for example on economic growth, on housing strategy, on employment 

training and skills, and on the reform of wider public services. Let’s Do it also described the way we 

want to work - Local, Enterprising, Together, and Strengths based.   All of these contribute to, for 

example, health inequalities, and the effective operation of the health and care system has an 

important contribution to make to the achievement of other strategic intent. 

 

14. The Let’s Do It strategy provides a consistent framework that binds these strategies together.  The 

Bury 2030 Strategy is for everyone who has a stake in our Borough’s future: local people, community 

groups, organisations of every sort, whether public, private or voluntary.  The strategy is a call to action 

for everyone in our Borough to get behind the change we all want to see and do all we can to make it 

happen. It is a commitment to a decade of reform; a bold ambition to tackle deprivation and improve 

growth through a programme of work that covers people; places; ideas; infrastructure and the 

business environment. 

 

o Let’s This is a framework for joint endeavour. It proposes a partnership involving everyone in our 

six towns and the communities within them, aimed at creating the right conditions for people to 

make better lives for themselves. It is a plan to co-design our own futures and those of our 

communities. Bury is a proud Borough made up of six individual townships and distinct community 

groups including those of faith. This strategy seeks to recognise and develop the unique identities 

of each of our towns and individual communities and faiths but working towards one overarching 

ambition for the whole place.   

 

o Do This is a call to action. The truth is that without everyone’s participation this strategy won’t 

work. We all have a role to play, and we must give permission and the right delivery structures for 

individuals, communities and neighbourhoods to act towards building kinder, more resilient 

communities. We know that at times it can be daunting to bring about change so this plan also 

contains some key behaviours that will serve as a guiding light to us all. We have made specific 

proposals for how we will work together and the key things we will commit to delivering over the 

next two years.   

 

o It The ‘It’ in ‘Let’s Do It’ means having a shared focus on what we want our Borough and its 

residents to be in ten years’ time. Doing ‘it’ means recovering in a way that achieves our vision of 

tackling deprivation and inequality whilst securing economic recovery and ultimately securing 

ambitious growth. Our definition of success will be equal life chances for all our residents across 

every township and at a level which surpasses the England average. All residents in the Borough 

will have a healthy life expectancy with the current gap between our Borough and the England 

average closed by 2026. We will be known as public service thought leaders, working system-wide 

to tackle the determinants of a quality life. ‘It’ is the vision which we are going to create together, 

and that means we need it to include everyone’s voice.   

Page 443



 

8 
 

 

The   Locality Board, operating as the apex of the Bury  Integrated Care Partnership, works as part of the 

‘Team  Bury’ architecture to make a contribution to the objectives of the Lets Do It Strategy for the 

borough.  The Locality Board works alongside other key partnership – on community safety, in business 

leadership, and the children’s strategic partnership board – to achieve these aims.

                          

                     

           

                      

                  

                  

      

                       

          

             

                    

      

                      

    

                   
            

  ri ing faster e ono i  gro th than the na onal a erage 
 ith lo er than na onal a erage le els of depri a on 

  ealth   social
care reform

 Adult social care
transforma on

 Al age skills

 VCS  capacity

 Culture

 digital

 Bury  Prestwich 
 adcl i e

regenera on
 Atom Val ley  

 orthern
Gateway

   x integrated
neighbourhood
teams  Case   
 place 

 Carbon neutral
 A ordable
housing

Lo al  
rela onships  
community 
led  people 
centred
planning

 nterprise
 innova on 
ambi on 
growth
mindset

 trengths  
preven on 

empowerment
ownership

Together 
Inclus ion 

co des ign 
col labora on

Demand  educes Capacity extends

                                                

Page 444



 

9 
 

Financial Strategy 

(note this is subject to further review by Strategic Finance Group February 2023) 

15. The previous iterations of the locality plan highlighted significant financial pressures of the Bury health 

and care system, reflective of Council budget, CCG budget, and that of NHS provider 

organisations.  During the COVID-19 pandemic the  financial regime of the NHS was altered to focus 

on the delivery of care in these times, with significant non recurrent resources made available to both 

the NHS and to Local Authorities.  At the time of the last update to the locality plan (June 2021), the 

CCG had an annualised financial gap of £4.2m, the council had a savings target of £8m and £12m use 

of reserves.  The NCA had an efficiency target of £55m, with Bury Care Organisation (BCO) accounting 

for £4.9m of this and Pennine Care had an annual trust deficit of £19.1m, with an annual efficiency 

target of £5m and top-up funding to bridge this gap. 

 

16. The changes to the NHS architecture, described elsewhere in this paper, have resulted in the 

annualised locality budget, that was formerly a CCG budget, reducing from around £365m to just over 

£100m, with the balance being held and managed centrally by NHS GM. 

 

17. The main components of the Bury locality budget are prescribing, continuing health care / 

individualised placements, non NHS elements of community services and mental health placements 

and discretionary primary care expenditure.  Set against this in 2022/23, the locality has been allocated 

a savings target of £6m (6%) and is on track to deliver this, though it should be noted that £4.5m of 

this has been delivered non recurrently.  The size of the financial gap for the whole of NHS GM in 

2023/24 is not known but it is known to be significant and requiring a substantial contribution from all 

partners, including localities.  These discussions are ongoing at the time of writing. 

 

18. For the NCA the recurrent efficiency target for 2022/23 currently stands at £77.3m (5%).  Of the 

£77.3m, £6.3m is allocated to Bury Care Organisation (BCO), excluding estates, facilities, procurement 

and other corporate functions. At December 2022 BCO have identified c£4.8m of schemes, of which 

£1.7m are recurrent. The NCA financial position as at 31st December 2022, is a deficit of £16.8m 

compared to a planned deficit position of £9.6m, £7.2m worse than plan YTD. The BCO overall year to 

date position is £10.7m adverse and forecast to be £12.8m adverse (£6.5m adverse excluding clinical 

income). Therefore the NCA is utilising reserves and other means to mitigate the Care Org financial 

position.  Planning for 2023/24 is underway, at this stage contract values and expected income is not 

known but the financial position is expected to be at least as challenging as 2022/23 if not more so. 

 

19. The 2022/23 efficiency target for PCFT is £11.3m (5%), £5m of which is a recurrent target. The Trust is 

forecasting delivery of the target in full but will have a shortfall of £1.6m against the in-year recurrent 

target. The budget deficit for the Trust is c£23m before the application of the efficiency target and top 

up funding. The Trust is currently forecasting a break even position for 2022/23. While financial 

planning for 2023/24 is in the early stages, indications are that 2023/24 will be extremely challenging 

in terms of both revenue and capital plans.  

 

20. (Council)   

 

21. The CCG and the Council have, since 2019/20 had a pooled budget arrangement regulated via a section 

75 agreement.  This is continuing in 2022/23 and into 2023/24 but will be a reduced value from 

Page 445



 

10 
 

previous years due to the reduction in locality NHS budgets, but will still include the Better Care Fund 

(BCF) even though elements of this are now within central NHS GM budgets.  The pooled budget is 

part of a wider Integrated Care Fund (ICF), with current assumptions relating to the ICF, suggesting an 

overall expenditure budget of £278m split between the 3 budgets as: 

 

• pooled budget £206m – all health, social care and health related functions it is possible 
and appropriate to pool. 

• aligned budget £70m – all health, social care and health related functions that are not 
pooled but remain within the scope of local system responsibilities 

• Not pooled £2m – NHS budgets where pooling is legally not permitted. 
 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

Page 446



 

11 
 

 

F. Our refreshed plan for Health, Care and Well Being – Objectives 

 

 
22. ‘Let’s Do it’ provides a permissive and supportive context for the transformation of the operation of 

the health and care system, and our work on reducing health inequalities.  It. 

 

• has reducing inequalities as a prime objective.   

• focuses on the circumstances of the lives of residents and communities and recognises that its in 

relationships and connections that health and well being thrives.  

• recognises that supporting residents to be in control of their lives is central to wellbeing.   

• recognises that people’s lives and hopes are not determined by their connection to public services 

but joined up public services are important to create the conditions where it is possible for 

prevention of harm and early intervention to reduce dependence on high-cost public services is 

possible.   

• celebrates and promotes the diversity of the borough, and the importance of the pride that 

residents feel in their communities and in their connections to each other.   

• and finally, is it ambitious and challenging – that there is an unprecedented opportunity to “build 

a fairer society with no-one left behind by tackling our climate emergency, social inequality and 

unequal access to opportunities”.  

 

 

23. In this context the objectives of a refreshed locality plan for the health, care and wellbeing system are 

as follows: 

 

1) We will seek to influence the factors that improve population health and well-being and reduce 

health inequalities and foster inclusion 

2) We will support residents to be well, independent, and connected to their communities and to 

be in control of the circumstances of their lives 

3) We will support residents to be in control of their health and well being 

4) We will support  hildren to ‘start  ell’ and to arrive at school ready to learn and achieve  

5) We will support people to take charge of their health and care and the way it is organised around 

them, and to live well at home, as independently as possible 

6) We will ensure all residents have access to integrated out of hospital services that promote 

independence, prevention of poor health, and early intervention and where front-line staff are 

working together in 5 neighbourhood teams 

7) We will work to ensure high quality responsive services where people describe a good experience 

of their treatment 

8) We will work to control the overall costs of the health and care system by earlier intervention, 

prevention, and working with the strengths within people, families, communities  

 

 

24. We will continue to measure our overall success against four overarching outcomes for the Locality Plan: 

Page 447



 

12 
 

1. A local population that is living healthier for longer and where healthy expectancy matches or exceeds 
the national average by 2025.  

2. A reduction in inequalities (including health inequality) in Bury, that is greater than the national rate 
of reduction.  

3. A local health and social care system that provides high quality services which are financially 
sustainable and clinically safe.  

4. A greater proportion of local people playing an active role in managing their own health and 

supporting those around them. 

  

Page 448



 

13 
 

 

G. Our refreshed plan for Health, Care and Well Being – The Way We Work 
 

 

25.  In pursuit of these objectives, we will work together as a system in the following way: 

 

• strengthen the focus on wellbeing across all our services from primary care through to hospital-
based care, and in social care provision, including greater focus on prevention and population 
health. 
 

• continue to redress the balance of care to move it closer to home where possible. 
 

• deliver effective & efficient integrated health and social care across the borough, and in particular 
build the capacity and capability of 5 integrated neighbourhood teams in health and care – working 
with other public services on the same footprint 
 

• consider how the ‘anchor institutions in health and care’ use social value to tackle the inequalities 
around us and create lasting benefits for the people of Bury, improve the local economy, whilst 
positively contributing (or at least minimising damage) to the environment. 

 

• ensure equality, diversity and inclusion are reflected in our leadership and guide our priorities and 
all areas of our work 
 

• ensure that the lived experience of Bury residents and patients is informing and guiding the design 
and delivery of services, and that the health and care system listens more carefully to those who 
use its services, and positively creates opportunities for ‘co-design’ and ‘co-production’. 
 

• harness the breakthrough opportunities of digital technology for enhancing existing services and 
crafting novel services to give better outcomes to citizens and improved value for money. 
 

• secure clinical & financial sustainability across the whole of the health and social care landscape. 
 

• work to proactively identify cohorts of vulnerability and risk – for example identifying those 
residents at a higher risk of unplanned hospital admission and seek to support those residents and 
families to change remain well and independent. 
 

• contribute to economic growth and connect people to growth and maximise impact from health 
innovation and digital. 
 

• work constructively with partners in Bury, and across ‘sub regional footprints’ particularly the 4 
localities footprint of the Northern Care alliance which includes Salford, Bury, Rochdale and 
Oldham),  
 

• work positively and constructively with the NHS Greater Manchester and the wider GM Integrated 
Care System 
 

Page 449



 

14 
 

• Recognise the environmental consequences of our actions, and work as part of the borough 
strategy around carbon neutrality 
 

26. In addition, the way we work will be informed by our deep understanding of the circumstances of 
peoples lives and their ambition for their health, wellbeing, and receipt of health and care services.  In 
the previous locality plan, these ambitions were described in a series of ‘i-statements’ that were 
developed in consultation with residents in the borough.  Residents described a health, care and 
wellbeing system where... 

 

 
27. We have several excellent examples of co-design and co-production of transformed services that 

reflect these “I statement” with residents, carers and patients, for example in the SEND transformation 

programme, and in our work with residents with learning disabilities.  However, we recognise that 

much can be done in the way we involve and engage people in the way services are organised around 

them.  We will work the voluntary and community sector and will ask Healthwatch Bury to co-ordinate 

and challenge the way we transform service, including mechanism for structured engagement with 

those living with long term conditions. 

 

Page 450



 

15 
 

28. We particularly recognise the challenge on health inequalities and inclusion that have been highlighted 

by the Covid 19 pandemic.  The Council and CCG and wider health and care partners will work to ensure 

an inclusive approach and voice for those communities that may not previously have been heard, and 

the full implementation of the Council and CCG inclusion strategy (2021) 

Page 451



 

16 
 

H. The Way we work – Neighbourhood Team Working 

 
29. The 2019 locality plan proposed the establishment of neighbourhood team working in the health and 

care system working on 5 spatial footprints in the borough.  The intention was to create for front line 

staff the opportunity to know each other, work with each other, reduce duplication and ‘hand offs’, 

and have a shared understanding of particular vulnerability and harm in the area, as well as a shared 

understanding of the assets of communities.   

30. Integrated Neighbourhood teams (INTs) were created, providing unified management or a 

coordinating focus across community health services, adult social care and more recently community 

mental health services, and connected to communities.  INTs have 

focused initially on delivering Active Case Management – proactively 

identifying residents at risk of future lost independence (for example 

unplanned admission to hospital) and working together to alter the 

course. 

 

31. We intend to build on this excellent start and ensure that 

neighbourhood team working in health and care becomes a default 

setting across the breadth of the transformation programmes we 

have.  We expect more services and staffing to be aligned into the 

model of neighbourhood team working and building a wider cohort 

of cases to deploy the benefits of neighbourhood team, and in so 

doing creating opportunities for staff in neighbourhood teams to 

work together more effectively, and for neighbourhood teams to take 

greater power to organise and control services that reflect the priorities of the communities they work 

with. 

 

32. We particularly will work to ensure that the 5 integrated neighbourhood teams are working in as asset-

based way -recognising the talents and hopes of residents, patients and carers, and the asset of local 

communities.  We will also require the enabling groups, particularly IM&T, Estates, and workforce 

development to work to support the capacity and capability of neighbourhood team working. 

 

33. Neighbourhood team working in health and 

care is one part of a wider ambition in “Lets Do 

It” to build integrated teams of public services, 

working with communities differently.  The 

other two parts – the work of community hubs, 

and the work to organise wider public services 

like GMP.  DWP, housing providers, schools etc.  

This allows us to recognise the contribution 

many other partners play to both health and 

wellbeing, and to the demand for health and 

care services. 

  

Page 452



 

17 
 

 

I. Our Partnership Arrangements for the Bury Health, Care and Well Being 

System 

 

 
34. From 2021 we have developed a revised set of partnership arrangements, and these continue to 

develop and mature.    A pictorial representation of the proposed new partnership arrangements is 

below. 

 

 

35.  The partnership is Bury is referred to as the “The Bury Integrated Care Partnership” and the key 

elements of this partnership system are as follows: 

 

• A Locality Board – made up of representatives of NHS providers, the Council and the Voluntary 

Sector and others – setting strategy, managing performance and delivery, and holding an 

integrated budget between Council and the NHS (providers and GM ICS) working effectively 

as a capitated budget for the system. 

 

• The Health and Well Being Board – formally a committee of the Council but with wider 

representation and operating almost as a standing commission on health inequalities and 

driving towards the full achievement of a population health system 

 

• An Integrated Delivery Collaborative Board – an opportunity for all key partners and 

stakeholders to come together and drive the implementation of all aspects of reformed and 

transformed heath, care and wellbeing arrangements in the borough. 

Page 453



 

18 
 

 

• 5 Integrated Neighbourhood Teams in health and care (and connected to wider 

neighbourhood teams including community hubs and other public services) serving the 

populations of Prestwich, Whitefield, Radcliffe, Bury town, and Ramsbottom/Tottington. 

 

• A Clinical and Professional Senate – bringing together professional and clinical leadership from 

all organisations in the borough and ensuring mandate representation into the spatial levels 

of working described.  It is important this drive and leads transformation. 

 

36.  In support of this architecture there will be several enabling functions to support the system working 

as effectively as possible.  This includes: 

 

a. A strategic finance group – professional financial leadership from all relevant organisations 

understanding the position of each organisation and the mutual dependence between 

organisation to ensure system wide sustainability 

 

b. A strategic estates group – ensuring a ‘one public estate’ approach to the best utilisation of 

available estate, to ensuring that estate development is consistent with the objectives in this 

plan and creating the estates conditions to support integrated neighbourhood team delivery. 

 

c. An IM&T programme – developing opportunities for integrated patient and residents’ records 

and data flows in support of better clinical and professional decision making, and exploring 

opportunities for residents to be in control of their own records 

 

d. Workforce and Organisational Development programme – identifying opportunities for 

system wide approaches to workforce recruitment, retention, and development in a way 

consistent with transformed health care and wellbeing partnership objectives. 

 

e. Comms and Engagement – bringing together communication and engagement specialists 

across health and care organisations and with the voluntary sector to listen effectively and 

amplify messaging where appropriate and consistent with the objectives here. 

 

37. The governance and partnership arrangements are important to provide clarity on leadership, vision, 

and accountability.  But our learning from Covid has been to recognise that empowering decision 

making, more agile working, reducing barriers between organisations, building quality working 

relationships, and have a shared ambition is hugely important to the achievement.  Partners in the 

Bury Integrated Care Partnership will continue to build working relationships based on trust, mutual 

support, recognition of mutual dependence, and partnership.  To support the effective operation of 

the partnership – to orchestrate the arrangements, the Place Based Leadership Team has been 

convened as below, led by the Place Based Lead for Health and Care from the NHS GM – also the Chief 

Executive of the Council.   

Page 454



 

19 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 455



 

20 
 

J. Our Transformation Programmes 

 

 
38. This refreshed locality plan has described our vision for the Bury health, care and well being system, 

and the way we intend to work together – for example in neighbourhoods, with an asset-based 

approach, and with a focus on inequality.  In this context we have the following programmes of 

transformation that will provide focus to our joint work. 

 

• Urgent and Emergency Care – to progress the ‘phase 2’ of our transformation of the operation of 

the urgent and emergency care system in Bury – focusing on ensuring residents are seen 

appropriately and in a timely manner, bringing more certainty to the operation of the system, 

moderating the season challenges in demand, reducing demand through focus on prevention and 

early intervention, strengthen discharge arrangements from hospital services.  This more planned 

flow of urgent care will also support the achievement of challenging waiting time target for urgent 

care 

 

• Learning Disabilities – working together and with residents and carers to transform the 

circumstances and opportunities of those with learning disabilities, maximising independence, and 

supporting more joined up and integrated services working across the life course. 

 

• Elective care – working with Northern care Alliance and other providers of services to transform 

the way elective care services are organised – moving from traditional outpatient’s services, 

supporting GPs with advice and guidance, supporting patients to initiate follow up appointments 

as required, ensuring patients are as fit and well as possible for elective surgery, and addressing 

the very challenging waiting list issues caused by the pandemic. 

 

• Cancer Services – ensuring the whole cancer pathway – from prevention, early intervention, 

screening (and reviewing opportunities for community-based screening), GP access, 2 weeks wait 

for specialist cancer opinion, and where necessary into medical intervention is as effective as 

possible  

 

• End of Life Care Pathway – a whole system partnership review of how effectively partners work 

with patients and families to support a dignified and pain free death where possible in a place of 

their choosing – often at home rather in hospital. 

 

• Primary Care – our primary care system, particularly GP services, have been under significant 

pressure during the pandemic but have responded magnificently, for example in embracing new 

technology and in PCN delivery of the vaccination programme.  There are also opportunities with 

a new focus on primary care networks 

 

• Mental Health – Bury has an excellent mental health strategy - “ithrive” – and significant progress 

has been made in developing new models of service delivery across all 4 quadrants of that 

framework.  But further work is required to hasten the pace of reform and development, from a 

focus on well being through to the availability of specialist services.  In addition, there needs to be 

Page 456



 

21 
 

a specific recognition of the challenge to childhood mental health and well being as a consequence 

of covid, and an increasing demand for services. 

 

• Community Services – Community health-based services – for example community nursing 

services and community therapy services, have been cornerstones of our covid 19 response and 

we will work to reflect on progress made in terms of connection to neighbourhood teamwork, and 

to learn from best practice nationally to further strengthen he community health services 

arrangements. 

 

• Adult Social Care – Adult Social care provision is inherent to many of the other programmes, but 

we have (through the council budget strategy) articulated a range of transformation initiatives, 

around asset-based working, technology deployment, new models of housing provision, 

strengthen partnership working private providers of in home and care homes services. 

 

• Childrens health and care.  Equally, children’s services are to be found throughout many of the 

transformation programmes above.  But there are important transformation programmes to be 

connected – from the outcome of a recent review of maternity services, through to the ongoing 

work on SEND, on addressing the growth in demand for children’s mental health services, for the 

focus on ‘starting well’.  In all of this we will recognise the crucial role schools and pre-school 

services play, and we will connect work on children’s health and care reform to the work of the 

wider borough Childrens Strategic Partnership Board.  We will look to the neighbourhood model 

as the basis of our integration approach, with a focus on early help, prevention, early intervention, 

and also as a focus on the first 1000 days.  We will also focus on targeted, holistic support for our 

vulnerable children and young people, including Looked After Children, Care Leavers, SEND and 

youth offending. 

 

• Public Health Improvement Programme.  A framework to co-ordinate the implementation of key 

public health priorities including the Bury Food Strategy, the physical activity strategy, the sexual 

health strategy, good work charter, NHS health checks and other key interventions. 

 

39. The programmes above are intended to transform the way key services work.  There are, in addition, 

very many important programmes of work that reflect a business as usual – our work on 

safeguarding arrangements with partners and in the context of the Bury Integrated Safeguarding 

Partnership, or work on Continuing Health Care.  All our work together will be infused with the 

principles described in this document. 

 

  

Page 457



 

22 
 

K. A Population Health System Approach in Bury 

 

40. This refreshed Locality Plan – like its predecessors - has at its core the ambition to fundamentally 

improve population health and wellbeing, and to reduce health inequalities.  This is important to 

ensure Bury residents can lead the lives they want, but also to create a financially sustainable health 

and care system that is characterised by prevention of poor health, and early intervention, rather than 

reactive and costly service provision. 

 

41. To do so requires us to lever health and gain and equality out of all levers available to us.  In this we 

have recast Bury Health and Well Being Board to focus on developing the population health system as 

its unique role in the partnership arrangements.  It will provide the necessary leadership, vision and 

grip on the step change in population health and well-being required.  Importantly it will provide a 

focal point for our work on addressing pernicious health inequalities in the borough – in circumstances 

where we know progress in improving life expectancy has stalled and there is evidence of rising health 

inequality – almost certainly to be exacerbated by the consequences of the pandemic. 

 

42. A framework for the work of the Health and Well Being Board on the population health system is the 

Kings Fund (2019) four quadrants diagram.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

43. The  ealth and Well Being board will therefore operate as effectively a ‘standing commission’ on 

health inequalities and population health and will explore how to maximise the impact of interventions 

across all 4 quadrants.  It will work closely with ‘Team Bury’ – the multi-agency leadership team for 

the borough reflecting public service, business leadership, and the voluntary and community sector – 

and will focus specifically on the work on health inequalities and wellbeing. 

 

44. In undertaking its work, the health and well being board will have regard to the Independent 

Commission on inequalities in GM (2021), and the GM wide Marmot Review (2021) into health 

inequalities. 

 

The Wider Determinants of 

Health e.g. 

• Housing 

• Quality Work 

• Air Quality 

• Educational Attainment 

An Integrated Health and Care 

System 

• Secondary prevention 

long term conditions 

• Screening & imms uptake 

• Equity of access & 

outcomes 

  

Health related Behaviour e.g. 

• Substance Misuse 

• Food & Nutrition Obesity 

• Physical Activity 

The places and Communities we 

live in and with  

• Addressing Loneliness 

• Vibrant Communities 

• Peer Support 

Page 458



  
 

Report to: Cabinet 
Date: 15 February 
2023 

Subject: 
SEND Transport/Travel Assistance – post-19 provision for young 
people with an Education Health and Care Plan 

Report of Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 

 

1.0 Summary 

1.1 Local authorities are placed under a statutory duty to facilitate access to 

education for children and young people with Special Educational Needs and 

disabilities. 

 

1.2 This duty is fulfilled through the provision of transport or travel assistance, 

in a number of ways. 

 

1.3 The Council has an agreed policy that sets out these arrangements. 

 

1.4 Following an investigation by the Local Government Ombudsman, the 

Council was found to need to review its post 19 transport/travel assistance. 

The LGO is of the view that the Council’s policy in respect of those learners 

aged 19 and above was not statutorily compliant in that it did not consider 

this young person's circumstances in relation to transport when the EHC 

was reviewed and the placement offered. 

 

1.5 The purpose of this report is to set out the measures that the Council is 

taking to ensure that the policy is both legally compliant and continues to 

meet the needs of those young people who require support in accordance 

with the statutory duty. 

 

1.6 This report looks only at the policy as it applies to post 19 learners. 

Consultation on changes to the broader policy as it affects those children 

and young people of statutory school age, and post 16 learners, will be 

presented to Cabinet at a later date. 

 

2. Recommendation(s) 

 
That: 

 
5.2 Cabinet note that following the LGO findings, the Council has committed to 

review its current policy for transport and travel assistance as it affects post 
19 learners. In advance of the review of the full transport policy, the local 
authority has made changes to the post 19 arrangements and has published 
an updated statement on the Council’s website. 

 

Classification: 
Open 

Decision Type: 
Key 

Page 459 Agenda Item 16



 

 

Reasons for recommendation(s)  

 

The LGO has requested confirmation that the Council is aware of the 

outcome of its investigation, and of the measures taken in response. 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

 

Following the LGO findings there was an immediate need to review the 

policy and publish updated arrangements. No alternative options were 

considered. 

 

3. Background 

 

3.1 Under the Education Act 1996 (as amended by the Education and 

Inspections Act 2006), local authorities have a duty in certain circumstances 

to make such travel arrangements as they consider necessary in order to 

ensure that suitable home to school travel arrangements are made for the 

purpose of facilitating a child’s attendance at relevant educational 

establishments for children below 6th form age.   

  

3.2 Local Authorities have a duty to facilitate access to full-time education for 

all young people aged 16 -18 years and those continuing learners who 

started their programme of learning before their 19 th birthday, and this may 

include assistance with travel in certain circumstances.  

 

3.3 Local authorities do not necessarily have to provide free or subsidised post 

16 travel assistance but do have a duty to prepare and publish an annual 

transport policy statement outlining the arrangements for the provision of 

travel or assistance that the authority considers necessary to facilitate the 

attendance of young people attending sixth form education or training. 

 

3.4 Local authorities are under a duty by virtue of the Education and Skills Act 

2008 to encourage, enable and assist participation of learners with learning 

difficulties in education and learning. In some cases this will include young 

people up to the age of 25 subject to an individual assessment of need. 

 

3.5 In line with the Children and Families Act 2014, and as part of the SEND 

reforms, it is expected that young people will work towards independence 

from the earliest opportunity, both at home and through their educational 

placement.  The majority of young people who will attend college will be 

able to travel independently and for those who cannot, opportunities for this 

to take place should be maximised, through a range of providers.  

 

3.6 Unless there is an individual assessment of need for assistance with travel 

the responsibility for travel to and from college rests with the young person 

and their family.  

Page 460



 

3.7 Local authorities also have a duty with regard to transport or travel for adult 

learners. The purpose is to ensure that those with the most severe 

disabilities, and with no other means of transportation are able to undertake 

further education and training after their 19 th birthday to help them move 

towards more independent living.  

 

3.8 Following an investigation by the Local Government Ombudsman, the 

Council was found to need to review its post 19 transport/travel assistance 

as it affected the complainant. The LGO is of the view that the Council’s 

policy in respect of those learners aged 19 and above is not legally 

compliant. 
 
3.9 An adult learner is a person who starts a course of study after their 19th 

birthday. If they are a ‘relevant young adult’, they will have an Education, 
Health and Care plan.  
 

3.10 Local authorities must make arrangements for the provision of transport or 
travel assistance, as they consider necessary, in respect of: 
 

3.10.1 Adults who are aged 19 or over, to facilitate their attendance at further 
or higher educational institutions (FE and HE, where they are maintained 
or assisted by the local authority) or institutions within the further 
education sector (FE). 
 

3.10.2 Relevant young adults (i.e. those with an Education Health and Care 
plan that can be maintained up to the age of 25) receiving education or 
training at institutions outside both the further and higher education 
sectors. For these young adults, support is only provided where the local 
authority has secured the provision of education or training at those 
institutions and the provision of boarding accommodation that is linked 
to that education or training. 
 

3.11 In making that decision on whether transport provision is necessary, the 
Council will take account of the relevant circumstances, including the age 
of the adult, the nature of the route which the adult could reasonably be 
expected to take and their ability to travel independently. Case law says 
that, in deciding what necessary, local authorities “must exercise their 
judgment judiciously and in good faith”. 
 

3.12 If local authorities do consider it necessary to make such travel 
arrangements, then any transport provided must be provided free of 
charge.  
 

3.13 Even if the local authority does not consider it necessary to make 
arrangements to provide free transport to adult learners receiving education 
or training at the institutions mentioned above, they have a discretion to 
pay some or all of the reasonable travelling expenses if no other 
arrangements have been made.  

 

 

Page 461



4. The Local Government Ombudsman findings 
 

4.1 The Local Government ombudsman investigated a complaint made on 
behalf of an adult learner. Its findings in summary were: 

 
4.1.1 When naming a post-19 setting in an EHC Plan, ensure it properly considers 

whether the placement is appropriate and suitable and ensures the 
individual and/or their family are made aware of the Council’s transport 
policy and the likelihood of the provision of transport. This should allow 
them to make informed decisions. 

4.1.2 The law sets out a statutory duty for councils to provide free transport to 
relevant young adults aged 19 or over where they decide it is necessary to 
do so to facilitate their attendance. In this case, the Council refused the 
application for transport to college on the basis that the learner was over 
18. It failed to consider the requirements of s508F of the Education Act, 
that the learner had an EHC Plan and was a relevant young adult. This was 
fault. 
 

4.1.3 The Council has a separate and distinct duty to make such arrangements 
as they consider necessary in respect of relevant young adults with an EHC 
plan for the purpose of facilitating their attendance. The Council failed to 
decide whether it considers it ‘necessary’ for the learner to receive travel 
support to facilitate his attendance at college. The question of what is 
necessary is a matter for the Council, in deciding that question they must 
exercise their judgment judiciously and in good faith”. In this instance, 
there was no evidence to show that consideration.  
 

4.1.4 The Council was made aware that the learner was looking to go to college, 
and it agreed to name the college in the EHC Plan and did so. There was no 
evidence the Council discussed with the learner or parents that transport 
would not be provided to college. The Council did not give them sufficient 
information to make an informed decision.  

 
4.1.5 The Council’s policy fails to clearly set out its statutory duty to provide free 

transport if it is necessary for adult learners with an EHC Plan.  

 
 

5.0 Response 
 
5.1 The local authority has reviewed the current arrangements and has 

committed to reviewing is current policy for SEND transport and travel 
assistance, encompassing statutory school age, post 16 and post 19. 

 
5.2 In advance of the review of the full policy, the local authority has made 

changes to the post 19 arrangements and has published an updated 
statement on the Council’s website. 

 
5.3 The local authority has updated guidance has been produced for use by the 

local authority EHCP Plan Assessment Team, and School & College Transport 
Team, to ensure a clear and consistent approach, including the advice given 
to parents within the Education Health Care Plan assessment process.   

Page 462



 
5.4 Consultation with Bury2gether (parents Forum) on the changes applicable 

in respect of post 19, and the intention to consult on the broader SEND 
transport & travel assistance policy 

 
6.0 Conclusion  
 
6.1 Following the LGO judgement, the Council has committed to review its 

current policy for transport and travel assistance as it affects post 19 
learners. 

 
6.2 The LGO has requested confirmation that the Council is aware of the 

outcome of its investigation, and of the measures taken in response. 
 
6.2 This report sets out the measures that the local authority has taken in 

response   
 

_________________________________________________________ 
Report Author and Contact Details: 

Name: Paul Cooke 

Position: Strategic Lead (Education Services) 

Departments: Children’s Services 

E-mail: p.cooke@bury.gov.uk  

________________________________________________________________ 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

 The report is key to a better future for the children of the borough, a 

better future for the children of the borough and a fairer society that leaves 

no-one behind 

_________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 

It is proposed that a full review of the SEN transport policy is undertaken. A full 
Equality Impact Assessment will be taken at this time. 

_________________________________________________________

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

Not applicable to this report. 

_________________________________________________________

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Impact on stakeholders Full consultation and engagement  
Equality Assessment 

Page 463

mailto:p.cooke@bury.gov.uk


Fairer, clearer system for the majority          
of families 

Full consultation with co-production on 
a review of SEN transport policies. 

_________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

The Local Government Ombudsman has found that the Council has failed to 

consider a requirement of S508F of the Education Act when undertaking an 

Education care and Health Plan. The report sets out the Council’s response to 

these findings, Members are asked to note that there will be a full review of the 

transport policy. 

_________________________________________________________

Financial Implications: 

The Council currently holds a budget for school and educational transport that is 

overspent in 2022/23 as the number of young people accessing transport to 

their educational establishment exceeds that which the original budget provided 

for.  This paper and the outcome of the ombudsman review identifies there is a 

need to review the Councils current policy which may or may not have an impact 
on the current spend and the current budget but this is not known at this time. 

_________________________________________________________ 
Background papers: 

None. 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in 
this report.  

  

Term Meaning 

EHCP Education Health and Care Plan 

SEND Special Education Needs and Disabilities 
 

 

Page 464



1 
 

MINUTES OF THE  MEETING OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER 

 COMBINED AUTHORITY HELD ON FRIDAY, 16 DECEMBER, 2022 AT 

MANCHESTER TOWN HALL 

 

PRESENT: 

 

GM Mayor      Andy Burnham (in the Chair) 

GM Deputy Mayor    Baroness Beverley Hughes 

Bolton       Councillor Martyn Cox 

Bury      Councillor Eamonn O’Brien 

Manchester     Councillor Bev Craig 

Oldham      Councillor Amanda Chadderton 

Rochdale      Councillor Neil Emmott 

Salford       City Mayor Paul Dennett  

Stockport      Councillor Mark Hunter 

Tameside      Councillor Bill Fairfoull  

Wigan      Councillor Nazia Rehman 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM Eamonn Boylan 

GMCA Deputy Chief Executive   Andrew Lightfoot 

GMCA Monitoring Officer   Gillian Duckworth 

GMCA Treasurer     Steve Wilson 

Bolton      Sue Johnson 

Bury       Lynne Risdale 

Manchester     Neil Fairlamb 

Oldham       Harry Catherall 

Salford      Tom Stannard 

Stockport      Caroline Simpson 

Tameside       Sandra Stewart  

Wigan      Alison McKenzie-Folan 

Office of the GM Mayor    Kevin Lee 

GMCA      Sylvia Welsh 

GMCA      Lee Teasdale 

Page 465 Agenda Item 17



2 
 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

Chair of GMCA Overview & Scrutiny  Cllr John Walsh 

TfGM      Steve Warrener 

The Growth Company    Mark Hughes 

 

 

GMCA 223/22  APOLOGIES 

 

RESOLVED/- 

That apologies be received and noted from Councillor David Molyneux (Wigan), 

Councillor Ged Cooney (Tameside) and Andrew Western (Trafford), Geoff Little 

(Bury), Joanne Roney (Manchester),  Steve Rumbelow (Rochdale) & Sara Todd 

(Trafford).  

 

GMCA 224/22   CHAIRS ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 

 

The GM Mayor opened the meeting by expressing the GMCA’s congratulations to 

Sandra Stewart following her appointment as the Chief Executive of Tameside 

Council; to Lynne Risdale following confirmation of her appointment as the Chief 

Executive of Bury Council with effect from March 2023; and to the Leader of Trafford 

Council, Cllr Andrew Western following his successful campaign to be voted in as 

the new MP for the Stretford & Urmston Ward of Trafford. 

The GM Mayor also advised that the GM Police, Fire & Crime Panel had 

unanimously agreed to the Mayor’s proposal that Kate Green be appointed as the 

new Greater Manchester Deputy Mayor for Policing, Fire & Crime with effect from 

January 2023. 

 

RESOLVED/- 

1. That the GMCA records its congratulations to Sandra Stewart following her 

appointment as the Chief Executive of Tameside Council. 

Page 466



3 
 

2. That the GMCA record its congratulations to Lynne Risdale following 

confirmation of her appointment as the Chief Executive of Bury Council with 

effect from March 2023. 

3. That the GM Police, Fire & Crime Panel’s unanimous agreement to the 

appointment of Kate Green, as the new Deputy Mayor for Policing, Fire & 

Crime, with effect from January 2023, be noted. 

4. That the GMCA records its congratulations to Trafford Leader Andrew 

Western following his successful campaign to become the new MP of the 

Stretford & Urmston Ward of Trafford. 

 

GMCA 225/22   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

RESOLVED/- 

There were no declarations received in relation to any item on the agenda. 

 

GMCA 226/22   MINUTES OF THE GMCA MEETING HELD ON 25 

NOVEMBER 2022  

 

RESOLVED/- 

That the minutes of the GMCA meeting held on 25 November 2022 be approved as 

a correct record. 

 

GMCA 227/22   MINUTES OF THE GMCA OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE HELD ON 23 NOVEMBER 2022  

 

RESOLVED/- 

That the minutes of the meeting of the GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Committee held 

on 23 November 2022 be noted. 

 

Page 467



4 
 

GMCA 228/22   MINUTES OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT 

COMMITTEE MEETINGS HELD ON 9 DECEMBER 2022 

 

RESOLVED/- 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Greater Manchester Transport Committee 

held on 9 December 2022 be noted. 

 

GMCA 229/22   GM APPOINTMENTS 

 

RESOLVED/- 

1. That Councillor Eamonn O’Brien be appointed as the GMCA representative 

on the GM Transport Committee. 

 

2. That the Mayor’s appointment of Cllr Mark Aldred as Chair of the GM 

Transport Committee be noted. 

 

GMCA 230/22   A REVIEW OF SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES 

FOR MEMBERS APPOINTED TO THE GREATER 

MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY – OVERVIEW AND 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

Gillian Duckworth, Monitoring Officer, GMCA, was invited to present a report of the 

recommendations of the GM Independent Remuneration Panel in relation to the 

remuneration of the Members of the GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Committee, with a 

request to districts that they make said payments for an interim period, during which 

the full amount would be reimbursed by the Combined Authority. 

 

Members were reminded that the reimbursement of members was a 

recommendation that had arisen from the recent independent review of the overview 

Page 468



5 
 

and scrutiny committee function, noting that the new arrangements now in place 

were already having a clearly positive impact. 

 

RESOLVED/- 

1. That the recommendations of the report of the GM Independent Remuneration 

Panel be noted and accepted. 

2. That it be noted that the levelling up bill is still proceeding through parliament 

and therefore the GMCA does not yet have legislative power to pay allowances 

directly to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee members. 

3. That it be recommended that the GM Districts consider paying such allowances 

to their appointees to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee in the interim, 

noting that the full amount of the allowance will be reimbursed by the GMCA. 

4. That a request be made to the GMCA Treasurer to ensure that appropriate 

arrangements be put in place with GM Districts to enable the payment of the 

allowances, subject to reimbursement from the GMCA. 

5. That it be recommended that any Special Responsibility Allowances for 

Members and Chair of the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee be set as 

recommended in the report and be backdated to 24th June 2022 when the new 

scrutiny arrangements were put in place. 

 

GMCA 231/22   GREATER MANCHESTER EUROPEAN SOCIAL FUND CO-

FINANCING PROGRAMME UPDATE 

 

Councillor Eamonn O’Brien, Portfolio Lead for Education, Skills, Work, 

Apprenticeships and Digital, was invited to provide an update on GMCA’s three 

European Social Fund (ESF) Co-financing contracts noting key progress made, as 

well as challenges and risks – including the end financial position alongside 

recommendations to ensure that Greater Manchester could maximise its use of the 

remaining ESF programme before it closed in December 2023. 

Page 469



6 
 

It was noted that whilst the report was procedural in nature, it did represent a wider 

issue about where further Greater Manchester could take devolution within this 

particularly important area. 

RESOLVED/- 

 

1. That the progress made in relation to the GMCA ESF Programmes be noted. 

 

2. That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM and 

GMCA Treasurer, in consultation with the Lead Member and Lead Chief 

Executive for Education, Skills, Work, Apprenticeships and Digital (and subject 

to considerations around any conflicts of interest which might arise), to take 

forward the final ESF commissioning, including the procured element, to 

contract award where required. 

 

3. That the Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM and GMCA Treasurer be 

requested to ensure that the GMCA continues to comply with all of its 

obligations in relation to the Greater Manchester European Social Fund Co-

Financing Programme, including its obligations to retain records relating to the 

use of ESF monies for the required period following the end of this Programme 

in September 2023. 

 

GMCA 232/22   DELIVERING THE BEE NETWORK  

 

GM Mayor, Andy Burnham, introduced a report requesting that the GMCA approve 

the proposal to delegate authority to  the Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM, to 

cap weekly bus fares. 

It was advised that focus had initially been placed on single and daily bus fares as 

that was where the public had indicated most concern, not just in terms of overall 

variation, but indeed the high costs within certain parts of the city region. This had 

been well received and had represented a valuable contribution to combatting the 

cost-of-living crisis. Patronage since the introduction had shown that the public were 

Page 470



7 
 

making wide usage of these reductions, with new passengers being integrated into 

the system. 

Weekly products had always represented a better value offer to the public than 

single and daily tickets. Currently the price was £20.60 – which did represent good 

value for unlimited use of the GM network in any given week. However, given the 

current inflationary climate, there was a risk that the cost of the weekly ticket could 

rise to £23. The proposal within the report therefore was to limit the increase to £21 

to retain the attractiveness of the weekly offer. The weekly offer would, as per other 

fares, be subject to a yearly review. 

Councillor John Walsh (Chair of the GM Overview & Scrutiny Committee) was invited 

to provide feedback from the scrutiny review of the proposal. The Committee had 

been minded to accept the principle of the proposal but had expressed concerns that 

2024/25 had risks around exponential increases, and also sought further evidence of 

the continued drive to increase patronage. The Committee also sought regular 

progress reports ahead of the annual review in September 2023. 

 

RESOLVED/- 

1. That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM to cap 

weekly bus fares in Greater Manchester at £21 for adults and £10.50 for children 

from January 2023, subject to agreement with bus operators and Greater 

Manchester Travelcards Limited (GMTL). 

2. That it be noted that the development of a sustainable funding model will be a 

key part of the annual review of the existing and proposed bus fare caps, to be 

undertaken in Summer 2023. 

3.   That the recommendations raised by the GMCA Overview & Scrutiny be noted 

and welcomed. 

4.   That the GMCA commits to providing monthly updates as we move through 2023 

 

GMCA 233/22   TRANSPORT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

 

GM Mayor,  Andy Burnham, introduced a report requesting approval to draw-down 

funding for the development and delivery of schemes being funded, either in whole 

Page 471



8 
 

or in part, from Greater Manchester’s City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement 

(CRSTS). 

Members were advised that the strategic business case had now been submitted for 

the Bury Interchange Redevelopment to the Department for Transport and HM 

Treasury, and preparations were being put in place for taking this forward in the new 

year with the outline business case. 

RESOLVED/- 

1. That Strategic Outline Business Case submission for Bury Interchange 

Redevelopment to DfT and HM Treasury in November 2022, as part of the 

retained case process, and the importance of maintaining momentum on this 

scheme prior to Government’s response be noted. 

2. That the drawdown of £2.6 million of CRSTS funding to facilitate the 

progression of the Bury Interchange Redevelopment Outline Business Case 

(i.e. single preferred option) activity, with the intention being that this will enable 

the scheme to continue to be developed (including throughout the DfT’s 

assessment of the SOBC as a retained scheme) be approved, noting that a 

further update will be submitted to the GMCA in due course. 

3. That the overall Local Contribution, financed by borrowings, for the Bury 

Interchange Redevelopment for the current CRSTS tranche (to March 2027) is 

£10.8 million be noted and endorsed. 

4. That the update on the Minor Works / Road Safety (previously ITB) funding be 

noted. 

 
 

GMCA 234/22   GREATER MANCHESTER ACTIVE TRAVEL PROGRAMME  

 

GM Mayor, Andy Burnham, presented a report seeking approval for the delivery 

funding requirements for the Manchester to Chorlton Area3, and GM Spot-Speed 

Safety Camera schemes, through the Mayor’s Challenge Fund(MCF) Cycling and 

Walking programme. 

 

Page 472



9 
 

RESOLVED/- 

1.  That the release of up to £7.209 million of MCF delivery funding for the 

Manchester to Chorlton Area 3 scheme be approved. 

2. That the release of up to £3.451 million of MCF delivery funding for the GM 

Spot-Speed Safety Camera scheme be approved. 

 

GMCA 235/22   GREATER MANCHESTER INVEST FRAMEWORK 

CONDITIONAL PROJECT APPROVAL 

Eamonn Boylan, Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM, presented a report seeking 

approval for a loan to Erlson Precision Holdings Limited (“Erlson”) and an investment 

into Miribase Limited (“Shopblocks”). The investments were to be made from 

recycled funds. 

RESOLVED/- 

 

1. That the loan facility of up to £400,000 to Erlson Precision Holdings Limited be 

approved. 

 

2. That the equity investment of up to £300,000 into Miribase Limited be approved. 

 

3. That authority be delegated to the Combined Authority Treasurer and 

Combined Authority Monitoring Officer to review the due diligence information 

in respect of the above investments, and, subject to their satisfactory review 

and agreement of the due diligence information and the overall detailed 

commercial terms of the investments, to sign off any outstanding conditions, 

issue final approvals and complete any necessary related documentation in 

respect of the investments noted above. 

Page 473



10 
 

GMCA 236/22   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  

 

RESOLVED/- 

 

That, under section 100 (a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 

public should be excluded from the meeting for the following items on business on 

the grounds that this involved the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set out 

in the relevant paragraphs of part 1, schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972 

and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public 

interest in disclosing the information. 

 

GMCA 237/22 GM INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK, CONDITIONAL PROJECT  

APPROVAL 

Clerk’s Note: This item was considered in support of the report considered in Part A 

of the agenda (minute 235/22) 

 

RESOLVED/- 

That the contents of the report be noted. 

Page 474



1 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED 

AUTHORITY HELD ON 

 FRIDAY 27TH JANUARY 2023 AT STOCKPORT TOWN HALL 

 

PRESENT 

GM Mayor     Andy Burnham (in the Chair) 

GM Deputy Mayor    Kate Green 

Bolton      Councillor Martyn Cox 

Bury      Councillor Eamonn O’Brien 

Manchester     Councillor Bev Craig 

Oldham     Councillor Amanda Chadderton 

Rochdale     Councillor Neil Emmott 

Salford      City Mayor Paul Dennett  

Stockport      Councillor Mark Hunter 

Tameside     Councillor Gerald Cooney  

Trafford     Councillor Tom Ross 

Wigan      Councillor David Molyneux 

 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM Eamonn Boylan 

GMCA Deputy Chief Executive  Andrew Lightfoot 

GMCA Monitoring Officer   Gillian Duckworth 

GMCA Treasurer    Steve Wilson 

GMCA Exec Director, Policy & Strategy Simon Nokes 

Bolton      Sue Johnson 

Page 475



2 
 

Bury       Lynne Ridsdale 

Manchester     Joanne Roney 

Oldham      Harry Catherall 

Rochdale     Steve Rumbelow 

Salford     Tom Stannard 

Stockport     Caroline Simpson 

Tameside      Sandra Stewart  

Trafford     Sara Todd 

Wigan      Alison McKenzie-Folan   

Office of the GM Mayor   Kevin Lee 

GMCA     Julie Connor 

GMCA     Lee Teasdale 

GMCA     Elaine Mottershead 

 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 

Chair of GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Cllr John Walsh 

The Growth Company   Mark Hughes 

 

GMCA 01/23   APOLOGIES 

There were no apologies received. 

 

GMCA 02/23 CHAIRS ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 

 

The GM Mayor opened the meeting and welcomed Councillor Tom Ross as the new 

Leader of Trafford Council following Councillor Andrew Western’s appointment as MP 

for Stretford and Urmston.   

Page 476



3 
 

A welcome was also extended to Kate Green as the new Deputy Mayor.   

The GM Mayor reminded the meeting that it was Holocaust Memorial Day and 

extended his thanks to all who had helped in marking the day’s event which had 

included a moving and powerful statement from a holocaust survivor.  The event had 

demonstrated a strong commitment from Greater Manchester and the Jewish 

community to come together. 

Councillor Bev Craig provide the meeting with an update on the recent Convention of 

the North, with thanks extended to the GMCA Policy & Strategy Team for their work 

which had contributed to the success of the event.  The event had exceeded 

expectations, particularly in this period of disruption and challenges, and had 

demonstrated the commitment and resilience of the region.  There were conversations 

around the Trailblazer deal and funding was announced for uplifting housing 

standards. 

The GM Mayor announced that Stockport had been accredited under the Good 

Employment Charter.  Councillor Mark Hunter was presented with the award and the 

Combined Authority  congratulated them on their achievement. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

1. That Councillor Tom Ross be welcomed to his first meeting of the GMCA as the 

Leader of Trafford Council. 

2. That Kate Green be welcomed to her first meeting of the GMCA as Deputy 

Mayor. 

3. That the GMCA extend its thanks to Greater Manchester’s Jewish Community 

for arranging the annual memorial event for Holocaust Memorial Day. 

4. That the update from Councillor Bev Craig on a successful Convention of the 

North be noted.  

5. That the Mayor’s update on Trailblazer devolution plans be noted. 

6. That Stockport Metropolitan Council be congratulated on their accreditation 

under the Good Employment Charter.  

 

GMCA 03/23 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations received in relation to any item on the agenda. 

Page 477



4 
 

 

GMCA 04/23 GMCA MARCH 2023 MEETING DATE 

RESOLVED /-  

That the March  meeting of the GMCA be held on 24 March 2023 and not 31st March 

as previously agreed. 

 

GMCA 05/23 GMCA - MINUTES 

RESOLVED /-  

That the minutes of the GMCA meeting held on 13 December 2022 be approved as a 

correct record. 

 

GMCA 06/23 GMCA RESOURCES COMMITTEE- MINUTES 

 

RESOLVED /- 

That the minutes of the GMCA Resources Committee held on Friday 16 December 

2022 be approved. 

 

GMCA 07/23 GMCA WASTE & RECYCLING COMMITTEE - MINUTES 

RESOLVED /- 

That the minutes of the GMCA Waste and Recycling Committee on Wednesday 18 

January 2023 be noted. 

 

GMCA 08/23 GM BUSINESS (GM LEP) BOARD - MINUTES 

RESOLVED /-  

That the minutes of the Greater Manchester Business Board held on Wednesday 18 

January 2023 be noted. 

 

 

Page 478



5 
 

GMCA 09/23 GM APPOINTMENTS 

RESOLVED /- 

1. That the appointment of Councillor Tom Ross, Trafford, to the GMCA be noted. 

2. That it be noted that the GM Mayor will review portfolio lead arrangements and 

report back as appropriate. 

3.  That the appointment of Councillor Eamonn O’Brien to the Air Quality 

Administration Committee be approved. 

4.  That the appointment of Councillor Amanda Chadderton to the GMCA 

Resources Committee be approved. 

5.  That the appointment of Councillor Ged Cooney to the Growth Company Board 

be approved. 

6.  That the appointment of Councillor Eamonn O’Brien as the GMCA Substitute 

Member on Transport for the North. 

7. That the appointment of Councillor Christine Roberts, Wigan, as a Substitute 

Member on the GM Transport Committee be approved. 

8.  That the extension of the appointments of Grenville Page and Susan Webster 

as independent Members to the GMCA Audit, for a further term of office of 

three years, be approved. 

 

GMCA 10/23 PROPOSED SLAVERY MEMORIAL DAY 

City Mayor, Paul Dennett, was invited to speak as this motion was passed by Salford 

City Council on 16 December 2023.  It was noted that the purpose of the motion was 

to highlight the need for a better understanding of the history of slavery and its 

relevance to modern-day slavery.  City Mayor Dennett highlighted that 49.6 million 

people were affected and a quarter of those were children.  Members were requested 

to support a Slavery Memorial Day, alongside the recommendation that slavery be 

taught as a compulsory element of the curriculum in schools. 

Members endorsed the motion and suggested that, following its success, a further 

look be given  to support it by consideration of the supply chains and Councils’ 

Standing Orders for equitable practices.   

Page 479



6 
 

The GM Deputy Mayor, Kate Green, stated that modern-day slavery was a priority for 

Greater Manchester Police and operations had been carried out in Cheetham Hill to 

tackle activities linked to organised crime.   

The GM Mayor stated that the introduction of a Slavery Memorial Day would ensure 

an annual period of reflection and a focus for future work. 

RESOLVED /-  

1. That the GMCA support the motion presented by Salford City Council to call on 

the Government to declare a national Slavery Memorial Day and to consider 

making slavery a compulsory national curriculum schools' subject.  

 

2. That a formal letter be sent from the GMCA to Government with this request. 

 

GMCA 11/23 GM ACTIVE SUSTAINABILITY CHALLENGE 

The GM Mayor stated that he had received a letter from GM Active which had 

requested support in asking the Government for them to be recognised as a 

vulnerable sector with rising energy costs.  The  importance of swimming pools and 

leisure centres as warm hubs was highlighted, particularly at a time when priorities for 

Greater Manchester’s residents included health and social well-being.   The GM Mayor 

requested approval to make this representation on behalf of the GMCA Committee. 

RESOLVED /- 

1.  That the verbal report given by GM Mayor, Andy Burnham, be noted. 

 

2. That the GM Mayor will write a letter to the Chancellor of the Exchequer ahead 

of the March budget highlighting the concerns raised by GM Active about the 

vulnerability of the public sport and leisure facility sector. 

 

GMCA 12/23 COST OF LIVING AND ECONOMIC RESILIENCE IN 

GREATER MANCHESTER 

Councillor Bev Craig and Councillor Amanda Chadderton were invited to speak on this 

regular update for the Committee.   Councillor Craig reported on the concerns that 

Page 480



7 
 

were commonplace in the business sector and the discussions that had taken place to 

consider how different sectors could be best supported as they face this crisis.  The 

Greater Manchester Business Board had made plans to have some sector specific 

information collated to help businesses further.  There was still some room for 

optimism as many businesses had not made redundancies or had to wind-up, but it 

was acknowledged that there would be further challenges from April onwards.  

Councillor Craig acknowledged that the Growth Company had done some excellent 

work to assist.  She further noted that the region’s local authorities were at the front 

line and had responsibilities to set budgets and balance uncertainties from short-term 

Government settlements but still needed to make plans to grow the economy and 

provide protection for the most vulnerable. 

 

Councillor Chadderton reported that the latest GM Residents Survey had highlighted 

that the cost-of-living crisis was here to stay for some time.  Some statistics from the 

survey showed that 8 out of 10 residents had said that their cost of living had risen just 

over the last month;  and 7 out of 10 residents reported that they had concerns about 

their cost-of-living.  The next conversation needed to be around what could be done 

as a region, particularly for families with children under five years’ old and for people 

with disabilities.  

 

The Warm Homes Scheme had seen an increase in one month of 72% more families 

who had received their support.  For the first time, the Cost-of-Living Dashboard had 

included information from Trussell Trust with 60,000 food parcels distributed across 

GM between April and September 2022 which was the highest recorded number.  The 

Brick-by-Brick project had its soft launch in Wigan in December and Amazon had 

donated 30,000 goods to the project with a further 8,000 donated from other 

organisations.  The survey had also highlighted concerns around the voluntary, 

community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector, many of whom had struggled to meet 

the increase in the Living Wage along with rising energy bills, some of which had 

increased by 300% over 12 months.   

 

The GM Mayor reported that he had recently met with energy providers and had 

discussed issues such as making sure vulnerable people are on the priority register as 

Page 481



8 
 

well as the forced installation of pre-paid meters.  A further meeting was scheduled to 

take place soon. 

 

Thanks were extended to all ten districts for their efforts in this important work.  A 

recent story in the media was referenced as it highlighted that the public message of 

rising costs needed to be balanced so that people were not over-cautious in trying to 

reduce their bills, at risk to their health.  There had also been an upsurge in domestic 

fires due to people’s attempts at heating their homes in more economical ways. 

 

Councillor Hunter asked about the Brick-by-Brick project and the partnership with 

Amazon and queried how this related to the Good Employment Charter given some of 

the concerns about Amazon’s alleged working practices.  The GM Mayor advised  that 

it was not a commercial relationship with Amazon and was based around donated 

goods.  It had been recognised, however, that there could be an opportunity through 

this arrangement to discuss the employment charter with Amazon.  It was noted that a 

more detailed update on the Brick-by-Brick project would be brought to a future 

meeting.  

 

The GM Deputy Mayor, Kate Green, suggested that there could be more funding 

available for VCSE organisations who provided targeted support to victims of crime.   

 

RESOLVED /- 

 That the latest assessment and emerging response be received and notedthat 

the Deputy Mayor will consider the provision of further support funding from the 

Deputy Mayor Budget for VCSE organisations to providing targeted support to 

victims of crime.  

 

3. That a detailed update on the Brick-by-Brick Project in collaboration with 

Amazon would be submitted to a future meeting to gauge members’ appetite to 

extending the pilot across the sub- region. 

 

Page 482



9 
 

GMCA 13/23 MAYORAL GENERAL BUDGET & PRECEPT PROPOSALS 

The GM Mayor introduced a report which set out the proposals for the Mayoral 

General Budget and precept for 2023-24.  

The GM Mayor provided an overview of the proposals including A Bed Every Night, 

which was one of the primary beneficiaries and had supported over 600 people in the 

region each night.   Our Pass had  been instrumental in providing some financial relief 

to families with teenagers and it had given young people access to opportunities for 

work, leisure and study and had been extended to care leavers up to the age of 21 in 

recognition of the GMCA’s commitment as Corporate Parents.   Bus Reform and 

capped fares also  formed part of the overall offer to make transport more affordable.  

The Good Landlord Charter was helping to relieve pressure by making improvements 

in people’s homes which in turn had helped with energy costs. 

Councillor Amanda Chadderton supported the age threshold extension to the Our 

Pass and requested that the next stage consider the aspiration to raise this to 25 for 

young people leaving care. 

The position around the Fire Service budget element was explained.  Whilst the 

financial pressures for residents were acknowledged, there could be greater demands 

on  emergency services in the future, so there was a  need to plan accordingly for 

continuity.  There had previously been a programme for change in the Fire Service 

some years ago which had resulted in efficiencies.  The potential for further 

efficiencies were explored, notwithstanding that the meeting was reminded that the 

GM Mayor had taken the firm decision that Greater Manchester would never go below 

50 pumps, with the current crewing levels, at single and double pump stations.   There 

were pressures around NI contributions plus the pay for a firefighter, compared to a 

decade ago, was less in real terms.    

It was noted that the ballot for the current pay dispute was due to close on Monday 30 

January.   

The decision had been taken to manage all these pressures from the precept, along 

with some support from reserves, as the necessary minimum action to support the 

service. 

Deputy GM Mayor, Kate Green, supported the GM Mayor’s  decision and referenced 

some unavoidable pressures such as energy costs, fuel costs, and pay and pension 

Page 483



10 
 

contributions.  Likewise, the need to protect staff facilities and health and well-being 

services was essential. 

In response to questions regarding  pay negotiations and the limitations of the 

GMCA’s ability to influence national agreements.  The GM Mayor advised  that the 

Fire Service was different to other public services, for example, the NHS.  The Fire 

Service had local accountability and whilst there was a national negotiating 

Committee, it was made up of local area representatives.  The Government had made 

it clear there would be no national pay agreement.   

Members were invited to make further submissions on the budget proposals by the 

dates outlined in the report.  

The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Councillor John Walsh, informed 

the GMCA that the Scrutiny Committee had endorsed the principles as set out in the 

report  and   noted that the budget was predicated on Mayoral priorities including Our 

Pass, which was crucial.  There had been a question on the use of reserves and the 

sustainability of that approach.  The Treasurer had agreed to a request from Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee to submit a further report. 

RESOLVED /-   

1. That the proposal to increase the Mayoral General Precept by £5 to £107.95 

(for a Band D property), comprising of: i) Functions previously covered by the 

Fire and Rescue Authority - precept of £76.20 (£5 increase); ii) Other Mayoral 

General functions - precept of £31.75 (no increase), be approved. 

 

2.  That the following be noted: 

i) the overall budget proposed for the Fire and Rescue Service, 

ii) the use of the reserves to support the revenue and capital budgets, and 

the assessment by the Treasurer that the reserves as at March 2024 are 

adequate,  

iii) the proposed Fire Service capital programme and proposals for funding 

iv) the medium-term financial position for the Fire and Rescue Service 

covered by the Mayoral precept  

3. That the detailed budget proposals for other Mayoral functions be noted. 

Page 484



11 
 

 

4. That the use of reserves as set out in Paragraph 3.3 of the report be noted. 

5. That members submit any written comments to the Mayor in line with the legal 

process and timetable described in this report. 

 

6. That it be noted that at its meeting on 10 February 2023, there will be an 

updated budget submitted, consistent with the precept proposals, to reflect final 

tax base and collection fund calculations and the final baseline funding 

settlement. 

 

7. That the aspiration to raise Our Pass threshold to 25 years old for young people 

leaving care be noted. 

 

8. That the GM Mayor keep all Leaders informed on developments in the Fire 

Service payment dispute. 

 

9. That the GM Mayor bring a mid-year review to the GMCA in March following the 

introduction of capped fares on buses. 

 

10. That the points raised by the GM Overview and Scrutiny Committee be noted. 

 

GMCA 14/23 MID-YEAR TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Councillor David Molyneux, Portfolio Lead for Resources, introduced a report which 

set out the key Treasury Management issues for Members’ information and review. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

That the Treasury Management Mid-Year Review Report for the first half of 2022/23 

and the projected outturn position, revised Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary 

for external debt and the revised Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) be noted. 

 

Page 485



12 
 

GMCA 15/23  COMMUNITIES AND PLACE LOCAL AUTHORITY 

INVESTMENT PROPOSALS TO DELIVER UKSPF 

INTERVENTION E22 

Councillor David Molyneaux, Portfolio Lead for Resources,  introduced a  report  

seeking the GMCA’s approval to allocate the £15m UKSPF Intervention E22 funding 

as per the proposals set out in the report. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the allocation of grant funding to the ten projects, subject to due diligence 

work being undertaken, as per the proposals set out within this report, be 

approved. 

 

2. That the delegation of authority to the Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM, 

GMCA Monitoring Officer and Treasurer to sign off any outstanding conditions, 

issue final approvals and complete the necessary related documentation in 

relation to those projects set out in section 3 that have scored above the quality 

threshold be approved. 

 

3. That the delegation of authority to the Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM, 

GMCA Monitoring Officer and Treasurer to review the further due diligence 

information for the remaining two projects and subject to their satisfactory 

assessment in line with the approach detailed in section 3, to sign off any 

outstanding conditions, issue final approvals and complete the necessary 

related documentation, be approved 

 

GMCA 16/23 ACTION TO IMPROVE GM'S RENTED HOUSING 

Steve Rumbelow, Portfolio Lead Chief Executive for Place Based Regeneration and 

Housing & Infrastructure,  introduced a report which set out recent developments in 

GMCA-led activity currently to improve the private rented sector, the award of new 

funding from Government to GM and seeks agreement for spending to deliver a local 

enforcement pathfinder. 

Page 486



13 
 

The GM Mayor reported that there was a funding announcement at the Convention of 

the North, of an additional £15 million to support improvements in housing standards.  

The details of this were to be shared with Members when available. 

Steve Rumbelow explained that there were three main strands to consider:  1) the 

Local Enforcement Pathfinder Programme;  2) the Good Landlord Scheme;  and 3) the 

Good Landlord Charter.  It was emphasised that this work was not an attack on all 

landlords as there were some responsible operators but there was clearly a need to 

separate those who did not act responsibly.  A member noted that the Government 

had talked about a Private Landlords’ Database and good data and evidence would be 

welcomed in this sector. 

RESOLVED /- 

1.  That the contents of this report, including the positive impacts on equality and 

inclusion, health and other key indicators which can be secured if the standards 

of our rented homes can be improved, be noted. 

 

2. That the award of £2.12 million to GMCA by DLUHC for a local enforcement 

pathfinder and the delivery obligations placed on GMCA be noted. 

 

3. That the intention of the GMCA to enter into grant agreements with the 10 GM 

authorities in relation to the delivery of the local enforcement pathfinder in line 

with the approach outlined be noted. 

 

4. That the proposals for the GMCA to fund the 10 GM districts to deliver the GM 

Good Landlord scheme be noted. 

 

5. That the proposal for GMCA to collaborate with other GM housing providers 

and private rental sector to create a Good Landlord Charter be noted. 

 

6. That information on £15 million of further support for affordable homes will be 

shared as it becomes available. 

 

Page 487



14 
 

GMCA 17/23 TRANSPORT ITEMS 

The GM Mayor informed the meeting that there were several transport reports 

included on the agenda for consideration. 

 

A number of the issues had been discussed at the recent Convention for the North 

including The Bee Network and the bus recovery programme, and the poor 

performance of Trans Pennine Express.  Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) 

had undertaken a survey which demonstrated that over 18,000 journeys had been 

cancelled over the last 12 month period, with over one third of those cancellations 

undertaken on the expected day of travel.  This was simply unacceptable, and the 

Northern Mayors had unanimously agreed to come together to hold them to account.   

 

The GM Mayor informed the GMCA that he had accepted an offer to Chair the Rail 

North Committee. 

 

The first Bus Franchise contracts had been awarded and Go North West was the 

successful operator for the larger contracts in Wigan and Bolton.  Other, smaller, 

contracts had been awarded to Diamond (Rotala) but, since the award, they had taken 

the decision to de-register several services in Bolton, Rochdale and Bury.  There was 

some reluctant acceptance that they could remodel their business in this way despite 

the effects on services for residents.  Officers were now working on plans to minimise 

the loss of services.  Further updates on this and work planned for school services 

would be scheduled for consideration at a future meeting of the GMCA. 

 

Councillor John Walsh, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, was invited to 

comment on the Our Pass Evidence Review.  It was confirmed that the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee had some concerns about the data and whether it was robust.  Th 

Committee  had noted that there were marked differences in uptake but recognised 

that further marketing campaigns could address this.  The Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee endorsed the proposals subject to further evidence of the baseline being 

Page 488



15 
 

presented, not least because it was a £60 million scheme and that the need to 

increase patronage and usage was crucial to the equation.  

 

The GM Mayor confirmed some of the data already gathered from the review, which 

included that a number of students had advised  that they had been able to attend the 

college of their choice because of the free travel;  Trafford and Oldham had the least 

take-up of the Our Pass;  and the opportunity element of the scheme (discounts and 

offers) was not very well used or understood and an app was being developed to 

assist. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

1.  That it be noted that Mayor Burnham has agreed to chair the Rail North 

Committee. 

2.  That Mayor Burnham’s update on performance issues at Trans Pennine 

Express be noted 

 

B. Delivering the Bee Network: Bus Franchising, Fares and Local Bus 

Strategy 

1. That the update on the implementation of bus franchising and a weekly bus fare 

cap be noted. 

 

2. That the proposals to develop the Greater Manchester Bus Plan, a local bus 

strategy for the city region be noted. 

 

C. Transport Capital Programme 

1. That it be approved to draw down £5.147 million of CRSTS funding to develop 

and deliver the initial phase of minor works interventions as part of the Bus 

Pinch Points and Maintenance Programme, noting that further updates and 

associated funding draw down requests will be brought to the GMCA in due 

course. 

 

Page 489



16 
 

2. That the consolidation of £3.3 million of previously approved TCF2 funding 

into the CRSTS programme to support the development and delivery of the 

Bus Pinch Points and Maintenance Programme be noted. 

 

3. That it be approved to draw-down of £0.3 million of CRSTS funding to enable 

Bolton Council to develop the Topp Way / Higher Bridge scheme to Outline / 

Full Business Case, noting that a further update will be brought to the GMCA 

in due course. 

 

4. That it be approved to draw-down £4.5 million of CRSTS funding to enable 

Oldham Council to deliver the Manchester Street Viaduct refurbishment 

scheme. 

 

5. That the release of £0.34 million of previously approved TCF2 funding to 

develop the Golborne Station scheme to Outline Business Case, noting that a 

further update will be brought to the GMCA in due course, be approved. 

 

D. Our Pass Evidence Review 

1. That the findings of the Our Pass pilot evaluation be noted. 

 

2. That the funding of Our Pass on a continuing basis be approved. 

 

3. That the scheme should be subject to an annual review of its performance, to 

be completed at the end of each academic year, be agreed. 

 

4. That the range of Our Pass “Exclusives” that are made available to cardholders 

continue to be developed. 

 

5. That the comments received from the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

pertaining to Our Pass be received. 

 

E GM Active Travel Programme 

Page 490



17 
 

1. That the release of up to £2.15 million of MCF delivery funding for the Oldham 

Town Centre West Street/Cheapside scheme be approved. 

 

2. That the release of up to £1.3 million of MCF delivery funding for the Wigan to 

Standish Phase 1 scheme be approved. 

 

GMCA 18/23  GM HOUSING INVESTMENT LOANS FUND / GM CITY DEAL 

RECEIPTS - INVESTMENT APPROVAL RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

Steve Rumbelow, Portfolio Lead Chief Executive, for Place Based Regeneration, 

Housing and Infrastructure, introduced a report seeking approval to the GM Housing 

Investment Loans Fund (“GMHILF” or “the Fund”) loans detailed in the 

recommendation below.  This report also seeks the Combined Authority’s approval to 

substitute up to £20m of the proposed GMHILF lending with City Deal Receipts, 

subject to Homes England approval. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

1.  That the GMHILF loans detailed in the table below, as detailed further in this 

and the accompanying Part B report be approved. 

BORROWER  SCHEME  DISTRICT  LOAN 

Renaker Bankside, 

Greengate 

Salford  £54.143m 

Renaker Tower D2, Trinity 

Island 

Manchester £65.646m 

 

2. That it be approved for up to £20m of the GMHILF lending for the Bankside and 

Tower D2 schemes being substituted with City Deal Receipts, noting that this is 

subject to Homes England approval, and to delegate authority to the GMCA 

Page 491



18 
 

Treasurer to agree the exact composition of the lending between GMHILF and 

City Deal Receipts following further discussions with Homes England. 

 

3. That the delegation of authority to the GMCA Treasurer acting in conjunction 

with the GMCA Monitoring Officer to prepare and effect the necessary legal 

agreements be approved. 

 

GMCA/19/23 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

That, under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public 

should be excluded from the meeting for the following items on business on the 

grounds that this involved the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set out in the 

relevant paragraphs of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and 

that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in 

disclosing the information. 

 

GMCA 20/23  GM HOUSING INVESTMENT LOANS FUND / GM CITY DEAL 

RECEIPTS - INVESTMENT APPROVAL RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

Clerk’s Note: This item was considered in support of the report considered in Part A 

of the agenda (minute 18/23) 

 

RESOLVED /- 

That the contents of the report be noted. 

 

Page 492



Document is Restricted

Page 493 Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 501 Agenda Item 21
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 505

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 525 Agenda Item 22
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 THE COUNCIL’S FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022
	7 Annual HRA Budget 2023/24 & Rent Setting
	8 2023 / 24 Budget papers
	The Dedicated Schools Grant and setting the Schools Budget 202324
	Capital Strategy  2023-24
	Flexible use of capital receipts Strategy 23
	Treasury Management Strategy 2023-24

	8a Appendices to Budget Report
	ALL Workforce Costs
	BGI Capitalisation of BGI spend on Regeneration?
	BGI Commercial Asset Management
	BGI Further capitalisation from capital receipts
	CC Core Service Review
	CC Options appraisal of Bury Art Museum
	CYP Children’s External placements and Step down of very high-cost placements across childrens
	CYP Childrens short breaks and personal budgets
	CYP Early Help Team
	CYP Edge of care review
	CYP Family Safeguarding Implementation
	CYP Fostering capacity
	CYP Multi-disciplinary early help
	CYP Post 16 SEND transport
	FINANCE Finance innovation and project team
	HOUSING Additional savings from Health and Housing
	HOUSING Efficiency savings and removal of duplication in the provision of housing services.
	HOUSING Homelessness Prevention Grant
	OCO Development of the 14-25 learning disabilities strategy
	OCO Enforce Section 22 Care Act
	OCO Improved utilisation of the DFG
	OCO Residents transitioning to alternative packages
	OCO Review of working age adults' care and support against a best practice progression model
	OCO Staying well
	OPS Capitalisation of Staff Salaries in Operational Services - Engineers
	OPS Continuation of LED Street Lighting Implementation
	OPS Growth in Vehicle Maintenance Provision to Additional Customers
	OPS Operational Rationalisation
	OPS Stores Rationalisation OCO and Ops

	9 Bury Corporate Plan Performance and Delivery Report Quarter Three 2022-23
	10 Changes to Admission Arrangements for Secondary Schools
	11 Relocation of Pennine Care into 3 Knowsley Place - Part A
	12 Future of Bury Town Hall and other administrative buildings occupied by the Council - Part A
	13 Purchase of Microsoft Licences
	14 Application Rationalisation / Consolidation - Part A
	15 Locality Board Formalisation
	Locality Board Formalisation supporting docs

	16 SEND Transport/Travel Assistance - post-19 provision for young people with an Education Health and Care Plan
	17 Minutes Of Association Of Greater Manchester Authorities / Greater Manchester Combined Authority
	GMCA 27 January 2023

	20 Relocation of Pennine Care into 3 Knowsley Place - Part B
	21 Town Hall Working Group Final Report - Part B
	Town Hall Working Group Final Report - Part B - Appendix

	22 Application Rationalisation / Consolidation - Part B

